Report prepared in support of implementing the IAS regulation in Belgium Authors: Adriaens, T., Branquart, E., Gosse, D., Reniers, J., Vanderhoeven, S.

FEASIBILITY OF ERADICATION AND SPREAD LIMITATION FOR SPECIES OF UNION CONCERN SENSU THE EU IAS REGULATION (EU 1143/2014) IN BELGIUM





Wallonie environnement SPW



Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Olaf Booy (UK Non-Native Species Secretariat), Peter Robertson and Aileen Mill (Newcastle University) for indepth discussions on the manageability protocol, the sharing of information and their openness for collaboration. We thank Sander Devisscher for data handling and the production of the distribution maps and summary tables. We thank Hugo Verreycken, Luc Denys, Jo Packet and Pieter Boets for comments on some of the scenarios and strategies. Maxime Coupremanne assisted in gathering literature. We are grateful to the Belgian Committee on Invasive Alien Species for discussions and support. We thank INBO for financially supporting the workshop organization. We thank Sander Devisscher and Maxime Coupremanne for their practical help during the workshop, as well as Vincent Fiévet and Jim Casaer for the help they provided with the live translation during the workshop discussions.

We thank all of the assessors who willingly provided their assessments on the feasibility of management for the Union List species in Belgium (Annex 3): Adrien Latli, Alain De Vocht, Anne-Laure Jacquemart, Arnaud Monty, Bart Vandevoorde, Bram D'hondt, Denis Parkinson, Dido Gosse, Diederik Strubbe, Elena Tricarico, Etienne Branquart, Filip Verloove, Frank Huysentruyt, Gerald Louette, Hugo Verreycken, Iris Stiers, Jane Reniers, Jim Casaer, Jo Packet, Johan van Valkenburg, Koen van Roeyen, Luc Baufay, Luc Denys, Marijke Thoonen, Paul Stebbins, Pieter Boets, Quentin Groom, Quentin Rome, Sam Provoost, Sarah Descamps, Sonia Vanderhoeven, Tim Adriaens, Vinciane Schockert, Wouter Van Landuyt.

Lastly, we are grateful to all the invasion managers and experts who participated to the workshop for their feedback and active participation in the discussions: Adrien Latli, Alain De Vocht, Anja Goossens, Arnaud Monty, Benoit Garin, Bram D'hondt, Carole Van Roy, Céline Noulard, David Claeys, Dido Gosse, Diederik Strubbe, Elodie Nise, Emma Cartuyvels, Emmanuelle Sarat, Esmeralda Uskokovic, Etienne Branquart, Franck Minette, Frank Huysentruyt, Frédéric Mouchet, Henk de Jong, Hugo Verreycken, Iris Stiers, jean-philippe bizoux, Jelle Van den Berghe, Jim Casaer, Jo Packet, Johan De Beule, Johan Van Valkenburg, Johan Vander Heyden, Josse Gielen, Juan-Pablo Pertierra, Karel Van Moer, Katrien Hendrickx, Kenny Meganck, Koen Van Roeyen, Kris Schurmans, Luc Denys , Luc Baufay, Maarten Vangansbeke, Maarten Vanwesemael, Manou Pfeiffenschneider, Marielle Brasseur, Marijke Thoonen, Maxime Coupremanne, Myriam Dumortier, Nathalie Fonder, Olivier Beck, Paul Van Loon, Pauline Ducarme, Peter Staljanssens, Pierre Joye, Pieter Boets, Pieter Huybrechts, Pieter Van Dyck, Quentin Groom, Renaud Bocquet, Rik Puls, Ronny De Keer, Samuel Vander Linden, Sander Devisscher, Sarah Descamps, Sofie Standaert, Sonia Vanderhoeven, Spyridon Flevaris, Stéphan Adant, Thierry Sluyters, Tijl Schelfhout, Tim Adriaens, Ugolin Martin, Vincent Fiévet, Wim Dirckx, Wouter Van Landuyt, Xavier Rollin and Yasmine Verzelen.

How to cite this report:

Adriaens, T., Branquart, E., Gosse, D., Reniers, J., Vanderhoeven, S. 2019. Feasibility of eradication and spread limitation for species of Union concern sensu the EU IAS Regulation (EU 1143/2014) in Belgium. Report prepared in support of implementing the IAS Regulation in Belgium. Institute for Nature and Forest Research, Service Public de Wallonie, National Scientific Secretariat on Invasive Alien Species, Belgian Biodiversity Platform. DOI: https://doi.org/10.21436/17033333.

Depot number

D/2019/3241/285

Summary

Robust evidence is needed to ensure management of invasive alien species (IAS) is feasible and resources are used effectively. Risk assessments are of limited use to decide on species management because the feasibility of different options is not considered. Risk management provides a structured evaluation of management options including an assessment of practical, resource, societal, ethical and legal constraints. We used this approach in Belgium to assess the feasibility of management for 43 species of Union Concern sensu the EU IAS Regulation (1143/2014) that came into force on January 2015 and urges member states to make decisions on species management. We organized an online participatory process involving more than 40 experts with experience in species management using an adaptation of the UK Non-Native Risk Management scheme (NNRM) (Booy et al. 2017). NNRM uses semi-quantitative response and confidence scores to assess key criteria linked with management feasibility: effectiveness, practicality, cost, impact, acceptability, window of opportunity and likelihood of re-invasion. The outcome of the assessment supports the Regulation implementation in Belgium, notably for the identification of a cost-effective management goals and techniques as required by Article 17 and 19 on IAS eradication and management, respectively. It provides an evidence base for Belgian management decisions through a transparent, standardized and repeatable process. The structured decision making and the participatory approach involving the Belgian expert community has added value in terms of engagement and support for the implementation of management action plans deriving from the risk management evaluation.

In this report, we present the invasion scenarios and management strategies for Belgium developed for this exercice, not only for assessing feasibility of species eradication but also their spread limitation. Scenario & strategy writing were performed by the Research Institute for Nature and Forest (INBO), National Scientific Secretariat on IAS (NSS), le Départment d'Etude du Milieu Naturel et Agricole - Service Public de Wallonie (DEMNA) and the Belgian Biodiversity Platform (BBPF). The species accounts present the current species distribution and summarize data on their invasion history and current management in Belgium (invasion scenario). For species that are not present in the territory, the scenario described is an imaginary but theoretically realistic invasion scenario taking into account pathways, entry points, habitat and detection threshold of the species. We then drafted realistic management strategies for eradication and spread limitation. Spread limitation strategies were categorized based on species distribution extent: limiting species presence to a single or a few patches, containment of populations in core area(s), elimination of the most dispersive populations or maintenance of pest free areas. We hope the invasion scenarios might provide topical information on the Union List species and their situation in Belgium.

Beside reporting on the Belgian manageability exercice, we hope the management strategies developed for Belgium could provide inspiration to practitioners and to other member states tackling invasive species of Union Concern.

Table of contents

Executive sum	mary	6
1.	Introduction	9
1.1	Context of the manageability assessment	9
1.1.1	Determining management options for the EU Regulation 1143/2014	
1.1.2	Providing an evidence base for decision on management options and derogations	
1.2	Objective	
1.3	Species considered	
1.4	From feasibility scores to actual management in the field	
2.	Scenarios and strategies	15
2.1	Invasion scenarios	15
2.2	Management strategies	15
2.3	General provisions not part of the management strategies	16
2.4	Workshop on Management of IAS of Union Concern	23
3. Results	24	
3.1	Vertebrates	
3.1.1	Egyptian goose Alopochen aegyptiacus (nijlgans, ouette d'Egypte)	24
3.1.2	House crow Corvus splendens (huiskraai, corbeau familier)	
3.1.3	Ruddy duck Oxyura jamaicensis (rosse stekelstaart, érismature rousse)	32
3.1.4	Sacred ibis Threskiornis aethiopicus (heilige ibis, ibis sacré)	
3.1.5	Pallas's squirrel Callosciurus erythraeus (Pallas' eekhoorn, écureuil de Pallas)	40
3.1.6	Grey squirrel Sciurus carolinensis (grijze eekhoorn, écureuil gris)	44
3.1.7	American fox squirrel Sciurus niger (Amerikaanse voseekhoorn, écureuil fauve)	48
3.1.8	Siberian Chipmunk Tamias sibiricus (tamia de Sibérie, Siberische grondeekhoorn)	52
3.1.9	Chinese muntjak Muntiacus reevesi (Chinese muntjak, muntjac)	57
3.1.10	Coypu Myocastor coypus (beverrat, ragondin)	61
3.1.11	Raccoon Procyon lotor (wasbeer, raton laveur)	65
3.1.12	Raccoon dog Nyctereutes procyonoides (wasbeerhond, chien viverrin)	69
3.1.13	Muskrat Ondatra zibethicus (muskusrat, rat musqué)	73
3.2	Insects	
3.2.1	Asian Hornet Vespa velutina (Aziatische hoornaar, frelon asiatique)	78
3.3	Aquatic plants	82
3.3.1	Carolina fanwort Cabomba caroliniana (waterwaaier, cabomba de Caroline)	82
3.3.2	Nuttall's waterweed Elodea nuttallii (smalle waterpest, élodée de Nuttall)	86
3.3.3	Curly waterweed Lagarosiphon major (verspreidbladige waterpest, elodée à feuilles alternes)	91
3.3.4	Water pennywort Hydrocotyle ranunculoides (grote waternavel, Hydrocotyle fausse renoncule).	96
3.3.5	Water primrose Ludwigia grandiflora (waterteunisbloem, Jussie à grandes fleurs)	. 100
3.3.6	Floating primrose-willow Ludwigia peploides (postelein-waterlepeltje, kleine waterteunisbloem, rampante)	
3.3.7	Parrot's feather Myriophyllum aquaticum (parelvederkruid, myriophylle du Brésil)	
3.3.8	Broadleaf watermilfoil Myriophyllum heterophyllum (ongelijkbladig vederkruid, myriophylle hét	érophylle)
3.4	Terrestrial plants	
3.4.1	Himalayan balsam Impatiens glandulifera (reuzenbalsemien, Balsamine de L'Himalaya)	. 120
3.4.2	Common milkweed Asclepias syriaca (zijdeplant, asclépiade de Syrie)	. 124
3.4.3	Eastern baccharis Baccharis halimifolia (struikaster, séneçon en arbre)	
3.4.4	Giant rhubarb Gunnera tinctoria (reuzenrabarber, rhubarbe géante du Chili)	
3.4.5	Giant hogweed Heracleum mantegazzianum (reuzenberenklauw, berce du Caucase)	
3.4.6	Persian hogweed Heracleum persicum (Perzische berenklauw, Berce de Perse)	
3.4.7	Sosnowsky's hogweed Heracleum sosnowskyi (Sosnowsky's berenklauw ; Berce de Sosnowski)	
3.4.8	American skunk cabbage Lysichiton americanus (moerasaronskelk, Faux arum)	

3.4.9	Nepalese browntop Microstegium vimineum (Japans steltgras, herbe à échasses japonaise) 151
3.4.10	Mile-a-minute weed Persicaria perfoliata (gestekelde duizendknoop, renouée perfoliée)
3.5	Aquatic animals
3.5.1	Amur sleeper Perccottus glenii (amoergrondel, Goujon de l'Amour)
3.5.2	Topmouth gudgeon, stone morocco <i>Pseudorasbora parva</i> (blauwbandgrondel, goujon de Chine) 160
3.5.3	American bullfrog Lithobates catebeianus (stierkikker, grenouille taureau)
3.5.4	Red-eared slider Trachemys scripta (lettersierschildpad, tortue de Floride)
3.5.5	Chinese mitten crab Eriocheir sinensis (Chinese wolhandkrab, crabe chinois)
3.5.6	Spiny-cheek crayfish Orconectes (Faxonius) limosus (gevlekte Amerikaanse rivierkreeft, écrevisse Américaine)
3.5.7	Virile crayfish Orconectes (Faxonius) virilis (geknobbelde Amerikaanse rivierkreeft, écrevisse à pinces bleues)
3.5.8	Signal crayfish Pacifastacus leniusculus (Californische rivierkreeft, écrevisse signal)
3.5.9	Red swamp crayfish Procambarus clarkii (rode Amerikaanse rivierkreeft, écrevisse de Louisiane) 189
3.5.10	Marbled crayfish Procambarus fallax f. virginalis (marmerkreeft, écrevisse marbrée)
References	197
Annex 1: Crite	eria used for scoring the eradication strategy (adapted from Booy et al. 2017)
Annex 2: Guid	dance for scoring the feasibility of management of Union List species in Belgium.

Executive summary

Executive summary

The EU IAS Regulation (1143/2014) requires Member States to prioritize species for eradication, containment and long term control. To support the decision making process and to ensure robust evidence is used to decide on suitable management options, we organized a participatory approach involving scientists and practitioners. First, we gathered all available information and data on the invasion, distribution and management of the Union List species in Belgium and used those to describe the *invasion scenario*. For species that are not present on the Belgian territory, the scenario described is an imaginary but theoretically realistic invasion scenario taking into account pathways, entry points, habitat and detection threshold of the species. We then drafted realistic management strategies for eradication and spread limitation based on the literature on best management practices. Spread limitation strategies were categorized based on species distribution extent: limiting species presence to a single or a few patches (option 1), containment of populations in core area(s) (option 2), elimination of the most dispersive populations (option 3) or maintenance of pest free areas (option 4). Importantly, the general obligations applying to Union List species through the EU Regulation such as bans, action plans for pathways and surveillance systems, are not part of the strategies but were considered to be in place for this exercise (table 3).

Second, more than 40 (Belgian as well as foreign) experts with experience in species management used an adaptation of the UK Non-Native Risk Management scheme (NNRM) (Booy et al. 2017) to score the feasibility of eradication and spread limitation. NNRM uses semi-quantitative response and confidence scores to assess key criteria linked with management feasibility: effectiveness, practicality, cost, impact, acceptability, window of opportunity and likelihood of re-invasion. These feasibility scores should be interpreted with caution as for some species the number of expert assessments was low (Annex 3), hence insufficient to detect significant differences between scenarios and criteria. However, the observed differences between expert assessments were still useful to initiate and guide the discussions. Therefore the feasibility scores were used to fuel a debate with the practitioner's community on invasion management in Belgium during a participative workshop.

The aim of this workshop was to formulate a consensual management recommendation for Union List species in Belgium. The result of this exercise are summarized in Table 1. On top of this management recommendation, for some species additional requirements for successful implementation of the strategies were formulated (see individual species accounts).

The outcome of the full process supports the Regulation implementation in Belgium, notably for the identification of costeffective management goals and techniques as required by Article 17 and 19 on IAS eradication and management, respectively. It provides an evidence base for Belgian management decisions through a transparent, standardized and repeatable process. The structured decision making and the participatory approach involving the Belgian expert community has added value in terms of engagement and support for the implementation of management action plans deriving from the risk management evaluation. Besides reporting on the Belgian manageability exercice, we hope the management strategies developed for Belgium and the process followed to support decisions on the management of IAS can provide inspiration to practitioners and other Member States tackling invasive species of Union Concern.

Species	Status in the wild in Belgium	Management recommendation	
Vertebrates			
Alopochen aegyptiaca	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 3 - elimination of the most dispersive populations supplemented with basic long-term control throughout the whole Belgia territory	
Corvus splendens	Not present	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium	
Oxyura jamaicensis	Casual	Consensus on eradication of all individuals on the Belgian territory	
Threskiornis aethiopicus	Casual	Consensus on eradication of all individuals on the Belgian territory	
Callosciurus erythraeus	Casual	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present (or in this case eradicated) in Belgium.	
Sciurus carolinensis	Casual	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium	
Sciurus niger Casual Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of th species not yet present in Belgium		Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium	

Table 1: Management recommendation for Union List IAS resulting from the manageability exercise. Further requirements for implementation of the strategies are mentioned in the full species accounts.

Heracleum	Established	No consensus on management strategy to recommend. Majority in favour of	
Gunnera tinctoria	Not present	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.	
Baccharis halimifolia	Established	Consensus on eradication strategy as a management recommendation for Belgium.	
Asclepias syriaca	Established	Consensus on eradication strategy , including increased surveillance all over the Belgian territory.	
Impatiens glandulifera	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 4 - , maintenance of pest free areas. The option recommended is to identify and maintain pest free areas of high conservation value in the upstream zones in rivers basins.	
Terrestrial plants			
Myriophyllum heterophyllum	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 2 - containment of populations in core area(s) including increased surveillance all over the Belgian territory.	
Myriophyllum aquaticum	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 3 - , elimination of the most dispersive populations located nearby the river systems.	
Ludwigia peploides	Established	Consensus on eradication strategy as a management recommendation for Belgium.	
Ludwigia grandiflora	Established	No consensus on management strategy to recommend. Majority in favour of spread limitation option 2 - containment of population in core area(s), limiting species presence to the Nete and Gete river system. Eradication was seen as an alternative by others.	
Hydrocotyle ranunculoides	Established	No consensus on management strategy to recommend. Majority in favour of eradication strategy . Spread limitation was seen as an alternative by one participant.	
Lagarosiphon major	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 1 - limiting species presence to a single or a few patches, including improved surveillance all over the Belgian territory.	
Elodea nuttallii	Established	No consensus on management strategy to recommend, but a majority of participants in favour of long term population control. Spread limitation was seen as an alternative by others.	
Cabomba caroliniana	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 2 - containment of populations in core area(s), limiting species presence to canals in Limburg and implementing improved surveillance all over the Belgian territory.	
Aquatic plants			
Vespa velutina	Established	The species was not dealt with during the workshop. The eradication and spread limitation strategies were both scored low to medium by the experts.	
Insects		reducing the risk of spread to the Atlantic bioregion.	
Ondatra zibethicus	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 2 - containment of the population in the continental area, with permanent removal from the Atlantic bioregion and increased population control in the continental bioregion both for impact mitigation and	
Nyctereutes procyonoides	Unclear	including surveillance all over the country.	
Procyon lotor	Established	Consensus on spread limitation option 2 - containment of the population in the continental area with rapid eradication of raccoon in the Atlantic region. The population in the continental region is subject to long term control to mitigate impact and to reduce the risk of spread to neighboring areas. Consensus on eradication strategy as a management recommendation for Belgium,	
Myocastor coypus	Established	Consensus on a mixed strategy combining eradication in the Atlantic region, and spread limitation option 2 - containment of populations in core area(s) for the continental region in Belgium.	
Muntiacus reevesii	Established	Consensus on prompt eradication as a management strategy. If this appears unfeasible for the Schoten population, spread limitation should be the preferred option here.	
Tamias sibiricus	Established	area(s) of the Sonian forest. Populations outside this area are eradicated. The Sonia forest population is subjected to long term control to reduce numbers and reduce dispersal risk.	

mantegazzianum		eradication strategy. Long term control for mitigating impact was seen as an
		alternative by others.
Heracleum	Not present	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for
persicum	Not present	species not yet present in Belgium.
Heracleum	Not procept	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for
sosnowskyi	Not present	species not yet present in Belgium.
Lysichiton	Established	Consensus on eradication strategy as a management recommendation for Belgium,
americanus	Established	including plant destruction in parks and gardens.
Microstogium		Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for
Microstegium vimineum	Not present	species not yet present in Belgium, including increased surveillance all over the
vinineuni		country
		Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for
Persicaria perfoliata	Not present	species not yet present in Belgium, including increased surveillance all over the
		country.
Aquatic animals		
Dorocottus alonii	Network	Consensus on eradication as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not
Perccottus glenii	Not present	yet present in Belgium.
Pseudorasbora	Fatablishad	Consensus on long term control as a management recommendation. Eradication
parva	Established	measures could be implemented at local level on a case by case basis where relevant.
Lithobates	Fatablishad	Consensus on spread limitation option 2 - containment of populations in core area(s),
<i>catesbeianus</i> Established limiting species presence to the Nete valley.		limiting species presence to the Nete valley.
Trachemys scripta	Casual	Consensus on long term control as a management recommendation.
	Established	Consensus on long term control as a management recommendation, with a
Eriocheir sinensis		suggestion to focus on the tributaries of the Scheldt. Knowledge gaps on management
		need to be closed.
One of the line of the	Establish ad	Consensus on spread limitation option 4 - maintenance of pest free areas in the
Orconectes limosus	Established	vicinity of sites occupied by native Astacus astacus populations.
One of the state of the	Not a second	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for
Orconectes virilis	Not present	species not yet present in Belgium.
Desifestes		Consensus on spread limitation option 2 - containment of population in the
Pacifastacus Ieniusculus	Established	continental region and eradication of any new population in the Atlantic region. In the
		continental region long term control is implemented.
Procambarus clarkii		No consensus on management strategy to recommend. The majority was in favour of
	Established	an adapted spread limitation option 2 - containment of population in core area(s),
		including surveillance all over the country. Increased knowledge is needed to
		adequately identify these core areas
Droog mbarris faller	Not present	Consensus on eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for
Procambarus fallax	Not present	species not yet present in Belgium.

1. Introduction

Ensuring a robust and transparent process underpinning decisions on invasive alien species (IAS) management is a crucial element in evidence-based conservation (Essl et al. 2016). Risk assessments, such as the ones performed with the Belgian Harmonia+ protocol (D'hondt et al. 2015), are commonly used to prioritise IAS, but are of limited use to decide on management of species because the feasibility of different options is not considered (Booy et al. 2017). Moreover, effective management requires clear objectives and rigorous monitoring of outcomes (Foxcroft et al. 2019). Managers, policy makers and scientists need to agree on achievable management goals.

Risk management (RM) (Figure 1) provides a structured evaluation of management options. So far, RM options have only been described qualitatively for a number of species for which a full risk assessment was conducted in Belgium (<u>http://ias.biodiversity.be/species/risk</u>). These assessments were largely based on (1) the relative importance of intentional/non-intentional introduction pathways and (2) a qualitative assessment of potential eradication/containment actions.



Figure 1: Risk assessment, risk management and risk communication form the three pillars of risk analysis (European Food Safety Authority 2012; IPPC 1997; Maijala 2006; OiE 2015).

1.1 Context of the manageability assessment

1.1.1 Determining management options for the EU Regulation 1143/2014

Regulation (EU) 1143/2014 on IAS entered into force on 1 January 2015. It provides for a set of measures to be taken across the EU in relation to IAS included on a list of Invasive Alien Species of Union concern. The first list of Invasive alien species of Union Concern came into force on 3 August 2016 and comprised 37 species. A first update, in force since 2 August 2017, added 12 species to the Union List.

Three types of measures are envisaged, which follow an internationally agreed hierarchical approach to combating IAS: 1) Prevention: a number of measures aimed at preventing IAS of Union concern from entering the EU, either intentionally or unintentionally; 2) Early detection and rapid eradication: Member States must put in place a surveillance system to detect the presence of IAS of Union concern as early as possible and take rapid eradication measures to prevent them from establishing; 3) Management: some IAS of Union concern are already well-established in certain Member States and concerted management action is needed so that they do not spread any further and to minimize the harm they cause. For species of EU concern, Member States have to take a decision on the management options. These options are outlined in Articles 17 (Rapid eradication at an early stage of invasion), 18 (Derogations from the obligation of rapid eradication) and 19 (Management measures of invasive alien species that are widely spread) of the Regulation.

The Regulation requires Member States to develop rapid eradication actions for the species of EU concern (Art 17). However, Member States may decide, based on scientific evidence, not to apply eradication measures if (Art 18) at least one of the following conditions is met: (a) eradication is demonstrated to be technically unfeasible because the eradication methods available cannot be applied in the environment where the invasive alien species is established; (b) a cost-benefit analysis demonstrates on the basis of the available data with reasonable certainty that the costs will, in the long term, be exceptionally high and disproportionate to the benefits of eradication; (c) eradication methods are not available or are available but have very serious adverse impact on human health, the environment or other species. In principle, with every formal notification of a species of EU concern in Belgium, decisions not to rapidly eradicate should be formally based on robust evidence. The risk management assessment performed here, although not formally applying cost-benefit analysis (sensu Reyns et al. 2018), includes elements outlined in Article 18 (e.g. effectiveness, practicality, cost, non-target impact).

The management of widely spread species is another requirement of the EU Regulation (Art 19). Within 18 months of an IAS being included on the Union list, Member States shall have in place effective management measures for those IAS of Union concern which the Member States have found to be widely spread on their territory, so that their impact on biodiversity, the related ecosystem services, and, where applicable, on human health or the economy are minimised. Those management measures shall be proportionate to the impact on the environment and appropriate to the specific circumstances of the Member States.

The European Commission indicated *widely spread* should be interpreted in the broadest sense. Hence, the following Union list species are covered by Article 19: (1) Union List IAS which already had a population in Belgium before entry into force of the list and (2) Union List IAS which establish populations after entry into force but where eradication (Article 17) is not possible and where Article 18 (derogation) is consequently applied. As such, apart from long term control as a management strategy (e.g. aimed at impact mitigation or at reducing the species' density in Belgium), eradication of an existing population from the Belgian territory can also be a management option to consider within Article 19.

1.1.2 Providing an evidence base for decision on management options and derogations

Invasion scientists and practitioners have developed robust scoring protocols to assess the manageability of species in relation to various management options (Booy et al. 2015, 2017). These protocols are mostly based on the species distribution and abundance, and expert knowledge on the probability of reinvasion, the effectiveness of management options, the prevailing legislation and public acceptance of the eradication or management measures. Given the range of species on the EU list such scheme should be broadly applicable to any taxa and, given large numbers of species involved, should be efficient to apply (Andersen et al. 2004). It should be possible to complete the scheme even where data are lacking, with uncertainty taken into account, documented and justified (Leung et al. 2012). The Booy et al. (2017) scheme accounts for that.

1.2 Objective

The objective of the Belgian Manageability assessment is to **evaluate the feasibility of management for the species of EU concern** applying and adapting an existing risk management scheme, the Non-Native Risk Management scheme (NNRM) (Booy et al. 2015, 2017) (<u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10530-017-1451-z/fulltext.html</u>). This scheme will be applied to the invasive species of EU concern (1st and 2nd batch) sensu the EU IAS Regulation 1143/2014. The undertaking of this assessment was agreed upon and formalized at the joint thematic meeting of the Belgian IAS Scientific Council & IAS Committee (February 14th 2017). This assessment will:

- Support the EU Regulation implementation in Belgium;
- Provide an evidence base for derogations on the rapid response obligation (Art 18) so this has not to be decided upon on a case by case basis;
- Provide a sound evidence base for decisions on IAS management through a transparent, repeatable process (Vanderhoeven et al. 2017);

• Provide a means of structured decision making (i.e. the collaborative and facilitated application of multiple objective decision making and group deliberation methods cf. Gregory et al. 2012) for IAS management through a participatory approach of the Belgian expert community on IAS and their management.

As with many impact assessment e.g. using ISEIA (Branquart 2007; Vanderhoeven et al. 2015) or risk assessment schemes, the NNRM uses <u>semi-quantitative response and confidence scores</u> to assess seven key criteria linked with management feasibility of an invasive species: *Effectiveness, Practicality, Cost, Impact, Acceptability, Window of opportunity* and *Likelihood of re-invasion* (Annex 1).

The approach was adapted to the fit the needs of the Belgian assessment (e.g. uncertainty framework in line with Harmonia+) (Annex 2). To ensure transparency, the aim was to apply consensus-building methods using on-line expert elicitation tools.

1.3 Species considered

The manageability assessment considers 43 Union list species (1^{st} and 2^{nd} batch) sensu the EU IAS Regulation 1143/2014 (Table 1).

Table 1: Union List species sensu the EU Regulation with their status and their extent of occurrence (definition: IUCN 2001, Burgman & Fox 2002) (EOO) and area of occupancy (AOO) in Belgian bioregions (ATL: Atlantic bioregion, CONT: Continental bioregion) at the time of the assessment.

6	(hata)	EOO (km²)			AOO (km²)		
Species	Status (2017)	ATL	CONT	TOTAL	ATL	CONT	TOTAL
Alopochen aegyptiaca	Established	16489	9076	25565	13082.46	3295.91	16378.37
Asclepias syriaca	Established	400	0	400	16.01	0.00	16.01
Baccharis halimifolia	Established	570	0	570	136.11	0.00	136.11
Cabomba caroliniana	Established	-	-	-	8.00	0.00	8.00
Callosciurus erythraeus	Eradicated	29	0	29	20.00	0.00	20.00
Elodea nuttallii	Established	7741	10008	17749	1408.55	234.60	1643.15
Eriocheir sinensis	Established	3829	0	3829	984.57	4.00	988.57
Heracleum mantegazzianum	Established	16124	6580	22704	5458.75	2358.60	7817.34
Hydrocotyle ranunculoides	Established	10135	1809	11944	620.34	20.00	640.34
Impatiens glandulifera	Established	14945	8433	23378	6310.98	2893.99	9204.98
Lagarosiphon major	Established	4459	2509	6968	40.02	36.00	76.02
Lithobates catesbeianus	Established	2538	195	2733	292.11	16.01	308.12
Ludwigia grandiflora	Established	5652	4441	10093	500.22	28.00	528.22
Ludwigia peploides	Established	3896	0	3896	76.05	0.00	76.05
Lysichiton americanus	Established	386	1716	2102	12.00	28.00	40.00
Muntiacus reevesi	Established	3477	0	3477	76.03	8.00	84.03
Myocastor coypus	Established	4822	1263	6085	104.02	64.02	168.03
Myriophyllum aquaticum	Established	5728	3889	9617	1092.49	64.01	1156.50
Myriophyllum heterophyllum	Established	5728	3889	9617	72.04	4.00	76.04
Nyctereutes procyonoides	Casual	9624	1292	10916	52.02	12.00	64.02
Ondatra zibethicus	Established	15612	8156	23768	2141.17	962.30	3103.47
Orconectes limosus	Established	9160	7247	16407	856.34	380.08	1236.42
Oxyura jamaicensis	Established	8523	2321	10844	540.29	56.01	596.30
Pacifastacus leniusculus	Established	1961	9282	11243	40.01	1041.05	1081.06
Procambarus clarkii	Established	3626	254	3880	144.08	28.01	172.09
Procyon lotor	Established	13246	5859	19105	272.12	2142.10	2414.21
Pseudorasbora parva	Established	11244	2925	14169	2072.99	87.52	2160.51
Sciurus carolinensis	Casual	3517	0	3517	28.02	0.00	28.02
Sciurus niger	Casual	-	-	-	4.00	0.00	4.00
Tamias sibiricus	Established	2151	0	2151	232.13	0.00	232.13
Threskiornis aethiopicus	Casual	8762	6616	15378	540.24	28.00	568.24
Trachemys scripta	Casual	12729	4974	17703	1028.51	319.21	1347.72
Vespa velutina	Established	-	-	-	4.00	0.00	4.00

Six Union list species were not considered in the manageability because their establishment potential in Belgium is reported to be very limited. The status of these species in Belgium and the reasons for not taking these species into account for the manageability assessment can be found in Table 2.

Table 2: Union List species sensu the EU Regulation excluded from the risk management assessment with justification.

Species	Status in Belgium	Justification
Small Indian	Absent	Established in Croatia. Suitable climatic conditions are mostly
mongoose		present in Mediterranean countries (European PRA).
Herpestes		
javanicus		
Coati Nasua nasua	Casual with 2 escaped animals caught in 2007 (Vanden Berge 2008; Vanden Berge & Gouwy 2009)	Native to South-America and only naturalized on Mallorca (Mayol et al, 2009). It is a particular risk for the Mediterranean. Coati are (sub)tropical and live in relatively stable temperature climes, minimum 3°C to maximum 29°C with an average of 18°C -20°C (Beisiegel 2001)
Water hyacint Eichhornia crassipes	Casual in Belgium probably mostly a mere garden throw- out or relic of cultivation (Verloove 2016).	Very sensitive to frost and unlikely to become naturalized in the near future in Belgium (EPPO PRA). Single plants may possibly survive mild winters in our climate (Verloove 2016). Optimal growth occurs at temperatures of 28-30°C (air temperatures) while growth ceases when water temperatures drop below 10°C. Prolonged cold temperatures, below 5°C, result in death of the plants (Gopal 1987, Owens and Madsen 1995).
Kudzu Pueraria Montana	Absent	Native to eastern Asia, only established in Italy and it has the potential to spread in areas with high rainfall and mild winters.
Parthenium weed Parthenium hysterophorus	Casual, exceptional and ephemeral in Belgium (Verloove 2016).	Especially relevant for the Mediterranean (EPPO PRA). In contrast to its behaviour under the warm, summer-wet climates, it is not able to complete more than one life cycle per year in colder regions (Reddy & Bryson, 2005).
crimson fountaingrass Pennisetum setaceum	Absent	Spreading and colonising many areas in Canary, Balearic Islands and semi-arid areas of the Iberian Peninsula (Gonzàlez-Rodriguez et al. 2010). Could be invasive in could be invasive in the warm temperate and dry and hot summer zone (Csa).

1.4 From feasibility scores to actual management in the field

The outcome of the present manageability assessment provides **support to the decision making process**. The outcome of the assessment are species-specific feasibility scores for the specific scenario's and management strategies defined. These scores do not translate directly into a decision on the preferred management option in Belgium, nor do they directly result in a decision on management options sensu the EU IAS Regulation (Art 17/Art 19) because (1) the assessment only considered eradication and spread limitation and not long-term control – however, species with a low scores on the feasibility of eradication and a low score on spread limitation, are candidates for a long term control programme sensu Art 19 (2) for the purpose of the assessment, we standardized and homogenized spread limitation strategies but intermediate strategies are possible (cf. the hierarchy in management objectives in Robertson et al. 2016) (3) in reality the concept of adaptive management (Gregory et al. 2012) can be applied taking into account inherent uncertainty of outcome. Furthermore, the feasibility scores should be interpreted with caution as for some species the number of expert assessments was low (Annex 3), hence insufficient to detect significant differences between scenarios and criteria defined. However, the observed differences between expert assessments were still useful to initiate and guide the discussions.

A final choice of management option in Belgium requires further consultation with stakeholders and requires many other considerations:

- Alternative strategies considered, including the pooling of management for various species;
- Cost-benefit analysis;
- The ecosystem context (cf. Zavaleta et al. 2001):

• Available budget and human resources, stakeholder support, opinion and involvement, community engagement, political and public support etc.

Also, after a decision on management, further work is needed to refine and implement the scenarios in the field by drafting concrete **management plans**. Several guidances and standards are available for running eradication and management programmes see e.g. Keitt et al. (2015) and references therein. Eradication is a fundamental tool for protecting biodiversity from the negative effects of IAS (Howald et al. 2007; Robertson et al. 2017). If removal actions do not obtain the expected result, the risk is to move on to a continuous control. Therefore, careful planning is necessary to evaluate the effort needed for eradication. Modelling procedures can be used to evaluate the timeframe of a campaign, the effectiveness of different techniques or management options and the amount of effort needed for effective eradication (e.g. Tattoni et al. 2006).

Also, for rapid response to new introductions, **contingency plans** should be drafted. Such plans indicate what needs to be done when IAS are found for the first time; it is therefore the step before a detailed management plan. It indicates the organisational structures, procedures and arrangements. The plan describes roles and competences, and how the response is aligned with the regulations and other organisations. This plan should, as a minimum, mention the stakeholders and experts who should be contacted when more concrete actions are taken, but above all should outline the competences of different bodies and organisations and the concrete procedures to be followed (Adriaens et al. 2015).

Lastly, the most important reasons why management measures for biological invasions fail are:

- Lack of clear management objectives
- Inadequate or missing medium-term planning
- Uncertain funding streams
- Lack of monitoring of outcome of the measures

Regardless the outcome of management feasibility assessment presented here, which contributes to the definition of clear management goals defined both by scientists and practitioners, planning, budget and monitoring have to be addressed in the final management strategy.

2. Scenarios and strategies

2.1 Invasion scenarios

Invasion scenarios consist of factual description of the historic and current distribution and spread of the species. For IAS that are already established in Belgium, the scenario describes is the current extent of the species. For non-established species the scenario represents a probable invasion scenario that takes into account the probable pathway of introduction, the most likely entry point in the wild and the most likely extent of the species in Belgium at the point detection based on existing surveillance. The scenario includes:

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: brief account of the species invasion history and current invasion extent based on published information and data.
- **Reliability of the Belgian distribution**: representativeness of the distribution, identification of knowledge gaps in relation to ease of identification of the species and coverage of the species range by the current monitoring systems.
- Current management practice is mentioned when available with differences between bioregions.
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries: this information is primarily relevant for assessing the likelihood of reintroduction from neighbouring countries.
- Distribution map: based on validated distribution data from different regions as reported for the EASIN baseline (Tsiamis et al. 2017). This distribution map has a specific purpose and used specific date cut-offs with reference period 2000-2015 (Adriaens et al. 2017). Hence, the current distribution of the species can deviate from the map: the species can be underreported/underestimated (e.g. because of poor detectability, difficult identification of insufficient monitoring) or the distribution map can overestimate the actual distribution of a species, especially when it is under management. In this case, this is clearly explained in the scenario. In addition, for some species, the distribution map shows occurrence gaps.
- Quantification of invasion extent: a table is presented containing the number of 10 km, 5km and 1km squares where the species was recorded in each bioregion (Atlantic/Continental) during the reference period 2000-2015. It also shows the percentage of 1km square in Natura2000 areas (% 1km SAC) to provide an idea of its occurrence in protected areas. Furthermore, because this information is relevant to assess practicality, clustering index (CI, nearest neighbor index) was calculated which represents the level of clustering between the observations (using the average nearest neighbour tool from ESRI Arcgis). If the index is < 1, the distribution pattern exhibits clustering. An index > 1 indicated a more scattered distribution pattern.

2.2 Management strategies

Suitable and realistic management strategies were drafted by the authors of this report (**Annex 3**) for both eradication and spread limitation. These were derived from the full risk assessments for Belgium if available (see Vanderhoeven et al. 2015; Adriaens et al., 2013; Baiwy & Schockert, 2013; Baiwy et al., 2012a, 2012b; Lafontaine et al., 2013a, 2013b; Robert et al., 2013a, 2013b, 2013c, 2013d; Schockert, 2012; Schockert et al., 2012; Vanderhoeven, 2013; Verreycken, 2013; Verloove & Groom, 2013; Verloove, 2002, 2006), as well as published literature on management methods and their effectiveness.

Two risk management strategies were considered for Belgium:

- 1. <u>Eradication</u> : the complete and permanent removal of a population of invasive alien species by lethal or nonlethal means (definition of EU Regulation 1143/2014).
- 2. <u>Limiting spread</u> : any management scenario aimed at halting/limiting the spread of an IAS. In accordance with the stand-still principle of many legislative biodiversity instruments in Belgium, this is further specified as a management scenario aiming at a *status quo* in the current (T0) baseline distribution of an IAS of EU concern as reported to the European Alien Species Information Network (EASIN) (Adriaens et al. 2017; Tsiamis et al. 2017). Note the notion of limiting spread refers to the entire Belgian population and should therefore be considered broader than containment, which involves any action aimed at creating barriers which minimizes the risk of a population of an invasive alien species dispersing and spreading beyond the invaded area (definition of EU Regulation 1143/2014). Often, the strategy is different from the eradication

strategy in the spatial scale at which the populations are considered. The following spread limitation options have been identified for the EU list species:

- Option 1. Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches. This strategy aims at limiting the presence of a species in Belgium to a single or a few patches where it is described in the invasion scenario. This is done primarily by implementing procedures to eradicate any new populations, measures to create dispersal barriers (e.g. fencing, making areas inaccessible to species or vectors) or management methods aimed at avoiding the production of propagules that might result in dispersion (e.g. mowing before seed setting, measures aimed at reducing the population density). This strategy also includes methods to rapidly eradicate any new patches discovered outside the known patches.
- Option 2. Stand-still principle with core area(s). This strategy aims at limiting a species within a given core area where it is more widely distributed by implementing management measures aimed at avoiding any further spread or establishment outside this area. This includes management measures aimed at avoiding the production of propagules that might result in dispersion (e.g. mowing before seed setting) as well as methods to rapidly eradicate any new patches discovered outside the known core area(s). As dispersal is often influenced by population density, the strategy can also include management measures aimed at reducing the population density within the core area.
- Option 3. Progressive elimination of the most dispersive populations (widespread species with uninvaded areas in the distribution). This strategy aims at eradicating the dispersive segment of the total population in order to reach a stand-still of its current distribution. For plant species, this includes differentiated management measures for patches that are the source of new propagules for dispersal and measures to limit propagule pressure in other places. For widely spread animal species, this this can include the breeding part of the population.
- Option 4. Maintenance of pest free areas for widespread species. The spread limitation strategy aims at managing uninvaded areas as free areas. These areas are subjected to (i) dedicated biosecurity measures, (ii) management actions aiming to increase habitat resistance to invasion, (iii) an increased surveillance effort and (iv) rapid eradication actions after detection.

Although the manageability assessment only considered eradication and spread limitation as management strategies, species with low scores on the feasibility of eradication as well as a low score on spread limitation can be considered candidates for a long term control programme sensu Art 19.

The time frame for eradication and spread limitation is important to assess the different risk management criteria. If a specific timeframe is envisaged, it is mentioned in the strategies. If no specific timeframe is mentioned in the strategies, eradication is considered to take as long as is necessary to achieve permanent removal during in a time-limited campaign (Bomford and O'Brien 1995), whereas spread limitation should be considered an ongoing activity.

2.3 General provisions not part of the management strategies

When assessing the strategies' feasibility, assessors should assume the general Regulation obligations and bans are fulfilled:

- Trade bans are effectively installed, border inspection services are up and running;
- Action plans for unintentional pathways of introduction are implemented;
- Surveillance including both the current general surveillance activities (citizen science recording and professional WFD & N2000 monitoring) as well as dedicated surveillance for Union List species. Surveillance can be considered at two levels:
 - General surveillance: non-targeted screening of the entire territory for new observations of IAS of Union concern. This often requires the adaptation or expansion of existing monitoring systems for various species (groups) or habitats. An example for Belgium is the general surveillance through the online citizen science recording system <u>www.waarnemingen.be/exoten</u> and <u>https://observations.be/invasive_alert_view.php</u> and the use of dedicated smarphone apps for reporting (Adriaens et al. 2015a,b).
 - Dedicated surveillance: targeted surveillance, risk oriented surveillance and inspection programs aimed at specific locations where invasive exotics can be detected, often with specific methods and with greater frequency of sampling or field visits. Examples are the surveillance for Asian hornet at beehives or the use of wildlife camera trap networks to detect nocturnal mammals. Targeted surveillance can be performed in

areas with biodiversity present that is particularly vulnerable to invasions by specific IAS, such as Natura 2000 sites, nature reserves and other protected areas, biodiversity hotspots, vulnerable water bodies and river basins, or in areas where new invasions may be expected on the basis of the distribution pattern or specific pathways of introduction (cf. Adriaens 2016).

These general measures are not explicitly mentioned in the strategies because they are an inherent part of any strategy. The strategies only comprise such activities in case they are explicitly required for implementing the strategy e.g. surveillance activities that exceed the general and dedicated surveillance that should be set up for the species, dedicated biosecurity measures that exceed the general provisions but that are required for the spread limitation strategies.

These measures are often necessary conditions to run eradication or management campaigns. Assessors should consider the surveillance in place when scoring the feasibility of the different management strategies for species, here, we present further information on surveillance needed for some species (groups) (Table 3).

Table 3: Some general recommendations for a number of Union List species (group) linking to the obligations in the EU Regulation on bans (prevention), action plans for pathways (e.g. biosecurity) and surveillance that are not part of the strategies but should be considered to be in place while scoring the management feasibility.

Species	Surveillance	Prevention & biosecurity
Baccharis halimifolia	A survey should be conducted to determine the full extent of the B. halimifolia distribution, using the existing species monitoring (PINK, BEK) of natural areas and N2000 areas along the coast (Provoost et al., 2012) but adding dedicated surveillance at likely places of introduction of <i>B. halimifolia</i> , especially along roadsides, on brownfields with bare soil and along canals. Increased attention for the species is required in the Polder area, especially in areas with halophytic grasslands. The most appropriate time for surveillance is during the flowering period (mostly June-August). <i>Baccharis</i> <i>halimifolia</i> has a very high seed production and is dispersed by wind and water, which ensures a good colonization capacity (Fried et al., 2016). Suitable habitat (moist soils with high organic content, poorly drained saline soils) is present further east in the Atlantic bioregion (e.g. along the river Scheldt and in natural areas around the port of Antwerp) and is well within range of its wind dispersed fruits.	Preventive measures include the prohibition of selling, growing, transporting, introducing <i>Baccharis</i> . The species should not be planted anymore along the coast in gardens, public greenery, roadside verges or roundabouts. Public authorities are stimulated to remove current <i>Baccharis</i> stands through an awareness raising campaign.
Ludwigia grandiflora & L. peploides	The strategies should be based on (i) a systematic survey of Ludwigia populations in Belgium coordinated and animated by regional public authorities, with the support of local managers, naturalists, plant experts, etc. and (ii) mandatory notification by land owners/managers. Monitoring is concentrated on areas that are most vulnerable to invasion, i.e. in nutrient-rich water bodies and slow flowing watercourses. Due to the very high likelihood of plant spread by water current, systematic inventories of upstream and downstream areas adjacent to known infestations are conducted by dedicated personnel. Surveillance is also intensified near border areas due to high risk of plant recolonization from populations established in neighbouring countries, especially along transboundary watercourses and waterbodies with Netherlands and Northern France that are strongly invaded.	Preventive measures include the prohibition of growing, transporting, introducing and trading of <i>Ludwigia</i> spp. A communication and biosecurity campaign is organised targeted at users and managers of harbours, rivers and water bodies in risk areas. Biosecurity mainly focuses on checking boats and equipment and removing any <i>Ludwigia</i> material before use and moving from invaded to uninfected areas.
Cabomba caroliniana	See Ludwigia spp.	Public information is provided to villagers about <i>Cabomba</i> , its impact and the actions performed, through targeted communication (leaflets for the surrounding villas, announcement in the local village newsletter, website of municipal council, social media, fora of aquarists). The surrounding villagers are informed through an information session in the town hall. Before the action is undertaken, it is approved by the town council who decides on a budget. Additional funding is sought and obtained from the provincial water management services.

Lagarosiphon major	See <i>Ludwigia</i> spp.	Public information is provided to
		stakeholders involved (boaters, aquarists)
		about L. major, its impact and the actions
		performed, through targeted
		communication.
Elodea nuttallii	To plan the management surveillance is	See Lagarosiphon major
	performed. This is achieved by general	
	surveillance using naturalists, dedicated	
	macrophyte sampling and an increased	
	number of sites monitored within the	
	framework of the reporting for the Water	
	Framework Directive in suitable habitats.	
	Eradication or spread limitation needs to be	
	well planned and coordinated as it involves	
	many stakeholders, private people and water	
	managers.	
Heracleum	Management strategies should be	Preventive measures include the prohibition
mantegazzianum	accompanied by (i) a systematic survey of	of growing, transporting, introducing and
	giant hogweed populations in Belgium	trading of Ludwigia spp. An awareness
	coordinated and animated by regional public	campaign is launched with garden owners to
	authorities, with the support of local	prevent translocations and garden escapes.
	managers, naturalists, etc. and (ii) mandatory notification by land owners/managers.	
	Monitoring is concentrated on areas that are	towards beekeepers to prevent the species from being introduced.
	most vulnerable to invasion (abandoned	nom being introduced.
	grassland, fringes along watercourses,	
	woodlands, roads and railways, nature	
	conservation areas) and on sites susceptible	
	to colonization (e.g. nearby areas where giant	
	hogweed has been used for apiculture or	
	gardens where it is cultivated). Due to the	
	very high likelihood of seed spread by water	
	current, systematic inventories of upstream	
	and downstream areas adjacent to known	
	infestations are conducted by dedicated	
	personnel. Surveillance is also intensified	
	near border areas due to high risk of plant	
	recolonization from populations established	
	in France, Germany and Netherlands,	
	especially along transboundary watercourses	
	and waterbodies.	
Threskiornis aethiopicus	The current general surveillance and early	Increased compliance with the prohibition on
		introduction and keeping through training of
	and every bird reported receives appropriate	nature and zoo inspectors, awareness raising
	response and follow-up. With the very active	with stakeholders (e.g. owners of private bird
	bird-watching community and the relative rarity of the species, any free-flying sacred	collections and their stakeholder organisations) and an active policy towards
	ibis will quickly be detected and reported.	phasing out the captive population (e.g. by
	Also, heron and spoonbill colonies are	actively stimulating zoos and collections to
	monitored and the coverage of birders is	dispose of their animals, sterilize and contain
	good. Early warning alone is not sufficient as	them, promptly verbalizing such
	the eradication approach requires	institutions/persons in case any birds shot
	interpreting multiple observations, bird's	originate from captive populations in
	behaviour and whereabouts etc. Therefore,	Belgium) in order to prevent new
	the general surveillance is supplemented	introductions.
	with increased agility for sacred ibis presence	
	within the monitoring of heron and spoonbill	
	colonies and any other risk areas for	
	breeding.	

	surveillance and early warning system observations.be, supplemented with monitoring data from the wintering waterbird census and dedicated surveys at locations where birds are known to breed.	
Squirrels (Callosciurus erythraeus, Tamias sibiricus, Sciurus carolinensis, S. niger)	To locate squirrels, general surveillance using waarnemingen.be/observations.be (Adriaens et al., 2015b; Adriaens et al., 2017a) is combined with dedicated surveillance using a network of the same camera traps and hair	nature and zoo inspectors, awareness raising with stakeholders (e.g. pet owners and the public) and an active policy towards phasing out the captive population (e.g. by actively stimulating zoos and collections to dispose of their animals and to cover the costs for humane killing of pets through a veterinarian) to prevent new introductions.
Lithobates catesbeianus	Surveillance is carried out using waarnemingen.be, accompanied by inventories using e-DNA, and is focused in priority zones for population expansion. Control is carried out by trained professionals (e.g. social economy companies, agency people) in a long-term dedicated project (e.g. a Life+ project) with appropriate human and other resources at the initiative of both government agencies and conservation ngo's. An intensive early warning and rapid response campaign for the Nete Valley population with the aims of rapidly intervening in case of further spread. To this end, a volunteer network is set up and coordinated where trained volunteers adopt km squares around the Nete population nucleus and actively perform field surveys in the right season to detect calling males or juveniles.	introductions.
Muntiacus reevesi	the general public are informed about the presence of muntjak in the area and are	Increased compliance with the prohibition on introduction and keeping through training of nature and zoo inspectors and an active policy towards phasing out the captive Belgian population (e.g. by actively stimulating zoos and collections to dispose of their animals and to cover the costs for humane killing of pets by a veterinarian). Second hand websites offering pets for sale and hunting forums are monitored. To prevent new introductions, an awareness raising programme is launched targeted towards hunters in cooperation with the hunting societies, to increase awareness on the impact of this (non-game) species on biodiversity and hunting assets (notably roe

	1	
		deer), and to stimulate rapid action by
		volunteer hunters when new muntjak individuals pop up.
Friesheir einenein		
Eriocheir sinensis	Surveillance is organized by a network of fyke traps in the areas concerned. Careful	
	planning is necessary to identify suitable	
	locations to install traps taking into account	
	the local site conditions and migration	
	barriers where the animals could amass	
	during upstream migration. Additionally,	
	surveillance of standing waters (lakes, ponds	
	etc.) is organized through dedicated	
	samplings using adapted crayfish traps and	
	using e-DNA.	
Pseudorasbora parva	Dedicated monitoring of streams and water	To prevent further spread and new
	bodies is necessary to detect presence of	introductions, a prohibition on using the
	topmouth gudgeon and to.	species as live bait (or a general prohibition
		on the use of live fish as live bait) is issued
		and enforced in Flanders (in Wallonia, this is
		already in place). Also, stringent procedures
		are put in place to check fish stocking
		material imported for fish farms and for
		stocking open water for contamination with
		P. parva. As dispersal from (former)
		aquaculture facilities represents a key factor
		in the spread of P. parva (and other small
		bodied non-native fish) (Davies & Britton,
		2016), additional biosecurity measures
		should be applied at infected sites, for
		example, fine mesh screens on all outlets to
		minimize escapees contaminating connected
		water bodies and, where feasible, eradication, using appropriate methods.
Myocastor coypus	Surveillance consists of (i) an active and	Preventive measures include the prohibition
wyocustor coypus	systematic survey of coypu populations in	of trading, rearing and holding <i>M. coypus</i> .
	Belgium coordinated and animated by	Coypu feeding is prohibited in urbanised
	regional public authorities, with the support	areas.
	of river managers, hunters, anglers,	
	naturalists, etc. and (ii) mandatory	
	notification by land owners/managers.	
	Monitoring effort is increased in wetlands	
	situated in transboundary river catchments	
	where coypu presence is already confirmed	
	(Chiers, Meuse, Sambre, Semois, etc.).	
	Professional hunters commissioned by	
	regional authorities are hired to detect	
	specific signs of presence of the species	
	through a systematic survey in those areas,	
	including night inventory campaigns.	
Lysichiton americanus	Surveillance consists of (i) a systematic survey	
	of American skunk cabbage populations in	of growing, transporting, introducing and
	Belgium (incl. hybrids) coordinated and	trading of L. americanus. A communication
		and biosecurity campaign is organised
	the support of local managers, naturalists,	targeted at park managers, pond owners and
	plant experts, etc. and (ii) mandatory	gardeners. Care is taken to avoid any
	notification by land owners/managers,	movement of seeds with contaminated soils
	including gardeners. Information sheets are	and garden waste.
	produced to avoid any confusion of young	
	stages with related taxa like the eastern	
	skunk cabbage (Symplocarpus foetidus),	

	another Araceae native to North America.	
	Monitoring is concentrated on areas that are	
	most vulnerable to invasion, i.e. near ponds,	
	wells and watercourses. Due to the very high	
	likelihood of plant spread by water current,	
	systematic inventories of downstream areas	
	adjacent to known infestations are	
	conducted by dedicated personnel.	
Invasive crayfish	Surveillance consists of (i) a systematic survey	
(Orconectes limosus,	of crayfish populations in Belgium	prohibition of growing, transporting,
Procambarus clarkii,	coordinated and animated by regional public	introducing and trading of crayfish. Leisure
Pacifastacus leniusculus)	authorities, with the support of local	and commercial fishing is also forbidden. A
	managers, anglers, naturalists and crayfish	communication and biosecurity campaign is
	specialists and (ii) mandatory notification by	organised targeted at aquarium industry, pet
		owners and also pond and river users,
	in low-density areas with e-DNA samplings.	especially fishermen. A special care is taken
	Monitoring is concentrated in areas that are	(i) to avoid any accidental introduction via
	most vulnerable to invasion, i.e. artificial fish	fish stocking operations and (ii) to avoid any
	ponds. Due to the very high likelihood of	accidental spread of the crayfish plague by
	crayfish spread by water current, systematic	managers towards native crayfish
	inventories of upstream and downstream	populations. In parallel, the public should be
	areas adjacent to known infestations are	made aware of the problems associated with
	conducted by dedicated personnel.	non-native crayfish introductions, which is
	Surveillance is also intensified near border	done through involving them in management
	areas where known crayfish populations are	actions and surveillance programmes using
	established due to a high risk of	citizen science (e.g. reporting apps for
	recolonization from them.	anglers), awareness campaigns towards all
		users of water bodies, pond owners etc.
		Thorough enforcement of the prohibition on
		introductions in nature is necessary at risk
		locations for introductions e.g. restaurants
		dumping live waste, aquaculture or other
		breeding facilities. As a restoration measure,
		a reintroduction programme for native noble
		crayfish A. astacus could form an integral
		part of the strategy. This requires a feasibility
		study to identify suitable areas for
		reintroduction, rearing programmes,
		monitoring and follow-up.

2.4 Workshop on Management of IAS of Union Concern

Without clear objectives and rigorous monitoring of outcomes, an effective system of adaptive management for invasive alien species will remain difficult (Foxcroft et al. 2019). Managers, policy makers and scientists need therefore to agree on achievable management goals. To achieve this, we took the approach as proposed by Metzger et al. (2017) which involved drafting various management scenario's and capturing the aspirations of multiple stakeholders (in this case decision makers, practitioners and scientists). The aim of this participatory approach was to have the different perspectives correctly represented. Beyond providing a correct evidence base for decisions on management of IAS in Belgium, this approach also stimulates co-production and co-ownership of knowledge (Fujitani et al. 2017) and can hopefully lead to more support for the management measures proposed. It also contributes to closing the knowing-doing gap in invasion management (Roux et al. 2006; Esler et a. 2010; Matzek et al. 2014) and to reinforce the IAS community of practice (sensu Wenger 1998, 2002).

On 19 December 2018 a workshop was held in Brussels jointly organized by the Research Institute for Nature and Forest (INBO), the Belgian Biodiversity Platform, the Département d'Etude du Milieu Naturel et Agricole (Service Public de Wallonie - DEMNA) and the National Scientific Secretariat on Invasive Alien Species. The workshop, which was built around the results of the manageability assessments, brought together a number of experts who performed the assessments of management feasibility (Annex 3) with field practitioners who manage invasions in Belgium. The purpose of this workshop was to gather the opinions of managers on the proposed objectives and management strategies to be put in place in support of the of the IAS Regulation in Belgium, as a straightforward management recommendation from the practitioner's community.



Figure 1: General profile of attendants (left) and split out per thematic group (right) attending the Workshop on Management of IAS of Union Concern in Belgium (12 December 2018, Brussels).

The workshop was attended by 78 people, of which 61% had a field manager profile and 39% had a scientific profile (figure 1). A number of introductory talks explained the purpose of the workshop and the methodology to the participants. Break-out groups were organized for four thematic species groups: aquatic plants (8 species), terrestrial plants (9 species), aquatic animals (10 species) and terrestrial vertebrates (13 species). Asian hornet (*Vespa velutina*) was not considered during the workshop. These were moderated by Etienne Branquart, Sonia Vanderhoeven, Dido Gosse and Tim Adriaens respectively. Discussions in the break-out groups were standardized across thematic groups. First, per species, the invasion scenario and the proposed management strategies were quickly revisited with the aim of focusing the discussion and getting information on completeness of the scenario. Second, the overall result of the management feasibility assessment for eradication and spread limitation were presented, followed by a breakdown of scores and standard deviations over the different criteria assessed (see species accounts). For the purpose of the workshop, we used the standard deviation around the mean as a measure of variation around the feasibility scores. Revisiting the scores across strategies and criteria, a moderated discussion was then held with the participants around the management strategy to recommend for the species (eradication, spread limitation or any alternative strategies), and a consensual management recommendation was formulated. In case there was no agreement amongst participants about the scenario to recommend, this disagreement was documented and a voting was organized.

After the workshop, a survey was sent around with the notes of the discussion outcomes per species on which workshop attendants provided further comments. The aim was to ensure these notes provide an accurate representation of the discussion outcome or if anything is missing and to gain any other comments followed. This supplemental feedback was screened by the workshop organizers and added to the notes if deemed relevant. The management recommendations from the workshop are supplemented to the scenario's, strategies and outcomes of the expert's assessments in this report (see species accounts). This way, both the scientific expert's and the field manager's opinion can be taken into account by the competent authorities in Belgium in the decision-making process on the management of IAS of Union concern in Belgium.

3. Results

3.1 Vertebrates



3.1.1 Egyptian goose *Alopochen aegyptiacus* (nijlgans, ouette d'Egypte)

©Karel Van Moer

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Egyptian goose was reported in Belgium in the wild in 1984, started breeding in the early nineties and is now widely established in the country. The Belgian breeding population originated from escaped geese from the ornamental bird collection of the Royal Domain (Laken) (Vangeluwe, 2010; Vangeluwe & Roggeman, 2000) and has expanded rapidly since the 1990s (Gyimesi & Lensink, 2012; Vangeluwe & Roggeman, 2002; Vermeersch et al., 2004). Census data on the wintering population show a similar increase since the mid-1990s. According to the common bird monitoring scheme in the Atlantic bioregion, which now includes Egyptian goose, the species is still significantly increasing (>5% increase in the number of 1km² squares per year). Strongholds in the Atlantic bioregion are the Brabant, the northern Hainaut and Campine areas, central Limburg and the gravel extraction pits in the Meuse area (Limburg). The species is less abundant in the continental bioregion; it is rather common in the Condroz and Famenne but much more rare in the Ardenne and Lorraine areas. There is no detailed information available on the current number of breeding pairs in the Atlantic bioregion, but presumably the number of breeding pairs is over 2000. In winter, in the Atlantic bioregion, the average winter maximum (2010-2015) is quite stable since 2007 with 3500 birds and maxima of about 4000 birds (Adriaens et al., 2011, 2012; Anselin & Devos, 2005; Devos & Onkelinx, 2013). In the winter of 2016-2017 the maximum number was 5630 (INBO, waterbird census). There is no information on the importance of the influx of escaped birds from collections in the population built-up. In Belgium, Egyptian geese are culled through hunting (yet without obligatory reporting), are captured on breeding grounds and also egg destruction is practiced locally.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Despite lack of detailed data on the breeding population, species distribution is considered as representative as the species is easy to recognize and the coverage of birders is good. It is the most reported alien bird species on the citizen science platform waarnemingen.be/observations.be
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries: Some breeding areas in Flanders (e.g. Meuse valley) were colonized from The Netherlands where a large breeding population is present (>10.000 breeding pairs, >50.000 birds) (Benmergui 2011; Hustings & Koffijberg, 2015). In The Netherlands, numbers show a stabilisation since 2010 and (local) decrease since 2012-2013. Ringing data primarily show exchanges with Zeeland/Zuid-Holland and Limburg but also with western Germany (North Rhine Westphalia). In France, the number of breeding pairs is still rather limited (150-200 pairs in 2009) but the birds are concentrated along the Belgian border (Alsace, Lorraine) and the population is expanding (Benmergui 2011). In Germany it is widespread with over 2.200-2.600 breeding pairs (Südbeck et al. 2007). In Luxemburg, the species is widespread and the population is estimated at about 40 breeding pairs (Bastian 2016).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	226	94
UTM 5km	800	270
UTM 1km	7039	919
% 1km SAC	26	81
Clustering index	1.06	0.68

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The eradication strategy consists of culling birds through a combination of shooting and capturing. Shooting is the principal method used to control Egyptian geese. Birds can be shot when at or when flying into night roosts, at feeding sites and on breeding territories. Actions can be targeted towards single breeding pairs, but can also be aimed at shooting geese in numbers when they aggregate in groups (autumn & winter). Disturbance should be kept to a minimum especially with autumn and winter aggregations to prevent induced dispersal (e.g. when shooting). In summer, birds tend to be more dispersed. Shooting is mostly performed using short range shotguns, small caliber long rifles with silencer or a powerful air rifle. This would allow to shoot multiple animal at roost sites (cf. actions on ruddy duck and sacred ibis). Shooting would be supplemented with trapping where required, e.g. at sites were shooting is not possible because of safety or disturbance issues, such as parklands, nature reserves, urban areas

and private land. Trapping is performed year-round using a land-placed multi-capture Larsen trap with live decoy. Operating such traps requires daily checking for captured birds and checking on the condition and food of the decoy birds. Traps can be transported on a trailer and can be operated by one or two people. A Belgian case study (19 locations, max distance between two sites < 120 km) employed 2 FTE field control officers (Adriaens & Huysentruyt, 2014). It can be assumed that if capture sites are not spread out too widely, a single person can manage about 10 Larsen trap inspections/day. Initial surveillance would be required to identify roosting, feeding sites and breeding territories, safe lines of fire for marksmen and if required suitable locations for traps. The effectiveness of these traps has not been assessed, but when used to target couples at the onset of breeding, potentially they are very effective at preventing breeding thus taking out the reproductive segment of the population.

Egyptian geese experience a full primary moult leaving them flightless, but are, due to their excellent diving capacities (they are shellducks, not geese), not susceptible to the moult trapping systems applied for other species such as greater Canada or greylag goose (Adriaens & Huysentruyt, 2014; Adriaens et al., 2012, 2013, 2014a,b; Huysentruyt et al., 2013; Reyns et al. 2018; Van Daele et al., 2012). The species does not generally nest in colonies and regularly uses nesting sites in trees, making the nests less accessible for fertility control through egg pricking or oiling with liquid paraffin (Baker et al., 1993). Fertility control through nest destruction, pricking or oiling eggs has also been shown ineffective at population level (Klok et al., 2010). Floating Larsen traps have been tested in Belgium (Adriaens & Huysentruyt, 2014) but are more difficult to operate and more labour intensive. Trials with clap nets have largely been proven unsuccessful for capturing large flocks of Egyptian geese. Therefore, these methods are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: no specific post intervention measures are applied apart from monitoring for the occurrence of birds and breeding pairs. Birds shot should be removed from the environment if possible.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 3 Progressive elimination of the most dispersive populations As the whole Belgian territory is invaded by Egyptian goose and the species has good dispersal capacities, the strategy is to perform control of dispersive nuclei under the assumption that this might prevent dispersal to a certain extent. The spread limitation strategy therefore aims at eradicating dispersive nuclei of Egyptian geese, i.e. areas where large flocks and breeding concentrations occur. This coincides with the parks and surroundings of Brussels, Mechelen and Klein-Brabant, the northern Campine area, central Limburg and the gravel extraction pits in the Meuse area.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Techniques similar to those used in the eradication strategy are applied to the most dispersive populations. This involves culling birds through a combination of shooting and capturing with Larsen traps.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: no specific post intervention measures are applied apart from monitoring for the occurrence of birds and breeding pairs. Birds shot should be removed from the environment if possible.

Assessment results



The feasibility for both strategies was scored between medium and high by the experts, with similar variation around scores. This is reflected in comparable scores across criteria. Practicality and non-target impact were scored high for both strategies. Effectiveness and cost scored between medium and high. Acceptibility was scored between medium and high but with a degree of variation around the average. Reintroduction was scored low and very low for eradication and spread limitation respectively. There was more variation around the scores for cost, window of opportunity and the probability of reintroduction.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

The fact that the biggest population nuclei in Wallonia are found in Fouron where the Meuse enters Wallonia should be added in the scenario. The high scores for practicality are counterintuitive in light of the complexity of trapping as a control method for this species. The group remarked that this feasibility score was probably influenced by the combination of trapping and shooting in the strategy. Also, Window of Opportunity is giving counterintuitive results. Some remarks were made on the similarity between both strategies. However, for spread limitation the focus is on the distribution and therefore, big nuclei/groups of birds should be targeted. In practice, this can also be seen as 'progressive' elimination.

2. Recommendations for management

The group concluded that for Egyptian goose, the proposed spread limitation (scenario 3) should be recommended but supplemented with basic control throughout the whole Belgian territory. The strategy should include provisions to stimulate volunteer hunting, but part of the control should be professionalised using professional control agents. The management efforts need to target big concentrations but also smaller nuclei that are equally responsible for spread.

References

Adriaens T. (2013). Canada geese in Flanders urban areas. In: Van Ham C. (editor). Invasive alien species: the urban dimension, Case studies on strengthening local action in Europe. Brussels, Belgium: IUCN European Union Representative Office. 103pp.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F. (2014). RINSE Partner Report: Field trial Egyptian goose. Brussels: INBO.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., Devisscher S., Devos K., Casaer J. (2014a) Integrated management of invasive geese populations in an international context: a case study in Belgium & The Netherlands. Science for the New Regulation 2/04/14 Ghent, België.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., Devisscher S., K D., Casaer J. (2011). Simultaantelling overzomerende ganzen in Oost- en West-Vlaanderen. Vogelnieuws 17:24-30. Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., van Daele P., Devos K., Casaer J. (2012). Evaluatie bescherming en beheer van ganzenpopulaties. In: Van Gossum P. (editor). Inhoudsevaluatie van natuurbeleid in landbouwgebied: case vogelbeheer en erosiebestrijding. INBO.R.2012.50. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel. p 31-43.

Adriaens T., Standaert S., Huysentruyt F. (2014b). Controlling invasive geese in the RINSE region - A collaborative endeavor. Bridging the Gap: Working together to tackle invasive non-native species in Europe RINSE closing conference $23/09/14 \rightarrow 23/09/14$ - Norwich, Verenigd Koninkrijk.

Adriaens T., Van Daele P., Huysentruyt F., Devisscher S., Casaer J., Devos K. (2012). Junitelling van West-Vlaamse zomerganzen. *Vogelnieuws* 17:24-30.

Anselin A., Devos K. (2005). Wintertellingen van verwilderde ganzen in Vlaanderen met bijzondere aandacht voor de Canadese gans *Branta canadensis*. *Natuur.Oriolus* 71:90-102.

Baker S., Feare C., Wilson C., Malam D., Sellars G. (1993). Prevention of breeding of Canada geese by coating eggs with liquid paraffin. *International Journal of Pest Management* 39(2):246-249.

Bastian, M., 2016. Kanadagans (Branta canadensis) und Nilgans (Alopochen aegyptiaca) in Luxemburg. Bericht zur Erfassung der Kanadagans und der Nilgans im Jahr 2016 zur Untersuchung der Verbreitung, der Bestände sowie der Bestandsentwicklung im Großherzogtum Luxemburg. Centrale ornithologique Luxembourg, natur&ëmwelt a.s.b.l., Kockelscheuer. 21 p.

Benmergui, M., Bulliffon, F. & Fouque, C. (2011). L'Ouette d'Égypte *Alopochen aegyptiaca* : synthèse bibliographique et perspectives de gestion pour la France. Rapp. Int. ONCFS. 42 p.

Devos K., Onkelinx T. (2013). Overwinterende watervogels in Vlaanderen. Populatieschattingen en trends (1992 tot 2013). *Natuur.Oriolus* 79(4):113–130.

Gyimesi A., Lensink R. (2012). Egyptian Goose *Alopochen aegyptiaca*: an introduced species spreading in and from the Netherlands. Wildfowl 62(62):128-145.

Hustings F., Koffijberg K. (2015). De ene exoot is de andere niet: Nijlgans en Halsbandparkiet. Vogelbalans 2015.

Huysentruyt F., Adriaens T., Devisscher S., Casaer J. (2013) Evaluation Of A Large Scale Management Strategy For Summering Geese In Flanders And Zealand (Belgium/the Netherlands). The Wildlife Society Annual Conference, Milwaukee, US.

Klok C., Van Turnhout C., Willems F., Voslamber B., Ebbinge B., Schekkerman H. (2010). Analysis of population development and effectiveness of management in resident greylag geese *Anser anser* in the Netherlands. *Animal Biology* 60:373-393.

Reyns, N., Casaer, J., De Smet, L., Devos, K., Huysentruyt, F., Robertson, P.A., Verbeke, T., Adriaens, T. (2018). Cost-benefit analysis for invasive species control: the case of greater Canada goose *Branta canadensis* in Flanders (northern Belgium). PeerJ, Vol. 6, Nr. e4283, DOI: 10.7717/peerj.4283.

Südbeck, P., H.-G. Bauer, M. Boschert, P. Boye & W. Knief (2007): Rote Liste der Brutvögel Deutschlands - 4. Fassung, 30.11.2007. Ber. Vogelschutz 44: 23-81.

Van Daele P., Adriaens T., Devisscher S., Huysentruyt F., Voslamber B., De Boer V., Devos K., Casaer J. (2012). Beheer van Zomerganzen in Vlaanderen en Zeeuws-Vlaanderen - Rapport opgesteld in het kader van het INVEXO INTERREG project Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, INBO.R.2012.58. Brussel.

Vangeluwe D. (2010). Ouette d'Egypte *Alopochen aegyptiacus*. In: Jacob J.-P. (editor). Atlas des Oiseaux nicheurs de Wallonie 2001-2007 Série Faune-Flore-Habitats » n°5. : Aves & Région wallonne, Gembloux. 524 p. p 112-113.

Vangeluwe D., Roggeman W. (2000). Évolution, structure et gestion des rassemblements d'Ouettes d'Égypte férales en Région de Bruxelles-Capitale. Bruxelles. 22 p.

Vangeluwe D., Roggeman W. (2002). Dynamique d'expansion d'une population exotique d'ouettes d'Egypte (*Alopochen aegyptiacus*). Bulletin de L'institut Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique 72(suppl):229-230.

Vermeersch G., Anselin A., Devos K., Herremans M., Stevens J., Gabriëls J., Van der Krieken B. (2004). Atlas van de Vlaamse broedvogels 2000-2002. Instituut voor Natuurbehoud, Brussel.

3.1.2 House crow Corvus splendens (huiskraai, corbeau familier)



©Michael Clarke

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in Belgium</u>: not currently established in the wild in Belgium. The scenario is, at the point of detection, a few house crows (max 10 birds) reported in a built-up area in the vicinity of Antwerp harbour that arrived as stowaways on a ship from Egypt cf. the case of Hoek van Holland, Netherlands (Vane and Runhaar 2016).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: the coverage of the Belgian territory by birders is good so probably new arrivals would be detected fairly easily.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: the only reported population in neighbouring countries was a population in Hoek van Holland (Netherlands) which originated from a ship-assisted introduction of two birds in 1994. By 2012 23 house crows were present and at most 30 birds were reported (Slaterus et al. 2009; de Baerdemaeker and Klaassen 2012). A strongly contested eradication campaign was launched in 2014 after a juridical battle. Meanwhile, this population was eradicated. The eradication was initially performed by capturing, but later by shooting as birds grew shy fast. The campaign has cost the Ministry +/- 23.600 euros for 26 crows, about 15.000 euros cheaper than capturing and replacing the birds in zoos (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal 2015).
- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The eradication strategy is to cull all birds applying shooting as the principal method (Verwaijen 2016). Birds can be shot when at or when flying into roosts and at feeding and nesting sites depending on their locations (no shooting is allowed in Belgium within 150m of homes). Initial surveillance will be required to identify roosting, feeding and nesting sites and safe lines of fire. Because the control measures will take place in suburban areas, sufficient information should be provided for residents and passers-by. Birds shot should be removed from the environment if possible.

Trapping using nets and cages has proven successful in the beginning but insufficient to remove the last birds (CABI, 2017). This was also the case in Hoek van Holland (Vane and Runhaar 2016) where birds grew shy very fast. Fertility control will not remove the population in the short-term. Chemical methods such as the use of starlicide are not permitted in Belgium, not humane and have non-target effects on native avifauna. Chemical sterilization such as the use of OvoControl (nicarbazin) which is commonly used to control feral pigeons is currently not permitted in Belgium and has non-target effects on native avifauna. Therefore these methods are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy.

- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: monitoring for the occurrence of crows and breeding pairs on the site and dedicated surveillance in an area of 2km around it for at least two breeding seasons after the removal actions.
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 stand-still principle with a single or a few patches. The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *Corvus splendens* to the area and maintaining the current population level.
- Methods and techniques: The technique is to cull birds that occur outside the harbour area using the method described in the eradication strategy (shooting). Furthermore, to maintain the current population level, nest destruction is applied on the site which for corvids is commonly performed by shooting the nest with a shotgun. This way, nests with eggs or young are destroyed. This requires continuous monitoring of the population and locating of the nests. In parallel, actions are undertaken to limit the breeding success by limiting anthropogenic food sources for the birds, sealing off dumpsters and informing the public not to leave any food waste on site. Chemical sterilization such as the use of OvoControl (nicarbazin) which is commonly used to control feral pigeons are currently not permitted in Belgium and have non-target effects on native avifauna. Therefore this can not be part of the spread limitation strategy.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: detailed monitoring of the nests and the breeding success (at least number of nests, number of eggs and hatching success) is necessary to assess whether fertility reduction effectively prevented offspring. Where house crow were removed outside the breeding area, follow up monitoring is performed for at least one season to ensure all birds were removed.



Assessment results

The eradication strategy was scored high on average, the spread limitation was scored marginally lower. Effectiveness, practicality, cost, impact and acceptability scored high on average, with effectiveness and practicality scoring a bit lower for the spread limitation strategy. Window of opportunity and likelihood of reintroduction scored lower between medium and high. Reintroduction had considerable variation around the average score.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

The eradication and spread limitation strategy were more or less scored the same by experts. The group noted this was counterintuitive and hypothesized that probably assessors did not understand very well that spread limitation requires continuous investment in surveillance and rapid response, whereas the cost for eradication can initially be higher but in the end cheaper.

2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants agreed on the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.

References

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2017). Datasheet : *Corvus splendens*. Downloaded from <u>http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/15463</u> on 01-08-2017.

de Baerdemaeker, A., Klaassen, O. (2012). Huiskraaien in Hoek van Holland: is de groei eruit? Straatgras 24(4):78-79.

Ottens, G. (2003). Achtergrond en ontwikkeling van de Nederlandse populatie Huiskraaien Corvus splendens. Limosa 76(2):69-74.

Slaterus, R., Aarts, B., van den Bremer, L. (2009). De Huiskraai in Nederland: risicoanalyse en beheer. Beek-Ubbergen. 2009/08.

Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal (2015). Beantwoording vragen over het uitroeien van de Indische huiskraai in Hoek van Holland.

https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/kamerstukken/2015/06/11/beantwoording-kamervragen-over-uitroeien-indischehuiskraai

Vane, M., Runhaar, H.A. (2016). Public support for invasive alien species eradication programs: insights from the Netherlands. *Restoration Ecology* 24(6):743-748.

Verwaijen, D. (2016) Code van goede praktijk voor het bestrijden en beheersen van de huiskraai, *Corvus splendens*, in Vlaanderen. Vlaamse overheid - Agentschap voor Natuur en Bos. Brussels.

3.1.3 Ruddy duck Oxyura jamaicensis (rosse stekelstaart, érismature rousse)



©Geert Spanoghe

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Irregular breeder in the Atlantic bioregion. The current invasion scenario is one breeding attempt or breeding pair per year in the Atlantic bioregion (mostly Antwerp harbour area, Groot Rietveld and vicinity, Kalmthoutse Heide, sometimes Bospolder Ekeren or Blokkersdijk), representing about 10 wintering birds (on 10-15 different locations) or 20-30 birds present in summer (>20 locations) (Adriaens et al., 2011; Demolder et al., 2016). Breeding areas are mostly nature reserves and water bodies under public or conservation-NGO authority (Spanoghe et al., 2010). Only a few casual data are reported from the Continental bioregion, representing a maximum of 2 wintering birds per year. The source of birds are escaped/released individuals as well as spill-over from a more extensive breeding population in The Netherlands and possibly also France. The species is under coordinated management since 2011 (in the period 2009-2016, 69 birds have been shot) (Adriaens & D'hondt, 2017; Robertson et al., 2015).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species distribution is considered as representative. With the very active birdwatching community and the relative rarity of the species, ruddy ducks are quickly detected and reported. Furthermore, good monitoring data are available from the wintering waterbird census and monitoring in Natura2000 areas where birds are known to breed (e.g. Antwerp harbour).
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries: In The Netherlands 60-80 wintering birds are present which represents 12-16 breeding pairs. About 5 birds are shot per year on average since 2013 in The Netherlands (Ruks 2017). In France, the population is currently stable at about 200 wintering birds (representing 40 breeding pairs) thanks to control actions (Hall 2016; pers. comm. J.-B. Mouronval). The largest concentration occurs around the Lac de Grand Lieu (Nantes) where a dedicated Life project is planned. The numbers in UK have dropped since the eradication campaign and currently only a few birds are present on a few sites (pers. comm. I. Henderson).



	ATL	CONT	
Utm 10km	71	9	
Utm 5km	90	9	
Utm 1km	176	15	
% 1km SAC	34 %	33 %	
Clustering index	0.47	0.77	

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The strategy (currently applied) consists of culling every individual bird present on the Belgian territory through shooting. When multiple birds are present (or parent with fledglings), the female is shot first. Birds are culled through shooting (up to a distance of 200 meters) in the period march-october, accompanied by good surveillance through citizen science. Shooting is performed using rifles (.223 caliber with ballistic tip bullets to prevent ricochet on the water surface) although sometimes shotguns (with pellets) are used when birds (e.g. breeding couples with fledglings approached by wading the reed marsh or using a boat) can be approached more easily at shorter distances. Care is taken to limit the frequency of shots ideally, sound moderated rifles would be used and to prevent the use of boats so as not to disturb native breeding birds and waterfowl. Playing sound (the male call) is used to attract birds from cover. This works best during breeding and at the onset of breeding (april-august). Sound works

well on males but females follow frequently and can also be attracted using male sounds when they are solitary (pers. comm. I. Henderson). A plastic decoy is sometimes used to guide ruddy ducks to the place where they can be shot. Shooting can be performed by a volunteer hunter, such as in Flanders, supplemented with professional agents. Alternative control methods such as live trapping using cages with a live decoy, baited dive-in traps (Whitworth et al. 2007), mirror traps (Savard, 1985), submerged mist nets (Breault & Cheng, 1990), drive-by netting (Caudell and Conover, 2007), night-lighting (Cummings en Hewitt 1964), or gill netting are considered unpractical and create too much disturbance. Therefore they are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy.

- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: no specific post intervention measures are applied apart from monitoring for the occurrence of birds and breeding pairs. Birds shot should be removed from the environment if possible.
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: Option 3 Progressive elimination of the most dispersive populations with nesting birds as dispersive populations The spread limitation strategy consists of only removing nesting birds or birds suspected of breeding that could represent a source of further dispersal.
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The technique is similar to the one used in the eradication strategy but applied only to remove nesting birds. Birds are shot with rifles or shotguns, taking precautions to prevent ricochet and disturbance.
 - <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: no specific post intervention measures are applied apart from monitoring for the occurrence of breeding pairs. Birds shot should be removed from the environment if possible.



Assessment results

The eradication strategy scored marginally higher than the spread limitation strategy but both strategies scored between medium and high. All the criteria, except likelihood of reintroduction, scored high to very high for eradication. The same was true for spread limitation, yet effectiveness was scored somewhat lower between medium and high.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

Participants confirmed that indeed the likelihood of reintroduction is still a high since France and Netherlands are still tackling their populations. This should however improve at least for France as a life project has started which already culled a lot of birds. Also, the Netherlands developed some actions in Markiezaat which is probably the provenance of many Belgian birds. –

The acceptability score is logically high because of the low number of animals which limits the potential for problems with public support.

2. Recommendations for management

As the species is currently not really established but present (and an irregular breeder in Flanders), the workshop participants agreed on the eradication of all individuals on the Belgian territory as a management recommendation.

References

Adriaens T., D'hondt B. (2017). Bestrijding Rosse stekelstaart op kruissnelheid. Natuur.Focus 16(2):96-97.

Adriaens T., Spanoghe G., Devos K. (2011). Advies betreffende de beheermaatregelen voor de rosse stekelstaart (*Oxyura jamaicensis*). Adviezen van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.2530.

Breault A.M. & Cheng K.M. (1990). Use of Submerged Mist Nets to Capture Diving Birds (La Utilizacion de Redes Sumergidas para Atrapar Aves Zambullidoras). Journal of Field Ornithology 61(3): 328-330.

Caudell J.N. & Conover M.R. (2007). Drive-by netting: a technique for capturing grebes and other diving waterfowl. *Human-Wildlife Conflicts* 1(1): 49-52.

Cummings G.E. & Hewitt O.H. (1964). Capturing waterfowl and marsh birds at night with light and sound. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 28(1): 120-126.

Demolder H., Peymen J., Adriaens T., Anselin A., Belpaire C., Boone N., De Beck L., De Keersmaeker L., De Knijf G., Desmet L. et al. (2016). Natuurindicatoren 2016. Toestand van de natuur in Vlaanderen: cijfers voor het beleid. Brussels.

Hall, C. (2016) A review of the progress against the action plan for eradication of the ruddy duck (Oxyura jamaicensis) in the western Palearctic (2011-2015). WWT report to the Bern Convention.

Robertson P., Adriaens T., Caizergues A., Cranswick P., Devos K., Gutiérrez-Expósito C., Henderson I., Hughes B., Mill A., Smith G. (2015). Towards the European eradication of the North American ruddy duck. *Biological Invasions* 17(1):9-12.

Ruks, R. (2017). Rosse stekelstaart: kader, verspreiding, aantallen en ervaringen in Nederland. Presentation at Work exchange ruddy duck eradication, 21 june 2017, Available at <u>https://www.inbo.be/nl/vlaams-nederlandse-werkuitwisseling-rosse-stekelstaart-nb-07-17</u>

Savard J.-P.L. (1985). Use of a Mirror Trap to Capture Territorial Waterfowl. Journal of Field Ornithology.

Spanoghe G., Faveyts W., Vermeersch G. (2010). Broedende Rosse Stekelstaarten Oxyura jamaicensis in Vlaanderen: een aanwinst ? Natuur.Oriolus 76(1):1-7.

Whitworth D., Newman S., Mundkur T., & Harris P. (2007). Wild birds and avian influenza – An introduction to applied field research and disease sampling techniques. FAO Animal Production and Health Manual No. 5 FAO Animal Production and Health Manual No. 5. Food And Agriculture Organization Of The United Nations.

3.1.4 Sacred ibis Threskiornis aethiopicus (heilige ibis, ibis sacré)



©Craig Adam

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: The species is currently not established in Belgium in the wild but sightings of wandering and vagrant sacred ibis are regular in the Atlantic bioregion (Robert et al., 2013). The same is true, to a lesser extent, for the continental region. No breeding colonies are currently known so the observed birds either originate from escapes (zoos that often have free roaming birds in collection, but also private collections) or originate from breeding colonies in western France. Some individual birds are known to roam around specific areas, mostly wetlands, for longer periods of time (e.g. Mechels Broek, Verrebroekse Plassen). More rarely, individual birds are reported to disturb breeding spoonbills in the Antwerp harbour area. This was the case in 2016 when a bird was continuously present in and around the single Flemish spoonbill colony present on an artificial island and was observed predating/destroying spoonbill eggs (Beveren, Verrebroekse Plassen). This bird was shot in 2017 during a ruddy duck eradication action in the same area. Risk areas for breeding are heron colonies, islands in lakes in wetlands and marshes, and coastal areas and marshes (Zwin, Zeebrugge harbour area, Harchies marshes). Breeding is facilitated by the presence of other heron species or spoonbills.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species distribution is considered as representative. With the very active birdwatching community and the relative rarity of the species, any free-flying sacred ibis will quickly be detected and reported. Also, heron and spoonbill colonies are monitored and the coverage of birders is good.
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries: In the Netherlands 12 nesting pairs were reported on three locations in 2007, but these birds were caught in 2009 and no breeding was reported in the period 2010-2014 (website SOVON). In 2015 one breeding pair was observed in De Wieden and furthermore some solitary birds are present, presumably spill-over from the French populations, new escapees or birds arriving from Germany (NVWA 2016; Yésou et al. 2017). In western France (Loire-Atlantique, Morbihan) 155 breeding pairs were reported in 2016 on 4 sites. Based on winter counts at roosting sites, 500-550 birds are present in total in Morbihan, Pays de la Loire and Charente-Maritime (Maillard and Barbotin 2017). The population is under management (shooting and egg destruction in Grand-Lieu by ONCFS agents and the reserve manager) since 2006 (Clergeau & Yésou, 2006; Marion, 2006; Yésou & Clergeau, 2005). In 2017, it is estimated that 250-300 birds remain around the Atlantic coast in western France (Yésou 2014; Yésou et al. 2017). Not reported for Luxemburg nor Germany (Tsiamis et al. 2017).


	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	71	8
Utm 5km	98	8
Utm 1km	168	8
% 1km SAC	49 %	63 %
Clustering index	0.52	1.32

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The eradication strategy consists of culling every bird on the Belgian territory by shooting. Birds can be shot when on the ground at feeding sites, when flying to and from foraging areas at or when flying into night roosts. This can be performed using powerful air rifles, ideally equipped with a sound moderator or alternatively with a rifle (.223 caliber). When shooting around water, ballistic tip bullets need to be used to prevent ricochet on the water surface. Birds are shot from vehicles, from hides or from open grounds using a simple tripod. Decoys can be used to attract sacred ibises to ideal sites for culling operations (Yésou et al. 2017). For every intervention, initial surveillance will be required to identify roosting and feeding sites and a clear and safe line of fire for the marksmen. Trapping is <u>not</u> considered as there is no information to be found on its effectiveness. Fertility reduction through egg sterilisation, such as it was practiced in the sacred ibis colony at Banc du Bilho (Loire estuary) and currently at Lac du

Grand Lieu (twice a year during the breeding season, ensuring the vast majority of initial and replacement clutches do not hatch), only stabilizes or reduces recruitment and will not remove the population in the short/mid-term. Spraying corn oil on the eggs or removing fledglings from the nest, as was practiced in a colony at Guandu mangrove wetland in Taipei, was also insufficient to remove the population (Hung et al. 2013). Therefore, these methods are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: no specific post intervention measures are applied apart from surveillance for new occurrence of birds and breeding pairs. Birds shot should be removed from the environment if possible.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

• <u>Aim</u>: Option 3 - Progressive elimination of the most dispersive populations with nesting birds as dispersive populations The spread limitation strategy consists of only removing nesting birds or birds suspected of breeding that could represent a source of further dispersal. Special attention is given to ibis roaming risk areas for breeding (islands in lakes in wetlands and marshes, coastal areas and marshes) for a longer period of time, birds suspected of breeding or displaying direct interaction with native herons and/or spoonbills.

- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The technique is similar to the one used in the eradication strategy but applied only to remove nesting birds. Birds are shot when at or flying into night roosts and also at feeding sites using powerful air rifles or alternatively with rifles.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: no specific post intervention measures are applied apart from dedicated surveillance for new occurrence of birds and breeding pairs (e.g. in suitable breeding habitats and heron colonies). Birds shot should be removed from the environment if possible.



Assessment results

Both the eradication and spread limitation strategy were assessed medium to high feasibility with equal average scores and variation. For eradication, all criteria scored high except cost, which was assessed very high, and likelihood of reintroduction which scored between very low and low. The same was true for spread limitation, yet practicality scored somewhat higher and impact somewhat lower.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

Some of the workshop participants noted that only tackling breeding pairs as a proposed strategy is not really eradication, but could indeed have positive effects on acceptability. The criterium cost was scored very high, probably because the strategy was based on volunteer involvement cf. ruddy duck eradication.

2. Recommendations for management

As the species is currently not really established but present, the workshop participants agreed on the eradication of all individuals on the Belgian territory as a management recommendation.

References

Clergeau P., Yésou P. (2006). Behavioural flexibility and numerous potential sources of introduction for the sacred ibis: causes of concern in western Europe? *Biological Invasions* 8(6):1381-1388.

Hung, K.-C., Liou, T.-C., Chen, T.-C. (2013). The control of invasive alien species - sacred ibis (*Threskiornis aethiopicus*) in Taiwan. Proc. 2nd international congress on biological invasions: Biological Invasions, Ecological Safety and Food Security. Qingdao, China, 23-27 October 2013.

Marion L. (2006). Status of the breeding population of Spoonbills in France and relations with Sacred Ibis. *Eurosite Spoonbill* Network Newsletter 4:36-40.

Maillard, J.-F. and Barbotin, A. (2017) Bilan national des effectifs et des prélèvements d'Ibis sacrés (*Threskiornis aethiopicus*) en 2016. ONCFS En collaboration avec la Société Nationale de Protection de la Nature en tant que gestionnaire de la Réserve Naturelle Nationale du lac de Grand-Lieu.

NVWA (2016) Onderbouwing strategie Unielijst-soorten Bouwstenen voor het bepalen van de strategie voor eliminatie en beheer van Unielijst-soorten (EU-verordening 1143/2014) in Nederland v 1.0. Nederlandse Voedsel- en Warenautoriteit Bureau Risicobeoordeling en Onderzoeksprogrammering Divisie Landbouw & Natuur.

Robert H., Lafontaine R.-M., Delsinne T., Beudels-Jamar R.C. (2013). Risk analysis of the Sacred Ibis *Threskiornis aethiopicus* (Latham 1790). - Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences for the Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment. 35 p.

Tsiamis K; Gervasini E; Deriu I; D`amico F; Nunes A; Addamo A; De Jesus Cardoso A. (2017). Baseline Distribution of Invasive Alien Species of Union concern. Ispra (Italy): Publications Office of the European Union; 2017, EUR 28596 EN, doi:10.2760/772692

Yésou P., Clergeau P. (2005). Sacred Ibis: a new invasive species in Europe. Birding World 18(12):517-526.

Yésou P. (2014). Nidification de l'ibis sacré dans l'ouest de la France en 2013. <u>http://www.oncfs.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/Bilan_nidification_ibis_sacre_2013.pdf</u>

Yésou, P., Clergeau, P., Bastian, S., Reeber S. and Maillard, J.-F. (2017) The Sacred Ibis in Europe: ecology and management. British Birds 110:197–212.

3.1.5 Pallas's squirrel *Callosciurus erythraeus* (Pallas' eekhoorn, écureuil de Pallas)



© Jan St

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Currently not established in the wild in Belgium. In the Atlantic bioregion, Dadizele (western Flanders), a population was eradicated with a dedicated campaign (2005-2011) at a theoretical cost of 200.000 euros (Stuyck et al., 2013; Adriaens et al., 2015a; Adriaens et al., 2017b). Animals on the Belgian side in the border region with the Netherlands (Limburg), were also eradicated during the Weert campaign (Dijkstra and La Haye 2017). The scenario is based on an hypothetical new outbreak similar to the Weert case (Dijkstra & La Haye 2017), and consists of a single population originating from unsterilized individuals escaped from a private collection in the Atlantic bioregion in a forested suburban context (e.g. park or public forest) with villas around, in a residential setting with big private gardens. Despite squirrels being obviously well known to the public, they were not readily identified to species level cf. the Dadizele case (Adriaens et al., 2015a). The presence of squirrels was first suspected by the occurrence of damages (cable gnawing and bark stripping). By the time the population is detected, about 40-50 squirrels are present. The animals regularly roam private gardens around their core habitat to look for food and shelter.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: the distribution is considered representative.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: A population originating from a pet shop escape in 1998 was present in the Netherlands (Weert) but is meanwhile eradicated using live trapping (2012-2013) (Dijkstra et al. 2009; Dijkstra 2012,2013). Trapped animals were sterilized and replaced in zoos and animal rescue centers (Vane & Runhaar, 2016). In 2017 a newly escaped animal was reported in Noord-Limburg (Meerdaal America), probably originating from a cage in a holiday resort where sterilized squirrels were housed from the first capture campaign in Dadizele (Dijkstra and La Haye 2017). In France, bigger populations are present in the south (Bouche du Rhône, Antibes) that are under management (Chapuis et al. 2014).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	3	0
Utm 5km	5	0
Utm 1km	7	0
% 1km SAC	43 %	-
Clustering index	3.97	-

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The strategy to eradicate Pallas's squirrel would be year-round live trapping using low-tech baited (hazel nuts, walnuts) traps (e.g. Sherman traps 25x8x8 or self-made traps) as described in the Dadizele case (Adriaens et al., 2015a). Prebaiting is an essential part of the strategy to increase trapping success (Mazzamuto et al. 2015; Dutton, 2016; Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To reduce cost, baiting stations are equipped with state-of-the-art Reconyx high performance wildlife cameras (trigger speed 0,2s or faster, adapted to small agile squirrels) mounted in security boxes and with a lock. Traps are set only upon squirrel detection by cameras and are moved around the area regularly. Trapping effort and trap density are kept sufficiently high (on average 10 traps/hectare), but the effort is spread throughout the season and is most intensive during the months before squirrel reproduction. Cameras have integrated SIM card to reduce costs of human resources and transport to and from the site. Bycatch is released on site. Trapped squirrels are humanely killed in a mobile field unit with an overdose of CO₂ using an isoflurane evaporator or are sterilized and put in zoos. Trapping is executed by professional trappers supplemented with

dedicated and trained volunteers to reduce costs. To ensure perseverance of the trapping effort during consecutive years of trapping (cf. Dadizele case), follow-up is organized through a Belgian scientific institute or university. To supplement live trapping with air rifle shooting (e.g. 22LR with scope, sound moderators and sub-sonic hollow point ammunition) at baiting stations is <u>not</u> part of the strategy since it is generally considered less effective than trapping (Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To apply lethal traps (e.g. fenn traps, kania traps) or to use sunflower seeds/hazel nut spread coated with oral contraceptives (DiazaConTM, GonaConTM) are <u>not</u> part of the strategy since these methods are not selective and could also impact native red squirrel.

- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying is maintained on and around (5 km radius) the site in suitable habitat, using a combination of citizen science reporting (e.g. observations of squirrels in garden on bird feeders, early warning with waarnemingen.be), a network of camera traps and hair tubes (Verbeylen, 2012).
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: *Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches.* The spread limitation strategy consists of keeping the current population in check by preventing its spread.
 - Methods and techniques: increased surveillance around the population using a network of camera traps (Adriaens et al. 2015b), interviews with garden owners and a citizen science early warning network (Adriaens et al. 2014) in a buffer zone around the current population. This surveillance is targeted towards potential habitat of the species nearby, taking into account landscape features that could act as barriers (cf. the A8 motorway that initially represented a barrier to the spread of the Cap d'Antibes (France) population (Chapuis et al. 2011)). In case new squirrels establish outside this area, they are rapidly eradicated using the eradication methods described in the eradication strategy i.e. pre-baited live traps supported by wildlife cameras. The low perceptual range of Pallas's squirrel limits their ability to cross gaps in fragmented landscapes with low densities of connective features (Bridgman et al. 2012). However, long distance dispersal (>5km) has been observed (Adriaens et al. 2015a). Therefore, the removal of trees to prevent squirrel dispersal is <u>not</u> considered a viable part of the spread limitation strategy.
 - <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: on sites where new squirrels were detected and removed, 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying is maintained using the same monitoring techniques as for the eradication strategy i.e. early warning with waarnemingen.be, a network of camera traps and hair tubes.



Assessment results

The feasibility of eradication scored between medium and high. The feasibility of spread limitation was scored somewhat lower but with similar variation around the average score. Effectiveness, impact and likelihood of reintroduction scored between high and very high for the eradication strategy, but were scored lower in the spread limitation strategy. Cost was scored between medium and high for eradication, but low to medium for spread limitation. Acceptibility was scored between medium and high . There was more variation on the scores for the different criteria in the spread limitation strategy than for the eradication strategy.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

The workshop partipants noted that since the invasion scenario is based on the Weert case (The Netherlands), in a forested area with private gardens, any strategy requires dealing with the public and access to private property. This is more challenging than the insular Dadizele case with only a single site owner and could have an influence on acceptability. Eradication should be community-based.

2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants agreed on the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.

References

Adriaens T. (2014). Waarnemingen.be as an early-detection tool, from centralised reporting to effective early warning. Workshop Aliens on the horizon. Brussels, 12 March 2014.

Adriaens T., Baert K., Breyne P., Casaer J., Devisscher S., Onkelinx T., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2015a). Successful eradication of a suburban Pallas's squirrel *Callosciurus erythraeus* (Pallas 1779) (Rodentia, Sciuridae) population in Flanders (northern Belgium). *Biological Invasions* 17(9):2517-2526.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., Stuyck J., Van Den Berge K., Vandegehuchte M., Casaer J. (2015b). Surveillance voor invasieve exoten: samen op de uitkijk. *Zoogdier* 26(1):17-19.

Adriaens T., Verzelen Y., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2017b). Pallas' eekhoorn uitgeroeid in Dadizele (West-Vlaanderen). *De Levende Natuur* 118(4):130-132.

Chapuis JL, Gerriet O, Pisanu B, Pauvert S (2014) Plan national de lutte relatif à l'écureuil à ventre rouge (*Callosciurus erythraeus*) dans les Alpes-Maritimes: bilan et perspectives. Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris, Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de Nice, DREAL Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur. http://ecureuils.mnhn.fr/sites/default/ files/documents/plan_evr_bilan_2012-2014_et_perspectives_2015-2018.pdf. Accessed 25 Mar 2015

Dijkstra V. (2012). Notitie wegvangactie Pallas' eekhoorn Weert, fase 2. Zoogdiervereniging. 14 p.

Dijkstra V. (2013). Het wegvangen van Pallas' eekhoorns in Weert en omgeving 2013. Mei-november. Rapport 2013.38. Bureau van de Zoogdiervereniging, Nijmegen.

Dijkstra V. and La Haye, M. (2017). Het wegvangen van Pallas' eekhoorns bij Weert. De Levende Natuur 118(4): 132-133.

Dijkstra V., Overman W., Verbeylen G. (2009). Inventarisatie Pallas' eekhoorn bij Weert. . Zoogdiervereniging rapport 2009.21. Zoogdiervereniging, Arnhem, Nederland.

Dutton C. (2016). The Grey Squirrel Management Handbook: European Squirrel Initiative.

Mazzamuto M.V., Panzeri M., Wauters L. et al (2015). Knowledge, management and optimization: the use of live traps in control of non-native squirrels. *Mammalia*, 80:305–311

Shuttleworth C.M., Lurz, P.W., Gurnell J. (2016). The grey squirrel - ecology and management of an invasive species. European Squirrel Initiative: European Squirrel Initiative.

Stuyck J., Baert K., Breyne P., Pieters S. (2013). The Pallas squirrel in Belgium, a successful eradication action. Ghent, 4 July 2013.

Vane M., Runhaar H.A. (2016). Public support for invasive alien species eradication programs: insights from the Netherlands. *Restoration Ecology* 24(6):743-748.

Verbeylen, G. (2012). Handleiding Monitoring van rode eekhoorns aan de hand van nesttellingen en haarvallen Zoogdierenwerkgroep Natuurpunt.

3.1.6 Grey squirrel *Sciurus carolinensis* (grijze eekhoorn, écureuil gris)



©Diliff

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Currently not established in Belgium. There have been several casual observations of grey squirrels (including some roadkill) in the Atlantic bioregion in recent years (Zeebrugge, Kallo). Authorities attempted capture of the Kallo animal but the animal was not resighted. The scenario to consider is a single population originating from unsterilized individuals escaped from a private collection in the Atlantic bioregion in a forested suburban context (e.g. park or public forest) with villas around, in a residential setting with big private gardens. By the time the animals are detected, the population already consists of a several tens of individuals. The animals regularly roam private gardens around their core habitat to look for food and shelter.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: the distribution is considered representative.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: no established populations are reported in neighbouring countries. In The Netherlands, casual observations are reported almost yearly (12 individuals in the period 2005-2013) (Dijkstra 2015, 2017).



- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - Methods and techniques: The strategy to eradicate grey squirrel would be year-round live trapping using low-tech baited (hazel nuts, walnuts) traps (e.g. Sherman traps 25x8x8 or self-made traps) as described in the Dadizele case for Pallas's squirrel (Adriaens et al., 2015a). Prebaiting is an essential part of the strategy to increase trapping success (Dutton, 2016; Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To reduce cost, baiting stations are equipped with state-of-the-art Reconyx high performance wildlife cameras (trigger speed 0,2s or faster, adapted to small agile squirrels) mounted in security boxes and with a lock. Traps are set only upon squirrel detection by cameras and are moved around the area regularly. Trapping effort and trap density are kept sufficiently high (on average 10 traps/hectare), but the effort is spread throughout the season and is most intensive during early spring, when there is food scarcity. Thus, the attractivity of baits is stronger and grey squirrels are easier to catch (Mayle 2004). Cameras have integrated SIM card to reduce costs of human resources and transport to and from the site. Bycatch is released on site. Trapped squirrels are humanely killed in a mobile field unit with an overdose of CO₂ using an isoflurane evaporator or are sterilized and put in zoos. Trapping is executed by professional trappers supplemented with dedicated and trained volunteers to reduce costs. To ensure perseverance of the trapping effort during consecutive years of trapping (cf. Dadizele case), follow-up is organized through a Belgian scientific institute or university.

To supplement live trapping with air rifle shooting (e.g. 22LR with scope, sound moderators and sub-sonic hollow point ammunition) at baiting stations is <u>not</u> part of the strategy since it is generally considered less effective than trapping (Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To apply lethal traps (e.g. fenn traps, kania traps), poison (Palmer et al. 2007), or to use sunflower seeds/hazel nut spread coated with oral contraceptives (DiazaConTM, GonaConTM) are <u>not</u> part of the strategy since these methods are not selective and could also impact native red squirrel.

- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying is maintained on and around (5 km radius) the site in suitable habitat, using a combination of citizen science reporting (e.g. observations of squirrels in garden on bird feeders, early warning with waarnemingen.be), a network of camera traps and hair tubes (Verbeylen, 2012).
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
- <u>Aim</u>: *Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches.* The spread limitation strategy consists of keeping the current population in check by preventing its spread.

- Methods and techniques: increased surveillance around the population using a network of camera traps, interviews with garden owners and a citizen science early warning network in a buffer zone around the current population. This surveillance is targeted towards potential habitat of the species nearby, taking into account landscape features that could act as barriers (cf. the A8 motorway that initially represented a barrier to the spread of the Cap d' Antibes (France) population (Chapuis et al. 2011)). In case new squirrels establish outside this area, they are rapidly eradicated using the eradication methods described in the eradication strategy i.e. pre-baited live traps supported by wildlife cameras.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: on sites where new squirrels were detected and removed, 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying is maintained using the same monitoring techniques as for the eradication strategy i.e. early warning with waarnemingen.be, a network of camera traps and hair tubes.



Assessment results

The feasibility of eradication was assessed between medium and high. The feasibility of spread limitation was assessed lower, between low and medium. This difference was due to a low score for cost and scores between low and medium for effectiveness and practicality in the spread limitation strategy, whereas these criteria were scored higher for eradication. There was considerable variation on the scores for almost all criteria but especially so for acceptability, window of opportunity and likelihood of reintroduction.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

No general considerations were raised during the workshop.

2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants agreed on the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.

References

Adriaens T., Baert K., Breyne P., Casaer J., Devisscher S., Onkelinx T., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2015). Successful eradication of a suburban Pallas's squirrel *Callosciurus erythraeus* (Pallas 1779) (Rodentia, Sciuridae) population in Flanders (northern Belgium). *Biological Invasions* 17(9):2517-2526.

Dutton C. (2016). The Grey Squirrel Management Handbook: European Squirrel Initiative.

Dijkstra, V. (2015). Update exotische eekhoorns. Kijk op Exoten 11:12-13.

Dijkstra, V. (2017). Update exotische eekhoorns. *Kijk op Exoten* April 2017:15-17.

Mayle, B, Pepper, H. & Ferryman, M (2004). Grey squirrel control in woodlands. Forestry Commission Practice Note 4 (revised). Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

Palmer, GH, Pernas, T & Koprowski, JL (2007). Tree squirrels as invasive species: conservation and management implications. In: Managing Vertebrate Invasive Species: Proceedings of an International

Symposium. Witmer, GW, Pitt, WC & Fagerstone, KA (Eds). USDA/APHIS/WS, National Wildlife Research Center, Fort Collins, CO.

Shuttleworth, C.M., Lurz, P.W., Gurnell, J. (2016). The grey squirrel - ecology and management of an invasive species. European Squirrel Initiative: European Squirrel Initiative.

Verbeylen, G. (2012). Handleiding Monitoring van rode eekhoorns aan de hand van nesttellingen en haarvallen Zoogdierenwerkgroep Natuurpunt.

3.1.7 American fox squirrel *Sciurus niger* (Amerikaanse voseekhoorn, écureuil fauve)



©Stargazer

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Currently not established in Belgium. Sciurus niger has been casually observed in Belgium (2016) in La Hulpe (Atlantic bioregion) but was not resighted since. The scenario to consider is a small population in a largely forested area cf. the La Hulpe occurrence in the Atlantic bioregion. By the time the animals are detected, the population already consists of a several tens of individuals in a large, publicly managed forest. Considering the preferred habitat of the species, the animals are mostly observed in open, mature pine/oak habitat and the ecotones between pine and other vegetation types (Weigl 1989). The squirrels are observed along forest edges, outside the forest in open woodlands with scattered trees and an open understory, prairies and parkland, especially where there is human disturbance (Allen 1982).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: the distribution is considered representative.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: no established populations are reported in neighbouring countries. Three isolated individuals were already observed in the Netherlands in 2011 (Dijkstra 2015).



- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The strategy to eradicate grey squirrel would be year-round live trapping using low-tech baited (hazel nuts, walnuts) traps (e.g. Sherman traps 25x8x8 or self-made traps) as described in the Dadizele case for Pallas's squirrel (Adriaens et al., 2015a). Prebaiting is an essential part of the strategy to increase trapping success (Dutton, 2016; Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To reduce cost, baiting stations are equipped with state-of-the-art Reconyx high performance wildlife cameras (trigger speed 0,2s or faster, adapted to small agile squirrels) mounted in security boxes and with a lock. Traps are set only upon squirrel detection by cameras and are moved around the area regularly. Trapping effort and trap density are kept sufficiently high (on average 10 traps/hectare), but the effort is spread throughout the season and is most intensive during the months before squirrel reproduction. Cameras have integrated SIM card to reduce costs of human resources and transport to and from the site. Bycatch is released on site. Trapped squirrels are humanely killed in a mobile field unit with an overdose of CO₂ using an isoflurane evaporator or are sterilized and put in zoos. Trapping is executed by professional trappers supplemented with dedicated and trained volunteers to reduce costs. To ensure perseverance of the trapping effort during consecutive years of trapping (cf. Dadizele case), follow-up is organized through a Belgian scientific institute or university. To supplement live trapping with air rifle shooting (e.g. 22LR with scope, sound moderators and sub-sonic hollow point ammunition) at baiting stations is not part of the strategy since it is generally considered less effective than trapping (Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To apply lethal traps (e.g. fenn traps, kania traps) or to use sunflower seeds/hazel nut spread coated with oral contraceptives (DiazaConTM, GonaConTM) are not part of the strategy since these methods are not selective and could also impact native red squirrel.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying is maintained on and around (3 km radius) the site in suitable habitat, using a combination of citizen science reporting (e.g. observations of squirrels in garden on bird feeders, early warning with waarnemingen.be), a network of camera traps and hair tubes (Verbeylen, 2012).
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Limiting species presence to a single or a few patches.
 The spread limitation strategy consists of keeping the current population in check by preventing its spread.

- Methods and techniques: dedicated surveillance in a 3km buffer zone (Koprowski 1996) around the population using a network of camera traps, interviews with garden owners and a citizen science early warning network in a buffer zone around the current population. This surveillance is targeted towards potential habitat of the species nearby. Fox squirrels mostly move as juveniles and subadults during April and May or July through October in search of a new home range (Koprowski 1996). In case new squirrels establish outside this area, they are rapidly eradicated using the eradication methods described in the eradication strategy i.e. pre-baited live traps supported by wildlife cameras. This increased surveillance and response outside the core patch is supplemented with active low-intensity trapping within the patch to reduce population density and prevent dispersal.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: on sites where new squirrels were detected and removed, 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying is maintained using the same monitoring techniques as for the eradication strategy i.e. early warning with waarnemingen.be, a network of camera traps and hair tubes.

Assessment results



The average scores for feasibility of eradication and spread limitation compared favourably to the scores for grey squirrel. Eradication scored between medium and high, spread limitation scored lower between low and medium. This difference can be related to lower scores for effectiveness, practicality, cost and likelihood of reintroduction in the spread limitation strategy. There was however considerable variation on all scores but impact in the spread limitation strategy.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

No general considerations were raised during the workshop. 2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants agreed on the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.

References

Adriaens T., Baert K., Breyne P., Casaer J., Devisscher S., Onkelinx T., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2015). Successful eradication of a suburban Pallas's squirrel *Callosciurus erythraeus* (Pallas 1779) (Rodentia, Sciuridae) population in Flanders (northern Belgium). *Biological Invasions* 17(9):2517-2526.

Allen, W.W. (1982). Habitat suitability index models: fox squirrel. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Services. Fort Collins, Colorado.

Baiwy, E., Schockert, V. and Branquart, E. (2015) Risk analysis of the Fox squirrel, *Sciurus niger*, Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW / Editions, updated version, 34 pages

Dutton, C. (2016). The Grey Squirrel Management Handbook: European Squirrel Initiative.

Dijkstra, V. (2015). Update exotische eekhoorns. Kijk op Exoten 11:12-13.

Dijkstra, V. (2017). Update exotische eekhoorns. Kijk op Exoten April 2017:15-17.

Koprowski, J.L. (1996). Natal philopatry, communal nesting, and kinship in fox squirrels and gray squirrels. *Journal of Mammalogy* 77: 1006-1016.

Shuttleworth, C.M., Lurz, P.W., Gurnell, J. (2016). The grey squirrel - ecology and management of an invasive species. European Squirrel Initiative: European Squirrel Initiative.

Sheperd B.F., Swihart R.K. (1995). Spatial dynamics of fox squirrels (*Sciurus niger*) in fragmented landscapes. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 73(11):2098-2105.

UNEP-WCMC. (2010). Review of Callosciurus erythraeus and Sciurus niger. UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge.

Verbeylen, G. (2012). Handleiding Monitoring van rode eekhoorns aan de hand van nesttellingen en haarvallen Zoogdierenwerkgroep Natuurpunt.

Weigl, P.D., Steele, M.A., Sherman, L.J., Ha, J.C., Sharpe, T. (1989). The ecology of the fox squirrel (*Sciurus niger*) in North Carolina: implications for survival in the Southeast. Bulletin-Tall Timbers Research Station, Tallahassee(24).

3.1.8 Siberian Chipmunk *Tamias sibiricus* (tamia de Sibérie, Siberische grondeekhoorn)



©Alpsdake

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: The invasion scenario is two small and one large established population in the Atlantic bioregion with regular casual sightings of escapes outside these areas in the same bioregion. In the 4200 ha Sonian forest, managed jointly by ANB, Leefmilieu Brussel and DNF, the species is sympatric with red squirrel. Siberian ground squirrels were released here in the 1960s-1970s and the population grew exponentially to more than 7,500 animals by 1998 (Verkem et al., 2003). There is no recent population estimate available (2000 individuals, website BIM) but there are probably a few thousand squirrels present that occupy several core areas of the forest (La Hulpe, Groenendaal, Watermael-Bosvoorde, Bois de la Cambre, Auderghem-Tervuren). A small population exists since 1976 and is still present in De Panne (Calmeynbos, 66ha), a public poplar-elder dune forest currently managed by the Agency for Nature and Forest (Verbeylen & Matthysen 1998). Here, native red squirrel is absent in the whole region. In years with good reproduction, individual squirrels are reported to disperse towards neighbouring dune reserves such as Houtsaegherduinen (<3km) and Oosthoekduinen (1km) but this has not happened since 2000. This population, which existed of a few hundred squirrels in 1998-2001, has naturally crashed a few years later and now probably consists of less than 30 animals at either sides of the De Pannelaan and close to the nature education center De Nachtegaal (pers. comm. K. Verschoore). The animals are prone to roam sun-exposed areas with dead wood and forest edges. In the deciduous forest De Beeltjens-De Kwarekken (Westerlo, Antwerp, 127 ha), a small population is present existing of only a few individuals. This forest is managed by the municipality, Kempens Landschap vzw and ANB.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: the distribution is considered representative.
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries: In the Netherlands, two populations are known, in Tilburg (since 1972) and Weert (Dijkstra 2015, 2017). Outside these areas, there are numerous casual observations in other provinces Noord-Brabant, Limburg, Gelderland, Overijssel, Utrecht, Noord-Holland, Zuid-Holland, Zeeland en Drenthe and local reproduction cannot be ruled out (NVWA 2016). In France, at least 11 populations are known, 8 of which are localised in the Ile-de-France region within a 30 km radius around Paris, in suburban deciduous forests or urban parks. The three other populations are found in deciduous forest 40 km north of Paris, and one in the Baie de Somme approximately 120 km north (Chapuis et al. 2011; Pisanu et al. 2013; http://ecureuils.mnhn.fr). Not in Luxemburg (neobiota.lu).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	26	0
Utm 5km	33	0
Utm 1km	80	0
% 1km SAC	61 %	-
Clustering index	0.54	-

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The strategy to eradicate Siberian chipmunk would be a combination of (year-round) live trapping using low-tech baited (hazel nuts, walnuts) traps (e.g. Sherman traps 25x8x8 or self-made traps) (pers. comm. J.-L. Chapuis). Prebaiting is an essential part of the strategy to increase trapping success (Dutton, 2016; Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To reduce cost, baiting stations are equipped with state-of-the-art Reconyx high performance wildlife cameras (trigger speed 0,2s or faster, adapted to small agile squirrels) mounted in security boxes and with a lock. Traps are set only upon squirrel detection by cameras. Trapping effort and trap density are kept sufficiently high (on average 10 traps/hectare), but the effort is spread throughout the season and is most intensive during the two months (march-april and july-august) before ground squirrel reproduction. Cameras have integrated SIM card and send images to the coordinator/trappers smartphone/ipad so as to reduce the number of hours spent in the field. Bycatch is released on site. Trapped squirrels are humanely killed in a mobile field unit with an overdose of CO₂ using an

isoflurane evaporator or are sterilized and put in zoos. To locate squirrels, general surveillance using waarnemingen.be/observations.be (Adriaens et al., 2015b; Adriaens et al., 2017a) is combined with dedicated surveillance using a network of the same camera traps and hair tubes in a 2km buffer zone around the managed populations. Eradication needs to be well planned and prepared, including an initial survey to determine the extent of the population, to delimit the management areas (e.g. natural barriers to squirrel dispersal, zones of sympatric occurrence with native red squirrel) and to roughly assess squirrel densities in order to assess the density of traps and the required surveillance effort. Prior to the eradication, agreement of site owners, regional and local authorities is acquired and budget is secured, including for post-eradication monitoring. The management programme is coordinated by one full time equivalent who is also responsible for communication and training of volunteers. Trapping is executed by two professional trappers supplemented with dedicated and trained volunteers. Follow-up is organized through a Belgian scientific institute or university.

To supplement live trapping with air rifle shooting (e.g. 22LR with scope, sound moderators and sub-sonic hollow point ammunition) (e.g. Barnes) at baiting stations is <u>not</u> part of the strategy since it is generally considered less effective than trapping (Shuttleworth et al., 2016). To apply lethal traps (e.g. fenn traps, kania traps) or to use sunflower seeds/hazelnut spread coated with oral contraceptives (DiazaConTM, GonaConTM) are <u>not</u> part of the strategy since these methods are not selective and could also impact native red squirrel.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying is maintained on and around (5 km radius) the sites in suitable habitat, using a combination of citizen science reporting (e.g. observations of squirrels in garden on bird feeders, early warning with waarnemingen.be), a network of camera traps and hair tubes (Verbeylen, 2012).

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still principle with populations in core areas. The spread limitation strategy consists of keeping the current population within the core area by preventing its dispersal to other areas (Sonian Forest). The two other small populations (De Panne, Westerlo) would be eradicated.
- Methods and techniques: The strategy used to contain Siberian chipmunk would be eradication of the two small populations in De Panne and Westerlo using the methods described for eradication but taking into account a more limited capture campaign and reduced costs for running the programme. Here, trapping would be organized and executed by the local site managers. The Sonian forest population is kept in check by setting up a surveillance network around the forest. This is done by installing a network of camera traps, performing interviews with garden/park owners and citizen science early warning network in a buffer zone around the current population. Surveillance is targeted towards potential habitat of the species nearby, taking into account landscape features that could act as barriers. In case new squirrel populations establish outside this area, these are rapidly eradicated using the eradication methods described (active live trapping).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: on sites where new squirrels were detected and removed, 1.5 years of post-eradication surveying (two reproductive seasons) is maintained using the same monitoring techniques as for the eradication strategy i.e. early warning with waarnemingen.be, a network of camera traps and hair tubes.

Assessment results



The eradication strategy scored medium feasibility. The spread limitation strategy was assessed slightly more feasible between medium and high. The criteria had comparable scores, with most of them scoring between medium and high in both strategies except acceptability which was scored between low and medium. Non-target impact and acceptability were scored slightly higher in the spread limitation strategy.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

Participants noted that the cost of surveillance is probably going to outweigh the cost of eradication in the long term. Surveillance should be set up in a buffer zone and capacity developed to tackle any dispersing squirrels. Dispersal to surrounding gardens could be complicated to control because of restrictions with access to private property.

2. Recommendations for management

The group agreed that eradication of all populations on the Belgian territory with the exception of Sonian forest should be the management recommendation for this species. In Sonian, long term control should be implemented to reduce numbers and reduce dispersal risk to other areas, with surveillance installed to prevent the species from spreading further.

References

Adriaens T. (2014). Waarnemingen.be as an early-detection tool, from centralised reporting to effective early warning. Workshop Aliens on the horizon. Brussels, 12 March 2014.

Adriaens T., Baert K., Breyne P., Casaer J., Devisscher S., Onkelinx T., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2015). Successful eradication of a suburban Pallas's squirrel *Callosciurus erythraeus* (Pallas 1779) (Rodentia, Sciuridae) population in Flanders (northern Belgium). Biological Invasions 17(9):2517-2526.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., Stuyck J., Van Den Berge K., Vandegehuchte M., Casaer J. (2015). Surveillance voor invasieve exoten: samen op de uitkijk. Zoogdier 26(1):17-19.

Adriaens T., Verzelen Y., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2017). Pallas' eekhoorn uitgeroeid in Dadizele (West-Vlaanderen). De Levende Natuur 118(4):130-132.

Chapuis, J.-L., Obolenskaya, E.V., Pisanu, B., Lissovsky, A.A. (2011) Datasheet on *Tamias sibiricus*. CABI, Wellingford, UK (<u>http://www.cabi.org/isc/</u>)

Dijkstra, V. (2015). Update exotische eekhoorns. Kijk op Exoten 11:12-13.

Dijkstra, V. (2017). Update exotische eekhoorns. Kijk op Exoten April 2017:15-17.

Dutton C. (2016). The Grey Squirrel Management Handbook: European Squirrel Initiative.

Pisanu, B., Obolenskaya, E. V., Baudry, E. Lissovsky, A. A., Chapuis, J.-L. (2013). Narrow phylogeographic origin of five introduced populations of the Siberian chipmunk *Tamias* (Eutamias) *sibiricus* (Laxmann, 1769) (Rodentia: Sciuridae) established in France. Biological Invasions 15:1201–1207.

Shuttleworth C.M., Lurz P.W., Gurnell J. (2016). The grey squirrel - ecology and management of an invasive species. European Squirrel Initiative: European Squirrel Initiative.

Verbeylen, G. & Matthysen, E. (1998). Inventarisatie van de Aziatische grondeekhoorn in De Panne. Rapport sept-nov 1998. Project van de U.I.A. groep Dierenecologie in opdracht van AMINAL, Afdeling Natuur.

3.1.9 Chinese muntjak Muntiacus reevesi (Chinese muntjak, muntjac)



©GBNNS

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: The invasion scenario is a Chinese muntjak population introduced around 2000 and halfway its lag time in the Belgian Atlantic bioregion which is starting to reproduce and spread. Until 2014, about 10 observations were known in the vicinity of Schoten-Brasschaat (Peerdsbos, Park van Brasschaat, De Zeurt, Park Vordenstein, Botermelk-La Garenne), of live animals as well as roadkill (Elshoutsebaan). The animals originate from a private estate which kept muntjak. Currently, a limited population with only two/a few reproductive nuclei (Vordenstein park Schoten, potentially another nucleus in Limburg) is present in the Atlantic region (Casaer et al., 2015). In one of those, Vordenstein park, muntjak is under management since 2014 (shooting during the day from high seats) under coordination of ANB. Several (<10) animals were shot since, mostly bucks but also a pregnant doe. Muntjak regularly pop up in the surrounding gardens, urban and natural areas (e.g. the military area Groot Schietveld) and reproduction has been confirmed through autopsies and observations of juvenile muntjak. Outside these areas, casual escaped muntjak are regularly observed in all Flemish provinces, mostly in gardens or as traffic victims (Vercayie 2016). Since 2008 there have been numerous isolated sightings (Baiwy et al., 2012). In the continental bioregion, two dead individuals were found in the vicinity of Andenne in the summer of 2015, after which a warning was sent to nature volunteers and hunters, but without further observations since. Furthermore, there are recent observations of a muntjak pair in a suburban area in Brabant (Bousval) (not shown on map).</p>
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Currently the distribution of muntjak is considered representative. However, the
 animals are very secretive and can be confused with roe deer so it is possible it has been overlooked or at least their
 abundance is underestimated.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Confirmed sightings of single and multiple free-roaming muntjac deer are reported from the Netherlands since 2005 resulting from release or escape events (Baiwy et al. 2012). A population possibly still occurs on the estate *de Utrecht* (Noord-Brabant) at 1 km from the Belgian border. Although in 2014 a female with young was observed, this population is now estimated at no more than a few individuals (Hollander 2016a,b). In France, muntjak is not believed to be established, but the *réseau ongulés sauvages* of ONCFS reports two muntjak in 2012, one roadkill in côtes d'Armor (Bretagne) and one shot in l'Indre (Réseau Ongulés Sauvages 2013). Not in Luxemburg.



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	12	2
Utm 5km	14	2
Utm 1km	21	2
% 1km SAC	0 %	100 %
Clustering index	0.96	551.62

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The eradication strategy involves a combination of year-round shooting from temporary high seets using a long rifle with a minimum kaliber .243 WIN or the like, nightly muntjak hunting and trapping in baited cages to promptly remove the Vordenstein population and any free roaming muntjak around that area (Casaer et al., 2015). Firearms such as air rifles with muzzle energy below 980 joule/100 meters are not used. Also, shooting with pellets is not done for animal welfare reasons. Details of this method are described in the best management practice by Casaer et al. (2015). Shooting is performed during the day, but is supplemented wherever possible with hunting at dawn, dusk and night. A buttolo call is used to attract muntjak from cover. This is performed with a light source mounted on the rifle and from vehicles patrolling the area. Nightly shooting involves additional safety hazards and requires necessary care to avoid causing inconvenience or disturbance to local residents. A good communication strategy for residents is set up to avoid any problems. Nightly hunting is performed by hired professionals in the field

of muntjak eradication under strict coordination of ANB. Shooting from high seats is done with trained volunteer hunters. To reduce cost, in the core area, state-of-the-art Reconyx high performance wildlife cameras (range 10m, trigger speed 1s or faster, infrared light) are mounted at appropriate height for muntjak in security boxes and with a lock. The traps used are equipped with cameras that have integrated SIM card and send images to the coordinator/trappers smartphone/ipad so as to reduce the number of hours spent in the field. Bycatch (e.g. red fox, roe deer) is released on site. Caught animals are humanely killed by a veterinarian. To increase the chances of detection, cameras or traps are (pre)baited with common ivy or corn (The Deer Initiative, 2008; Smith-Jones, 2004). Sound moderators cannot be used currently because of legal restrictions. This would however be indispensable in order not to create a landscape of fear for the animals and reduce the risk of them spreading to other areas as a result of the actions.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Camera trapping has to be maintained in the area and suitable habitat nearby for at least 3 years after removal of the animals.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches The spread limitation strategy aims at containing the Schoten population within its core area (Vordenstein park) and avoid any further spread outside this area.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Any new free-roaming muntjak (populations) outside the area are eradicated using the methods described in the eradication strategy. Also, the current population in Vordenstein is fenced, no hunting is allowed in the park and the habitat is kept as-is in order to keep providing muntjak habitat (food and shelter) and not to induce natural dispersal to other areas. Muntjak have no problem jumping fences of 1,2m height. A suitable fence for muntjak consists of wire mesh, dug into the soil for at least 15 cm and minimally 1,5 meters height. The mesh size is maximally 75 x 75 mm (Forestry Commission, 1999).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Camera trapping has to be maintained in areas where muntjak were removed and in suitable habitat nearby for at least 3 years after removal. The fence needs to be regularly inspected and maintained.



Assessment results

Eradication was scored between medium and high by the experts. The spread limitation strategy was scored somewhat lower between low and medium with a comparable variation around the average. The lower score for spread limitation is reflected in lower scores for effectiveness (low to medium), cost (low to medium) and non-target impact (medium to high). The probability

of reintroduction was deemed relatively high by experts under both strategies, but not as high as other species such as muskrat, raccoon or coypu, hence a score between low and medium.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants noted that some known occurrences in Andennes, Bouillon and Bousval (Wallonia) are not mentioned in the invasion scenario. The proposed spread limitation strategy using enclosures is most probably unrealistic according to the experience of some with attempting to trap the species. It seems more useful to keep numbers as small as possible through active control. Muntjac are difficult to observe and monitoring should be intensive to be useful. Early detection needs to be implemented across the entire country. Action is especially urgent with muntjac and prompt eradication should be the goal. Some participants noted that removing the Schoten population will probably be unfeasible so spread limitation should be the preferred option here. In Wallonia, it seems feasible to try and eradicate so long as number are ten or less. The participants agreed the window of opportunity to successfully tackle muntjac in Belgium is very small and actions have to be undertaken immediately after detection. Some participants stated this window of opportunity was probably even scored too optimistic by the experts.

2. Recommendations for management

Consensus on prompt eradication as a management strategy for Belgium. If this appears unfeasible for the Schoten population, spread limitation should be the preferred option here but supplemented with prompt eradication everywhere else in the country (Atlantic and continental region). Active management is probably more useful in Schoten than installing exclosures. To successfully implement this strategy, legal barriers to nightly shooting need to be addressed and management needs to be performed by professionals as a condition.

References

Baiwy E., Schockert V., Branquart E. (2012). Risk analysis of the Reeves' muntjac Muntiacus reevesi, risk analysis report of nonnative organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW / Editions, 36 pages.

Casaer J., Boone N., Devisscher S., Vercammen J., Adriaens T. (2015). Best practice voor beheer van Chinese muntjak Muntiacus reevesi in Vlaanderen. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2015 (INBO.R.2015.7092003). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Forestry Commission (1999). Recommendations for Fallow, Roe and Muntjac Deer Fencing: New Proposals for Temporary and Reusable Fencing.

Hollander, H., 2013. Risicoanalyse muntjak. Rapport 2013.09. Zoogdiervereniging.

Hollander, H., 2016a. Verspreidingsonderzoek muntjak Muntiacus reevesi in Nederland – januari t/m maart 2016. Zoogdiervereniging. 46 pp.

www.zoogdiervereniging.nl/sites/default/files/imce/nieuwesite/Zoogdiersoorten/Muntjak/down loads/Muntjak%202016.pdf

Hollander, H. (2016b). Verspreiding van de muntjak in Nederland, Historische en actuele verspreiding. Presentation at muntjak workshop 3/02/2016, INBO Brussels. Available on <u>https://www.inbo.be/nl/muntjak-werkoverleg-en-code-goede-praktijk-nb-0316</u>

The Deer Initiative (2008). Species ecology muntjac deer England and Wales best practice guides. Version 10.2008. http://www.thedeerinitiative.co.uk/uploads/guides/167.pdf (accessed on 04.2012).

Smith-Jones C. (2004). Muntjac: managing an alien species. The British Deer Society.

Vercayie, D. (2016). Observations of muntjak in Flanders. Presentation at muntjak workshop 3/02/2016, INBO Brussels. Available on https://www.inbo.be/nl/muntjak-werkoverleg-en-code-goede-praktijk-nb-0316

Réseau Ongulés Sauvages (2013). Lettre d'information n°17: 30.

3.1.10 Coypu Myocastor coypus (beverrat, ragondin)



©Alpsdake

- Invasion situation and history in BE: *M. coypus* has been bred in captivity in Belgium since the 1930's and isolated feral populations have been observed since the early 1960's, suggesting regular escapes from captivity or deliberate releases into the wild. Local populations were however strongly reduced or even wiped out by severe winters (e.g. 1962-63 and 1978-79) (Libois, 2006). Although field observations of coypu are currently limited, the species is considered naturalised in the wetlands along the Upper Sambre but probably also in the Chiers and Semois catchments since recent years (Continental bioregion), due to immigration from core populations established in France. From September 2016 up to June 2017, more than 40 animals were destroyed by shooting and trapping along the Sambre river (Stephan Adant, pers. com.). So far, establishment in the Atlantic zone is avoided through frequent control actions by VMM services, e.g. near the Grensmaas when there is coypu influx via The Netherlands, to a lesser extent also in the Nete (2008-2009) and the Demer (2015) catchments; 1044 specimens were killed between 2001 and 2009 in the border Meuse area (Vlaamse Milieumaatschappij 2010).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The current range of coypu is probably underestimated because it is a secretive animal more active at night which makes it hard to detect at an early stage of invasion. It is easier to detect when present at high densities through the presence of feeding routes, burrows and grazed vegetation (Quéré & Le Louarn, 2011). Recent sites colonised in the Chiers, Sambre and Semois catchments are not shown on the map.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Several core populations are established near the Belgian border, e.g. a large population in North Rhine-Westphalia and Lower Saxony (from which animals regularly emigrate towards Zuid Limburg in the Netherlands) and a growing population in Picardie. In The Netherlands coypu is under eradication but wandering animals are regularly reported near the german border.



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	16	10
UTM 5km	19	12
UTM 1km	28	18
% 1km SAC	50 %	94 %
Clustering index	0.61	0.61

Management strategy – eradication

Methods and techniques: Coypu eradication is performed by professional and voluntary hunters with lethal (conibear 220, 18x18 cm) and live trapping set on floating rafts or on the water bank, complemented by animal shooting. Traps are baited with carrots and set at the entrance of burrows. Trapping is only performed when and where coypu presence is confirmed to reduce the amount of bycatch as recommended by the code of good practice for muskrat control; live trapping is favoured over conibears when there is a high risk of unintended capture of threatened species (beaver, otter, etc.). Trapped animals are humanely killed by a single shot to the head from a 0.22 calibre pistol (Baker & Clarke 1988, Verbeylen 2005, Baker 2006, Stuyck 2016). Shooting is performed in the evening or early in the morning, preferably in winter when ice prevents access to water and/or burrows are submerged with water. Animals are shot with a 22-caliber rifle or a shotgun No.2 (or larger), from the bank, an elevated platform or a boat when coypu are on the bank; shooting of submerged animals is avoided because it is poorly efficient (Burnam & Mengak)

2007). The use of poisonous bait is <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of legal limitations and potential impact on non-target species.

<u>Post-intervention verification:</u> A continuous census is performed during the whole control campaign to monitor its progress. An independent check on whether or not coypu is eradicated is implemented by scientists supplemented with volunteers for the last four years of the campaign using rafts baited with carrots that are regularly checked for droppings and teeth marks and/or automatic camera rafts. The success of the actions will be confirmed 24 months without any coypu being caught or found as for the UK eradication campaign (Baker 2006).

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still principle with populations in core areas. The spread limitation strategy consists at containing *M. coypus* within the core area of the Upper Sambre, limiting spread and rapidly eliminating satellite populations discovered outside this zone.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Satellite populations are eradicated using techniques similar to those described for the eradication strategy. A strong catch effort is implemented in wetlands in a buffer zone of 20 km around the Upper Sambre core area and along the border Meuse (to prevent any immigration in Belgium). Winter shooting by professional hunters is also implemented in the core area to reduce population density and reduce the risk of spread towards neighbouring areas.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Independent field surveys are performed during and after the control actions as in the eradication strategy.



Assessment results

The feasibility of eradication was scored medium, which is slightly lower than the score between medium and high for the spread limitation strategy. This can be related to slightly higher scores for effectiveness, practicality, acceptability and window of opportunity for the spread limitation strategy. Effectiveness was scored high, cost between low and medium. Assessors thought the species had a high probability to reinvade, hence reintroduction was consistently scored between very low and low for both strategies.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants noted that, despite the species being under control in Flanders through permanent removal, in Wallonia, waves of coypu are coming in from France. Because of this permanent influx eradication would probably be cumbersome. There is a practical/legal/support problem with the use of lethal raccoon traps for coypu in Wallonia. These traps could not be used because of supposed danger to the public hence it was impossible to use them on coypu. It was also stated that the success of

actions will strongly depend on efforts in neighbouring countries. The Netherlands and France should be stimulated to take a stronger approach on this species.

2. Recommendations for management

The situation is very different in the Atlantic and continental region. The group agreed eradication (permanent removal) is the preferred option in the Atlantic region, whereas spread limitation (option 2) should be advocated for the continental region in Belgium.

References

Baker S J, Clarke C N (1988). Cage trapping coypus (Myocastor coypus) on baited rafts. Journal of Applied Ecology, 25: 41-48

Baker, S.J. 2006. The eradication of coypus (*Myocastor coypus*) from Britain: the elements required for a successful campaign. In Assessment and Control of Biological Invasion Risks (eds Koike, F., Clout, M.N., Kawamichi, M., De Poorter, M. & Iwatsuki, K.), pp.142–147. Shoukadoh Book Sellers, Kyoto, Japan, and IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

Burnam J, Mengak M T (2007) Managing wildlife damage: Nutria (*Myocaster coypus*). WSFNR Wildlife Management Series No. 12. 6 pages.

Libois R M (2006) L'érosion de la biodiversité: les mammifères. Partim «Les mammifères non volants». Dossier scientifique réalisé dans le cadre de l'élaboration du Rapport analytique 2006 sur l'État de l'Environnement wallon. Université de Liège, 127p.

Quéré, J.-P., Le Louarn, H. 2011. Les rongeurs de France. Faunistique et biologie. 3^{ème} édition. Editions Quae, Versailles, France. 311 pp.

Verbeylen G (2005) Beverratten in Vlaanderen. De Vlaamse Jager: 4-8.

Verbeylen, G., Stuyck, J. (2001) Ecologie, verspreiding en bestrijding van de Beverrat (*Myocastor coypus* Molina 1782). Technical Report DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.4686.8005

Vlaamse Milieumaatschappij (2010). Ratten op Vlaamse wijze - 10 jaar resultaatgerichte rattenbestrijding met toekomstvisie. VMM

3.1.11 Raccoon Procyon lotor (wasbeer, raton laveur)



©Michael Gäbler

- Invasion situation and history in BE: Sporadic raccoon observations are reported in Belgium since the 80ies (Libois 1987). From 2005 onwards, evidences of reproduction are found (detection of juveniles) and the number of observations is rapidly increasing, mainly due to the natural expansion of the German population but also of the population established in Northern France (Aisne and Oise Departments). It is currently very abundant in the Continental bioregion (717 1 km squares). Since recent years, it is also increasingly observed in the Atlantic bioregion (74 1 km squares) and might be established in the Kempen and Brabant although it is unclear whether the species really has viable populations in this zone. So far, uncoordinated and local population control is performed through shooting and trapping, especially where socio-economic nuisances occur.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Raccoon is a nocturnal and rather secretive animal that is difficult to detect at early invasion stages. However, road traffic victims and typical footprints along rivers often help for animal detection (Van Den Berge & Gouwy 2009, Schockert 2017). It may be assumed that the map below is a rather good estimation of the invasion level in the Continental bioregion but probably underestimate species range in the the Atlantic bioregion, having e.g. in mind that recent data are not reported on the map (INBO Marternieuws 22).
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: The species is widely spread and in constant increase in Germany (especially in Saxony, Hessen and Brandenburg) despite a high removal rate by hunting activities (yearly hunting bag increased from 9,000 to 71,000 animals between 2000 and 2011) (Fischer et al 2016) and now exceeds 120.000 animals per year (jagdverband.de). It is also widespread in Northern Luxembourg and well established and increasingly abundant in Picardie and Champagne-Ardennes (Schockert 2017). Frequent observations are also reported from Zuid-Limburg Province in the Netherlands which was suggested to be in line with growing numbers in Wallonia (Van der Grift et al 2016).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	52	103
UTM 5km	65	246
UTM 1km	74	717
% 1km SAC	36	80
Clustering index	0.77	0.75

Management strategy - eradication

Methods and techniques: An ambitious eradication campaign is organised combining different control techniques (trapping and shooting), local and central coordination and involving professional complemented by voluntary hunters. Actions are undertaken in the whole Continental bioregion and within areas where activity signs are found in the Atlantic bioregion. Clear targets are set for different catchments and progress is monitored using regular post-control monitoring to verify raccoon-free status of controlled areas. Specific types of traps and devices are allowed and certified for raccoon control in line with Regulation 3254/91 with maximum respect to animal welfare, i.e. live-capture wired cages and egg-traps (e.g. Austin et al 2004), but also lethal conibear device adapted to increase raccoon specificity. All traps are pre-baited for a few days before being set. Live-traps are equipped with cameras that have integrated SIM card and send images to the coordinator/trappers smartphone/ipad so as to reduce the number of hours spent in the field. Bycatch from cages is released on site. In rural sites, trapping is supplemented by intensive year-round animal shooting by professional hunters hired by regional authorities, including shooting at dawn, dusk and night wherever possible (performed with a light source mounted on the rifle and from vehicles patrolling the

area). The use of biocides is <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy because they cannot be applied legally, are not humane or may have a high impact on non-target animals like red fox or European badger (Schockert 2017).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regular post-control monitoring, using transect inventories for signs of raccoon presence (e.g. footprints), is performed to verify raccoon-free status of controlled areas. The success of the eradication campaign will be confirmed 24 months without any raccoon being caught or found.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still principle with core area(s). The spread limitation strategy consists in limiting spread of *P. lotor* from the Continental zone towards the Atlantic zone and rapidly eliminating satellite populations discovered within the Atlantic zone.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The strategy used would be the elimination of animals discovered north of the Sambre & Meuse borderline using similar device and techniques as those described for the eradication strategy. Active surveillance is implemented all over the area with a focus towards potential habitats of the species. Extensive shooting and trapping are also performed in the core area to reduce both raccoon density and the risk of emigration outside it.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regular post-control monitoring, using transect inventories for signs of raccoon presence (e.g. footprints), is performed to verify raccoon-free status of controlled areas. The success of the eradication campaign will be confirmed 24 months without any raccoon being caught or found.



Assessment results

The feasibility of eradication as well as spread limitation was scored between low and medium by the experts. However, spread limitation scored higher. This is reflected in higher scores for all criteria except reintroduction, which was scored consistently very low for both strategies. Experts clearly thought spread limitation would be cheaper and more effective option, and raccoon is prone to reinvade Belgium from neighbouring countries.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

Eradication from the continental region was deemed impossible by workshop participants. The species has become very common, both around human habitations and in natural areas.

2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants agreed active monitoring should be performed in the Atlantic region for effective early detection and rapid eradication by professionals. Under these conditions, eradication should be recommended. In the continental region hunting and trapping should be intensified to decrease raccoon impact and decrease numbers and to reduce the risk of spread. A more active management approach is needed in the continental region to achieve this.

References

Austin, J., Chamberlain, M. J., Leopold, B. D., & Burger Jr, L. W. (2004). An evaluation of EGG[™] and wire cage traps for capturing raccoons. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *32*(2), 351-356.

Fischer, M. L., Sullivan, M. J., Greiser, G., Guerrero-Casado, J., Heddergott, M., Hohmann, U., ... & Winter, A. (2016). Assessing and predicting the spread of non-native raccoons in Germany using hunting bag data and dispersal weighted models. *Biological invasions*, *18*(1), 57-71.

Libois, R. (1987) Atlas des mammifères sauvages de Wallonie : le raton laveur, *Procyon lotor*. Cahiers d'Ethologie Appliquée 7: 140-142.

Schockert, V. (2017) Risk analysis of the raccoon, Procyon lotor. Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium.

Van Den Berge, K. & Gouwy, J. (2009) Exotic carnivores in Flanders: area expansion or repeated new input? Proceedings of the Science facing Aliens Conference, Brussels.

Van der Grift, E.A., D.R. Lammertsma, H.A.H. Jansman, R.M.A. Wegman (2016). Onderzoek naar het voorkomen van de wasbeer in Nederland. Wageningen, Wageningen Environmental Research, Rapport 2764. 44 p.

3.1.12 Raccoon dog Nyctereutes procyonoides (wasbeerhond, chien viverrin)



©Piotr Kuczynski

- Invasion situation and history in BE: So far, isolated observations of raccoon dogs were made in Belgium, most of them being collected as traffic casualties. No strong evidence of reproduction has been found so far (except 1 adult and 3-4 pups reported in 2010 near Libin). Until recent years, the species was not considered as really established in the country (Van Den Berge 2008, Baiwy et al 2013). However, repeated recent observations reported from the Semois catchment in South Luxembourg (not shown on the map) suggest that the species may become established in this area. In february 2017, in the vicinity of Bruges (not shown on map), a raccoon dog was observed on a wildlife camera at a badger hole.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Raccoon dog is a nocturnal, secretive and highly mobile animal. It usually spends the day in burrows or reeds. It is sometimes confused with raccoon. Experience from northern Europe suggests that the species is difficult to detect in the wild at early stage of invasion (see references in Baiwy et al 2013) and that its range may therefore be strongly underestimated.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: The species is widely spread in Germany, especially in the north-eastern
 part of the country where about 30,000 individuals are shot yearly since 2005. Observations are also increasingly
 reported from north-eastern France, Luxembourg and the Netherlands, but despite a report of successful
 reproduction in 2012 and 2013 in Drenthe (Mulder 2013a), firm evidence of the establishment of wild populations in
 these countries is still lacking (see references in Baiwy et al 2013, Mulder 2013b).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	12	2
UTM 5km	12	2
UTM 1km	13	2
% 1km SAC	54%	50%
Clustering index	1.26	3.27

Management strategy - eradication

Methods and techniques: The adopted eradication strategy is designed based on techniques and device tested through the north European cooperative raccoon dog management project (LIFE09 NAT/SE/000344) (Dahl & Ahlen 2017). Areas where sightings were confirmed so far are subjected to an intensive search for raccoon dogs, with a special focus on the province of Luxembourg from where most of the observations originate so far. Search is made using the establishment of a network of camera traps equipped with multimedia messaging (MMS) and/or latrine survey near bait/scent gland lures and badger holes (often used as den sites by raccoon dog) (Kauhala & Salonen 2012). In complement, sterilized Judas raccoon dogs equipped with transmitters are kept continuously in the area to help for the detection of unpaired animals. Once the presence of territorial raccoon dog is confirmed, they are captured using either trained hunting dogs accompanied by professional hunters or baited Nyborg cages (Dahl et al. 2010, Dahl & Ahlen 2017). Animal shooting is used as a complementary technique during the months with no dispersal

and no reproduction (December – March). The use of biocides and killing traps are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy because they cannot be applied legally, are not humane or may have impact on non target animals like red fox or European badger (Mulder 2011).

<u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An independent check on whether or not raccoon dog is eradicated is implemented by scientists using camera traps and track plates near badger holes (Wilson & Delahay 2001, Gompper et al 2006, Sidorovich & Vorobej 2013). The success of the eradication campaign will be confirmed 24 months without any raccoon dog being caught or found.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still principle with core area.
 The spread limitation strategy consists of containing N. procyonoides within the Semois River catchment, limiting spread and rapidly eliminating satellite populations discovered outside this zone.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Satellite populations are eradicated using techniques similar to those described for the eradication strategy. Surveillance is performed outside the core area using a network of camera traps, citizen science reporting systems and use of Judas animals. Once detected, animals are caught or shot using the techniques described above. Trapping with Nyborg cages is also performed in the core area to reduce both raccoon dog density and the risk of emigration outside it.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Independent field surveys are performed after satellite populations have been controlled as in the eradication strategy.



Assessment results

The feasibility of eradication and spread limitation was scored medium with equal variation around the average. This is reflected in the scores and variation around them for the different criteria, which are almost identical. Effectiveness was scored high for eradication, high to very high for spread limitation. Practicality, impact and acceptability were scored between medium and high with lots of variation around acceptability. Assessors thought the species had a high probability to reinvade hence reintroduction was consistently scored very low to low for both strategies.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

The workshop participants confirmed that the species could already be established in Belgium without it being noticed because this nocturnal species is very hard to detect al low densities. There is no dedicated surveillance network for the species. Hence, knowledge on the exact status of the species in Belgium is lacking.

2. Recommendations for management

The group agreed on eradication as a management recommendation for Belgium, even despite the small detection threshold, because once it is firmly established it is very hard to control.

References

Baiwy E, Schockert V, Branquart E (2013) Risk analysis of the raccoon dog *Nyctereutes procyonoides*—risk analysis report of nonnative organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW/Editions, Gembloux.

Dahl, F., Åhlén, P.A. & Granström, A. (2010) The management of raccoon dogs (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*) in Scandinavia. In: Aliens: The Invasive Species Bulletin (Eds : Genovesi, P. & Scalera, R.). Newsletter of the IUCN/SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group.

Dahl, F. & Åhlén, P.A. (2017) Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Nyctereutes procyonoides*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Gompper, M. E., Kays, R. W., Ray, J. C., Lapoint, S. D., Bogan, D. A., & Cryan, J. R. (2006). A comparison of noninvasive techniques to survey carnivore communities in northeastern North America. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *34*(4), 1142-1151.

Kauhala, K. & Salonen, L. (2012) Does a non-invasive method – latrine surveys – reveal habitat preferences of raccoon dogs and badgers? *Mammalian Biology* 77: 264–270.

Mulder, J.L. (2011) The raccoon dog in the Netherlands – a risk assessment. Commissioned by Team Invasieve Exoten Ministerie van Economische zaken, Landbouw en Innovatie.

Mulder, J. (2013a). De wasbeerhond heeft vaste voet in Nederland. Zoogdier 24(4): 1-3

Mulder, J. L. (2013b). The raccoon dog (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*) in the Netherlands - its present status and a risk assessment. Lutra 56(1): 23-43

Sidorovich, V., & Vorobej, N. (2013). Mammal activity signs: Atlas, identification keys and research methods: Skills gained in Belarus. Veche.

Van Den Berge, K. & De Pauw, W. (2003) Wasbeerhond. in Verkem, S., De Maeseneer, J., Vandendriessche, B., Verbeylen, G. & Yskout, S. Zoogdieren in Vlaanderen. Ecologie en verspreiding van 1987 tot 2002. Natuurpunt Studie en JNM-Zoogdierenwerkgroep, Mechelen en Gent, België.

Van Den Berge, K. (2008). Carnivore exoten in Vlaanderen. Areaaluitbreiding of telkens nieuwe input? Zoogdier 19(2): 6-9)

Wilson, G. J., & Delahay, R. J. (2001). A review of methods to estimate the abundance of terrestrial carnivores using field signs and observation. *Wildlife Research*, 28(2), 151-164.
3.1.13 Muskrat Ondatra zibethicus (muskusrat, rat musqué)



©Olivier Embise

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Although the distribution map (based on cumulative observations) suggests muskrat is widely spread, the species is subject to long standing control programmes in Flanders and in Wallonia. The number of muskrat strongly decreased within the Flemish part of the Atlantic bioregion thanks to a high trapping intensity and a reorganised control campaign but remains quite high in the Walloon part of it. Since a few years in some areas an increase in number is reported coinciding with a decrease in the intensity of control actions and lack of area-wide coverage. In the continental bioregion, muskrat is widespread but is distributed more sparsely, presumably at lower densities which may be a consequence of different landscape characteristics (more forested, higher grounds) and, generally, a more natural setting which could harbor more natural predators of muskrat. Muskrat commonly occupies wetlands, water courses, ponds and marshes. The species is found in areas with abundant vegetation such as reedbeds, rushes and Typha latifolia but also occurs in brackish and eutrophicated waters with almost no vegetation (Stuyck, 2003). Muskrat is subject to a control programme in Belgium since the fifties. As the control effort increased and rodenticides were applied, more rats were caught, with 100.000-150.000 captures reported yearly in the seventies-eighties (Geeraerts-Bracops, 1974). In Flanders, the numbers caught have decreased since 2000 (40-50.000 muskrat/year) and are currently relatively low (about 4000 muskrats /year) (VMM, 2010). In Wallonia, 15-20.000 muskrats are trapped yearly (S. Adant, com. pers.). Since 2000, the control of muskrat in Flanders is purely mechanical using various types of traps in a combination of passive control to protect the borders (i.e. traps laid out at fixed distances) and active control (i.e. only place traps where traces of muskrat presence are reported) (Verbeylen & Stuyck, 2002). In Wallonia, traps are used in combination with rodenticides. At the level of the Flemish region (VMM), the muskrat control programme is performed by about 65 full time equivalents in public service for which pure muskrat work represents about 20 full time equivalents. It is coordinated centrally as well as at catchment level (3 coordinators each responsible for 5-6 basins) (pers. comm. M. Vanderweeën). This is complemented with provincial and municipal rat catchers, Rattenbestrijding Oost-Vlaanderen (RATO vzw) and Polders and Wateringen. Despite this, the current eradication campaign still shows some gaps, especially in West and East Flanders, due to the fragmented water management competences and different ambitions at different levels (provinces, municipalities, polders). In Wallonia, 16 full time equivalents are involved in muskrat control for public services.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The distribution on the map is overestimated since it is based on cumulative data over the reference period (2000-2015).
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: In Zeeuws-Vlaanderen (The Netherlands) in 2016 about 2200 muskrat were caught. High densities in Luxembourg (Pir and Schley 2015). High densities in Northern France along the Belgian border (Groupe ornithologique et naturaliste du Nord-Pas-de-Calais 2015).



Figure 3: Geographic visualisation of muskrat traps placed in 2017 in Flanders (source: J. Stuyck)

	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	171	69
Utm 5km	366	128
Utm 1km	642	248
% 1km SAC	35%	82%
Clustering index	0.75	0.56

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The current strategy to eradicate muskrat in Flanders is continued and the same approach is applied in Wallonia. The control programme is area-wide. To maximize coverage a similar formalized cooperation agreement on muskrat trapping in nature reserves is needed for the continental region. A coordinated control programme is implemented, thereby foreseeing the necessary human resources for trapping, coordination at catchment level and central coordination. Scientific follow-up is organized through regional research institutes. Clear targets are set for different catchments. The strategy is primarily active control which requires skilled trappers and knowledge of muskrat ecology. Trappers have to actively look for indications of muskrat presence in an area assigned to them which they check daily for signs of muskrat (e.g. faeces, traces, signs of herbivory, burrows, damage). This approach is more efficient and reduces non-target bycatch (Verbeylen & Stuyck, 2002). This active control is supplemented with passive control at the border areas with The Netherlands and France. Specific types of traps and devices are allowed and certified for muskrat control (conibear, ground traps, bait traps, fykes) in line with Regulation 3254/91 prohibiting the use of leghold traps in the Community or trapping methods which do not meet international humane trapping standards. The code of good practice for muskrat control (Stuyck, 2016) is implemented at all managerial levels specifying conditions for use of different traps types and baits in order to apply them ecologically (e.g. reduce bycatch or impact on fish migration) and with maximum respect to animal welfare. All captures are registered including bycatch to allow for scientific evaluation, e.g. by means of a dedicated smartphone application for management registration (cf. RattenApp). Additionally, the strategy requires increased coordination of the control programme, including the harmonization of control practice at the level of all actors involved in both bioregions as well as across all Belgian administrative regions.

The use of rodenticides is <u>not</u> included in the eradication strategy as it generates considerable non-target effects on other biota, causes rats to become resistant (Baert et al. 2012) and because in general complete removal using chemical control is deemed not suitable (Bos 2017). Moreover, the labour required for baiting campaigns (e.g. using poisoned carrots) has shown to be substantially more than anticipated (Bos 2017).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regular post-control monitoring using transect inventories for signs of muskrat presence is performed to verify rat-free status of a controlled area.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 4 Maintenance of pest free area
- Methods and techniques: Muskrat in Flanders is currently managed with the aim to maintain a pest free area. Therefore, the scenario is to maintain the Atlantic bioregion (as currently done in Flanders) as a pest free area. These areas are subjected to (i) dedicated surveillance by looking for muskrat traces (faeces, traces, burrows, traces of herbivory) and (ii) rapid eradication actions after detection. In invaded areas downstream passive control (as described in the eradication strategy, i.e. traps laid out at fixed distances) is maintained using the methods described in the eradication strategy. A low intensity trapping effort is implemented in the Continental bioregion to maintain low density muskrat populations and reduce the risk of species spreading towards the Atlantic bioregion.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regular post-control monitoring, using transect inventories for signs of muskrat presence, is performed to verify rat-free status of the controlled area.

Assessment results



The experts assessed the eradication strategy between low and medium. Spread limitation was deemed more feasible with a medium score. This can be related to considerably higher scores for effectiveness (high to very high) and practicality (medium to high) for the spread limitation strategy. Experts also felt the cost for eradication would be higher but in both strategies cost scored very low to low. Clearly, assessors thought the species had a high probability to reinvade from neighbouring countries hence reintroduction was consistently scored very low.

Outcome from the workshop

1. General considerations

Muskrat is continuously invading Belgium from France around the river Sambre. Participants noted a serious lack of human resources for control in the continental region (15 full time equivalent are employed but the trappers do a lot of other work), with a low intensity trapping effort as a result. This is in clear contrast with the Atlantic region, which is managed as a pest free area and also has to deal with influx from the south.

2. Recommendations for management

The group agreed the recommendation should be to eradicate muskrat from the Atlantic bioregion (or rather removal with permanent effort along the border). Low intensity trapping should be continued in the continental bioregion with a focus to prevent influx to the north. More human resources are needed in Wallonia.

References

Baert K., Stuyck J., Breyne P., Maes D. & Casaer J. (2012). Distribution of anticoagulant resistance in the brown rat in Belgium. Belgian Journal of Zoology 142(1): 39-48.

Bos, D. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Ondatra zibethicus*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Geeraerts-Bracops M. (1974). De strijd tegen de muskusratten. Informatiedossier n° 3 Gemeentekrediet-Leefmilieu, België.

Groupe ornithologique et naturaliste du Nord-Pas-de-Calais (2015). Atlas provisoire des mammifères (hors chiroptères) du Nord-Pas-de-Calais Période 2000 - 2014. Pir J.B., Schley L. (2015). Développement des connaissances sur la répartition et l'écologie des mammifères au Luxembourg entre 1990 et 2015. Bull Soc Nat luxemb 116:437. Stuyck J. (2003). Muskusrat *Ondatra zibethicus*. In: Verkem S., De Maeseneer J., Vandendriessche B., Verbeylen G., Yskout S. (eds). Zoogdieren in Vlaanderen Ecologie en verspreiding van 1987 tot 2002 Natuurpunt Studie en JNM-Zoogdierenwerkgroep, Mechelen en Gent, België.

Stuyck J. (2016). Code voor goede praktijk voor het vangen van de muskusrat, *Ondatra zibethicus*, in Vlaanderen. Implementatie van Europese Overeenkomst inzake internationale normen voor de humane vangst van dieren met behulp van vallen. Brussel: Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek.

Verbeylen G., Stuyck J. (2002). Naar een ecologisch verantwoorde rattenbestrijding. *Natuur.focus* 1(3):110-115.

Verbeylen G., Stuyck J., Thomas P., Van der Weeën M. (2002). samenwerkingsovereenkomst "Rattenbestrijding in Natuurgebieden".

VMM (2010). Ratten op Vlaamse wijze - 10 jaar resultaatgerichte rattenbestrijding met toekomstvisie. Vlaamse Milieumaatschappij.

3.2 Insects



3.2.1 Asian Hornet *Vespa velutina* (Aziatische hoornaar, frelon asiatique)

©Gilles San Martin

- Invasion situation and history in BE: In Belgium, a first report of an isolated male Asian hornet was performed in November 2011 in Flobecq. In november 2016 one nest was found in the crown of a birch tree in a garden, in the village of Guignies (rural environment near Tournai). This nest was removed. An empty nest was found in february 2017 in Poperinge suggesting the species was already present in the area since 2016. A few queens were observed flying during spring 2017 in the vicinity of the village of Guignies. Insects and several nests were detected (and destroyed) subsequently during summer and autumn 2017 at several localities near the French border, incl. Brunehaut, Ham-sur-Heure, Oudenaarde, Péronnes, Poperinge, Tournai, Waregem and Wevelgem; founder queens probably escaped from some of those nests due to late discovery. A rapid progression from France to Belgium is expected in the forthcoming years due to high dispersal capacities of the species (Keeling et al 2017b, Robinet et al 2017).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species is probably underdetected due to low insect densities, nests hidden high in tree canopies or nests that are not readily recognized as an asian hornet nest and the difficulty to involve beekeepers in active surveillance.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: In France, the invasion front reached the Picardie and Nord-Pas-de-Calais in 2011. The first nests were found in this region by 2016 e.g. in Wattignies (Lille, nest eradicated) and Saint-Omer, both locations located more than 10 kilometers from the Belgian border. Probably about a dozen nests are currently present in the border region (e.g. Douai in the Avesnois, Boeschepe where a nest was removed in 2017) with France. In the Netherlands, in 2017, a first nest was destroyed 30km from the Belgian border in Dreischor (Zeeland).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	10	2
UTM 5km	10	2
UTM 1km	13	4
% 1km SAC	0	-
Clustering index	-	-

Management strategy – eradication

• <u>Methods and techniques</u>: As soon as hornets are reported around honeybee hives using a sentinel network of apiaries (Keeling et al 2017a), nests are actively searched for by trained people (these can be professionals or volunteers). Efforts are made to register the direction of flight (beelining) so as to delimit the nest searching perimeter (usually 2-3 km around the hive where the hornet was reported). Alternatively, nests can be tracked using harmonic radar (Milanesio et al. 2016) or visual inspections using thermal cameras but these techniques are imperfect, are largely under development and hardly more efficient than field observations. At least 95% of the reported nests are tackled and removed (Robinet et al 2017). Depending on the accessibility of the nest, this can be done manually (nest is put in a bag after sunset, which is then burnt or frozen) or by injection of insecticide (e.g. cypermethrin) by help of a telescopic tube or drone. The nest is maintained in the tree for a few days to allow every insect to come in contact with insecticide; it is subsequently removed from the environment and destroyed to reduce impact on non-target

organisms. *In situ* burning or shooting at the nest are unsafe and ineffective (Turchi and Derijard 2018) and therefore <u>not</u> considered here. Methods that do not target nests e.g. capture of founder queens in spring using baited traps are <u>not</u> considered neither because they are largely ineffective and non selective (Rome et al 2011, Monceau & Thiéry 2017).

 <u>Post intervention verification</u>: To detect new nests that arise through escaped founder queens, after a nest is removed during summertime, a field survey is undertaken in fall through ivy flower inspection and the next year in a 5km buffer zone around the removed nest making use of spring traps and dedicated surveillance near apiaries.

Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 : Stand-still principle with core area_along the French border. Further colonization of the Belgian territory is avoided by reducing nest density within this core area and by establishing a buffer zone of 30 km wide around it where insect immigration is stopped through intensive nest destruction.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: techniques similar to those proposed for the eradication strategy are proposed with a target of 70% of nest destruction in the core area and at least 95% of nest destruction in the buffer zone.
- <u>Post intervention verification</u>: To detect new nests that arise through escaped founder queens, after a nest is removed during summertime, a field survey is undertaken in fall through ivy flower inspection and the next year in a 5km buffer zone around the removed nest making use of spring traps and dedicated surveillance near apiaries.



Assessment results

The eradication and spread limitation strategy were both scored low to medium by the experts. This is reflected in comparable scores across criteria. Although both management strategies were deemed very acceptable, experts assessed the effectiveness very low to low for eradication and spread limitation respectively. The cost for management would be high hence this criterium was scored low for eradication and very low to low for spread limitation. Experts clearly believed Asian hornet was likely to reinvade Belgium from neighbouring countries, hence a consistently very low score for reintroduction.

Outcome from the workshop

The species was not dealt with during the workshop.

References

Adriaens, T. & D'hondt, B. (2017) Uitkijken voor de Aziatische hoornaar. Natuur.focus 16, 2, blz. 93-95 3 blz.

Barbet-Massin, M. et al. (2013) Climate change increases the risk of invasion by the Yellow-legged hornet. *Biological Conservation* 157: 4–10.

Keeling, M. J., Datta, S., Franklin, D. N., Flatman, I., Wattam, A., Brown, M., & Budge, G. E. (2017a). Efficient use of sentinel sites: detection of invasive honeybee pests and diseases in the UK. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, *14*(129), 20160908.

Keeling, M. J., Franklin, D. N., Datta, S., Brown, M. A., & Budge, G. E. (2017b). Predicting the spread of the Asian hornet (Vespa velutina) following its incursion into Great Britain. *Scientific Reports*, 7.

Milanesio D, Saccani M, Maggiora R, Laurino D, Porporato M. Recent upgrades of the harmonic radar for the tracking of the Asian yellow-legged hornet. *Ecol Evol.* 2017;7:4599–4606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3053</u>

Monceau, K., & Thiéry, D. (2017). Vespa velutina nest distribution at a local scale: An 8-year survey of the invasive honeybee predator. Insect science, 24(4), 663-674.

Robinet, C. et al. (2017) Rapid spread of the invasive yellow-legged hornet in France: the role of human-mediated dispersal and the effects of control measures. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 54: 205–215.

Rome, Q., Perrard, A., Muller, F., & Villemant, C. (2011). Monitoring and control modalities of a honeybee predator, the yellow-legged hornet *Vespa velutina nigrithorax* (Hymenoptera: Vespidae). *Aliens*, *31*, 7-15.

Turchi, L., Derijard, B. (2018). Options for the biological and physical control of *Vespa velutina nigrithorax* (Hym.: Vespidae) in Europe: A review. J. Appl Entomol. DOI: 10.1111/jen.12515

Villemant, C. et al. (2011) Predicting the invasion risk by the alien bee-hawking Yellow-legged hornet *Vespa velutina nigrithorax* across Europe and other continents with niche models. *Biological Conservation* 144: 2142–2150.

3.3 Aquatic plants



3.3.1 Carolina fanwort *Cabomba caroliniana* (waterwaaier, cabomba de Caroline)

©Kevin Scheers

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: A single population is known in the Atlantic bioregion: an isolated population was discovered in the village centre of Sint-Pauwels in May 2013 (Oost-Vlaanderen, Belgium) and most probably originated from an aquarium dump, hence the finding of goldfish in the ditch (Scheers et al., 2016). *Cabomba* is the only submerged macrophyte in an, L-shaped, four meter wide ditch (c. 1200 m2, greatest depth 1.2 m) and reaches a vegetation cover of 65%. The ditch has a protected status for it has cultural and historical value as a remnant of an eighteenth century fortification. It is owned and managed by the municipality. The ditch is surrounded by villas, some of which have gardens that border it. The only other hydrophytes at the site are common native *Lemna minor* and the invasive *L. minuta*, covering most of the water surface. Riparian vegetation includes very common species like *Glyceria maxima* (locally abundant), *Typha latifolia* (frequent) and *Sparganium erectum* (occasional); some willows *Salix* sp. shade parts of the ditch but this does not hamper *Cabomba* growth. The substrate consists of c. 20 cm of organic mud on sand, the water is turbid and oxygen concentration is very low. *Cabomba caroliniana* was previously recorded in Belgium in an abandoned fishing pond at more than 50 km from the present location (Holsbeek, province Vlaams-Brabant) (Denys et al., 2003). Here, it disappeared along with all other aquatic vegetation after dredging and restocking with fish in 2006 to resume angling. In 2017 plant fragments were also found floating in the Campine canal (Dessel-Turnhout-Schoten).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: This submerged species can be rather inconspicuous and is not readily identified because of confusion with other plants species (e.g. *Ceratophyllum, Ranunculus, Myriophyllum*). It is therefore probably underdetected.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Several populations of Carolina fanwort are observed in Dutch water bodies near the Belgian border (e.g. near Breda) (Waarneming.nl database).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	1	0
Utm 5km	1	0
Utm 1km	1	0
% 1km SAC	0 %	-
Clustering index	464. 18	-

Management strategy - eradication

• <u>Methods and techniques</u>: This water weed may fragment into small shoot pieces that can easily regenerate new plants. The eradication strategy consists of (temporary) drawdown, followed by mechanical removal of the dried sediment layer that contains the plant material through dredging. The method is described in detail in Scheers et al. (2016). Drawdown requires active pumping, during which adequate precautions are taken not to spread plant fragments in the sewage system e.g. through the use of a biofilter or a sand filter. Plants are adequately disposed of as *Cabomba* is known to withstand desiccation and can remain viable even if dried. This action is followed by manual aftercare to remove any regrowth during at least two years. As a means of restoration, a tall helophyte belt (e.g. *Phragmites, Typha*) is planted and maintained along the shore after the *Cabomba* removal in order to reduce the open water area and the chances of reintroduction.

Filling up the ditch is not an option as it lies in a protected village site and cannot be altered. The use of herbicide by public authorities is legally no longer possible. Also, biocontrol using grass carp *Ctynopharyngodon idella*, a non-native species, is regulated by fisheries legislation. It is not selective and high densities of grass carp can limit habitat quality

for other organisms by complete loss of vegetation, changes in sediment composition and hydrochemistry (Pipalova, 2006). Biocontrol using weevils (Cabrera-Walsh et al., 2011) would not lead to permanent removal and non-target effects cannot be ruled out. Also, the use of non-native biocontrol agents is regulated and subject to preliminary risk assessment, which are not yet available. Light deprivation using matting (light-blocking synthetic foil or geo-textile such as jute) would provide an alternative on site, but would require additional removal of the surrounding fringe vegetation. Repeated clearing using an excavator with a mowing bucket, the removal of soft sediment or the use of pressurized air to uproot *Cabomba* (Hydro-venturi) lower biomass, but complete removal is unlikely (Van Valkenburg et al., 2011). Increased shading by trees or shrubs can also lead to reduced abundance of *C. caroliniana*, but the leaf litter could further impair the already problematic water quality. Therefore, these methods are <u>not</u> part of the strategy.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle into a single or a few patches The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *C. caroliniana* in Belgium to this single patch, avoid the production of any propagule that might result in further dispersion and rapidly eradicate any new patch discovered in the field.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Newly discovered populations are eradicated using the techniques described in the eradication strategy (drawdown + dredging), with light deprivation using matting (light-blocking synthetic foil or geotextile such as jute) as an alternative in smaller, less vegetated situations. Development of a tall helophyte belt (e.g. *Phragmites, Typha*) along the shore area limits the risk of translocation of plants by reducing human access to the plants. As the ditch is a protected village site, with every management action (eradication or spread limitation), public information is provided to villagers through targeted communication.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of the original
 population to be able to detect any further spread from it. A verification of the success of weed control is done in the
 same way as for the eradication strategy.



Results

The average feasibility of both eradication and spread limitation strategies was scored by experts between medium and high. In both strategies, the average scores were medium for opportunity and reintroduction and high for effectiveness, practicality, impact and acceptability. The average cost feasibility was scored as high for the spread limitation strategy and a little higher (between high and very high) for the eradication strategy.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

The spread limitation stragegy was adapted during the workshop in order to take into account plant records in Limburg from 2018, i.e. plant fragments found floating in several sites of the Campine canal (Dessel-Turnhout-Schoten) and the Albert canal (Lanaken-Hasselt-Herentals) (Scheers *et al.* 2019). There was a high uncertainty concerning the source population of these fragments and management was considered difficult because of fluvial navigation. Propagules may possibly originate from the Meuse/Maas river. As a consequence, option 1 was replaced by option 2 in spread limitation, wherein the Limburg canal system connected to the river Meuse was defined as a core area; the aim was therefore to reduce populations in this core area and to eradicate any population found outside it.

Workshop participants acknowledged that species is difficult to detect in the field, especially when no flower is produced and when it grows amongst *Myriophyllum* spp. and other aquatic plants (confusion with other hydrophytes is frequent). They suggested to increase field surveillance in order to improve knowledge on species distribution in Belgium and to identify the source of plant fragments observed in Limburg canals; molecular tools like e-DNA may potentially be used to reach that goal.

It was also mentioned that control tests conducted in the Netherlands demonstrate that small population as this found in the Sint-Pauwels ditch can be eradicated in closed water system through matting or extraction of the root system from sediments.

2. Recommendations for management

Having in mind the updated distribution of *Cabomba caroliniana* and the difficulty to conduct management in large canals with frequent fluvial navigation, all workshop participants recommended to implement the **spread limitation strategy** (option 2). The eradication strategy was considered as poorly feasible because of incomplete distribution data and difficulies linked to plant management in large canals with fluvial navigation.

References

Cabrera-Walsh G., Schooler S., Julien M. (2011). Biology and preliminary host range of *Hydrotimetes natans* Kolbe (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), a natural enemy candidate for biological control of *Cabomba caroliniana* Gray (Cabombaceae) in Australia. Austral Entomology 50(2):200-206.

Denys L., Packet J., Weiss L., Coenen M. (2003). *Cabomba caroliniana* (Cabombaceae) houdt stand in Holsbeek (Vlaams-Brabant, België). Dumortiera 80:35-40.

Pipalova I. (2006). A review of grass carp use for aquatic weed control and its impact on water bodies. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management 44(1):1-12.

Scheers K., Denys L., Packet J., Adriaens T. (2016). A second population of *Cabomba caroliniana* Gray (Cabombaceae) in Belgium with options for its eradication. BioInvasions Records 5(4):227-232.

Scheers, K., Denys, L., Jacobs, I., Packet, J., Smeekens, V., & Adriaens, T. (2019). *Cabomba caroliniana* Gray (Cabombaceae) invades major waterways in Belgium. Knowledge & Management of Aquatic Ecosystems 420, 22.

Van Valkenburg J., Roijackers R., Leonard R. (2011) Cabomba caroliniana Gray in the Netherlands; 3rd International Symposium on Weeds and Invasive Plants, October.

3.3.2 Nuttall's waterweed Elodea nuttallii (smalle waterpest, élodée de Nuttall)



©Jo Packet

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Elodea nuttallii, with E. canadensis, is very widespread all over the country (Adriaens et al., 2009; Delbart, 2012). E. nuttallii is established in Belgium since the 1970s. It is found in ponds, canals, river branches and slow flowing stretches of rivers, including brackish waters. It is widespread both in the Atlantic and Continental bioregions, although populations are much more numerous in the Atlantic region. In the Atlantic bioregion, the species is common in all sorts of water types and strongly represented in the Campine, sandy and sandy-loam ecoregion (the river Scheldt and tributary river basins and the Grensmaas basin) (Van Landuyt et al., 2006). The species is less frequent in the western part of the Atlantic bioregion (e.g. the Polder region). In the continental bioregion, it is reported both in ponds and watercourses. It is widely spread in Lesse, Ourthe and Semois rivers.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: As a completely submerged macrophyte, this plant is not always easy to detect. It is probably underreported in both bioregions due to confusion with *E. canadensis* and absence of systematic survey.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Numerous dense populations of Nuttall's waterweed are known to occur in French and Dutch water bodies near the Belgian border (Siflore and Waarneming.nl databases, Levy et al 2015).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	111	39
Utm 5km	209	45
Utm 1km	475	52
% 1km SAC	46 %	80 %
Clustering index	0.55	0.76

Management strategy - eradication

Methods and techniques: This submerged rooted weed may easily fragment into small shoot pieces that can regenerate new plants. It is known to form non-anchored floating mats after root decay in autumn. In streams and canals, the eradication strategy is based on repeated manual or mechanical harvesting of biomass; mechanical harvesting is performed with weed-cutting boats, weed rakes usable from banks, or bucket-like shallow or deep dredges (Zehnsdorf et al 2015). In ponds and reservoirs, the methods are hand weeding (Hussner 2017; Hussner et al., 2017), drawdown and dredging or jute matting. Jute matting is applied to eradicate small populations with little vegetation in small by achieving light deprivation and facilitating the regrowth of native species (Caffrey et al. 2010; Hoffman et al. 2013; ; Zehnsdorf et al., 2015). On other sites drawdown is performed (in summer when water levels are already low or in winter allowing frostbite to reduce plant cover prior to removal) followed by mechanical removal using a mowing bucket on an excavator. On larger sites, this is performed off a barge. Care is taken not to spread any plant fragments during the drainage of the water and during the dredging using appropriate biofilters at in- and outlets of the water basins and cleaning the gear. Boats and dip nets are used to manually collect any floating fragments or hand pulled isolated plants that the excavator cannot get to. The removed plant and sediment material is allowed to leak out on geotextile tarps, reducing its weight and allowing invertebrates to escape back to the pond. It is

then incinerated. As E. nuttallii has a strong tolerance to mechanical cutting and a high capacity to recover from small plant fragments after management (Di Nino et al., 2005), aftercare is performed for five years on the sites, performing visual inspections of any remaining plants and the removal of any regrowth by hand pulling.

Biocontrol using herbivore fish like grass carp and chemical control using herbicides are not part of the strategy because of legal restrictions and drastic effects on non-target organisms and ecosystems (Pipalova 2006). Due to limited efficiency, mechanical control using a hydroventuri to uproot plant material from the substrate (Van Valkenburg et al., 2011) or underwater weed cutting are equally not a part of the strategy.

Post-intervention verification: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- Aim: Option 4 Maintenance of (small) pest free areas The spread limitation strategy aims at avoiding propagule propagation that would result in further dispersion of this widespread plant. Care is taken to avoid that it may reach uninvaded areas, especially upstream zones in river basins. Uninvaded areas are managed as pest free areas; they are subjected to (i) dedicated biosecurity measures, (ii) management actions aiming to increase habitat resistance to invasion, (iii) increased surveillance effort and (iv) rapid eradication actions after plant detection.
- Methods and techniques: Dedicated biosecurity measures are installed to prevent establishment of new populations following the human-mediated dispersal of plants to pest free areas : transport of plant fragments through the transfer of sediment material, human activity (incl. fishing clothing) and by boats and vehicles is avoided and physical barriers are installed where it may reduce introduction risks. Equipment and machinery are cleaned to remove plant fragments before moving to an uninfected area. Care is taken to reduce as much as possible nutrient input into freshwater ecosystems to reinforce their resistance to biological invasions and to promote competition by native aquatic vegetation (Zehnsdorf et al 2015). Increased surveillance effort is provided in pest free areas to allow a rapid eradication of new plant colonies, using similar techniques as those proposed in the eradication strategy.
- Post-intervention verification: An accurate surveillance is implemented within the pest free areas to be able to detect early establishment of the weed. A verification of the success of weed control is done in the same way as for the eradication strategy.



The average feasibility was scored between low and medium for eradication and medium for the spread limitation strategy, with strong variations between the scores provided by the different assessors. The difference between both strategies was duet o higher scores for effectiveness, cost and impact in the spread limitation strategey compared tot he eradication strategy.

Results

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants proposed to slightly adapt the spread limitation strategy, focusing on nature reserves rather than on upstream zones as pest free areas.

Most participants considered that this species is so widespread and difficult to control that it could be a waste of money to invest to much in its detection and management. It is supposed to be everywhere in Flanders except maybe in some very polluted water bodies. The species looks less widespread in Wallonia but it is considered as strongly underdetected in this area as mentioned above. Participants also wondered if it make sense to take action against *E. nuttallii* without addressing *E. canadensis*, having in mind that they cause similar impacts and often behave as passenger of eutrophication and ecosystem change.

It was also suggested that measures to reduce transmission to non-infected water bodies (incl. communication to stakeholders) remain useful and that distribution mapping is necessary for both *Elodea* species, including possible molecular tools like e-DNA. Also improvement of water quality and ecosystem management should be considered to reduce plant abundance.

2. Recommendations for management

As no consensus was achieved amongst participants for common recommendations, a vote was held with the following results :

- Eradication : 0/11
- Spread limitation: 4/11
- Population control (impact mitigation) : 7/11
- Abstention : 0/11

The majority of participants recommended the **population control strategy** because of species widespread status, incomplete distribution data and low effectiveness of management practices. Spread limitation was seen as an alternative by others.

References

Adriaens T., Van Landuyt W., Packet J., Denys L. (2009). Advies met betrekking tot in een beheerregeling op te nemen uitheemse en invasieve water- en oeverplantensoorten. Brussel. INBO.A.2009.269.

Belgian Scientific Council on Invasive Alien Species (2017). Opinion note on the relevance for including *Elodea nuttallii* in the IAS list of EU concern

Caffrey, J.M., Millane, M., Evers S., Moran H., Butler, M. (2010). A novel approach to aquatic weed control and habitat restoration using biodegradable jute matting. *Aquatic Invasions*, 5: 123–129.

Delbart E. (2012). Etat des lieux actualisé des plans d'eau envahis par *Crassula helmsii*, *Hydrocotyle ranunculoides*, *Ludwigia grandiflora*, *L. peploides* et *Myriophyllum aquaticum* à l'échelle de la Wallonie. Rapport de Convention Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech.

Di Nino F., Thiébaut G., Muller S. (2005). Response of *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) H. St. John to manual harvesting in the North-East of France. *Hydrobiologia* 551(1):147-157.

Hoffmann, M., Gonzalez, A.B., Raeder, U. and Melzer, A. (2013). Experimental weed control of *Najas marina* ssp. Intermedia and *Elodea nuttallii* in lakes using biodegradable jute matting. *Journal of Limnology*, 72: 485-493.

Hussner, A. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Elodea nuttallii. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M.J.J.M., Bakker, E.S., Grutters, B.M.C., Haury, J., van Valkenburg J.L.C.H., Brundu, G., Newman, J., Clayton, J.S., Anderson, L.W.J. and Hofstra, D. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien aquatic plants: a review. *Aquatic Botany*, 136: 113-137.

Levy V (coord), Watterlot W, Buchet J, Toussaint B & Hauguel J-C (2015) Plantes exotiques envahissantes du Nord-Ouest de la France : 30 fiches de reconnaissance et d'aide à la gestion. Centre régional de phytosociologie agréé Conservatoire botanique national de Bailleul, 140 pp.

Pipalova I. (2006). A review of grass carp use for aquatic weed control and its impact on water bodies. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management 44(1):1-12.

Van Landuyt W., Hoste I., Vanhecke L., Van den Bremt P., Vercruysse E., De Beer D. (2006). Atlas van de Flora van Vlaanderen en het Brussels Gewest. Brussel: Instituut voor natuur- en bosonderzoek, Nationale Plantentuin van België & Flo.Wer.

Van Valkenburg J., Roijackers R., Leonard R. (2011) Cabomba caroliniana Gray in the Netherlands. 3rd International Symposium on Weeds and Invasive Plants, October.

Zehnsdorf A., Hussner A., Eismann F., Rönicke H., Melzer A. (2015). Management options of invasive *Elodea nuttallii* and *Elodea canadensis*. Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters 51:110-117.

3.3.3 Curly waterweed *Lagarosiphon major* (verspreidbladige waterpest, elodée à feuilles alternes)



©Christine Heinesch

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: First reported in Belgium in 1993, meanwhile established throughout the country and rapidly expanding through new aquarist introductions or attached to boats (e.g. in the Campine canals). Since 2004 there have been several observation in the Atlantic region, mostly the provinces of Western and Eastern Flanders and the province of Antwerp. In the Atlantic region, *L. major* is known from 12 locations. Populations range from smaller infestations in ponds (e.g. dunes in Koksijde, Kruibeke) to very large populations (>10 000m²) such as the ones near Ghent (Lange Velden, Wondelgem) (Adriaens et al. 2016). *Lagarosiphon major* is mostly confined to standing or slow flowing water, but also occurs in canals (e.g. canal Dessel-Turnhout-Schoten) where it is spread from shallow winding holes and marinas by movement of boats and pleasure craft. Most populations in the Atlantic bioregion are either managed by public and semi-public authorities or by Natuurpunt. The Koksijde population (Fluithoek) was presumably eradicated manually by the Agency for Nature and forest. The population near the nature reserve Bourgoyen-Ossemeersen (Malpertuus site, Mariakerke) disappeared spontaneously. In the Continental region, the plant is known from 9 isolated populations. It is mostly confined to small ponds (invaded area < 1000 m2) but two larger populations occur, one in a deep lake found in an old excavation site near Floreffe and another one in a large leisure pond of the municipality of Doische (invaded area of 25000 m2). A few other populations were recently detected in small ponds, both in the Atlantic and the Continental regions (not shown on the map).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: *L. major* is probably underdetected because it can easily be confused with other macrophytes such as *E. nuttallii* and it has a submerged phenotype which is not readily detectable.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Several populations of curly waterweed are observed in French and Dutch water bodies near the Belgian border (Siflore and Waarneming.nl databases). It is reported from the Roubaix transboundary canal in Leers (Levy et al 2015).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	10	8
Utm 5km	10	8
Utm 1km	11	9
% 1km SAC	45 %	63 %
Clustering index	1.28	1.20

Management strategy - eradication

Methods and techniques: This submerged rooted weed may easily fragment into small shoot pieces that can regenerate new plants. The eradication strategy consists of drawdown and dredging or jute matting. Matting (light-blocking synthetic foil or geo-textile such as jute) is applied to eradicate small populations with little vegetation by achieving light deprivation and facilitating the regrowth of native species (Caffrey et al. 2010, 2011). This will often require additional removal of the surrounding fringe vegetation before matting can be applied. On other sites, temporary drawdown is followed by mechanical dredging removing the sediment layer that contains the plant material and removing any remaining plant fragments appearing during or after the procedure. Where site conditions do not allow this, hand pulling and/or mechanical removal of plants is applied. This is followed by five years of manual aftercare to check for regrowth in May-June and to remove any regrowth (Denys et al., 2014). Depending on the situation, drawdown may require active pumping (closed water bodies, ponds) or allowing water to pour out of water systems. During these procedures, adequate precautions are taken not to spread plant fragments in the sewage

system or in other areas or water bodies e.g. through the use of biofilters and physical barriers. Also, machinery must be cleaned of any plant material. Plants are adequately disposed of as *Lagarosiphon* is known to withstand desiccation and can remain viable even if dried.

Biocontrol using herbivore fish like grass carp and chemical control using herbicides are <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of legal restrictions and drastic effects on non-target organisms and ecosystems (Pipalova 2006). Classical or inundative biocontrol using BCA's specific to *L. major* from its native range (e.g. the leaf-mining fly *Hydrellia lagarosiphon*, the chironomid *Polypedilum lagarosiphonia*), could in the long term reduce management costs but has to be integrated with other methods to really be effective (Baars et al., 2010). Due to limited efficiency, mechanical control using a hydroventuri to uproot plant material from the substrate or underwater weed cutting (Caffrey et al. 2011, Van Valkenburg et al. 2011) are equally <u>not</u> a part of the strategy.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1. Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *L. peploides* in Belgium to isolated baseline populations, avoid any further dispersal from them by limitation of shoot fragment production and rapidly eradicate any new patch discovered in the field.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: New populations are eradicated using similar techniques as those proposed in the former strategy: drawdown followed by mechanical dredging or jute matting. To limit the production of plant fragments, populations in standing waters are isolated by installing and maintaining physical barriers to plant dispersal and by preventing the fragmentation of stems. Patches may additionally be subjected to environmental management techniques like shading, reduction of the water nutrient status and enhanced competition with native vegetation (EPPO 2014). Habitat conversion is implemented by allowing natural succession from open water to closed vegetation e.g. through altered management practices and active planting planting (e.g. marsh species like *Phragmites, Typha*, then brook forest species like *Salix* and *Alnus*) towards a closed vegetation type. *Lagarosiphon* will then disappear or reduce substantially in cover through competition with taller helophytes and shading. Second, a biosecurity campaign is organised targeted at users and managers of harbours, rivers and water bodies in risk areas (i.e. checking boats and equipment and removing any plant material before use and moving from invaded to uninvaded areas).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of existing
 populations to be able to detect any further spread from them. A verification of the success of weed control is done in
 the same way as for the eradication strategy.

Results



The average feasibility was scored between low and medium for eradication and between medium and high for the spread limitation strategy. The difference between both strategies was due to higher scores for effectiveness and practicality and a lower score for price in the spread limitation strategy compared to the eradication strategy. Similar scores were provided for other components of management feasibility.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants recommended to strongly enhance field surveillance for *L. major* because of the low detectability of its submerged phenotype and the confusion risks with other species, incl. *Elodea nuttalii*. Reliable distribution data are of utmost importance to reach management goals and communication and training are needed both to improve distribution data and reduce accidental introductions. They also considered that there is a large area for further spread of this species in Belgium's territory and that urgent action is needed to curb further plant expansion.

They acknowledged that this species has a strong environmental impact because it is an habitat transformer that may facilitate its own development and population increase. It is known to modify physico-chemical peculiarities of waterbodies it invades.

Experience gained from management actions already undertaken in Belgium showed that local eradication is usually costly and difficult to achieve.

2. Recommendations for management

All workshop participants recommended to implement the **spread limitation strategy** (option 1). The eradication strategy was considered as poorly feasible because of incomplete distribution data and low effectiveness of management techniques.

References

Baars J.-R., Coetzee J., Martin G., Hill M., Caffrey J. (2010). Natural enemies from South Africa for biological control of *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss ex Wager (Hydrocharitaceae) in Europe. Hydrobiologia 656(1):149-158.

Caffrey J., Millane M., Evers S., Moran H. (2011) Management of *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridley) moss in Lough Corrib - a review. Biology and Environment: Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. p 205-212.

Caffrey J.M., Millane M., Evers S., Moron H., Butler M. (2010). A novel approach to aquatic weed control and habitat restoration using biodegradable jute matting. Aquatic Invasions 5(2):123-129.

Denys L., Packet J., Adriaens T. (2014). Advies betreffende de bestrijding van verspreidbladige waterpest, *Lagarosiphon major*, in het bijzonder op twee locaties te Gent. Advies van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.3149: Advies van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek.

Levy V (coord), Watterlot W, Buchet J, Toussaint B & Hauguel J-C (2015) Plantes exotiques envahissantes du Nord-Ouest de la France : 30 fiches de reconnaissance et d'aide à la gestion. Centre régional de phytosociologie agréé Conservatoire botanique national de Bailleul, 140 pp.

3.3.4 Water pennywort *Hydrocotyle ranunculoides* (grote waternavel, Hydrocotyle fausse renoncule)



©Jo Packet

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: First observed in Belgium in 1992, floating pennywort rapidly spreads within the country due to multiple introductions via the aquatic nursery trade and subsequent natural dispersal in the environment through water currents. During the reference period 2000-2015, it was observed in 190 1x1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion, but only 4 squares in the Continental bioregion. As observed in other countries for several aquatic weeds, floating pennywort is mainly observed in nutrient-rich water bodies and slow-flowing watercourses. At least 25% of the plant patches recorded in Flanders were found along watercourses (Adriaens et al 2016). A very high frequency is observed in some river systems like the Leie, the Nete and the Schelde. In the Continental region, only small populations are reported. Populations range from smaller infestations in ponds to very large populations observed along some canals and watercourses. Due to strong nuisances caused by the plant, it is actively tackled by water managers in Flanders since 2005 and has been one of the target species of the INVEXO INTERREG project (2009-2012).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species distribution is considered as rather exhaustive due to active monitoring and high detectability of the plant in the field. Young plants could however be confused with *Ranunculus* spp. and can be very difficult to find in between other more common water plants at early invasion stage. As a result of management actions undertaken in the last years, the percentage of infected water stretches has decreased significantly and the species is therefore overrepresented on the distribution map in particular in the provinces of Antwerp and East Flanders, (INVEXO 2012).
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Invasion level in neighbouring countries is rather high and the plant is
 often found along transboundary watercourses and waterbodies in Netherlands and Northern France (Siflore and
 Waarneming.nl databases).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	81	4
UTM 5km	115	4
UTM 1km	190	4
% 1km SAC	33%	50%
Clustering index	0.58	1.73

Management strategy - eradication

Methods and techniques - The management of this water weed may induce fragmentation into small shoot pieces that can easily regenerate new plants. New and small infested patches (up to several hundreds of square meters) of floating pennywort are managed by manual removal (hand weeding) preferably in late spring, directly from banks or from small boats. A special care is taken to remove all the stems rooted at the lower parts of embankments in limiting shoot fragmentation. Where possible, water level reduction may be applied before management to facilitate the detection of plants rooted in banks. Subsequent hand picking of plant regrowth is performed every month during the vegetation period after the initial intervention, over 5 successive years (= follow-up management measures). Larger patches are managed either with excavators equipped with mowing baskets for cutting and collecting plant material (narrow waters) or with weed harvesting boats with a hydraulic controlled rack on the front for collecting plants floating and present on the banks (large water bodies), directly followed by a careful and intensive manual removal of

viable plant fragments and manual post-harvest treatments during 5 successive years as described above (Plant Protection Service 2011, EPPO 2014, Sarat et al 2015, Hussner et al. 2017). The managed areas are fenced or netted off, to reduce plant spread downstream. Also, all cut plant material is removed and disposed off far away from freshwater to avoid new contaminations; harvested biomass is either dried, buried or composted. Biocontrol using grass carp or herbivorous insects and chemical treatments are <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of limited efficiency and/or legal limitations in the Belgian context (see e.g. Delbart et al 2013 and Aldridge et al 2015).

Post-intervention verification: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- Aim: Option 3. Progressive elimination of the most dispersive populations The spread limitation strategy aims at (i) eradicating populations growing along water courses that may easily expand towards remote areas and avoiding spread from ponds to the river systems in the Atlantic area and (ii) eradicating all isolated populations in the Continental area as they represent a potential source of invasion for the whole bioregion.
- Methods and techniques: Populations are eradicated using similar techniques as those proposed in the former strategy. Spread dispersion from ponds in the Atlantic bioregion is prevented by installing and maintaining physical barriers. Those ponds may additionally be subjected to environmental management techniques like shading, reduction of the water nutrient status and increased competition with native helophytes (EPPO 2014). At last, a biosecurity campaign is organised targeted at users and managers of harbours, rivers and water bodies in risk areas (i.e. checking boats and equipment and removing any plant material before use and moving from invaded to uninvaded areas).
- Post-intervention verification: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of existing populations to be able to detect any further spread from them. A verification of the success of weed control is done in the same way as for the eradication strategy.



The average feasibility of both eradication and spread limitation strategies was scored around medium by experts. Similar scores were provided for the different management feasibility components in both strategies, except for increased effectiveness in the spread limitation strategy.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Results

Workshop participants considered that *H. ranunculoides* is the easiest invasive water plant to manage because of long experience gained in its management and high efficiency of actions undertaken so far in the field, providing that best management practices and aftercare are applied.

They however reported that investment in monitoring is needed to refine knowledge on current distribution (data on the maps are outdated) and better assess management efficiency.

They also stressed that good results may be achieved only when all populations are managed, including those established in private terrains. Access to these sites may be locally difficult as reported by experience in Flanders. Participants considered it is needed to secure money to control populations in private terrains, at least for the first operations., having in mind it could be rather expensive and potentially reduce the budget available to control other species.

2. Recommendations for management

As no consensus was achieved amongst participants for common recommendations, a vote was held with the following results :

- Eradication : 8/11
- Spread limitation: 1/11
- Population control (impact mitigation) : 0/11
- Abstention : 2/11

The majority of participants recommended the **eradication strategy**.

References

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

Delbart, E., Mahy, G., & Monty, A. (2013). Efficacité des méthodes de lutte contre le développement de cinq espèces de plantes invasives amphibies: Crassula helmsii, Hydrocotyle ranunculoides, Ludwigia grandiflora, Ludwigia peploides et Myriophyllum aquaticum (synthèse bibliographique). *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement*, *17*(1), 87.

EPPO (2014) PM 9/19 (1) Invasive alien aquatic plants. EPPO Bulletin 44 (3): 457–471.

Hussner A et al (2017) Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. Aquatic Botany 136: 112–137.

Invexo (2013). Een efficiënte aanpak van invasieve exoten in en rond de waterloop. Eindrapport van de Invexo-casus 'Grote waternavel en andere invasieve (water)planten', Invexo. Link.

Plant Protection Service and Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2011) Hydrocotyle ranunculoides: a guide to identification, risk assessment and management. Euphresco DeCLAIM report.

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp. 3.3.5 Water primrose *Ludwigia grandiflora* (waterteunisbloem, Jussie à grandes fleurs)



©Celine Prevot

- Invasion situation and history in BE: Water primrose was first observed in Belgium in 1984, with a rapid increase of sightings during the 1990's. Most records are from nutrient-rich and artificial ponds, canals and other water bodies. However, since about 2001 it is also known from numerous localities alongside watercourses like the river Kleine Nete (Verloove 2017). At least 30% of the plant patches recorded in Flanders were found along watercourses (Adriaens et al 2016). Populations range from smaller infestations in ponds to very large populations (> 10.000 m²) observed along some canals and watercourses. Plant spread within the country is due to multiple introductions via the aquatic nursery trade and subsequent natural dispersal in the environment through water currents. During the reference period 2000-2015, it was observed in 169 1x1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion, but only in 8 squares in the Continental bioregion. A very high frequency is observed in the Gete and the Nete river system (core area). Only small and isolated populations are reported so far from the Continental region.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species distribution is considered as rather exhaustive due to active monitoring and high detectability of the plant caused by massive flowering. The species is however difficult to distinguish from *L. peploides* and confusions between both species may occur. Also, young plants can be very difficult to find in between other more common water plants such as *Mentha aquatica*.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Invasion level in neighbouring countries is rather high and the plant is often found along transboundary watercourses and waterbodies in Netherlands and Northern France (Siflore and Waarneming.nl databases). It is well established in the Nord-Pas-de-Calais area. The species is e.g. present in the transboundary Haute-Colme canal (Levy et al 2015).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	61	6
UTM 5km	96	6
UTM 1km	169	8
% 1km SAC	47%	71%
Clustering index	0.56	1.25

Management strategy – eradication

<u>Methods and techniques</u>: *L. grandiflora* may fragment into small floating and rooted shoot pieces that can regenerate new plants. Populations may easily spread on long distances by seeds and establish from persistent seed bank after physical disturbance of sediments (Ruaux et al 2009, Thouvenot et al 2013). New and small infested patches (up to several hundreds of square meters) of water primrose are managed by manual removal (hand weeding) preferably in late spring, directly from banks or from small boats (Hussner et al. 2016). A special care is taken to remove all the stems rooted at the lower parts of embankments in limiting shoot fragmentation. Where possible, water level reduction may be applied before management to facilitate the management and reduce plant vigour due to water stress. Subsequent hand picking of plant regrowth is performed every month during the vegetation period after the initial intervention, over 5 successive years. Larger patches are managed either with excavators equipped with mowing baskets for cutting and collecting plant material (narrow

waters) or with weed harvesting boats with a hydraulic controlled rack on the front for collecting plants floating and present on the banks (large water bodies), directly followed by a careful and intensive manual removal of viable plant fragments and manual post-harvest treatments during 5 successive years as described above (Plant Protection Service 2011, EPPO 2014, Sarat et al 2015, Hussner et al. 2017). The managed areas are fenced with rubber flanges or netted off, to restrain the drift of free floating material and avoid plant spread downstream. Also, all cut plant material is removed and disposed off far away from freshwater to avoid new contaminations. Harvested biomass is either dried, buried or composted. Biocontrol using grass carp or herbivorous insects and chemical treatments are <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of limited efficiency and/or legal limitations in the Belgian context (see e.g. Aldridge et al 2015 and Delbart et al 2013).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2. Stand-still principle with core area(s)
 The spread limitation strategy aims limiting propagule production within its core area (the Gete and the Nete river system) and rapidly eliminating satellite and new populations discovered outside it. Seed production is reduced as much as possible both within the core area and outside the core area as seeds are more likely to participate in long-distance colonization (Thouvenot et al 2013).
- <u>Management and techniques</u>: Eradication of any population found outside the core area is applied using similar techniques as those proposed in the eradication strategy. In addition, *Ludwigia* populations of the core area are manually or mechanically harvested in July to reduce seed production. They may also be subjected to environmental management techniques like shading, reduction of the water nutrient status and increased competition with native helophytes (EPPO 2014). At last, a biosecurity campaign is organised targeted at users and managers of harbours, rivers and water bodies in risk areas (i.e. checking boats and equipment and removing any plant material before use and moving from invaded to uninvaded areas).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of the core area to be able to detect any further spread from it. A verification of the success of weed control is done in the same way as for the eradication strategy.



The average feasibility was scored between low and medium for both management strategies, with strong variations between the scores provided by the different assessors. Similar scores were reached for the different management feasibility components in both strategies, except for higher scores for effectiveness, cost and impact in the spread limitation strategy compared to the eradication strategy.

Results

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants proposed to slightly adapt the spread limitation strategy (option 2), considering that local eradication should be also performed where possible within the core area.

They considered that this species is much more difficult and costly to control than *Hydrocotyle*, e.g. because of more frequent fragmentation of stems during the management and difficulties to extract the root system from the substrate. Local peculiarities like bank shape or material, etc. can also make local eradication difficult to reach; this goal is easier to achieve in small water bodies that are easily accessible. Field practitioners feared that fertile seeds could be produced and regenerate new populations after management, to which scientists answered that this is highly incertain and that new plants can also come from fragments. In France, it was shown that vegetative reproduction is predominant.

Participants reminded that this species is known to cause a strong negative impact on biodiversity and ecosystem services, including fishing and navigation. Its management may also affect the ecosystem (e.g. impact on breeding birds).

Some participants suggested that biological control may be proposed as an option for risk mitigation in the future based on ongoing scientific research by CABI.

2. Recommendations for management

As no consensus was achieved amongst participants for common recommendations, a vote was held with the following results :

- Eradication : 2/11
- Spread limitation: 8/11
- Population control (impact mitigation) : 0/11
- Abstention : 1/11

The majority of participants recommended the **spread limitation strategy**. Eradication was seen as an alternative by others but considered as poorly feasible by the former group because of widespread status and low effectiveness of management techniques.

References

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

Delbart, E., Mahy, G., & Monty, A. (2013). Efficacité des méthodes de lutte contre le développement de cinq espèces de plantes invasives amphibies: Crassula helmsii, Hydrocotyle ranunculoides, Ludwigia grandiflora, Ludwigia peploides et Myriophyllum aquaticum (synthèse bibliographique). *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement*, *17*(1), 87.

EPPO (2014) PM 9/19 (1) Invasive alien aquatic plants. EPPO Bulletin 44 (3): 457–471.

Hussner, A., Windhaus, M., & Starfinger, U. (2016). From weed biology to successful control: an example of successful management of Ludwigia grandiflora in Germany. *Weed Research*, *56*(6), 434-441.

Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M. J. J. M., Bakker, E. S., Grutters, B. M. C., Haury, J., ... & Anderson, L. W. J. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. *Aquatic Botany*, *136*, 112-137.

Levy V (coord), Watterlot W, Buchet J, Toussaint B & Hauguel J-C (2015) Plantes exotiques envahissantes du Nord-Ouest de la France : 30 fiches de reconnaissance et d'aide à la gestion. Centre régional de phytosociologie agréé Conservatoire botanique national de Bailleul, 140 pp.

Plant Protection Service and Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2011) Ludwigia grandiflora: a guide to identification, risk assessment and management. Euphresco DeCLAIM report.

Ruaux, B., Greulich, S., Haury, J., Berton, J-P. (2009) Sexual reproduction of two alien invasive Ludwigia (Onagraceae) on the middle Loire River, France. Aquatic Botany 90: 143–148.

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Thouvenot, L., Haury, J., & Thiebaut, G. (2013). A success story: water primroses, aquatic plant pests. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 23(5), 790-803.

Verloove F (2017) Manual of the alien plants of Belgium. http://www.q-bank.eu/Plants/Controlsheets/Ludwigia State-of-the-Art.pdf **3.3.6** Floating primrose-willow *Ludwigia peploides* (postelein-waterlepeltje, kleine waterteunisbloem, Jussie rampante)



©Celine Prevot

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Ludwigia peploides was first observed in Belgium in 1995 and has been found in a few other localities ever since. It is a look-alike of Ludwigia grandiflora but is much less widespread than it and has a scattered distribution. During the reference period 2000-2015, it was found in 20 1x1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion but was not found in the Continental bioregion. Most Belgian records originate from nutrient-rich lakes, canals and slow flowing rivers with fluvial navigation. A large population is found along the Schelde river in direct connection with a French population. Several large populations are also present in lakes, e.g. at the ANB managed nature reserve Drijdijck in Antwerp harbour area (where it occurs as individual plants or patches of about 1m² in a Crassula helmsii dominated vegetation) and at the fish lake of Grand Rieu (Saint-Ghislain) in admixture with *L. grandiflora*. The population in Drijdijck is under management since 2016. Here, the water level was lowered after winter to expose plants to frost and to facilitate manual and mechanical removal. In august 2017 a few plants were still observed and manual aftercare was undertaken. In the nature reserve Bourgoyen-Ossemeersen (Ghent), a large population is present and is managed since 2015 by mechanical (sod cutting + burying on site) removal of a 3000 m² patch and 3 years of manual aftercare after lowering the water level.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species distribution is considered rather exhaustive due to active monitoring and high detectability of the plant caused by massive flowering. The species could however be under-detected due to confusions with *L. grandiflora*. Also, young plants can be very difficult to find in between other more common water plants such as *Mentha aquatica*.
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries: The plant is abundant along several transboundary watercourses and waterbodies in Northern France (Siflore database). It is well established in the Nord-Pas-de-Calais area, the species is e.g. present in the transboundary Roubaix canal (Levy et al 2015). In the Netherlands, small infestations of the species have been successfully removed on several locations since 2002 (NVWA 2016), for example in the Biesbosch where it was eradicated by topsoil removal in 2007 (Van Valkenburg et al. 2013). However, a big populations is still present on the island of Tiengemeten (Haringvliet) which is under management by Natuurmonumenten with the help of volunteers since its discovery in 2012 by mechanical and manual removal (Withagen 2012) and in the city of Lelystad.



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	12	0
UTM 5km	13	0
UTM 1km	20	0
% 1km SAC	45 %	-
Clustering index	0.7 7	-

Management strategy - eradication

Methods and techniques: L. peploides may fragment into small floating and rooted shoot pieces that can regenerate new plants. Populations may easily spread on long distances by seeds and establish from persistent seed bank after physical disturbance of sediments (Ruaux et al 2009, Thouvenot et al 2013). New and small infested patches (up to several hundreds of square meters) of floating primrose-willow are managed by manual removal (hand weeding) preferably in late spring, directly from banks, from small boats or from people wading through the water (Hussner et al. 2016). A special care is taken to remove all the stems rooted at the lower parts of embankments in limiting shoot fragmentation. Where possible, water level reduction may be applied before management to facilitate the management and reduce plant vigour due to water stress. Subsequent hand picking of plant regrowth is performed every month during the vegetation period after the initial intervention, over 5 successive years. Larger patches of stream populations are managed either with excavators equipped with mowing baskets for cutting and collecting

plant material (narrow waters) or with weed harvesting boats with a hydraulic controlled rack on the front for collecting plants floating and present on the banks (large water bodies), directly followed by a careful and intensive manual removal of viable plant fragments and manual post-harvest treatments during 5 successive years as described above (Plant Protection Service 2011, EPPO 2014, Sarat et al 2015, Hussner et al. 2017). The managed areas are fenced with rubber flanges or netted off, to restrain the drift of free floating material and avoid plant spread downstream. Also, all cut plant material is removed and disposed off far away from freshwater to avoid new contaminations; harvested biomass is either dried, buried or composted.

Biocontrol using grass carp or herbivorous insects and chemical treatments are <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of limited efficiency and/or legal limitations in the Belgian context (see e.g. Aldridge et al 2015 and Delbart et al 2013).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: *Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches* The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *L. peploides* in Belgium to isolated baseline populations, avoid any further dispersal from them and rapidly eradicate any new patch discovered in the field. Seed production is reduced as much as possible as seeds are more likely to participate in long-distance colonization (Thouvenot et al 2013).
- Management and techniques: Eradication of any population found outside the existing sites is applied using similar techniques as those proposed in the eradication strategy. Within these sites, plants are manually or mechanically harvested in July to reduce seed production; populations are isolated as far as possible by installing and maintaining physical barriers to plant dispersal. They may also be subjected to environmental management techniques like shading, reduction of the water nutrient status and increased competition with native helophytes (EPPO 2014). Importantly, at sites which are grazed, exclosures should be installed around *L. peploides* populations to prevent spread of plant fragments (Withagen 2015). At last, a biosecurity campaign is organised targeted at users and managers of harbours, rivers and water bodies in risk areas (i.e. checking boats and equipment and removing any plant material before use and moving from invaded to uninvaded areas).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of existing
 populations to be able to detect any further spread from them. A verification of the success of weed control is done in
 the same way as for the eradication strategy.

Results



The average feasibility of both eradication and spread limitation strategies was scored by experts between low and medium. Similar scores were provided for the different management feasibily components in both strategies.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants recommended to enhance surveillance to have a better view of plant's distribution in Belgium and help defining realist management goals. Its includes awareness raising and training campaign to allow stakeholders to make the distinction between the 2 *Ludwidgia* species among which frequent confusions exists.

It was is also highlighted that action has to be taken in Northern France (e.g. canal de la Haute Colme) to reduce the risk of plant being reintroduced in Belgium from this territory.

2. Recommendations for management

All workshop participants recommended to implement the eradication strategy.

References

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

Delbart, E., Mahy, G., & Monty, A. (2013). Efficacité des méthodes de lutte contre le développement de cinq espèces de plantes invasives amphibies: Crassula helmsii, Hydrocotyle ranunculoides, Ludwigia grandiflora, Ludwigia peploides et Myriophyllum aquaticum (synthèse bibliographique). *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement*, *17*(1), 87.

EPPO (2014) PM 9/19 (1) Invasive alien aquatic plants. EPPO Bulletin 44 (3): 457–471.

Hussner, A., Windhaus, M., & Starfinger, U. (2016). From weed biology to successful control: an example of successful management of Ludwigia grandiflora in Germany. *Weed Research*, *56*(6), 434-441.

Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M. J. J. M., Bakker, E. S., Grutters, B. M. C., Haury, J., ... & Anderson, L. W. J. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. *Aquatic Botany*, *136*, 112-137.
Levy V, Watterlot W, Buchet J, Toussaint B & Hauguel J-C (2015) Plantes exotiques envahissantes du Nord-Ouest de la France : 30 fiches de reconnaissance et d'aide à la gestion. Centre régional de phytosociologie agréé Conservatoire botanique national de Bailleul, 140 pp.

Plant Protection Service and Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2011) Ludwigia grandiflora: a guide to identification, risk assessment and management. Euphresco DeCLAIM report.

Ruaux, B., Greulich, S., Haury, J., Berton, J-P. (2009) Sexual reproduction of two alien invasive Ludwigia (Onagraceae) on the middle Loire River, France. Aquatic Botany 90: 143–148.

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Thouvenot, L., Haury, J., & Thiebaut, G. (2013). A success story: water primroses, aquatic plant pests. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 23(5), 790-803

Van Valkenburg, J., INBO, Natuurmonumenten (2013). Physical and mechanical control of *Crassula helmsii* and *Ludwigia peploides*. Is it a realistic option? Presentation held at Best Practice Approach to Managing Invasive Aquatic Plants 17-18 October 2013, Norwich (UK). Available on <u>http://www.rinse-europe.eu/best-practice-workshops-2</u>

Verloove F (2017) Manual of the alien plants of Belgium.

Withagen, A. (2015). Kleine waterteunisbloem op Tiengemeten. Presentation SEFINS workshop on invasive plant management, 11 June 2015, De Heen (The Netherlands). Available on http://www.rinse-europe.eu/invasive-plant-workshop-june-15

3.3.7 Parrot's feather *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (parelvederkruid, myriophylle du Brésil)





Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Parrot's feather was first observed in Belgium in 1983. From 1995 onwards, it rapidly spreads within the country due to multiple introductions via the aquatic nursery trade (used as a very popular aquarium and garden pond plant) and subsequent natural dispersal in the environment through garden waste and water currents (Verloove 2017). During the reference period 2000-2015, it was observed in 338 1x1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion, but only 18 squares in the Continental bioregion. Parrot's feather is mainly observed in nutrient-rich shallow and muddy stagnant (ponds, ditches, marshes, etc.) from which the emergent shoots arise. It is also found in slow flowing water; at least 20% of the plant patches recorded in Flanders are found along watercourses (Adriaens et al 2016). A very high frequency is observed in some river systems like the Demer, the Dijle and the Nete. The situation seems quite different in the Continental region, wherein small and isolated populations are mostly reported.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species distribution is not considered as exhaustive due to the fact that it is often planted in private garden ponds where its presence is not reported. Available data may also be skewed because of confusion with a cultivar of *Myriophyllum* with red stems traded under the name of *Myriophyllum 'brasiliensis'* that has not proved to be very invasive so far (Clarke & Newman 2002, Ghahramanzadeh et al 2013, van Valkenburg pers. com.).
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Infestation level in neighbouring countries is rather high and the plant is often found along transboundary watercourses and waterbodies in Netherlands and Northern France (Siflore and Waarneming.nl databases, Levy et al 2015).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	93	16
UTM 5km	160	17
UTM 1km	338	18
% 1km SAC	37%	82%
Clustering index	0.62	1.12

Management strategy – eradication

Methods and techniques: The management of this submerged evergreen water weed is a challenging task as (i) it may easily fragment into small shoot pieces that can regenerate new plants and (ii) it can take root in the sediment of water bodies up to several meters deep. For **new and small patches** (up to one hundred square meters) in shallow waters, the eradication strategy consists in hand-pulling, use of a tarpaulin, drawdown followed by sediment dredging or hand-pulling (Bailey & Calhoun 2008, Hussner et al 2017, Newman & Duenas 2017). Matting (light-blocking synthetic foil or geo-textile such as jute) is applied to eradicate small populations with little vegetation by achieving light deprivation and facilitating the regrowth of native species; this will often require additional removal of the surrounding fringe vegetation before matting can be applied. On other sites temporary drawdown is applied followed by mechanical dredging and removing the top sediment layer that contains the plant material. Where site conditions don't allow this, careful hand pulling is applied in minimizing plant fragmentation as much as possible. Dredging and

hand weeding are followed by 5 years of manual aftercare to remove any regrowth. Depending on the situation, drawdown may require active pumping (closed water bodies, ponds) or allowing water to pour out of water systems. During these procedures, adequate precautions are taken not to spread plant fragments in the sewage system or in other areas or water bodies e.g. through the use of biofilters and physical barriers. For larger infestations in deep water systems, the eradication strategy consists in plant mechanical uprooting using either hydro-venturi or an excavator with a clawed bucket, directly followed by a careful and intensive manual removal of viable plant fragments and manual post-harvest treatments during 5 successive years (Sarat et al 2015, Hussner et al 2017). The hydroventuri systems works by using a high pressure jet of water to uproot submerged aquatic plants and suck them to a collection point at the surface using a venture water entrainment device. Clawed buckets may also be used for uprooting and collecting plant material. Those mechanical control options may be better practised during the winter, when the plant is less active and regrowth is less likely, to reduce the effect on native vegetation and to reduce the competitive advantage of evergreen Myriophyllum in spring. The managed areas are fenced or netted off, to reduce plant spread downstream. Also, all cut plant material is removed and disposed off far away from freshwater to avoid new contaminations; harvested biomass is either dried, buried or composted. Biocontrol using grass carp or herbivorous insects and chemical treatments are not part of the strategy because of low palatability, limited efficiency and/or legal limitations in the Belgian context (see e.g. Delbart et al 2013, Newman & Duenas 2017).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 3 *Progressive elimination of the most dispersive populations* The spread limitation strategy aims at eradicating populations growing along water courses that may easily expand towards remote areas and avoiding spread from ponds to the river systems.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Populations are eradicated using similar techniques as those proposed in the former strategy. Spread dispersion from ponds is prevented by installing and maintaining physical barriers. Those ponds may additionally be subjected to environmental management techniques like shading, reduction of the water nutrient status and increased competition with native helophytes (EPPO 2014). At last, a biosecurity campaign is organised targeted at users and managers of harbours, rivers and water bodies in risk areas (i.e. checking boats and equipment and removing any plant material before use and moving from invaded to uninvaded areas).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of existing populations to be able to detect any further spread from them. A verification of the success of weed control is done in the same way as for the eradication strategy.

Results



The average feasibility of both eradication and spread limitation strategies was scored by experts between low and medium, with a strong variation between the scores provided by the different assessors regarding eradication. Similar scores were reached for the different management feasibility components in both strategies, except higher scores for effectiveness, practicality and cost in the spread limitation strategy compared to the eradication strategy.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants proposed to slightly adapt the spread limitation strategy (option 3), in order to add populations found in Natura 2000 sites and in public sites to those growing along water courses. Population control in Natura 2000 sites is especially important because the species may alter their conservation status.

Awareness rasing amongst home gardeners was considered as a priority action to launch because the species was often introduced in gardens ponds and should not be introduced on purpose or by accident (garden waste and sediments) in water courses and other water bodies. A better knowledge of plant distribution may be also reached in involving this target audience.

2. Recommendations for management

All workshop participants recommended to implement the **spread limitation strategy** (option 3). The eradication strategy was considered as poorly feasible because of widespread status, incomplete distribution data and low effectiveness of management techniques.

References

Bailey, J.E. & Calhoun, A.J.K. (2008). Comparison of Three Physical Management Techniques for Controlling Variable-leaf Milfoil in Maine Lakes. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management, 46:163–167.

Clarke, S., & Newman, J. R. (2002). Assessment of alien invasive aquatic weeds in the UK. In 13th Australian Weeds Conference: weeds - threats now and forever (pp. 142-145).

Delbart, E., Mahy, G., & Monty, A. (2013). Efficacité des méthodes de lutte contre le développement de cinq espèces de plantes invasives amphibies: Crassula helmsii, Hydrocotyle ranunculoides, Ludwigia grandiflora, Ludwigia peploides et Myriophyllum aquaticum (synthèse bibliographique). *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement*, *17*(1), 87.

EPPO (2014) PM 9/19 (1) Invasive alien aquatic plants. EPPO Bulletin 44 (3): 457–471.

Ghahramanzadeh R et al. (2013) Efficient distinction of invasive aquatic plant species from non-invasive related species using DNA barcoding. Molecular Ecology Resources 13: 21–31.

Hussner A, Champion P D, Francis R A (2012) Myriophyllum aquaticum (Vell.) Verdcourt (parrot feather). A Handbook of Global Freshwater Invasive Species: 103-111.

Hussner A et al (2017) Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. Aquatic Botany 136: 112–137.

Invexo (2013). Een efficiënte aanpak van invasieve exoten in en rond de waterloop. Eindrapport van de Invexo-casus 'Grote waternavel en andere invasieve (water)planten', Invexo. Link.

Levy V (coord), Watterlot W, Buchet J, Toussaint B & Hauguel J-C (2015) Plantes exotiques envahissantes du Nord-Ouest de la France : 30 fiches de reconnaissance et d'aide à la gestion. Centre régional de phytosociologie agréé Conservatoire botanique national de Bailleul, 140 pp.

Newman, J. & Duenas, M. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Myriophyllum heterophyllum. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Plant Protection Service and Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2011) Myriophyllum aquaticum: a guide to identification, risk assessment and management. Euphresco DeCLAIM report.

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Verloove F (2017) Manual of the alien plants of Belgium.

3.3.8 Broadleaf watermilfoil *Myriophyllum heterophyllum* (ongelijkbladig vederkruid, myriophylle hétérophylle)



©Leslie J. Mehrhoff (Wikimedia commons)

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Broadleaf watermilfoil is a rare, locally naturalised alien, probably overlooked, that has been observed in Belgium for the first time in 1993. It most likely was introduced as an aquarium plant and managed to escape from discarded aquarium contents. Meanwhile, it has been found in several canals and other artificial water courses in the northern parts of the province of Antwerp (core area) from 2007 onwards (De Beer & De Vlaeminck 2008). Here, populations are found along the shallow Dessel-Turnhout-Schoten canal (Turnhout) and the Antitankgracht (Sint-Job-in-'t Goor) where it is present since 1999 (Verloove 2017). Spread seems hitherto rather limited yet there are several other smaller populations in the area Schoten-Brecht-Beerse. Some populations, such as in Brecht (> 5000m²) and Brasschaat have been managed by the Flemish Environment Agency, using dredging and manual aftercare (pers. Comm. L. Van Craen). More recently, it was found in small ponds near Nassogne where it has been introduced on purpose (Verloove 2017). During the reference period 2000-2015, it was observed in 20 1x1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion, but only one in the Continental bioregion. It grows in eutrophic freshwater ponds, lakes, ditches, standing and slow flowing waters.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: This *Myriophyllum* often spreads vegetatively and probably only rarely flowers under Belgian conditions; at vegetative stage, detection and identification are difficult and the plant may be easily confused with other native and non-native species of the same genus which may lead to species under-detection.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Several populations of broadleaf watermilfoil are observed in Dutch water bodies near the Belgian border (Waarneming.nl database). No observation is reported so far from Nord-Pas-de-Calais although the plant is known from the Somme Department (Levy et al 2015).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	9	1
UTM 5km	11	1
UTM 1km	20	1
% 1km SAC	70%	-
Clustering index	1.03	1.03

Management strategy - eradication

Methods and techniques: The management of this submerged evergreen water weed is a challenging task as (i) it may easily fragment into small shoot pieces that can regenerate new plants and (ii) it can take root in the sediment of water bodies more than 2-3 meters deep (Department of Conservation and Recreation Massachusetts 2005). This submerged evergreen water weed may easily fragment into small shoot pieces that can regenerate new plants. For new and small patches (up to one hundred square meters) in shallow waters, the eradication strategy consists in hand-pulling, use of a tarpaulin, drawdown followed by sediment dredging or hand-pulling (Bailey & Calhoun 2008, Hussner et al 2017, Newman & Duenas 2017). Matting (light-blocking synthetic foil or geo-textile such as jute) is applied to eradicate small populations with little vegetation by achieving light deprivation and facilitating the regrowth

of native species; this will often require additional removal of the surrounding fringe vegetation before matting can be applied. On other sites temporary drawdown is applied followed by mechanical dredging and removing the top sediment layer that contains the plant material. Where site conditions don't allow this, careful hand pulling is applied in minimizing plant fragmentation as much as possible. Dredging and hand weeding are followed by 5 years of manual aftercare to remove any regrowth. Depending on the situation, drawdown may require active pumping (closed water bodies, ponds) or allowing water to pour out of water systems. During these procedures, adequate precautions are taken not to spread plant fragments in the sewage system or in other areas or water bodies e.g. through the use of biofilters and physical barriers. For larger infestations in deep water systems, the eradication strategy consists in plant mechanical uprooting using either hydro-venturi or an excavator with a clawed bucket, directly followed by a careful and intensive manual removal of viable plant fragments and manual post-harvest treatments during 5 successive years (van Valkenburg 2011, Sarat et al 2015, Hussner et al 2017). The hydro-venturi systems works by using a high pressure jet of water to uproot submerged aquatic plants and suck them to a collection point at the surface using a venture water entrainment device. Clawed buckets may also be used for uprooting and collecting plant material. Those mechanical control options may be better practised during the winter, when the plant is less active and regrowth is less likely, to reduce the effect on native vegetation and to reduce the competitive advantage of evergreen Myriophyllum in spring. The managed areas are fenced or netted off, to reduce plant spread downstream. Also, all cut plant material is removed and disposed off far away from freshwater to avoid new contaminations; harvested biomass is either dried, buried or composted. Biocontrol using grass carp or herbivorous insects and chemical treatments are not part of the strategy because of low palatability, limited efficiency and/or legal limitations in the Belgian context (see e.g. Delbart et al 2013, Newman & Duenas 2017).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Managed sites and those downstream remain under close surveillance over a 5-year period after the post-harvest treatments in order to detect any resurgence of the weed.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 -*Stand-still principle Containment into core area(s)* The spread limitation strategy aims at containing *M. heterophyllum* within its core area in the Antwerp province and rapidly eliminating satellite and new populations discovered outside it.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Populations outside the core area are eradicated using similar techniques as those proposed in the former strategy. Invaded ponds and waterways in the core area are subjected to environmental management techniques like shading, reduction of the water nutrient status and increased competition with native helophytes (EPPO 2014). At last, a biosecurity campaign is organised targeted at users and managers of harbours, rivers and water bodies in risk areas (i.e. checking boats and equipment and removing any plant material before use and moving from invaded to uninvaded areas).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of the core area to be able to detect any further spread from it. A verification of the success of weed control is done in the same way as for the eradication strategy.

Results



The average feasibility was scored between low and medium for the eradication strategy and between medium and high for the spread limitation strategy. The difference was due to higher scores for effectiveness, cost and impact in the spread limitation strategy compared to the eradication strategy.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants stressed that this species is very difficult to detect under its submerged vegetative form, which is mostly found in Belgium and can be easily confused with native *Myriophyllum* species. Enhanced training and surveillance is therefore needed to complete distribution data. Molecular techniques like e-DNA may potentially be used to reach that goal.

Additional information concerning plant distribution was provided by participants. The plant was recently found in Wallonia intermixed with *Lagarosiphon* in a deep flooded quarry near Floreffe. In Flanders, it was mostly found as extensive populations thriving in small canals with better water quality and vegetation than sites occupied by *Cabomba* in Limburg; it is present there since more than 10 years with no management undertaken so far.

Experience from the Netherlands shows that hydro-venturi (plant uprooting) is highly effective to control *M. heterophyllum* but . may adversely impact fish populations.

2. Recommendations for management

All workshop participants recommended to implement the **spread limitation strategy** (option 2). The eradication strategy was considered as poorly feasible because of incomplete distribution data and occurence of extensive populations difficult to control.

References

Bailey, J.E. & Calhoun, A.J.K. (2008). Comparison of Three Physical Management Techniques for Controlling Variable-leaf Milfoil in Maine Lakes. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management, 46:163–167.

De Beer D. & De Vlaeminck R. (2008) Myriophyllum heterophyllum, een nieuwe invasieve waterplant. Dumortiera 94: 8-13.

Delbart, E., Mahy, G., & Monty, A. (2013). Efficacité des méthodes de lutte contre le développement de cinq espèces de plantes invasives amphibies: *Crassula helmsii*, *Hydrocotyle ranunculoides*, *Ludwigia grandiflora*, *Ludwigia peploides* et *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (synthèse bibliographique). *Biotechnologie*, *Agronomie*, *Société et Environnement*, *17*(1), 87.

Department of Conservation and Recreation Massachusetts (2005). Rapid response plan for variable watermilfoil in Massachusetts. Prepared for the Massachusetts Department of Conservation and Recreation 251 Causeway Street, Suite 700 Boston, MA 02114-2104

EPPO (2014) PM 9/19 (1) Invasive alien aquatic plants. EPPO Bulletin 44 (3): 457–471.

Hussner A et al (2017) Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. *Aquatic Botany* 136: 112–137.

Levy V, Watterlot W, Buchet J, Toussaint B & Hauguel J-C (2015) Plantes exotiques envahissantes du Nord-Ouest de la France : 30 fiches de reconnaissance et d'aide à la gestion. Centre régional de phytosociologie agréé Conservatoire botanique national de Bailleul, 140 pp.

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Verloove, F. (2017). Manual of the alien plants of Belgium.

Pot, R. (2007). Over de aanpak van de woekering van Ongelijkbladig vederkruid en Waterwaaier in het Oranje-kanaal. Rapport in opdracht van Waterschap Velt en Vecht en Waterschap Weest en Rieden. Oosterhesselen.

Hussner A. & Krause T. (2007). Zur Biologie des aquatischen Neophyten Myriophyllum heterophyllum Michaux in Düsseldorfer Stadtgewässern. Acta Biologica Benrodis 14: 67-76.

Newman, J. & Duenas, M. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Myriophyllum heterophyllum. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

van Valkenburg, J. (2011). Cabomba caroliniana and Myriophyllum heterophyllum a nightmare combination. Robson Meeting February 2011. <u>www.robsonmeeting.org/valkenburg.pdf</u>.

3.4 Terrestrial plants

3.4.1 Himalayan balsam *Impatiens glandulifera* (reuzenbalsemien, Balsamine de L'Himalaya)



©Wouter Van Landuyt

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Himalayan balsam is very widespread all over the country and extremely common in riparian areas (Adriaens *et al* 2009, Vandevoorde et al. 2017, Aimont 2014). During the reference period 2000-2015, it was observed in 2488 1x1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion, and 903 squares in the Continental bioregion. Himalayan balsam populations are mostly found in riparian vegetation along rivers (see map). They are also found in wet disturbed sites, wet meadows and along forest edges. The size of *Impatiens glandulifera* colonies may be very impressive and often exceeds 1.000 individuals.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Species distribution is considered as rather exhaustive due to active monitoring and large size and high detectability during flowering time in summer. However, the plant can be inconspicuous until it flowers late in the season (Tanner 2017).
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Invasion level in all neighbouring countries (Netherlands, Germany, Luxembourg and France) is extremely high.



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	201	98
UTM 5km	620	247
UTM 1km	2488	903
% 1km SAC	39 %	91 %
Clustering index	0.79	0.64

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The Himalayan balsam is a tall annual herbaceous plant that is very prolific and exclusively propagated by seeds. Seeds are disseminated over long distance by water and with sediments. The plant has no persistent seed bank but there are indication that some seeds may persist for 18 months. It is able to rapidly form large populations from a few individuals, which implies that a high management efficiency (destruction > 99% of individuals on a yearly basis) is needed to reach eradication goals (Wadsworth et al 2000). Due to the downstream transportation of seeds, control measures start at the upper reaches of river catchment areas and move on downstream in the whole floodplain. Manual pulling (small colonies) and mechanical mowing (hand-held brush cutter or agricultural machinery for large colonies) are used as eradication techniques, applied locally at the beginning of the flowering and repeated 4 weeks and 8 weeks later in order to destroy as much specimen as possible and avoid seed setting. Shoot cutting is performed as close to the ground as possible to avoid plant regrowth (Delbart et al. 2010;

Tanner 2017). This technique is applied during at least 3 successive years. Where grasslands are invaded, intensive grazing by sheep or cattle is used as a complementary management technique. Due to the strong regeneration ability of the plant, all plant material is removed and stockpiled or composted away from the floodplain. Herbicide application is <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy because of non-target effects and legal limitations in the Belgian context, especially along watercourses. Similarly, use of biocontrol agents (rust fungus *Puccinia komarovii*) is <u>not</u> part of the strategy because legal limitations and uncertain efficiency (Tanner 2017).

 <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regrowth of Himalayan balsam is monitored and controlled at the end of each growing season and during subsequent years by dedicated personnel. Eradication is considered to be achieved when no more growth occurs for at least 2 to 3 years.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

• <u>Aim</u>: Option 4 Maintenance of pest free areas

The spread limitation strategy aims at avoiding propagule propagation that would result in further dispersion of the species. Care is taken to avoid that it may reach uninvaded areas, especially upstream zones in river basins. Uninvaded areas are managed as pest free areas. They are subjected to (i) dedicated biosecurity measures, (ii) management actions aiming to increase habitat resistance to invasion, (iii) increased surveillance effort and (iv) rapid eradication actions after new plant detection. Invaded downstream zones nearby pest free areas are managed every two years to reduce seed contamination risk (buffer zones).

- Methods and techniques: Dedicated biosecurity measures are installed to prevent establishment of new populations following the human-mediated dispersal of plants to pest free areas : transport of seeds through the transfer of sediment material, human activity (incl. fishing clothing) and by vehicles is avoided. Equipment and machinery are cleaned to remove plant fragments and sediments before moving to an uninfected area. Care is taken to reduce as much as possible soil compaction, clear cuttings and disturbance near the riverbanks to reinforce their resistance to invasive plants; grazing or mowing is performed/promoted in grasslands along uninvaded riverbeds to reduce the likelihood of plants moving in. Increased surveillance effort is provided in pest free areas to allow a rapid eradication of new plant colonies, using similar techniques as those proposed in the eradication strategy. Additionally, Himalayan balsam patches found in riparian habitats within a buffer zone of 3 kilometer long lower down the pest free areas are submitted to a dedicated management plan. It consists in destroying plants by manual pulling or mechanical mowing applied once during summer time every two years.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: regrowth of the plant is carefully monitored and controlled after rapid eradication actions at the end of the growing seasons and during subsequent years within pest free areas.



The average feasibility score of eradication is between low and medium; and medium for spread limitation. Strategies differed on average for scores given for cost, impact and acceptability.

Results

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

The group extensively discussed on the option to be proposed for spread limitation strategy. 'Pest free area' alone did not seem satisfactory when the species is fully absent from an area, as it likely corresponds to areas not suitable for the species. Participants rather suggested 'pest free areas of high conservation value', taking into account historical efforts. A coordination on which protected areas should be made free of *Impatiens* is necessary (which habitats should or should not be included). It is important to determine which upstream contaminated but not protected area should be treated in order to free the protected area downstream. A sustained and assured effort by all managers throughout the area is necessary.

There is a need to rely on expertise gained from years in managing this species locally.

2. Recommendations for management

<u>Spread limitation strategy</u> is consensual among participants. The option recommended is '<u>pest free areas of high conservation</u> value'

References

Adriaens T, Van Landuyt W, Denys L & Packet J (2009) Advies met betrekking tot in een beheerregeling op te nemen uitheemse en invasieve water- en oeverplantensoorten. Advies INBO.A.2009.269.

Aimont H, Mahy G & Monty A (2014) Etat des lieux de l'occurrence d'espèces végétales exotiques dans les habitats rivulaires d'intérêt biologique et patrimonial. Rapport final Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech.

Delbart, E., Pieret, N., & Mahy, G. (2010). Les trois principales plantes exotiques envahissantes le long des berges des cours d'eau et plans d'eau en Région wallonne: description et conseils de gestion mécanique et chimique. Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech.

Tanner, R. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Impatiens glandulifera*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Wadsworth R.A., Collingham Y.C., Willis S.G., Huntley B. & Hulme P.E. (2000) Simulating the spread and management of alien riparian weeds: are they out of control? Journal of Applied Ecology 37: 28-38.

3.4.2 Common milkweed Asclepias syriaca (zijdeplant, asclépiade de Syrie)



©Stefaan Reynaer (ecopedia)

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in BE: In Belgium, Asclepias syriaca is considered rare and usually ephemeral or temporarily persistent species, mostly an escape from cultivation in private gardens (Verloove, 2017). This species was first seen on a ground heap in Lichtaart in 1987 and could be slightly increasing recently (seen for instance in Begijnendijk, Dessel), possibly becoming naturalized locally (van der Meijden 2005, Verloove 2017). Furthermore recorded against a fence in the port of Antwerp in 1995. Observed several times as an escape on wasteland in Brussel in 2004 (not shown on the map). In the continental bioregion, a well-established population (several tens of plants) has been recorded in a road verge in Wandre (not shown on the map) since 2007, obviously as an escape or throw-out from a nearby garden. Furthermore, recently, a large patch was discovered (10m², > 100 flowering plants) in Etalle in the Gaume region (not shown on the map).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Reliable. No confusion with other species in Belgium.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: The species is recorded in Northern France from a few locations near Douais, Laon and Chauny. In Germany, the closest GBIF occurrence is in Aachen. In the Netherland, common milkweed is found in the dunes where it can form dense stands of vegetation. Elsewhere it also occurs on sandy soils, agricultural fields, open forests, along roads and on wasteland (QBank 2017) the closest GBIF occurrence is along the Belgian border at Grevenbicht. An additional observation is found in Maasgouw (waarnemingen.nl).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	3	0
Utm 5km	4	0
Utm 1km	4	0
% 1km SAC	0 %	-
Clustering index	3.56	-

- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: A. syriaca is a perennial herb species showing long-spreading rhizomes (CABI 2010). Shoots are produced from adventitious root buds in April-May. Horizontal and vertical roots may reach 3,8 m. The species is wind pollinated and can produce large numbers of seeds which facilitates dispersal over a long distance (White, 1996). The eradication strategy for this species is glyphosate application to all plants recorded. Glyphosate is applied in June to act on early bud stage (<u>Bhowmik PC, 1982</u>). A derogation on the prohibition of use of herbicides in areas of public service or along watercourses is requested when necessary with competent authorities.

Other types of chemical methods are <u>not</u> part of the strategy as they have not proven to be effective on the root system of the plants (NAPPO, 2003). Removal of stalks by cutting is known to stimulates sprouting from adventitious underground buds from rootstock. Physical removal of specimen including their underground system is unlikely to provide good results because it is difficult to completely remove the rootstock (Lapin 2017). Roots fragments resulting from management actions generates new individuals (CABI 2010). As a result, these actions are <u>not</u> considered relevant here.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The patch area and its surroundings are monitored and any regrowth or seedlings are eradicated.

As the species is cultivated in private gardens, dedicated communication actions are done close to the escape locations in order to convince private owners to eradicate the species in their garden.

- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches.

The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of this species in Belgium to the few records already documented.

 <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The surroundings of the patches are regularly and continuously monitored in the long term in order to react as quickly as possible if the small populations start expanding. In case this happens, the strategy is to eradicate the new plants using glyphosate application.

As the species is cultivated in private gardens, dedicated communication actions are done close to the escape locations in order to convince private owners to eradicate the species in their garden to avoid further spread of the species in the environment.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: These newly eradicated individuals and their surroundings are monitored and any new seedlings are eradicated.



The average feasibility score is between medium and high for eradication and medium for spread limitation. In both strategies, the average score for effectiveness was between medium and high. The cost was scored between high and very high on average. Reintroduction was scored between low and medium for the eradication strategy and between very low and low for the spread limitation strategy.

Outcome of the workshop

Results

1. General considerations

The participants confirmed the existence of four populations in Flanders and one problematic population in Wallonia. Among those, the population currently present in Gent requires eradication. The risk associated with dispersal increase due to management is a concern for managers. Participants questioned the use of herbicides (glyphosate in particular) in urban environments and riparian habitats. In these habitats, mechanical treatments such as hoeing or hand-pulling can reduce the risk of further dispersal. Participants also questioned the reliability of distribution data and possible underestimation of current distribution considering the species is still poorly known and recognized.

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the eradication strategy. Attention must be paid to use of herbicides in urban areas and riparian habitats. This species must be focussed by surveillance and efficient prevention.

References

Bhowmik PC, 1982. Herbicide control of common milkweed (Asclepias syriaca). Weed Science, 30:349-351.

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2010) Datasheet : Asclepias syriaca. Downloaded from http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/7249 on 27-07-2017.

Lapin, K. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Asclepias syriaca. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

NAPPO, 2003. Pest fact sheet Asclepias syriaca L. North American Plant Protection Organization (NAPPO). http://www.nappo.org/PRA-sheets/Asclepiassyriaca.pdf

Q-Bank (2017) Asclepias syriaca L. fact sheet. http://www.q-bank.eu/Plants/Factsheets/Asclepias_syriaca_EN.pdf Accessed on 07/09/2017.

Van der Meijden R. (2005) Heukels' Flora van Nederland (23e druk). Wolters-Noordhoff, Groningen: 685 p.

Verloove F. (2017) Asclepias syriaca. On: Manual of the Alien Plants of Belgium. Botanic Garden of Meise, Belgium. At: alienplantsbelgium.be, accessed 19/07/2017.

White DJ, 1996. Status, distribution, and potential impact from noxious weed legislation. Report prepared for the Canadian Wildlife Service, Ottawa, Canada. Status, distribution, and potential impact from noxious weed legislation. Report prepared for the Canadian Wildlife Service, Ottawa, Canada. http://www.monarchwatch.com/read/articles/canweed1.htm

3.4.3 Eastern baccharis Baccharis halimifolia (struikaster, séneçon en arbre)



©Eric Wirtz

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: The species benefited from urban sprawl along the Belgian coast and the demand for plants adapted to the coastal climate for plantations in public greenery, along roads and tramways (e.g. in De Panne), on roundabouts and in private gardens. Eastern baccharis has spread throughout the entire coastline since 1997 (Rappé, 2006; Rappé et al., 2004). Currently, based on field surveys in 46 nature reserves (Provoost et al. 2012, 2015), it occurs in 11 % of Belgian dune areas and the infected area in total is <100 m2 (unpublished data). It is mostly found in (sub)urban environments and fringes of nature areas, where it grows in grassland or open scrub. Baccharis halimifolia shows a particular preference for salty environments such as the banks and upper salt marsh of the Yzer estuary in Nieuwpoort or the green beach in the 'Bay of Heist' on the east coast (mostly publicly managed reserves but also many smaller stands on private property) (Provoost & Adriaens, 2011). Potential habitat is present as Atlantic salt meadows (Zwin, Uitkerkse polder, Scheldt estuary), an annex I habitat. The species starts growing as individual shrubs but can form an extended dense scrub. Outside coastal areas, there are some isolated Baccharis bushes that mostly represent planted shrubs, garden escapes and road planting (the plants withstand salt spray). It is only rarely found in agricultural areas. For some of those locations it is unclear whether the plants produce seedlings. The species is absent in the wild in the continental region, but planted Baccharis stands also exist in the continental region in parks and gardens. Baccharis halimifolia is currently already being managed in some nature reserves e.g. it is considered eradicated from the Bay of Heist and Uitkerke.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The plant is unmistakable by the form of its leaves. Along the coast, the species is included in the floristic monitoring schemes, so the distribution is believed to be representative.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: in the Netherlands individual plants are found only in a few locations (Zeeland province), but the species has no established populations. In the past it disappeared spontaneously in some places (van Valkenburg et al. 2014) and some plants have been actively removed by NVWA (NVWA 2016). In France, it is widely distributed along the entire Atlantic and Provence coast (Fried et al. 2016). Along the Atlantic coast, it reaches the Belgian border and occurs in nature reserves in Nord-Pas-De-Calais such as in Wimereux and Ambleteuse. Not in Luxemburg (neobiota.lu).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	13	0
Utm 5km	22	0
Utm 1km	47	0
% 1km SAC	70 %	-
Clustering index	0.52	-

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The strategy is to remove all patches of *Baccharis* in the coastal zone and isolated patches in the Scheldt estuary, including the ones planted in cultivated areas such as along roadsides, in public greenery and in gardens etc. *Baccharis halimifolia* produces masses of small seeds which are easily dispersed by wind and water over long distances. It has a long lived seed bank expected to persist for a minimum of 2 years. Young plants are year-round manually removed by hand pulling of the entire plant including the roots. This is best done when the soil is moist, which facilitates total removal of the plant. Old shrubs (>1m) have to be removed before flowering to prevent the spread of pollen. Bigger shrubs, for which manual removal is impossible, can be removed mechanically using an excavator to pull out entire plants from the soil. They can also be cut with scissors after which glyphosate is applied on the stumps (glyphosate 36% diluted in oil in a proportion of 1:1) (Ihobe 2014). A derogation on the prohibition of use

of herbicides in areas of public service or along watercourses is requested when necessary with competent authorities. All management interventions are performed before flowering to prevent the spread of pollen. As the species is still casual in the wild in the Netherlands eradication is preferably performed northeast to southwest along the Belgian coast. In combating this species, it is extremely important to control the contamination of adjacent areas given the simple distribution of the species via water and wind. In addition, it is crucial to thoroughly clean machines and materials to prevent further spread. If possible, the management waste is best treated by controlled burning to prevent regrowth. If this is not possible, dead plants can be stacked on a heap, taking into account that root material does not touch the bottom and inflorescences are placed at the bottom of the heap. Continued aftercare is necessary in light of the strong regrowth via root runners and seedlings (Miller & Skaradek, 2002).

Mowing or cutting *Baccharis* stands before bloom targets only aboveground plant material and does not ensure permanent removal. The same is true for management consisting of cutting inflorescences. These methods are therefore <u>not</u> part of the strategy.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Manual aftercare is needed on treated sites during at least 3 years to remove regrowth because eastern Baccharis has a high resprouting ability following mechanical damage (Fried et al., 2016; Weber, 2003) and the seed bank is expected to persist for a minimum of 2 years.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still principle with core area(s) The spread limitation strategy aims at containing *Baccharis* within its core area along the Belgian coast (dunes & polder area) and avoid any further spread elsewhere, through the limitation of propagule production and rapid eradication of any new patch discovered outside the core area. In case this proves feasible, the core area can be reduced by eradicating some satellite populations.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Any new population that pops up outside the core area is destroyed using the techniques described in the eradication strategy (manual/mechanical removal with aftercare). Additionally, existing populations along the coast and in the polder area are managed to prevent flowering and seed production. Here, *Baccharis halimifolia* is subjected to repeated (2 times/year) mowing to prevent the species from setting seed and producing fruits (Fried et al. 2016). Patches of *Baccharis* planted along the coast along roadsides, in public greenery are equally managed. In private gardens, garden owners are stimulated to install mowing regime to prevent flowering or to remove their plants.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: On treated sites outside the core area where eradication was applied, manual aftercare
 is needed during at least 3 years to remove regrowth because eastern Baccharis has a high resprouting ability
 following mechanical damage (Fried et al., 2016; Weber, 2003).

Results



The average feasibility score of eradication and spread limitation scenarios is between medium and high. Both strategies showed high scores for the different criteria, except for likelihood of reintroduction which scored low

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

The species is mainly problematic in Flanders. The group raised the potential under detection of the species in Wallonia and in Flanders far from the seaside. The species may therefore require surveillance in sandy habitats. Participants encourage actions in gardens to ensure low propagule pressure in nearby natural habitats, in particular flower cutting before seed production

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the the <u>eradication strategy</u>. Legal basis for access to property is a requirement for ensuring eradication efficiency.

References

Fried G., Caño L., Brunel S., Beteta E., Charpentier A., Herrera M., Starfinger U., Panetta F.D. (2016). Monographs on invasive plants in Europe: *Baccharis halimifolia* L. *Botany Letters*:1-27.

Ihobe (Sociedad pública de gestión ambiental). 2014. Manual de gestión de *Baccharis halimifolia* [Management Manual of *Baccharis halimifolia*]. Bilbao: Ihobe SA, Sociedad Pública de Gestión Ambiental, Gobierno Vasco.

Miller C., Skaradek W. (2002). USDA Plant fact sheet: Eastern Baccharis, *Baccharis halimifolia* L. <u>http://plantsusdagov/factsheet/pdf/fs_bahapdf</u>.

Provoost S., Adriaens T. (2011). Advies betreffende beheer, bestrijding en verdere aanpak van enkele invasieve plantensoorten in de kustduinen. Adviezen van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.2466.

Provoost S., Van Gompel W., Vercruysse E., Packet J., Denys L. (2012). Permanente Inventarisatie van de Natuurreservaten aan de Kust, PINK II. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.R.2015.8890955.

Provoost S, Van Gompel W, Vercruysse E, Packet J en Denys L (2015). Permanente Inventarisatie van de Natuurreservaten aan de Kust, PINK II. Eindrapport periode 2012-2014. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2015 (8890955). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Rappé G. (2006). *Baccharis halimifolia* L. In: Van Landuyt W., Hoste I., Vanhecke L., Van den Bremt P., Vercruysse E., De Beer D. (editors). Atlas van de flora van Vlaanderen en het Brussels Gewest. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Nationale Plantentuin van België & Flo.Wer. p 176.

Rappé G., Verloove F., Van Landuyt W., Vercruysse E. (2004). *Baccharis halimifolia* (Asteraceae) aan de Belgische kust. *Dumortiera* 82(18):18-26.

Van Landuyt W., Hoste I., Vanhecke L., Van den Bremt P., Vercruysse E., De Beer D. (2006). Atlas van de Flora van Vlaanderen en het Brussels Gewest. Brussel: Instituut voor natuur- en bosonderzoek, Nationale Plantentuin van België & Flo.Wer.

van Valkenburg J., Duistermaat H., Meerman H. (2014). Baccharis halimifolia L. in Nederland: waar blijft de Struikaster? Gorteria 37(1):25-30.

Weber E. (2003). Invasive plant species of the world : a reference guide to environmental weeds. Wallingford, UK.: CABI.

3.4.4 Giant rhubarb Gunnera tinctoria (reuzenrabarber, rhubarbe géante du Chili)



©Stan Shebs (Wikimedia commons)

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in BE</u>: Not currently established in the wild in Belgium.
 The invasion scenario is that at the point of detection there are three patches of plants reported in a wet meadow along the river Yser (Atlantic bioregion). The situation is the result of an escape from a nearby garden that dispersed downstream resulting in 3 patches of 5 to 10 square meters each. At the time of detection the plant patches were estimated to be 2-3 years old and started to form flower spikes.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: *Gunnera tinctoria* may easily be confused with *G. manicata* Linden ex André, a closely related species in the subgenus *Panke* from Brazil that is also widely cultivated. This is also a large leaved species (CABI, 2008). Overall, detectability of both species is good so established populations would probably not remain undetected for a long time except maybe on private property.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u> : In France, the species is known from a few locations in Basse Normandie and Bretagne on coastal cliffs, waterways, roadsides, wet meadows.
- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u> :

The eradication strategy of the three patches includes manual/mechanical methods (Williams, 2005; CABI, 2008). Removal and destruction of all flower heads is done as soon as possible before seed production. Then, plants and their rhizome system are removed using manual or mechanical cutting. Particular attention is paid to remove the entire rhizome because small pieces of live rhizome can re-sprout. As the species is cultivated in private gardens, dedicated communication actions are done close to the escape locations in order to convince private owners to eradicate the species in their garden.

Herbicide (e.g. glyphosate) application is <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of legal restrictions on the use along watercourses.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>

The patch and its surroundings are monitored and any regrowth or seedlings are eradicated. Follow-up monitoring of the eradication site and the surroundings is undertaken during the next 10 years after eradication as *G. tinctoria* forms a large and persistent seed bank (Gioria & Osborne's 2009).

- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a few patches.

The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *G. tinctoria* in Belgium to this few patches, avoiding the production of seeds that might result in further dispersion along the highway.

- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Removal and destruction of all flower heads is done as soon as possible before seeds are
 produced. As the species is cultivated in private gardens, dedicated communication actions are done close to the
 escape locations in order to convince private owners to destroy flower heads or eradicate the species from their
 garden.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The surroundings are regularly monitored. In case new individuals are found, the methods used are the same as for the eradication strategy. Follow-up monitoring during at least ten years must be undertaken as *G. tinctoria* forms a large and persistent seed bank (Gioria & Osborne's 2009).



The average feasibility score of eradication and spread limitation strategies is between medium and high. In both strategies, the average scores range from high to very high for cost, impact and acceptability; and between medium and high for practicality. Effectiveness scores between medium and high for the eradication strategy and between medium and low for the spread limitation strategy. For both strategies, opportunity scored low and likelihood of reintroduction scores between low and medium.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

This species is a good example of species for which the legal basis for management must probably be enlarged to ensure access to private property, including private gardens. Potentially support to eradication in gardens. Participants wondered what to do with species present in gardens but not yet in natural habitats ? No consensus was reached about the urgency to act in gardens. Participants questioned the possibility of anticipating budget required for management for species still absent from the territory and raised the importance of surveillance for species not yet present in Belgium and asked for increased recognition capacity of field workers.

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the the eradication strategy as as a guiding principle of the EU reg for species not yet present in BE.

References

Gioria, M., Osborne, B. (2009) The impact of *Gunnera tinctoria* (Molina) Mirbel invasions on soil seed bank communities. *Journal of Plant Ecology* 2 (3): 153 – 167

Gioria, M. and Osborne, B. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Gunnera tinctoria*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2008) Datasheet : *Gunnera tinctoria.* Downloaded from <u>http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/107826</u> on 31-07-2017.

Williams et al. 2005 Chilean rhubarb (*Gunnera tinctoria*): biology, ecology and conservation impacts in New Zealand. Taranaki Regional Council, 2003. Chilean rhubarb (Gunnera tinctoria)

3.4.5 Giant hogweed *Heracleum mantegazzianum* (reuzenberenklauw, berce du Caucase)



©Dave Vanhee

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Giant hogweed has been planted in Belgium for horticulture and apiculture since the end of WWII. Today, it is widely spread all over Belgium, both in Atlantic and Continental bioregions, with large number of patches found in some river basins such as the Leie, Brugse Polders, Boven-Schelde, Dijle, Meuse, Amblève, Leie, Ourthe, Vesdre and Zenne. During the reference period 2000-2015, it was observed in 1965 1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion, and 535 squares in the Continental bioregion. Giant hogweed populations are mostly found along rivers, roads and railways, where a clumped distribution is often observed. Frequent detection on earth embankments indicate that movements of soils contaminated with seeds are involved in plant spread. Most populations are small-sized and include less than 100 individuals. Due to plant control by land managers and landowners, population density/number is decreasing with time in some locations, e.g. in Wallonia (giant Hogweed regional action plan) (Branquart et al. 2011). In Flanders, there is no coordinated control at regional level, but systematic removal is applied by most public authorities (municipalities, cities, water managers). In West-Flanders, an eradication programme is coordinated at provincial level and involves the rat catchers for surveillance. Private owners can receive a letter from the governor with a request for cooperation
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Active monitoring and high plant detectability prior to reproduction (EPPO 2009b; Pergl 2017) result in good knowledge of the species distribution. However, the distribution map presented here and based on cumulative data is overestimated considering active management actions performed in the Belgian territory for the last few years
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Invasion level in neighbouring countries is high, especially in Germany where the species is long established (Thiele & Otte 2008). Plant density is also high in Nord-Pas-de-Calais and in the south of the Netherlands (Siflore and Waarneming.nl databases). Frequency is however lower in Luxembourg, where giant hogweed is subjected to a management plan since 2009 (Krippel & Richarz 2013).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	207	88
UTM 5km	597	190
UTM 1km	1965	535
% 1km SAC	26 %	76 %
Clustering index	0.77	0.68

- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - Methods and techniques: giant hogweed is a monocarpic plant species producing flowers and seeds only once at the end of its life cycle, i.e. in the third year of growth under favourable ecological conditions. A large seed bank can build up in the soil, remaining viable for at least five years (EPPO 2009a). Therefore, the eradication strategy consists in preventing the adult plants from flowering and to prevent seed setting for a period long enough (7 years) to be sure any remaining seeds are not viable. Root cutting of flowering plants and application of systemic herbicides in May-June (before seed production) are used as eradication techniques for giant hogweed, applied locally once or twice a year during at least 5-7 consecutive years in order to fully exhaust the soil seed bank. Root cutting of flowering plants at least 10 cm below the soil is favoured as much as possible except where its efficiency is reduced, e.g. on stony and shallow soils. Herbicide application early in the season (for which an exemption on the use of herbicides can be

acquired) or soil ploughing/milling is favoured to eradicate large populations (> 1,000 plants), for which root cutting is considered too labour-intensive (Nielsen et al 2005). Equipment and machinery are cleaned before moving to an uninfected area to prevent the movement of seed contaminated soil. Removed plants can be stockpiled directly on site after cutting the stems in 3-4 fragments and destroying or exporting inflorescences to avoid seed production.

A derogation on the prohibition of use of herbicides in areas of public service or along watercourses is requested when necessary with competent authorities.

Whole plants can be also exported towards industrial composting sites. Biocontrol, mowing, grazing and umbel removal are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy because those techniques are considered poorly effective to kill the plants and may lead to secondary growth and seed production (Pergl 2017).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regrowth of hogweed is monitored and controlled at the end of each growing season and during subsequent years to avoid any new seed set. Eradication is considered to be achieved when there are no signs of plant growth. Since the seeds can survive for some years in the soil, follow-up monitoring is undertaken for at least 7 years, corresponding to field observations for not finding viable seeds in fields.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 3 Progressive elimination of the most dispersive populations The spread limitation strategy aims at eradicating dispersive populations growing along water courses, roads and railways that may easily expand towards remote areas and at limiting seed production by the plant elsewhere. When growing far from transport lines, dispersal is considered limited as 90% of fruits fall within a radius of a few meters from the mother plant (Nielsen et al 2005).
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Techniques similar to those used in the eradication strategy are applied to the most dispersive populations. Seed production by isolated and less dispersive colonies is reduced by cutting only flowering plants at mid-flowering stage (in this case, the production of new flowers will be reduced thanks to competition with remaining vegetative plants) (Nielsen et al. 2005).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regrowth of hogweed along transport lines is monitored and controlled at the end of each growing season as described in the eradication strategy.

Results



The average feasibility score of eradication and spread limitation strategies is between medium and high. In both strategies, the average scores of effectiveness was high; between medium and high for practicality, impact, acceptability and opportunity. Cost was scores between low and medium and the likely of reintroduction was scores low as well.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

The Walloon 'Plan Berce' was described in details to group participants. Technically, 5 to 7 years of action as stated in the scenario appeared to be rather short based on participants experience: 7 years is rather a minimum as the number of plants is decreased but it does not allow for total population eradication. Root cutting of flowering plants 10 cm below the soil ('Coupe sous le collet') is not enough either. This should ideally be done around 15-20 cm. This technique is also applicable for large populations, no use of herbicides is necessary. Based on the experience from Wallonia, some participants feel eradication seems feasible at the Belgian scale. Other participants suggested 'Impact mitigation' rather than spread limitation should be considered as an alternative strategy.

As no consensus was achieved for common recommendations, a vote was held with the following results :

- Eradication : 8/14
- Impact mitigation : 2/14
- Abstention : 4/14

2. Recommendations for management

The majority of participants recommended the eradication strategy. Impact mitigation was seen as an alternative strategy tob e considered by some other participants.

References

Branquart E, Barvaux C, Büchler E (2011) Plan de gestion coordonné des populations d'espèces invasives en Wallonie : 1/ La berce du Caucase (*Heracleum mantegazzianum*). Cellule interdépartementale Espèces invasives, Service Public de Wallonie, 28 pp.

EPPO (2009a) EPPO data sheet on Invasive Alien Plants: *Heracleum mantegazzianum, Heracleum sosnowskyi* and *Heracleum persicum*. EPPO Bulletin 39: 489–499.

EPPO (2009b) PM 9/9: Heracleum mantegazzianum, H. sosnowskyi and H. persicum: national regulatory control systems. EPPO Bulletin 39, 465–470.

Krippel Y, Richarz F (2013) Verbreitung und Management von *Heracleum mantegazzianum* Somm. et Lev. (Apiaceae, Spermatophyta) in der Obersauerregion in Luxemburg. Bulletin de la Société des naturalistes luxembourgeois 114 : 3-13.

Nielsen C, Ravn HP, Cock M, Nentwig W (eds) (2005) The giant hogweed best practice manual. Guidelines for the management and control of an invasive alien weed in Europe. Forest and Landscape Denmark, Hoersholm, Denmark. http://www.ibot.cas.cz/personal/pysek/pdf/Giant_alien_uk.pdf

Pergl J (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Heracleum mantegazzianum*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Thiele J, Otte A (2008) Invasion patterns of *Heracleum mantegazzianum* in Germany on the regional and landscape scales. J Nat Conserv 16: 61–71.

3.4.6 Persian hogweed *Heracleum persicum* (Perzische berenklauw, Berce de Perse)



©Krister Brandser

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in Belgium</u>: Not currently established in the wild in Belgium. The invasion scenario is that at the point of detection one patch of plants (about 30 square meters) is reported on the roadside of a highway under renovation near Liège. This unintentional introduction is the result of seeds being transported in soil imported for road works.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: *Heracleum mantegazzianum* and *H. sosnowskyi,* are morphologically (Nielsen et al., 2005; EPPO, 2009; Fröberg, 2010) and genetically (Jahodová et al., 2007; Maras, 2008) close to *H. persicum*. As a result there is a risk of misidentification and underestimation in BE.
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries : The species seems absent from neighbouring countries
- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - Methods and techniques: Unlike other giant hogweeds, *H. persicum* is polycarpic perennial and can reproduce vegetatively when sexual reproduction fails. Thus, *H. persicum* may demand a longer period for eradication as the plant lives longer than other invasive Heracleum and may be more resistant as it is able to store more nutrient reserves in the root system (Fremstad & Elven, 2006). However, mechanical or physical methods that efficiently uproot the plant should help control species. The eradication strategy of this patch therefore includes manual and mechanical methods, as suggested by Nielsen et al. (2005). Root cutting of flowering plants in early spring before seed production are used as eradication techniques, applied locally twice a year during at least 10 consecutive years in order to fully exhaust the soil seed bank. Root cutting of at least 10 cm below the soil layer is favoured as much as possible except where its efficiency is reduced, e.g. on stony and shallow soils. Equipment and machinery are cleaned to remove soil before moving to uninfected area. Plants are adequately disposed of to avoid seed production and burns to managers and the general public. They can be stockpiled directly on site after cutting the stems in 3-4 fragments and destroying or exporting inflorescences to avoid seed production. Whole plants can be also exported towards industrial composting sites.

Biocontrol, mowing, grazing and umbel removal are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy because those techniques leave the root system intact and are therefore considered poorly effective to kill the plants. Also, they may lead to secondary growth and seed production (CABI, 2015). Herbicides) are <u>not</u> part of the strategy since the patch is relatively small.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The patch area and its surroundings are being monitored and any regrowth or seedlings are eradicated. Follow-up monitoring of the eradication site for at least five years is undertaken (Nielsen et al., 2005).

Regrowth of *H. persicum* is monitored and controlled at the end of each growing season and during subsequent years to avoid any new seed set. Since the seeds can survive for some years in the soil, follow-up monitoring is undertaken for at least 7 years, corresponding to field observations for not finding viable seeds in fields.

- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches.

The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *H. persicum* in Belgium to this single patch, avoid the production of seeds that might result in further dispersion along the highway.

• <u>Methods and techniques</u> :

As *H. persicum* is known for primary, secondary and tertiary umbels, inflorescence removal before seeds are produced is required several times during the growing season. Management waste are exported and destroyed or burnt on site.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The surroundings are regularly monitored. In case new individuals are found, the methods used are the same as for the eradication strategy : mechanical removal and uprooting of the entire plants and root system (Nielsen et al. 2005). Follow-up monitoring during at least five years must be undertaken (Nielsen et al., 2005).

Results



The average feasibility score of spread limitation strategies is between medium and high, and high for eradication. Effectiveness was scored between high and very high for the eradication strategy and between medium and high for spread limitation. In both strategies, the average scores for opportunity was between low and medium and between medium and high for the likelihood of reintroduction. Practicality, cost, impact and acceptability were scored between high and very high. Effectiveness scored between high and very high for eradication, but between medium and high for spread limitation.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

No general consideration was made during the workshop

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the the eradication strategy as as a guiding principle of the EU reg for species not yet present in BE.

References

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2015) Datasheet : *Heracleum persicum*. Downloaded from <u>http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/120209</u> on 27-07-2017.

EPPO (2009) EPPO data sheet on Invasive Alien Plants: *Heracleum mantegazzianum, Heracleum sosnowskyi* and *Heracleum persicum*. EPPO Bulletin 39: 489–499.

Fremstad E & Elven R (2006) The alien giant species of Heracleum in Norway. NTNU Norges teknisk-naturvetenskaplige universitet Vitenskapsmuseet Rapport bottanisk serie 2, 1–35.

Fröberg L, 2010. *Heracleum* L. In: Flora Nordica (Thymelaeaceae to Apiaceae) [ed. by Jonsell B, Karlsson T]. Stockholm, Sweden: The Swedish Museum of Natural History, 224-234.

Nielsen C, Ravn HP, Nentwig W & Wade M (eds.) (2005) The Giant Hogweed Best Practice Manual. Guidelines for the management and control of an invasive weed in Europe. - Forest and Landscape Denmark, Hoersholm, 44 pp. <u>http://www.ibot.cas.cz/personal/pysek/pdf/Giant alien_uk.pdf</u>

3.4.7 Sosnowsky's hogweed *Heracleum sosnowskyi* (Sosnowsky's berenklauw ; Berce de Sosnowski)



©Аимаина хикари (Wikimedia commons)

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in BE</u>: Not currently established in the wild in Belgium. Therefore, the invasion scenario is that at the point of detection one patch of plants about 30 square meters is reported on the roadside of an agriculture field around Turnout. This introductions is thought to be the result of seeds being accidentally transported by trucks coming from Poland.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u> : *Heracleum mantegazzianum* and *H. persicum* are morphologically (Nielsen et al., 2005; EPPO, 2009; Fröberg, 2010) and genetically (Jahodová et al., 2007; Maras, 2008) close to *H. sosnowskyi*. As a result there is a risk of misidentification and consequent underestimation in BE.
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries : The species seems absent from neighbouring countries
- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The eradication strategy of this patch therefore includes manual and mechanical methods, as suggested by Nielsen et al. (2005). Root cutting of flowering plants in early spring before seed production are used as eradication techniques, applied locally once or twice a year during at least 5-7 consecutive years in order to fully exhaust the soil seed bank. Root cutting of at least 10 cm below the soil layer is favoured as much as possible except where its efficiency is reduced, e.g. on stony and shallow soils. Equipment and machinery are cleaned to remove soil before moving to uninfected area. Plants are adequately disposed of to avoid seed production and burns to managers and the general public. They can be stockpiled directly on site after cutting the stems in 3-4 fragments and destroying or exporting inflorescences to avoid seed production. Whole plants can be also exported towards industrial composting sites.

Biocontrol, mowing, grazing and umbel removal are <u>not</u> part of the eradication strategy because those techniques leave the root system intact and are therefore considered poorly effective to kill the plants. Also, they may lead to secondary growth and seed production (CABI, 2017). Herbicides) are <u>not</u> part of the strategy since the patch is relatively small.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The patch area and its surroundings areis being monitored and any regrowth or seedlings are eradicated. Follow-up monitoring of the eradication site for at least five years is undertaken (Nielsen et al., 2005). Regrowth of *H. sosnowskyi* is monitored and controlled at the end of each growing season and during
subsequent years to avoid any new seed set. Since the seeds can survive for some years in the soil, follow-up monitoring is undertaken for at least 7 years, corresponding to field observations for not finding viable seeds in fields.

- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches.

The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *H. sosnowskyi* in Belgium to this single patch, avoid the production of seeds that might result in further dispersion.

- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Inflorescence removal in early June before seeds are produced is required. This is done a second time later during the growing season in case secondary umbels are produced. Management waste are exported and destroyed or burnt on site.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The surroundings are regularly monitored. In case new individuals are found, the methods used are the same as for the eradication strategy : mechanical removal and uprooting of the entire plants and root system (Nielsen et al. 2005). Follow-up monitoring during at least five years must be undertaken (Nielsen et al., 2005).

Results



The average feasibility score of eradication and spread limitation strategies is between medium and high. Effectiveness was scored between high and very high for the eradication strategy and between medium and high for the spread limitation strategy. In both strategies, the average scores for practicality, impact and opportunity was between medium and high; and between high and very high for cost. Opportunity and likelihood of introduction were scored between medium and high for both strategies.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

No general consideration was made during the workshop

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the the eradication strategy as as a guiding principle of the EU reg for species not yet present in BE.

References

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2015) Datasheet : Heracleum sosnowskyi. Downloaded from http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/108958 on 27-07-2017.

EPPO (2009a) EPPO data sheet on Invasive Alien Plants: *Heracleum mantegazzianum, Heracleum sosnowskyi* and *Heracleum persicum*. EPPO Bulletin 39: 489–499.

Nielsen C, Ravn HP, Nentwig W & Wade M (eds.) (2005) The Giant Hogweed Best Practice Manual. Guidelines for the management and control of an invasive weed in Europe. - Forest and Landscape Denmark, Hoersholm, 44 pp. <u>http://www.ibot.cas.cz/personal/pysek/pdf/Giant alien uk.pdf</u>

3.4.8 American skunk cabbage Lysichiton americanus (moerasaronskelk, Faux arum)



©Martin Bravenboer

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Lysichiton americanus is an ornamental plant that has been introduced in a few localities near garden ponds, from which population establishment and spread may occur. It can live up to 75 years and reproduces almost exclusively by seeds from 3 years old onwards; a large seed bank can build up in the soil, remaining viable for at least eight years (EPPO 2009). American skunk cabbage grows in the transition zone between terrestrial and aquatic habitats like wellspring areas, swamps, fens, wet meadows and alluvial woodlands along riverbanks and ponds. During the reference period 2000-2015, it was observed in 3 1x1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion and 7 squares in the Continental bioregion (see map). A small population was removed in Essen in 2016 (not shown on map). A bigger population is present in Bokrijk (Limburg). A few additional localities were found ever since, e.g. in the Brabant district. The largest population (about 250 specimens) is located in the Arboretum Robert Lenoir in Rendeux where it was introduced in the early 1950's, along with *L. camtschatcensis*, and now spreads along a small tributary of the Ourthe river, close to confluence; this population is extremely polymorphic and includes few specimens of pure *L. americanus* and many hybrids. Most of other Belgian populations were only detected during the 2010's and are small-sized (1-50 specimens). Many of them are located in private gardens. A few isolated plants have also been observed along rivers, which suggest that downstream dispersal by water started from several localities.
- <u>Reliability of the Belgian distribution</u>: Large size and plant persistence make it easy to detect in the field. At young stages, it may be confused with related taxa like the eastern skunk cabbage (*Symplocarpus foetidus*), another Araceae native to North America. We assume that distribution data are reliable but that a few populations may remain undetected in private terrains.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: A few populations of *L. americanus* are established in Germany and Netherlands at several kilometers from the Belgian border.



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	3	5
UTM 5km	3	6
UTM 1km	3	7
% 1km SAC	100 %	57%
Clustering index	4.6 3	0.89

Management strategy – eradication

Methods and techniques: Mechanical removal (Jörg 2007, Rotteveel 2007, EPPO 2009, Klingenstein & Alberternst 2010, Alberternst & Nawrath 2013, Aldridge et al 2015) is favoured over other techniques because of early invasion stages of most *Lysichiton* populations and high sensitivity of ecosystems where it occurs. Hand pulling of any mature and immature plant combined with manual rhizome excavation is performed in early summer, up to a depth of 50 cm (but without removing deep small vertical growing contractile roots). The treatment is repeated during successive years to gradually exhaust the seed bank. Care is taken when handling plants to avoid skin contacts with the sap that contains calcium oxalate crystals (Matthews and Berardi 2015). For large populations with numerous seedlings, plant destruction focuses each year on mature plants only; deep mechanical soil excavation is also conducted if an access is available for machinery. Plant waste is exported and eliminated by incineration or composting. Root and seed

contaminated soils are disposed of through burrowing in landfill sites. Chemical treatments are <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of non-target effects and legal limitations in the Belgian context.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Regrowth of *L. americanus* is monitored and controlled every 2 years (only plants older than 2 years produce seeds) for at least 10 years due to the presence of a long-lived seed bank in the soil.

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Containment into a single or a few patches. The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *L. americanus* in Belgium to the existing large patches (difficult to eradicate), avoid the production of any propagule that might result in further dispersion from them and eradicate existing small patches and any new patch discovered in the field.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Small and newly discovered populations are eradicated using the techniques described in the eradication strategy. Spring mowing is performed twice a year in large populations with a special care taken to destroy inflorescences before seed production
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: An accurate surveillance is implemented in the immediate vicinity of the residual populations to be able to detect any further spread from it. A verification of the success of weed control is done in the same way as for the eradication strategy.



The average feasibility score of eradication and spread limitation strategies was between medium and high. On average, effectiveness was scored high for eradication and between medium and high for spread limitation. Practicality was scored medium for eradication and high for spread limitation. Cost, impact and acceptability were scored between high and very high for both strategies. Opportunity was scored between medium and high for both strategies.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

This species is a good example of species for which the legal basis for management must probably be enlarged to ensure access to private property, including private gardens. Potentially support to eradication in gardens is needed. Control must be performed in shops, garden centers etc. to ensure proper implementation of the EU regulation (in particular ban on trade). There is a need for coercitive measures. Alternative species should be identified.

Management methods must be applied properly. Monitoring and aftercare were deemed very important by the group.

2. Recommendations for management

Results

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the the eradication strategy. Legal basis for access to property is a requirement for ensuring eradication efficiency.

References

Alberternst, B. & Nawrath, S. (2013): Maßnahmen zur Entfernung des Amerikanischen Stinktierkohls (*Lysichiton americanus*) von naturnahen Feuchtstandorten des Taunus. Erfolgskontrolle und Dokumentation der Bestandsentwicklung bis 2013 im Auftrag des Regierungspräsidiums Darmstadt, 44 S.

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

EPPO (2009) Report on Pest Risk Analysis for Lysichiton americanus, 61 pp.

Jörg E. (2007) *Lysichiton americanus* Hultén & St. John - Stinktierkohl oder Amerikanischer Riesenaronstab (Araceae). Ein neuer invasiver Neophyt für die Schweiz!. Naturschutzinspektorat, Amt für Landwirtschaft und Natur des Kantons Bern 2S.

Klingenstein F, Alberternst B (2010) NOBANIS – Invasive Alien Species Fact Sheet – Lysichiton americanus. From: Online Database of the European Network on Invasive Alien Species.

Matthews D, Berardi A (2015) Cabbage Skunk weed (Lysichitum americanum) in wet woodlands: biology; invasiveness and control in the UK. *International Pest Control*, 57(3), 138.

Rotteveel AJW (2007) Initial eradication of Lysichiton americanus from the Netherlands. In: European Weed Research Society, 14th EWRS Symposium, Hamar, Norway, 17-21 June 2007 [ed. by Flistad, E.]. Doorwerth, Netherlands: European Weed Research Society, 36.

3.4.9 Nepalese browntop *Microstegium vimineum* (Japans steltgras, herbe à échasses japonaise)



©JamesHMillerandTedBodner

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in BE</u>: The species is not established in the wild in Europe. The invasion scenario is that at the point of detection the species is present as a single population less than 20 square meters at the edge of warehouses on an industrial estate near Liège. The population is known by local naturalists for several years, expanding at that site but only recently identified. It produces fertile seeds and stolons. The species was probably introduced through spill-over from imported bird seed mixtures.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u> : The species is not known from any other country in Western Europe.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u> : *Microstegium vimineum* can be distinguished by the hairy axis of the inflorescence and the presence of awns. In Belgium, confusion with similar native species is unlikely yet the species is inconspicuous and can be hard to detect.

1. Management strategy – eradication

• <u>Methods and techniques</u>: *Microstegium vimineum* is an annual therophyte species producing abundant seeds that remain viable in the soil for up to five years. The eradication strategy is hand pulling the entire patch. This involves pulling seedlings from the ground when plants are 5-20 cm tall and easily distinguished from native species. Plants do not need to be bagged or removed. This is operated at the end of the summer, before the seed release and when new seedlings have germinated (EPPO, 2016). Attention is paid to avoid seed dispersal during management actions (machinery, foot traffic, ...). Because of the seed bank present in the soil, the management action is repeated every year during at least five years (Barden, 1991).

Herbicide application is not part of the strategy because of potential non-target effects. Grazing is <u>not</u> part of the strategy since cattle, deer and goat do not feed on the plant (EPPO, 2016).

<u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The patch area and its surroundings are being monitored and any regrowth or seedlings are eradicated during a minimum of 5 years (Barden, 1991). Attention is paid to avoid any soil movement that might facilitate seed transport from the invaded areas to uninvaded areas. Similarly, attention is paid to avoid seed dispersal during management actions (cleaning up of the machinery, limited foot traffic, ...).

- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
- <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with the single patch.

The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of this species in Belgium to the single record already documented. As the species dispersal mainly relies on seeds, spread limitation strategy focuses on limiting seed production.

- Methods and techniques : The plants are mowed up to ground level (< 5cm) so no seeds are produced in late summer. This is done with brushcutters as heavy duty mowers risk spreading soil with grains. Care is taken not to miss any plants. The surroundings of the patch are regularly monitored in order to react as quickly as possible if the small populations start expanding. In case this happens, the strategy is to eradicate the new plants using methods suggested in the eradication strategy. Attention is paid to avoid any soil movement that might facilitate seed transport from the invaded areas to uninvaded areas. Similarly, attention is paid to avoid seed dispersal as a result of management actions (cleaning up of the machinery, limited foot traffic, ...). No grazing regimes are allowed in the surrounding area so as not to promote its spread by reduced competition with native species (Knight et al. 2009).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The surroundings are regularly monitored. In case new patches were eradicated, here, follow-up monitoring must be undertaken for a period of at least five years (Barden, 1991).



Results

The average feasibility score of eradication was high, and between medium and high for spread limitation. On average, effectiveness was scored between high and very high for eradication and medium for spread limitation. Cost, impact and acceptability were scored between high and very high for both strategies. Practicality and likelihood of introduction were scored between medium and high; and opportunity was scored between low and medium.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

The group recognized the importance of surveillance for species not yet present in Belgium. There is a need for increasing identification capacity of field workers.

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU reg for species not yet present in BE.

References

Barden L, 1991. Element Stewardship Abstract: Microstegium vimineum. Arlington, Virginia, USA: The Nature Conservancy, 6.

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2012) Datasheet : *Microstegium vimineum*. Downloaded from <u>http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/115603</u> on 28-07-2017.

EPPO (2016) Data sheets on pests recommended for regulation *Microstegium vimineum* (Trin.) A. Camus. Bulletin OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 46 (1), 14–19.

Judge CA, Neal JC, Shear TH, 2008. Japanese stiltgrass (*Microstegium vimineum*) management for restoration of native plant communities. *Invasive Plant Science and Management*, 1(2):111-119. <u>http://www.wssa.net</u>

Knight TM, Dunn JL, Smith LA, Davis J, Kalisz S (2009). Deer facilitate invasive plant success in a Pennsylvania forest understory. Nat Areas J 29:110–116

3.4.10 Mile-a-minute weed *Persicaria perfoliata* (gestekelde duizendknoop, renouée perfoliée)



©Leslie J. Mehrhoff (Wikimedia commons)

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation in BE</u>: Not currently established in the wild in Europe. Therefore, the invasion scenario is that at the point of detection a single large patch of plants is reported covering a 30m hedge between a private garden and an agricultural field in the North of Brussels. The introduction is associated with a big heap of garden waste nearby so probably originated from a contaminated lot of ornamental plants from Asia.
- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The eradication strategy of this patch is a combination of manual and mechanical removal methods dedicated to plant and seed bank removal (Mountain, 1989; EPPO 2008; Kumer & DiTomaso 2005; CABI, 2017). Hand pulling is applied to remove large plants and decaying plant material before removing and composting the heap of garden waste (wearing thick gloves, long trousers and a long-sleeved shirt to prevent skin abrasion caused by the spines). Repeated mowing of regrowth and new seedlings is applied once a month afterwards during 2-3 years in order to exhaust the seed bank and favour competition by native grasses. Attention is paid to avoid any soil movement that might contain seeds.
 - <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The patch area and its surroundings are being monitored and any regrowth or seedlings are eradicated. Follow-up monitoring of the eradication site is done for at least two years to be sure that the seed bank is fully exhausted.
 - 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches.

The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *P. perfoliata* in Belgium to this single patch, avoid the dispersal of seeds that might result in further expansion. As the species is a vine and its dispersal mainly relies on seeds, the spread limitation strategy focuses on limiting seed dispersal.

<u>Methods and techniques</u>: The patch is subjected to a repeated mowing regime to prevent flowering and fruit
production. As long distance dispersal occurs with birds (Verwaijen 2017), the patch is checked in the flowering season
and any flowers/berries are manually removed. The surroundings of the patch is regularly monitored in order to react
as quickly as possible if the small population starts expanding. In case new seedlings are reported outside the patch
they are quickly pulled out before summer (see eradication strategy).

<u>Post-intervention verification</u>: The surroundings are regularly monitored. In case new individuals are found, the
methods used are the same as for the eradication strategy. Follow-up monitoring during at least 3-4 years must be
undertaken (Van Clef and Stiles, 2001).



Results

The average feasibility score of eradication was high, and between medium and high for spread limitation. On average, effectiveness and practicality were scored high for eradication and between low and medium for spread limitation. Cost was scored very high for eradication and between medium and high spread limitation. Impact and acceptability were both scored between high and very high; opportunity was scored between low and medium. Likelihood of reintroduction was scored medium for eradication and low for spread limitation.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

No general recommendations were made during the workshop

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached among workshop participants for the the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU reg for species not yet present in BE.

References

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2009) Datasheet : *Persicaria perfoliata*. Downloaded from *http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/109155* on 28-07-2017.

PPO (2008) Mini data sheet on Polygonum perfoliatum, 2 pp.

Kumar, V. & DiTommaso, A. (2005). Mile-a-minute (Polygonum perfoliatum): an increasingly problematic invasive species. Weed technology, 19(4), 1071-1077.

McCormick, L. H. & N. L. Hartwig 1995. Control of the noxious weed mile-a-minute (*Polygonum perfoliatum*) in reforestation. *Northern Journal of Applied Forestry* 12 (3), 127-132.

Mountain, W. L. 1989. Mile-a-minute weed (*Polygonum perfoliatum* L.) update distribution, biology, and control suggestions. Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Plant Industry, Regulatory Horticulture. Weed Circular 15:21–24.

Van Clef M; Stiles E (2001). Seed longevity in three pairs of native and non-native congeners: assessing invasive potential. *Northeastern Naturalist*, 8(3):301-310.

Verwaijen, D. (2017) Code van goede praktijk voor het bestrijden en beheersen van *Polygonum perfoliatum* in Vlaanderen. Landmax bvba i.o.v. Agentschap voor Natuur en Bos.

3.5 Aquatic animals

3.5.1 Amur sleeper *Perccottus glenii* (amoergrondel, Goujon de l'Amour)



©Petrtyl

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in Belgium</u>: The Amur sleeper is currently not established in the wild in Belgium. Therefore, the invasion scenario is that at the point of detection about 50 individuals are reported by local fishermen in two small isolated natural ponds in Zonhoven (Limburg, Atlantic bioregion) just outside a contaminated aquaculture facility. It originated from a stowaway introduction of common carp from Estonia.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Other established populations may be underdetected in standing waters since dedicated fish monitoring is mostly confined to rivers and streams in Belgium.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: The species is not known to be established in neighbouring areas (Retshenikov, 2013; Verreycken, 2015).
- 1. Management strategy eradication
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The eradication strategy is a to drain the two infected ponds at the point of detection. Lime chloride (0.3 g/l water at a minimal exposure of 6 hours) is applied to the ponds on the aquaculture facility as it is routinely performed to kill remaining life (Bogutskaya & Naseka, 2002; Verreycken, 2015; CABI, 2017). The aquaculture facility is also isolated by installing fine mesh screens on all outlets to minimize escapees contaminating connected water bodies.

Active capture (angling, fykes, traps), biological control are <u>not</u> part of the strategy since these methods can hardly eradicate Amur sleeper populations (Verwaijen, 2016). Sterile Male Release is still largely under development so is <u>not</u> applied either. Landing nets, fish (funnel net) traps, electrofishing, and fishing with rod and line are used to confirm presence of the species rather than as a control method (e.g. Nehrig & Steinhof, 2015; Pupina et al. 2015). In general, intensive trapping is <u>not</u> seen as an option to control or eradicate the species (De Vries et al. 2012).

- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Post eradication verification includes implementation of stringent biosecurity measures at the aquaculture facility by monitoring for species presence (e.g. eDNA, captures).
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches.

The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of *P. glenii* in Belgium to the two natural ponds and to destroy its source population.

- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The two infected ponds are made inaccessible to the public so they can no longer be used for angling. They are also isolated from the water system by installing fine mesh screens on all outlets to minimize escapees. The source population is destroyed by applying lime chloride (0.3 g/l water at a minimal exposure of 6 hours) to the ponds on the aquaculture facility.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Inaccessibility of the location for the general public and the hydrological isolation of the
 ponds in question are monitored regularly. Subsequently, these waterbodies are monitored and this action repeated
 in case some individuals are still present.



Results

The average feasibility of both scenarios is scored medium to high by experts. Average feasibility scores of the criteria are also relatively similar for both scenarios: cost is scored high to very high in both scenarios, effectiveness and acceptability are scored high, practicality and reintroduction are scored between medium and high and impact is scored between medium and high for the eradication scenario but high for the spread limitation scenario (with more variation around the mean in the latter). Only window of opportunity is scored below medium (between low and medium) for both scenarios.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants acknowledge that aquatic animals are usually difficult to contain in a closed environment. The chances of successfully containing or eradicating an aquatic animal are not high but this does not mean that it should not be the management goal. A remark was made on the strategy itself by the workshop participants who insisted on the fact that the two ponds should be first isolated in order to limit the spread of the species. Also, an analysis of the impacts of the management measures should be conducted before proceeding with the practical implementation of the strategy.

2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants agreed on the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.

References

Bogutskaya, N.G. & Naseka, A.M. (2002) Perccottus glenii Dybowski, 1877. Freshwater Fishes of Russia, Zoological Institute RAS. http://www.zin.ru/Animalia/Pisces/eng/taxbase_e/species_e/perccottus/perccottus_glenii_eng.pdf

CABI - Invasive Species Compendium (2017) Datasheet : *Perccottus glenii*. Downloaded from http://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/110577 on 01-08-2017.

Verreycken, H. (2015) Risk analysis of the Amur sleeper *Perccottus glenii*, Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium, Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2015, INBO.R.2015.11325556, updated version, Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, 27 p.

Verwaijen, D. (2016) Code van goede praktijk voor het bestrijden en beheersen van de Amoergrondel, *Perccottus glenii*, in Vlaanderen. Vlaamse overheid - Agentschap voor Natuur en Bos. Brussels.

Reshetnikov AN (2013). Spatio-temporal dynamics of the West-Ukrainian centre of invasion of the fish *Perccottus glenii* and consequences for European freshwater ecosystems. Aquatic Invasions 8, 193–206.

3.5.2 Topmouth gudgeon, stone morocco *Pseudorasbora parva* (blauwbandgrondel, goujon de Chine)



©Seotaro

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Topmouth gudgeon is, with gibel carp *Carassius gibelio*, the most widespread non-indigenous fish species in the Atlantic bioregion, occurring in all river basins (Verreycken et al., 2007). It was unintentionally introduced in Atlantic bioregion the early nineties via 'contaminated' fish transports and stocking activities. The use as live bait for angling also contributed to introduction and spread. The species is common, tolerant to a wide range of environmental conditions and occurs frequently in both streams and standing waters, but with the highest densities in shallow ponds (Verhelst et al., 2016). In the continental bioregion *P. parva* is less widespread. The species is however established in the Meuse, the Ourthe basin and has been reported in several smaller streams and rivers.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The known current distribution is probably underestimated in standing waters since dedicated fish monitoring is mostly confined to rivers and streams in Belgium. Probably also underdetected in Walloon region because of lower intensity of fish monitoring here.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: First detected in Luxembourg in 2005, when it was found in the upstream dam of the Upper Sauer Lake in Bavigne (neobiota.lu). First observed in The Netherlands in 1992, core populations are present in the south-eastern part of the country in the tributaries of Rhine and Meuse along the Belgian border. Established and widespread in western Germany from which the species invaded the low countries via the Rhine drainage (Gozlan et al. 2010).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	143	14
Utm 5km	317	19
Utm 1km	622	23
% 1km SAC	42%	83%
Clustering index	0.66	0.62

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: Management methods are only known for standing waters: no non-chemical methods are known to effectively eradicate the species in rivers. The present strategy therefore only applies to standing waters occurrences. River occurrences are left unmanaged. The eradication strategy consists of a combination of the drainage of ponds with *P. parva* presence and biomanipulation. Both actions are best combined but in some cases can be applied solely. Draining requires complete control over drainage and refill of the water body. To reduce the impact on other native fish, the native species are caught and kept in quarantine after draining to be restocked on site after refill (Britton et al., 2010). Care is taken to check these lots of fish before restocking to prevent reintroduction of any remaining topmouth gudgeon. As small topmouth gudgeon easily get stuck in nets, biosecurity measures are applied to clean this gear before moving to another location. In ponds with native amphibians present, drainage is performed between September and January, after metamorphosis and before the start of the new breeding season. Biomanipulation involves stocking water bodies with native predatory fish, notably juvenile pike. This technique appears to be effective with in some cases complete eradication of topmouth gudgeon and almost no reduction in

native species (Lemmens et al., 2015). Ideally, depending on the local situation, this is a combination of pelagic predators such as perch Perca fluviatilis and littoral predators such as pike Esox lucius because juvenile pike tend to reside in the littoral zone forcing prey fish into the pelagic. To increase the resilience to new invasions, water bodies where topmouth gudgeon was removed, are stocked with predatory fish as aftercare (Lemmens et al., 2015). Chemical methods, such as using rotenone (Britton & Brazier, 2006) which would potentially be an eradication method in large, interconnected rivers and streams, or calcium oxide (quicklime) are difficult to apply in Belgium because of regulations regarding the use of biocides in aquatic environments, even if waters can be hydrologically isolated from the environment for the duration of the treatment. Davison et al. (2017) report on an unsuccessful eradication attempt using trapping with crayfish traps (5mm mesh netting) combined with biomanipulation. Therefore, these methods are not part of the eradication strategy. Post-intervention verification: Sites where P. parva was eradicated should be monitored using e-DNA methodology (Davison et al. 2017) and trapping operations.

- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: Option 4 : maintenance of pest free areas in Southern Belgium The spread limitation strategy aims at avoiding propagule propagation that would result in further dispersion. Care is taken to avoid that the species may reach uninvaded areas south of the Meuse and Ourthe.
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Uninvaded areas are managed as pest free zones; they are subjected to (i) dedicated biosecurity measures related to fish stocking, (ii) management actions aiming to increase habitat resistance to invasion, (iii) increased surveillance effort using generic fish monitoring methods (electrofishing, fyke netting) and e-DNA (iv) rapid eradication actions for any newly detected populations in the pest free area using the methods described in the eradication strategy. Additionally, in a 50 km buffer zone around the pest free area, to increase the resilience to new topmouth gudgeon invasion, owners of suitable water bodies are stimulated to stock with predatory fish (Lemmens et al., 2015). As dispersal from (former) aquaculture facilities represents a key factor in the spread of *P. parva* (and other small bodied non-native fish) (Davies & Britton, 2016), additional biosecurity measures are applied at infected sites, for example, fine mesh screens on all outlets to minimize escapees contaminating connected water bodies and, where feasible, eradication, using appropriate methods.
 - <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Sites where *P. parva* was eradicated should be monitored using e-DNA methodology (Davison et al. 2017) and trapping operations.





The average feasibility score of the eradication and spread limitation scenarios is between low and medium. The average appreciation of the effectiveness and impact was the most divergent score between the both scenarios (both criteria score between low and medium and for the eradication strategy and between medium and high for the spread limitation strategy). Reintroduction had the lowest average score in both scenarios (between very low and low). The average practicality of both scenarios is scored as low and the cost of both scenarios is judged as very low to medium (although the average is higher in the

spread limitation scenario). The average score of acceptability is medium in eradication scenario and between medium and high in the the spread limitation scenario. The average score of window of opportunity shows the opposite image.

Output of the workshop

1. General considerations

No general consideration were formulated for this species.

2. Recommendations for management

Workshop participants reached consensus about the fact that eradicating the species is not feasible in Belgium. The spread limitation strategy was not deemed feasible either. The general impression is that the species should not be a priority for management in Belgium (too costly, not effective and lack of practical methods). Other measures such as regular control of fish breeding facilities (maybe through e-dna) are relevant for this species. According to participants, biological control (for example having predator fish such as pike in the system) and providing a rich biodiversity is the best option to manage the species. Some eradication measures at local level could be implemented on a case by case basis where relevant.

References

Britton J., Brazier M. (2006). Eradicating the invasive topmouth gudgeon, *Pseudorasbora parva*, from a recreational fishery in northern England. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 13(5):329-335.

Britton J.R., Davies G.D., Brazier M. (2010). Towards the successful control of the invasive *Pseudorasbora parva* in the UK. *Biological Invasions* 12(1):125-131.

Davies G., Britton J. (2016). Assessment of non-native fish dispersal from a freshwater aquaculture site. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 23(5): 428–430.

Davison P.I., Copp G.H., Créach V., Vilizzi L., Britton J. (2017). Application of environmental DNA analysis to inform invasive fish eradication operations. *The Science of Nature* 104(3-4):35.

Gozlan R.E., Andreou D., Asaeda T., Beyer K., Bouhadad R., Burnard D., Caiola N., Cakic P., Djikanovic V., Esmaeili H.R. (2010). Pan-continental invasion of *Pseudorasbora parva*: towards a better understanding of freshwater fish invasions. *Fish and Fisheries* 11(4):315-340.

Lemmens P., Mergeay J., Vanhove T., De Meester L., Declerck S.A. (2015). Suppression of invasive topmouth gudgeon *Pseudorasbora parva* by native pike *Esox lucius* in ponds. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 25(1):41-48.

Pollux B., Korosi A. (2006). On the occurrence of the Asiatic cyprinid *Pseudorasbora parva* in the Netherlands. *Journal of Fish Biology* 69(5):1575-1580.

Verhelst P., Boets P., Van Thuyne G., Verreycken H., Goethals P.L., Mouton A.M. (2016). The distribution of an invasive fish species is highly affected by the presence of native fish species: evidence based on species distribution modelling. *Biological invasions* 18(2):427-444.

Verreycken H., Anseeuw D., Van Thuyne G., Quataert P., Belpaire C. (2007). The non-indigenous freshwater fishes of Flanders (Belgium): review, status and trends over the last decade. *Journal of Fish Biology* 71:160-172.

3.5.3 American bullfrog *Lithobates catebeianus* (stierkikker, grenouille taureau)



©GBNNSS

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: The scenario is a single population in the Continental bioregion and several populations, including one large metapopulation in the valley of the Grote Nete (Westerlo-Balen), in the Atlantic bioregion (Jooris, 2005). Here, bullfrogs thrive in a complex of several hundreds of - largely private - ponds used for recreational fishing and gardening (Adriaens et al., 2013). Bullfrogs are in a big metapopulation here and disperse through the river. A life+ project is currently ongoing which will favour the species by restoring and creating brook forests. Also, the management plan of the SAC Grote Nete is expected to increase the dispersion of bullfrog and create more suitable habitats (Descamps & De Vocht 2016). These ponds are mostly nutrient rich, with low vegetation structure and high abundance of non-native fish species such as topmouth gudgeon (Pseudorasbora parva), another Union list species. Furthermore, isolated populations with a few contaminated ponds exist in the Mark valley (Hoogstraten, northern Antwerp), the Wamp valley (Arendonk, Antwerp), the Dommel (Lommel, Limburg) (Devisscher et al., 2013) and the valley of the Dyle in Sint-Agatha-Rode in the ANB managed nature reserve Grootbroek. The Dyle valley population seemed to formerly extend along a stretch of four kilometres between Sint-Agatha-Rhode, Ottenbourg and Florival. A 2008 inventory, however, did not yield additional sightings in the valley besides the known population in Grootbroek (about 10 calling males and tapoles) and one calling male at Etang du Grand Pré (Pécrot) at about 1 km from Grootbroek (Martin, 2009). The status and size of the Dyle valley population is unclear and the same is true for the Dommel population. In the Continental bioregion, at current, the only known population occurs at Ransart (Charleroi) on a private property in a suburban context. According to the site owner, bullfrog have been present here for more than 15 years. The surroundings of this site were also checked in 2008 and yielded one adult at a site nearby (< 500m), indicating the population in this urban context remains localised and is currently not spreading. It probably does not contain more than 20 calling males.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: considered representative, although numerous records of bullfrog actually concern marsh frog *Pelophylax ridibundus*.
- Invasion situation in neighbouring countries: In the Netherlands no longer established after two breeding ponds in the border region with Belgium in Baarlo (Limburg), were removed in 2011-2012 through a combination of fencing, seine netting, fyke netting, electrofishing and drainage (Crombaghs, 2012; Goverse et al., 2012). In France, reproducing populations are present over a very large area (> 2000 km2) in the southwest (Gironde and Dordogne) and in central France (Sologne) (Berroneau et al., 2008; Detaint & Coïc, 2006). In France, the species is managed using a combination of methods. Luxemburg: no occurrences reported.



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	31	4
Utm 5km	44	4
Utm 1km	99	4
% 1km SAC	61 %	25 %
Clustering index	0.60	2.16

- 1. Management strategy eradication
- Methods and techniques: The eradication scenario consists of applying a combination of eradication methods depending on location and habitat (Devisscher et al., 2012; Louette et al., 2012a; Louette et al., 2012b): (1) drainage of breeding ponds (which should also sometimes be repeated several times); (2) active trapping using double fyke nets for several consecutive years; (3) frogging (using rifles, nightlighting, electrofishing, multicapture traps) in case areas are not suited for fyke netting (Devisscher et al., 2017; Snow & Witmer, 2011) (a decision support scheme is available at www.ecopedia.be); (4) repeated pike introduction with 5-10 cm fingerlings (6 weeks old) at a density of 500/ha as biomanipulation aftercare between consecutive capture campaigns (Louette, 2012). When fyke netting, bycatch (excluding topmouth gudgeon, turtles and crayfish) is released in good condition, but invasive fish species have to be simultaneously removed. Importantly, to be effective, methods have to be combined (Doubledee et al. 2003) e.g. drainage of ponds followed by seine netting to capture remaining larvae in the mud or in case the pond cannot be drained completely due to upwelling groundwater; drainage combined with the shooting of adults. These actions have

to be contained/repeated for several years. Active trapping has to target both larvae, metamorphs and adults in order to be effective e.g. fyke netting and frogging. The partial removal of tadpoles may lead to higher tadpole survival and development rates and higher post-metamorphic survival due to decreased density-dependent competition. Removal of adults leads to higher survival of early metamorphic stages through reduced cannibalism (Govindarajulu et al. 2005). Bullfrog are overdosed in a benzocaine (ethyl aminobenzoate) solution and humane killing is performed in a closed container to avoid any chemical release into the environment. When drainage is performed, the ponds are fenced in order to intercept dispersing individuals. Hydroperiod adjustments are performed between September and January, after metamorphosis and before the start of the new breeding season of native amphibians. During the actions, biosecurity measures are applied to disinfect clothing, vehicles and capture gear (with VirkonS or by extended periods of drying the gear) before moving to another location in order not to spread amphibian disease such as chytrid fungus or ranavirus. The strategy includes the drafting of a detailed management plan for all populations, considering key breeding sites, population density (determined by one catch per unit effort), potential dispersal routes, priority sites for conservation, ownership of ponds and local site conditions that determine the choice of methods. Chemical methods, such as spraying caffeine on bullfrogs, the use of chloroxylenol, rotenone or calcium hydroxide (Witmer et al., 2015) and the destruction of egg masses using chemicals are difficult to apply in Belgium because of regulations regarding the use of biocides in aquatic environments. Sterile male release using triploid bullfrogs (Descamps & De Vocht, 2017) is still under development. Hence, these methods are not part of the strategy.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: after eradication, follow-up is needed to assess whether bullfrog have effectively been removed. In case of drainage, the ponds should be monitored for at least two breeding seasons after control. This can be done by performing captures using fykes or by using eDNA from water samples.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still of populations in core area(s) The spread limitation strategy aims at containing bullfrog within its core area in the Netevallei and at avoiding any further spread within or outside this area. The current populations outside this core area (Arendonk, Dommel, Hoogstraten, Ransart) are eradicated as well as any new populations popping up outside the boundary around this area.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Eradication of new populations is performed using the methods described in the eradication strategy (drainage, capture). The creation of new ponds or wetlands within dispersal distance (3km) (Descamps & De Vocht 2016) of existing populations is to be avoided to not favour further spread. Additionally, awareness raising is performed with fishermen and garden pond owners about the risk of accidentally transposing larvae when moving fish.

Fencing is considered unrealistic as a method for preventing dispersal at the scale of a large interconnected river valley. Installing barriers on rivers and streams is equally considered unrealistic because it counteracts measures for fish migration.

<u>Post-intervention verification</u>: after eradication of new populations, follow-up is needed to assess whether bullfrog
have effectively been removed. In case of drainage, the ponds should be monitored for at least two breeding seasons
after control. This can be done by performing captures using fykes or by using eDNA from water samples. The
volunteer surveillance is supplemented with regular repeated sampling of suitable habitat in priority zones for
population expansion using e-DNA.

Results



The average feasibility score appointed by experts is medium for both the eradication and spread limitation scenario. The average scoring of component criteria is also comparable between the two scenarios, with all criteria scored from medium to high - though with lower averages for the cost and reintroduction criteria (between low and medium) for the spread limitation scenario.

Output of the workshop

1. General considerations

In general, methods need more research, and some methods are being questioned during the workshop (especially release of predators). Also, it is pointed by workshop participants that an analysis of the impacts of the management measures should be conducted before proceeding with the practical implementation of the strategy.

For the Nete Valley, knowledge gaps in current distribution need to be closed through increased surveillance effort e.g. using e-DNA.

2. Recommendations for management

A consensus was reached for the the spread limitation strategy Option 2: Stand-still of populations in core area(s) as the most feasible strategy, the core area being the Nete valley. For isolated populations outside the Nete valley, the goal should be eradication. Ponds should be isolated in order to limit the spread.

References

Adriaens T., Devisscher S., Louette G. (2013). Risk analysis of American bullfrog *Lithobates catesbeianus* (Shaw). Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2013 (INBO.R.2013.41). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Berroneau M., Detaint M., Coic C. (2008). Bilan du programme de mise en place d'un stratégie d'eradication de la grenouille taureau *Lithobates catesbeianus* (Shaw, 1802) en Aquitaine (2003- 2007) et perspectives. *Bulletin de la Société De Herpétology Francais* 127: 35-45.

Crombaghs B.H.J.M. (2012) De brulkikker in Baarlo. Voortgangsverslag eliminatie van een populatie brulkikkers Lithobates catesbeianus in een particuliere parktuin in Baarlo. Natuurbalans-Limes Divergens BV, Nijmegen.

Descamps S., De Vocht A. (2017). Movements and habitat use of the invasive species *Lithobates catesbeianus* in the valley of the Grote Nete (Belgium). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 146(2): 90–100

Descamps S., De Vocht A. (2017). The sterile male release approach as a method to control invasive amphibian populations: a preliminary study on Lithobates catesbeianus. *Management of Biological Invasions* 8(3):361-370.

Detaint M. & Coic C. (2006). La Grenoille Taureau Rana catesbeiana dans le sud-ouest de la France. Premiers résultats du programme de lutte. Bulletin de la Société Herpétologique de France 117: 41- 56.

Devisscher S., Adriaens T., Casaer J. (2017). Advies over de bestrijding van stierkikker in de Lokkerse Dammen (Arendonk) en Scheps (Balen). Adviezen van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.3455.

Devisscher S., Adriaens T., De Vocht A., Descamps S., Hoogewijs M., jooris R., van Delft J., Louette G. (2012). Beheer van de stierkikker in Vlaanderen en Nederland. INBO

Devisscher S., Adriaens T., Jooris R., Louette G., Casaer J. (2013). Opvolging van Amerikaanse stierkikker Lithobates catesbeianus in de provincie Antwerpen - Onderzoeksopdracht in het kader van post-Invexo Actieplan stierkikker. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2013 (711500). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Doubledee, R. A., E. B. Muller, R. M. Nisbet. 2003. Bullfrogs, Disturbance Regimes, and the Persistence of California Red-Legged Frogs. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 67 (2): 424 - 438

Goverse E., Creemers R., Spitzen-Van der Sluijs A.M. (2012). Case study on the removal of the American bullfrog in Baarlo, the Netherlands. Stichting RAVON, Report 2010.139, Nijmegen. 31 p.

Jooris R. (2005). De Stierkikker in Vlaanderen. Natuur.Focus 4(4):121-127.

Govindarajulu, G., R. Altwegg, B. R. Anholt. 2005. Matrix model investigation of invasive species control: bullfrogs on Vancouver Island. *Ecological Applications* 15(6): 2161-2170

Louette G. (2012). Use of a native predator for the control of an invasive amphibian. Wildlife Research 39(3):271-278.

Louette G., Devisscher S., Adriaens T. (2012a). Control of invasive American bullfrog *Lithobates catesbeianus* in small shallow water bodies. *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 59(1): 1-10.

Louette G., Devisscher S., De Vocht A., Hoogewijs M., Jooris R., Adriaens T. (2012b). De Stierkikker in Vlaanderen - Naar een gericht beheer van een invasieve exoot. *Natuur.Focus* 11(4):144-149.

Martin Y. (2009). Lithobates catesbeianus, une nouvelle espèce invasive en Wallonie: distribution, habitat et régime alimentaire. Mémoire de l'Université Catholique de Louvain. 81 p.

Snow N.P., Witmer G.W. (2011). A field evaluation of a trap for invasive American bullfrogs. *Pacific Conservation Biology* 17(3):285-291.

Witmer G.W., Snow N.P., Moulton R.S. (2015). Efficacy of potential chemical control compounds for removing invasive American bullfrogs (*Rana catesbeiana*). SpringerPlus 4(1):1-5.

3.5.4 Red-eared slider *Trachemys scripta* (lettersierschildpad, tortue de Floride)



©Brent Myers (flickr)

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Currently not established in Belgium. Red-eared sliders easily survive but are unable to reproduce under the Belgian climate (Jooris 2012). The animals can survive severe winters by hibernating at the bottom of shallow water bodies. Sliders live up to 20-30 years in the wild but shorter lifetimes are observed in urban habitats due to higher mortality as a result of shortage of terrestrial basking spots and unfavourable feeding opportunities (Bringsoe 2006). Sliders observed in the wild in Belgium originate from multiple intentional releases by pet owners since the end of the 1970's. About 300,000 were imported yearly in Belgium during the 1990's with a maximum of 360,000 specimens in 1997 just before the importation ban within the European Union (Jacob & Kinet 2007). In its native range, T. scripta is known to disperse over large distances (up to several kilometers) during the reproductive period (Bodie & Semlitsch 2000, Jaeger & Cobb 2012). In Northern Europe, it rarely disperses away from the water where it was introduced, despite some spread via waterways (Bringsoe 2006). Red-eared sliders (including the subspecies T. scripta elegans, T. s. scripta and T. s. troostii) are widespread within the Atlantic and the Continental bioregion. During the reference period 2000-2015, they were found in 293 1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion and in 82 squares in the Continental bioregion, with a stronghold in urban areas. It is mostly found in vegetation-rich eutrophic ponds, meanders and canals in peri-urban environments, where several tens of individuals may sometimes occur. It is especially abundant in the vicinity of Antwerp, Brussels, Ghent, Mons, Ottignies and Liège. It is however also observed in more natural environments like the wetlands of the river Haine valley.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Due to the absence of a systematic survey of red-eared sliders in Belgium (but see Adriaens *et al* 2016 for Flanders) and the fact that it is rather secretive (it can remain submerged for a considerable time), its presence is probably under-recorded in some sectors.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: High *T. scripta* densities are also reported from neighbouring countries, especially in Northern France and in the border area between Belgium, Germany and the Netherlands.



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	117	47
UTM 5km	190	62
UTM 1km	293	82
% 1km SAC	46%	75%
Clustering index	0.65	0.68

Management strategy – eradication

• <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The red-eared slider's eradication programme is based on live trapping using a range of turtle traps adapted to local site condition such as basking turtle traps, Aranzadi turtle traps (Valdeón et al. 2010), cathedral traps or Fesquet cage trap (see figure) in all the sites where the species is detected, including peri-urban areas (Gamble 2006, O'Keefe 2009, Sarat et al 2015).

The use of seine net to catch the turtles is poorly efficient because they tend to drop to the bottom of the water body and burrow into the mud for several hours when disturbed; this is therefore <u>not</u> part of the strategy (O'Keefe 2009). As many turtles are living in peri-urban zones, shooting is <u>not</u> part of the strategy for safety reasons.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: turtle monitoring is maintained during at least one year after trap removal using basking platforms to confirm local eradication.



Figure 4: Two types of traps used to catch red-eared sliders. Left: turtle basking trap (A - wood frame, B - foam floats, C - net basket, D- anchor) (Gamble 2006). Right: Fesquet cage trap (Sarat et al 2015).

Management strategy - spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 4 *Maintain (semi-)natural wetlands as pest free areas*. In the spread limitation strategy, *T. scripta* are only removed from protected wetlands where an adverse impact on native biodiversity might occur. No management is performed in ponds, lakes and canals in suburban environments.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: use of similar techniques as described for the eradication strategy.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: see the eradication strategy.

Results



The experts scored the average feasibility of both the eradication and spread limitation scenarios medium to high. 6 out of 7 component criteria are scored as medium or higher in both management scenarios. For both scenarios, the possibility of reintroduction is the lowest scoring criterium (low in the eradication scenario and between low and medium in the spread limitation scenario).

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Divergent opinions were shared on the future reproductive capacity under climate change and also on the impact of the species on native biodiversity (current and future). A remark was made that managing pathway of introduction (dumping) is an important measure: public authorities could lead the way by managing the turtle populations in their ponds in order to limit people being tempted to releasing their turtles in those ponds or in the wild in general. Additionally, a positive list for reptiles is perceived as a great prevention tool for limiting the introductions of sliders and reptiles in the wild.

Concerning management method, some participants noted that the trapping method needs to be fine-tuned.

2. Recommendations for management

Neither eradication nor limiting spread strategy seemed feasible to the workshop participants. Management where it is easy/possible/not too costly to capture, could be performed (Control).

References

Adriaens, T., Denys, L., Devisscher, S., Leyssen, A. & Van Landuyt, W. (2016) Advies over de verspreiding van invasieve aquatische soorten in Vlaanderen. INBO.A.3390, Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, 24 pp.

Bodie, J. R., & Semlitsch, R. D. (2000) Spatial and temporal use of floodplain habitats by lentic and lotic species of aquatic turtles. *Oecologia*, *122*(1), 138-146.

Bringsøe H. (2006) Trachemys scripta. NOBANIS – Invasive Alien Species Fact Sheet. European Network on Invasive Alien Species, 13pp.

Gamble, T. O. N. Y. (2006) The relative efficiency of basking and hoop traps for painted turtles (Chrysemys picta). *Herpetological Review*, *37*(3), 308.

Jaeger, C. P., & Cobb, V. A. (2012) Comparative spatial ecologies of female painted turtles (Chrysemys picta) and red-eared sliders (Trachemys scripta) at Reelfoot Lake, Tennessee. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, *11*(1), 59-67.

Jooris, R. (2012). Noord-Amerikaanse waterschildpadden in onze waterpartijen: hoe lang nog? http://www.natuurpuntscheldeland.be/downloads/waterschildpadden.pdf

O'Keefe S. (2009) The Practicalities of Eradicating Red-eared Slider Turtles (*Trachemys scripta elegans*). Aliens: The Invasive Species Bulletin. Newsletter of the IUCN/SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group. 28, 19-24.

Sarat E., Mazaubert E., Dutartre A., Poulet N., Soubeyran Y., 2015. Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Valdeón A., Crespo-Diaz A., Egaña-Callejo A. & Gosá A. (2010) Update of the pond slider *Trachemys scripta* (Schoepff, 1792) records in Navarre (Northern Spain), and presentation of the Aranzadi Turtle Trap for its population control. Aquatic Invasions, 5, 297-302

3.5.5 Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis* (Chinese wolhandkrab, crabe chinois)



©Paul Van Loon

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: The first Chinese mitten crab in Belgium was found in 1933 (Lestage, 1935; Wouters, 2002) and the species rapidly expanded its range in the Atlantic bioregion in the period 1933-1956 (Kerckhof et al., 2007). It decreased significantly during the fifties due to severe water pollution and after that expanded again in the period 1970-2001 (Boets et al., 2016; Messiaen et al., 2010). The exact migration routes of E. sinensis are unclear but from the North Sea and the river Scheldt the species uses rivers, canals and smaller watercourses as migration routes and all kinds of freshwater bodies for growth. Spawning and larval growth are performed in brackish or saline waters as the optimum salinity to pass through all larval stages is between 20-25 ‰ (Hanson and Sytsma, 2005; Bentley, 2012; Dittel and Epifanio 2009). Consequently, crabs have been reported along all water courses with direct connection to the North Sea: Yser; Canal Gent-Brugge-Oostende; Boudewijn canal, Leopold canal and Schipdonk canal; canal Gent-Terneuzen. The river Scheldt and its tributaries are at the heart of the current range of the species (Stevens, 2010). Mitten crabs are mostly recorded when they leave the water especially during spring migration when they are confronted with barriers (sluices, mills, other obstacles) that prevent further upstream migration. The number of crabs varies strongly from year to year and water flow rate probably determines intensity of the migration to an extent. Migration distances are known to go up to several hundred kilometers so the species can be expected to occur virtually everywhere in the Atlantic bioregion (ANB & INBO, 2016). Flanders has adopted an action plan to reduce local nuisance by mitten crabs during migration with trapping efforts, using fixed fyke constructions, focused on the Demer basin (ANB & INBO 2016). In the continental bioregion, there is currently only one observation in a small brook in the Meuse Basin in the vicinity of Namur.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The distribution of mitten crabs in the Atlantic bioregion is considered representative. Probably, invasion is still limited in the continental bioregion but possibly Chinese mitten crabs are in fact more widespread here but have not been observed/reported.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Widespread in the Netherlands in all coastal provinces and outside coastal areas most abundant in the larger river systems (Rivierengebied). The highest numbers of Chinese mitten crabs are recorded in downstream areas of the River Rhine system (Bouma and Soes 2010).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	70	1
Utm 5km	140	1
Utm 1km	314	1
% 1km SAC	45 %	100 %
Clustering index	0.55	0.55

1. Management strategy – eradication

Methods and techniques: The eradication strategy consists of mass trapping of mitten crabs using adapted fykes in order to reduce fish bycatch (e.g. lobster fykes or modified rat fykes with bait). These passive trapping devices can be applied year round, although the trapping effort will increase during spring and autumn migration and varies with the specific locations of the traps (Garcia-de-Lomas et al., 2010). Typically, trapping success is highest in the vicinity of migration barriers where the animals amass during upstream migration in spring and downstream migration in autumn. At specific locations along the migration route, fixed trapping constructions with a specific conduction system are installed. These infrastructures require high investment but are more sustainable than mobile traps. To increase their efficiency, such constructions are combined with fencing (i.e. smooth metal or PVC plates of about 50 cm height placed on the shore or dyke) the area over a distance downstream the migration barrier. Alongside the fence, plastic containers with steep, slippery walls (up to 80 cm deep) are dug into the soil so the crabs are contained and can easily be disposed of. Fykes and containers must be emptied regularly to remove crabs and release bycatch. Crabs caught are macerated on site using an industrial blender installed on a truck. The resulting bio-waste is properly treated and

disposed of by a professional waste treatment company. In terms of implementing the eradication programme, commercial harvesting is considered on top of the use of dedicated professionals.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: fyke constructions remain in place at strategic migration barriers outside the Scheldt basin and alongside the edge of the core area where mitten crabs are known to aggregate during, and are used as a monitoring tool to check for remaining mitten crabs.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Containment of populations in core area(s)
 - The spread limitation strategy includes trapping crabs in all rivers at the edge of the current range of the species in Belgium. This mostly coincides with the border region with the Netherlands and France, and southern edges of the Atlantic bioregion. Most notably, invasion through the Meuse basin has to be prevented so trapping efforts would be concentrated there. Populations in the core area (Scheldt basin) remain unmanaged.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Trapping is performed using the methods described in the eradication strategy (fyke trapping). A permanent reduction of the water flow in rivers and water courses, which could decrease the intensity of upstream migration in spring and early summer is considered unrealistic and therefore <u>not</u> part of the spread limitation strategy.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: fyke constructions remain in place at strategic migration barriers where mitten crabs are known to aggregate during, and are used as a monitoring tool to check for mitten crabs.



Assessment results

The average feasibility of both eradication and spread limitation scenarios was scored as medium by experts.

In general, the average scoring of the criteria is similar between strategies: reintroduction had the lowest score in both scenarios (low), whereas acceptability was scored high or above for both scenarios. Window of opportunity show a lot of variation around the mean in both scenarios (average score around medium), as did cost (scored between low and medium). Practicality and impact were scored between medium and high in both scenarios. The appreciation score of effectiveness, was, on average, judged to be higher in the spread limitation strategy than in the eradication strategy and also showed less variation in the former.

Output from the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants acknowledge that effectiveness of management measures needs to be more studied and also more research is needed to know which area could be potentially managed with an eradication/spread limitation strategy. This

information is currently missing and are preventing the workshop participants to make concrete recommendations. It is thought that eradicating the species from small rivers / water bassins, using the fixed trapping constructions with a specific conduction system method, is possible but more research/testing is needed before any advice can be formulated. The option of targeting the river basin of the Scheldt was not suggested in any of the 2 strategy but some workshop participants stated that it would be good to target those rivers that are in direct connection to the River Scheldt as this is the main gateway for the species to colonize upstream rivers.

2. Recommendations for management

Workshop participants rejected the eradication strategy, since the eradication of the species from large rivers, such as Meuse and Scheldt is unrealistic. The spread limitation strategy presented involved the eradication of the species in the Meuse so it was also rejected. Control seemed the best / realistic option at the moment.

References

ANB, INBO. (2016). Plan van aanpak voor Chinese wolhandkrab in Vlaanderen (2016-2018). Agentschap voor Natuur & Bos, i.s.m. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek.

Bentley M.G. (2012). *Eriocheir sinensis* H. Milne-Edwards (Chinese mitten crab). In: Francis R.A. (editor). Handbook of Global Freshwater Invasive Species. London, New York: Earthscan. p 185-194.

Boets P., Brosens D., Lock K., Adriaens T., Aelterman B., Mertens J., Goethals P. (2016). Alien macroinvertebrates in Flanders (Belgium). *Aquatic Invasions* 11(2):131–144

Boets P., Lock K., Adriaens T., Goethals P. (2014). Exotische macro-invertebraten in Vlaanderen, verspreiding en impact op inheemse waterfauna. *Natuur.Focus* 13(1):22-30.

Dittel A.I., Epifanio C.E. (2009). Invasion biology of the Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis*: A brief review. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 374(2):79-92.

Garcia-de-Lomas J., Dana E.D., López-Santiago J., González R., Ceballos G., Ortega F. (2010). Management of the Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (H. Milne Edwards, 1853) in the Guadalquivir Estuary (Southern Spain). *Aquatic Invasions* 5(3):323-330.

Hanson, E., Sytsma, M. (2005). The potential for mitten crab colonization of estuaries on the west coast of North America. Portland State University, Portland.

Kerckhof F., Haelters J., Gollasch S. (2007). Alien species in the marine and brackish ecosystem: the situation in Belgian waters. *Aquatic Invasions* 2(3):243-257.

Lestage J. (1935). La présence en Belgique du Crabe chinois (*Eriocheir sinensis*, H. Milne Edwards). Annales de la Société Royale Zoologique de Belgique 66 66:113-118.

Bouma, S., Soes, D.M. (2010). A risk analysis of the Chinese mitten crab in The Netherlands. Bureau Waardenburg for Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality, Team Invasive Alien Species. Report nr. 10-025

Messiaen M., Lock K., Gabriels W., Vercauteren T., Wouters K., Boets P., Goethals P.L.M. (2010). Alien macrocrustaceans in freshwater ecosystems in the eastern part of Flanders (Belgium). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 140(1).

Stevens M. (2010). Advies betreffende de Chinese Wolhandkrab langsheen de Schelde. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek. 7 p.

Wouters K. (2002). On the distribution of alien non-marine and estuarine macro-crustaceans in Belgium. Bulletin van het Koninklijk Belgisch Instituut voor Natuurwetenschappen Biologie 72.

3.5.6 Spiny-cheek crayfish *Orconectes (Faxonius) limosus* (gevlekte Amerikaanse rivierkreeft, écrevisse Américaine)



©Astacoides (Wikimedia commons)

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: Orconectes limosus is widely distributed throughout both bioregions in Belgium. It was first reported in Belgium in 1962 from the River Meuse, in Flanders in 1977 (Boets et al., 2012). Since then, it rapidly invaded water courses and canals (Meuse, Sambre, Ourthe, Semois, Amblève, canaux du centre). It colonized the Atlantic bioregion from the east and since the 1990s has spread rapidly to the west. It showed a cumulative increase in its distribution area since 1977 of 12 5km grid cells per year. The species is the most eurytopic of all non-native crayfish in Belgium and occurs in all types of aquatic systems (rivers, lakes, ponds, canals, brooks, urban as well as natural areas). It is the most common crayfish species and can occur in muddy waters, polluted canals and organically-enriched ponds and lakes (Boets et al., 2016; Boets et al., 2014). It can occur together with other nonnative crayfish such as Procambarus clarkii (Boets et al., 2009). Orconectes limosus is a burrower but likes to hide under stones, water plants and other forms of cover. It can be locally abundant, and is therefore presumably frequently harvested for recreational fishing (use as bait for larger fish) or for consumption. Native noble crayfish A. astacus went extinct in the Atlantic bioregion and was last recorded in Flanders 1945 in Lanaken. Astacus astacus prefers clean, well-oxygenated streams or ponds. It probably disappeared through eutrophication and habitat loss (Messiaen et al., 2010), competition with non-indigenous crayfish and/or crayfish plague. It is however still present in Wallonia on less than 50 isolated sites, mostly standing water but also some smaller streams, although its numbers have continued to decline since the 1990s. Several organisations in Belgium are currently trying to efficiently rear native crayfish with some success.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The distribution is considered representative in the Atlantic bioregion due to a dedicated project. However, there are most probably gaps in the distribution in both bioregions due to insufficient monitoring (no dedicated monitoring in suitable habitat, crayfish are bycatch in the fish monitoring but are often not reported, water quality monitoring does not go to species level).
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Widely established in the NL (Couperus 2015) and in all French departments neighbouring Belgium (site MNHN). In Luxemburg on Upper Sûre lake not far from the belgian border (neobiota.lu).



	ATL	CONT
Utm 10km	95	47
Utm 5km	150	72
Utm 1km	255	98
% 1km SAC	45%	88%
Clustering index	0.63	0.61

1. Management strategy – eradication

Methods and techniques: To achieve eradication, an integrated approach is applied using a range of control and containment techniques to suit different habitats and multiple life stages as proposed by Stebbing et al. (2014) and Southy-Grosset et al. (2016). The strategy is a combination of different mechanical and biological methods: intense trapping using both baited and artificial refuge traps, biomanipulation by the release of native predatory fish species, the building of barriers around the invaded waterbodies to prevent recolonisation of the cleared area and limit further introductions, the destruction of boroughs (e.g. through dredging) and the draining of ponds which can only be applied provided it is accompanied by physical isolation of the pond (e.g. through the use of fencing). Acknowledging biocides are currently probably the only method with realistic potential of achieving eradication of crayfish populations, control with biocides <u>cannot</u> be part of the strategy because of legal restrictions regarding the use of biocides near water in Belgium. Innovative autocidal methods such as the use of sex pheromones or Sterile Male Release Technique (SMRT) by exposing crayfish to ionising radiation (Aquiloni et al. 2009) are still under development

and have not yet been tested outdoors for this species which has also been reported to display facultative parthenogenesis (Buřič et al. 2011). Therefore, they are also <u>not</u> part of the strategy.

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Once the species has been removed, the recovery of the ecosystem is monitored to ensure the target species does not recolonize. To this end, and because crayfish plague can be transmitted at very low densities, surveillance is necessary using a method which is capable of detecting spiny-cheek crayfish at very low densities (less than 1 adult per 500 m2) (Peay, 2001) i.e. environmental DNA.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

• <u>Aim</u>: Option 4 Maintenance of pest free areas

The spread limitation strategy aims at avoiding propagule propagation that would result in further dispersion of this widespread crayfish and in invading sites with relict populations of the native crayfish. Care is taken to avoid that it may reach uninvaded areas, especially upstream zones in river basins. The strategy is to eradicate new populations beyond the extent of the species current range and to restrict further upstream migration by installing physical barriers. In Wallonia, it is especially targeted towards areas in and around known native crayfish habitat.

- Methods and techniques: Uninvaded areas are managed as pest free areas; they are subjected to (i) dedicated biosecurity measures (e.g. awareness raising is performed with fishermen to not use crayfish as bait), (ii) increased surveillance effort and (iii) rapid eradication actions after crayfish detection using the methods described in the eradication strategy and (iv) populations of predatory fish are enhanced in invaded downstream zones nearby pest free areas to reduce dissemination risk (buffer zones). Fencing is considered unrealistic as a method for preventing dispersal at the scale of a large interconnected river valley. Installing barriers on rivers and streams is equally considered unrealistic because it counteracts measures for fish migration.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Once the species has been removed, the recovery of the ecosystem is monitored to ensure the target species does not recolonize. Surveillance is necessary using a method which is capable of detecting spiny-cheek crayfish at very low densities (less than 1 adult per 500 m2) (Peay, 2001) i.e. environmental DNA.



results

The average feasibility score of both eradication and spread limitation scenarios is around medium. Practicality, impact, acceptability and window of opportunity are scored relatively similar between scenarios, with averages between medium and high. Effectiveness, cost and reintroduction are -on average- appreciated better in the spread limitation scenario then in the eradication scenario.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

In Wallonia the species is thought to be underdetected. In Flanders, managers feel they have a good idea of the species presence in public waters (populations in single private ponds being most probably underrepresented).

Workshop participants stressed the fact that the feasibility, practicability and efficiency of the management measures are in great need of research.
2. Recommendations for management

Workshop participants recommend the Management strategy – spread limitation with the aim: Option 4 Maintenance of pest free areas. Buffer zones around the native species *Astacus astacus* last populations should be implemented. The eradication strategy is considered too costly and not feasible.

References

Aquiloni L., Becciolini A., Trunfio C., Berti R. & Gherardi F. (2009). Managing invasive crayfish: use of X-ray sterilization of males. *Freshwater Biology* 54: 1510-1519

Boets P., Lock K., Adriaens T., Goethals P. (2014). Exotische macro-invertebraten in Vlaanderen, verspreiding en impact op inheemse waterfauna. *Natuur.Focus* 13(1):22-30.

Boets P., Lock K., Adriaens T., Mouton A., Goethals P.L.M. (2012). Distribution of crayfish (Decapoda, Astacoidea) in Flanders (Belgium): an update. *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 142(1):86-92.

Boets P., Lock K., Cammaerts R., Plu D., Goethals P.L. (2009). Occurrence of the invasive crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard, 1852) in Belgium (Crustacea: Cambaridae). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 139(2):173-176.

Boets P., Brosens D., Lock K., Adriaens T., Aelterman B., Mertens J., Goethals P. (2016). Alien macroinvertebrates in Flanders (Belgium). *Aquatic Invasions* 11(2):131–144

Buřič, M., M. Hulák, A. Kouba, A. Petrusek, and P. Kozák. (2011). A successful crayfish invader is capable of facultative parthenogenesis: a novel reproductive mode in decapod crustaceans. *PloS ONE* 6:e20281.

Couperus, A.S. 2015. Kennisdocument rivierkreeften. IMARES rapport c190/15. 24 pp.

Messiaen M., Lock K., Gabriels W., Vercauteren T., Wouters K., Boets P., Goethals P.L.M. (2010). Alien macro-crustaceans in freshwater ecosystems in the eastern part of Flanders (Belgium). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 140(1).

Peay S. (2001). Eradication of alien crayfish populations. R&D Technical Report W1-037/TR1: Scott Wilson Resource Consultants for Environment Agency.

3.5.7 Virile crayfish *Orconectes (Faxonius) virilis* (geknobbelde Amerikaanse rivierkreeft, écrevisse à pinces bleues)



©Alan Schmierer (flickr)

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in Belgium</u>: Not currently established in the wild in Belgium. Therefore, the invasion scenario is that at the point of detection several individuals are reported in the Dyle river. Subsequent crayfish surveys detected the species at a number of locations including the main river, tributaries and a few standing water bodies within the catchment, but not further downstream of Leuven. The introduction is the result of deliberate release into the wild due to the disposal of unwanted aquarium collections.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: Unlikely to have been overlooked in Flanders due to a dedicated project on crayfish samples from VMM monitoring. However, it cannot be ruled out that populations already occur on the Belgian territory due to insufficient monitoring (no dedicated monitoring in suitable habitat, crayfish are bycatch in the fish monitoring but are often not reported, water quality monitoring does not go to species level).
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: No populations known in the border region with neighbouring countries. In the Netherlands first reported in 2004 but probably introduced earlier and widely distributed around Vinkeveen-Woerden-Oudewater, more recently also Kromme Rijn and Flevoland (Koese and Soes 2011). Its core distribution roughly corresponds to the area between Rotterdam and Amsterdam.
- 1. Management strategy eradication
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The eradication strategy of the virile crayfish populations, spread across a whole river catchment is a combination of several methods which mostly includes active trapping using baited traps and targeting all life stages equally. This requires the use of a combination of different trap designs used simultaneously supplemented by eel introduction. The proposed strategy is for baited traps to be set at a density of 1 trap every 100 m of river, or one trap per 100 square meters in lakes, each trap to be emptied at least twice per week all year round (Stebbing et al 2016). Trapping is integrated with predation by native fish such as Eel *Anguilla anguilla*, pike *Esox lucius* or perch *Perca fluviatilis*. Fish usually predate on juveniles and small sized crayfish, being complementary to trapping (Hein et al. 2006). This would have to be conducted in a controlled and progressive manner throughout the catchment, with measures taken to ensure reintroduction would not occur.

Biological methods (White Spot Syndrome Virus and bacteria *Spiroplama penaeiled*) are not part of the strategy because of their potential non-target effects and because these methods need further research before implementation in the field (GISD, 2017; Davidson et al., 2010). Chemical methods such as the application of Pyblast, a pyrethrin based non-specific pesticide, is <u>not</u> part of the strategy due to its non-specific mode of action it is not suitable for use in fishing lakes and nature reserves or flowing water (Peay et al 2006). Innovative autocidal methods such as the use of sex pheromones or Sterile Male Release Technique (SMRT) by exposing crayfish to ionising radiation

(Aquiloni et al. 2009) could greatly enhance the effectiveness of trapping, are species-specific, not harmful to the environment and acceptable. Yet, they have never been trialled for *O. virilis* so far. Therefore, they are also <u>not</u> part of the strategy.

- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Once the species has been removed, the recovery of the ecosystem is monitored to
 ensure the target species does not recolonize. Surveillance is necessary using a method which is capable of detecting
 crayfish at very low densities (less than 1 adult per 500 m2) (Peay, 2001) i.e. environmental DNA, which is still under
 development for this species. Meanwhile, traps can be used as a monitoring tool.
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches
 - <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of the species in Belgium to the section of the Dyle upstream Leuven. Physical crayfish barriers are installed on strategic installations (structures such as fish ladders) that allow fish migration to prevent downstream migration in the Dyle basin (Frings et al. 2013; Rahel 2013; Rosewarne et al. 2013). The section below Leuven is regularly and continuously monitored in the long term by a professional team in order to react as quickly as possible if animals colonize it. In case animals are detected in this section or in other rivers or water bodies in Belgium, the strategy is to eradicate them using the methods described in the eradication strategy.
 - <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Once the species has been removed from newly colonised water bodies, the recovery of the ecosystem is monitored to ensure the species is not present anymore. Surveillance is necessary using a method which is capable of detecting crayfish at very low densities (less than 1 adult per 500 m2) (Peay, 2001) i.e. environmental DNA.



results

The average feasibility score given by experts is medium for the eradication scenario as well as for the spread limitation scenario. The average scoring of component criteria by experts is also very similar for both strategies. Scoring of impact and acceptability by experts is around high, effectiveness and window of opportunity are scored between low and medium and average scores of practicality, cost and window of opportunity center around medium, in both scenarios.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

In the invasion scenario, the species is, at the moment of detection, present in a small river. If the species was detected in ponds, it could be feasible to eradicate and the eradication strategy would have been chosen. But in a river the impression of the workshop participants was that it is not possible to eradicate.

Another remark was that a test phase should be done to check the management measures efficiency before a strategy is chosen. As for the other crayfishes, feasibility, practicability and efficiency of the management measures are in great need of research.

2. Recommendations for management

For the scenario presented above, workshop participants recommend the management strategy – spread limitation with the aim: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches. For an alternative scenario which would present the species detected in ponds and not in a river, workshop participants recommend the management strategy - eradication.

The workshop participants agreed on the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.

References

Aquiloni L., Becciolini A., Trunfio C., Berti R. & Gherardi F. (2009). Managing invasive crayfish: use of X-ray sterilization of males. *Freshwater Biology* 54: 1510-1519

Davidson, Elizabeth W.; Jennifer Snyder; Donald Lightner; Gregory Ruthig; Julie Lucas; Joel Gilley, 2010. Exploration of potential microbial control agents for the invasive crayfish, *Orconectes virilis*. Biocontrol Science and Technology, 1360-0478, Volume 20, Issue 3, 2010, Pages 297 - 310.

Frings, R. M., Vaeßen, S. C., Groß, H., Roger, S., Schüttrumpf, H., & Hollert, H. (2013). A fish-passable barrier to stop the invasion of non-indigenous crayfish. *Biological Conservation*, *159*, 521-529.

Global Invasive Species Database (2017) Species profile: Orconectes virilis. Downloaded from http://www.iucngisd.org/gisd/species.php?sc=218 on 04-08-2017.

Hein CL, Roth BM, Ives AR, Zanden V, Jake M, 2006. Fish predation and trapping for rusty crayfish (*Orconectes rusticus*) control: a whole-lake experiment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 63(2): 383-393.

Kerby, J. L., Riley, S. P., Kats, L. B., & Wilson, P. (2005). Barriers and flow as limiting factors in the spread of an invasive crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) in southern California streams. *Biological Conservation*, 126(3), 402-409.

Koese, B., Soes, M. (2011). De Nederlandse rivierkreeften (Astacoidea & Parastacoidea). Entomologische Berichten 6, supplement bij Nederlandse Faunistische Mededelingen.

Peay, S., Hiley, P.D., Collen, P. & Martin, I. (2006). Biocide treatment of ponds in Scotland to eradicate signal crayfish. *Bull. Fr. Pêche Piscic.* 380-381: 1363-1379.

Rahel, F. J. (2013). Intentional fragmentation as a management strategy in aquatic systems. BioScience, 63(5), 362-372.

Rosewarne, P. J., Piper, A. T., Wright, R. M., & Dunn, A. M. (2013). Do lowhead riverine structures hinder the spread of invasive crayfish? Case study of signal crayfish (Pacifastacus leniusculus) movements at a flow gauging weir. *Management of Biological Invasions*, 4(4), 273-282.

Stebbing, P. (2016) The Management of Invasive Crayfish. In: Biology and Ecology of Crayfish. New York: CRC Press. P.337-357

Stebbing, P., Stebbing, D., M. Longshaw, N. Taylor, R. Norman, R. Lintott, Pearce F., A. Scott (2012). Review of methods for the control of invasive crayfish in Great Britain. Cefas, Weymouth and Department of Computing Science and Mathematics, University of Stirling. Cefas Contract - Final Report C5471.

3.5.8 Signal crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus* (Californische rivierkreeft, écrevisse signal)



© Astacoides (Wikimedia commons)

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: The signal crayfish is extremely widespread within the Continental bioregion, where it forms extensive populations in river systems. It is often found in permanent watercourses but also in ponds and lakes (i.e. habitats that were formerly occupied by the native noble crayfish). Local abundance is often very high, which leads to frequent recreational fishing. It was found in 325 1x1 km squares during the reference period 2000-2015. Establishment in the Atlantic bioregion is much less reduced so far, where its presence is limited to 11 squares; contagious distribution is however already observed in the upper part of the Dijle river basin. The species is also present in the Senne and Dyle valley in the Atlantic bioregion (not shown on map).
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The species could be more widespread in the Atlantic bioregion due to the absence of dedicated crayfish monitoring.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: Signal crayfish is also poorly established in the Netherlands but one limited population is established in Tilburg close to the Belgian border (Koese and Soes 2011; Couperus 2015). In Northern France the species is spread in the Ardennes Natural Park in direct connection with the Belgian population (site MNHN). Extensive populations are also observed in Luxembourg (neobiota.lu).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	7	93
UTM 5km	8	167
UTM 1km	11	325
% 1km SAC	36	81
Clustering index	1.15	0.56

1. Management strategy – eradication

Methods and techniques: To achieve eradication, an integrated approach is applied using a range of control and containment techniques to suit different habitats and multiple life stages as proposed by Stebbing et al. (2014) and Southy-Grosset et al. (2016). Where possible, a combination of pond drawdown and fencing is implemented (Basilico et al 2013). Ponds are drained allowing water to pour out of water systems or by active pumping; drawdown is maintained during at least two successive years in order to kill burrowed animals by drought and especially frost during the wintertime. A barrier is installed around the drained ponds to avoid crayfish emigration and facilitate hand capture after drainage. At other sites, crayfish populations are controlled using a combination of intensive trapping with either eel predation (Müller & Frütiger 2001, Frütiger & Müller 2002) or sterile male release (SMRT) (Aquiloni & Zanetti 2014; Zanetti & Rucli 2014). Trapping is conducted during extensive periods using high trap density, high emptying frequency (at least every two days - http://www.life-rarity.eu/) and attractive baits as fish (Gherardi et al 2011, Stebbing et al 2014). Baited traps of various designs (Swedish traps, Evo-traps, collapsible traps, fyke nets, seine nets, etc.) or artificial refuge traps (ART) which are more efficient at catching subadult stages and gravid females

(Walter 2012), can be used. Most of the operations are coordinated and conducted by public water managers and/or specialised private companies commissioned by regional public authorities with the help of volunteers for trapping. The use of biocides, electrofishing and crayfish pathogens as biocontrol agents are <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of limited efficiency and/or legal limitations and/or strong non-target effects in the Belgian context (see e.g. Aldridge et al. 2015).

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: At locations where the species has been removed, monitoring is performed to ensure *P. leniusculus* does not recolonize. This is done using trapping systems and environmental DNA.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still principle with core area(s) The strategy aims at limiting the spread out of the core area, the Continental bioregion. To this end, any new population found in the Atlantic bioregion is eradicated using the methods described in the eradication strategy. The few peripheral populations north of the Meuse basin are equally eradicated to maintain the core area.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: The same methods for eradication of populations are used to eradicate any new populations outside the maintained core area. Along the edges of the core area, private pond owners are stimulated to introduce predatory fish for biomanipulation. An increased surveillance effort is required along the edge of the core area using systematic inventories by dedicated personnel of upstream and downstream areas adjacent to known populations.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: At locations where the species has been removed, monitoring is performed to ensure *P. leniusculus* does not recolonize. This is done using trapping systems and environmental DNA.



Results

The average feasibility score given by experts is medium, for both scenarios. The average scores of the individual criteria are also similar. Impact and acceptability score high in both scenarios, practicality scores between medium and high, effectiveness, cost, opportunity and reintroduction score on average from low to medium.

Outcome of the workshop

1. General considerations

Workshop participants agreed that in Flanders the populations might be still possible to manage and eradicate but that the invasion level in Wallonia is so high that it can't be eradicated successfully anymore.

2. Recommendations for management

Workshop participants recommended different strategies for the two main regions of Belgium. In Flanders the aim of the management should be eradication, in Wallonia the aim should be control or to limit spread (to be defined by the regional

authority). Conclusion: consensus for Belgium on spread limitation option 2 - containment of population in the continental region and eradication of any new population in the Atlantic region. In the continental region long term control is implemented.

References

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

Aquiloni L, Zanetti M (2014) Integrated intensive trapping and SMRT approach for the control of *Procambarus clarkii*: the Casette case study In: RARITY.Eradicate invasive Louisiana red swamp and preserve native white clawed crayfish in Friuli Venezia Giulia. Published by the financial contribution of the EC within the RARITY project LIFE10 NAT/IT/000239, p. 144.

Basilico L et al (2013) Les invasions d'écrevisses exotiques : impacts écologiques et pistes pour la gestion. Les rencontres de l'ONEMA, 76 pp.

Boets P., Lock K., Cammaerts R., Plu D., Goethals P.L. (2009). Occurrence of the invasive crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard, 1852) in Belgium (Crustacea: Cambaridae). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 139(2):173-176.

Boets P., Lock K., Adriaens T., Mouton A., Goethals P.L.M. (2012). Distribution of crayfish (Decapoda, Astacoidea) in Flanders (Belgium): an update. *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 142(1):86-92.

Couperus, A.S. 2015. Kennisdocument rivierkreeften. IMARES rapport c190/15. 24 pp.

Frütiger A, Müller R. (2002) Controlling unwanted *Procambarus clarkii* populations by fish predation. Freshw. Crayfish 13, 309–315.

Gherardi, F., Aquiloni, L., Diéguez-Uribeondo, J., & Tricarico, E. (2011). Managing invasive crayfish: is there a hope? Aquatic Sciences 73(2), 185-200.

Hein, C. L., Roth, B. M., Ives, A. R., & Zanden, M. J. V. (2006). Fish predation and trapping for rusty crayfish (Orconectes rusticus) control: a whole-lake experiment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63*(2), 383-393.

Hein CL, Zanden V, Jake M, Magnuson JJ, (2007). Intensive trapping and increased fish predation cause massive population decline of an invasive crayfish. *Freshwater Biology* 52(6): 1134-1146

Kerby, J. L., Riley, S. P., Kats, L. B., & Wilson, P. (2005). Barriers and flow as limiting factors in the spread of an invasive crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) in southern California streams. *Biological Conservation* 126(3), 402-409.

Koese, B and Soes, M. (2011). De Nederlandse rivierkreeften (Astacoidea & Parastacoidea). Entomologische tabelle, suppl Nederlandse Faunistische Mededelingen.

Müller K W, Frütiger A (2001) Effects of intensive trapping and fish predation on an (unwanted) population of *Procambarus clarkii*. Annual meeting of the North American Benthological Society. LaCrosse, WI.

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Souty-Grosset, C., Anastácio, P. M., Aquiloni, L., Banha, F., Choquer, J., Chucholl, C., & Tricarico, E. (2016). The red swamp crayfish Procambarus clarkii in Europe: Impacts on aquatic ecosystems and human well-being. *Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters*, *58*, 78-93.

Stebbing, P., Longshaw, M., & Scott, A. (2014). Review of methods for the management of non-indigenous crayfish, with particular reference to Great Britain. *Ethology Ecology & Evolution*, 26(2-3), 204-231.

Walter, K. (2012). An evaluation of whether artificial refuge traps or baited traps are the most effective method for trapping White-clawed crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes). *The Plymouth Student Scientist*, *5*(2), 443-485

3.5.9 Red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* (rode Amerikaanse rivierkreeft, écrevisse de Louisiane)



©Mike Murphy

Invasion scenario

- Invasion situation and history in Belgium: During the reference period 2000-2015, the red swamp crayfish was observed in 44 1km squares in the Atlantic bioregion and 9 squares in the Continental bioregion. Most populations originate from recent (> 2008) introductions and this pattern is still visible in the distribution. It is known to occur in a few private isolated fishery ponds from both Atlantic and Continental bioregions with low to medium densities. In addition, distribution nuclei with high densities are observed at several locations in the Atlantic region, i.e. in a pond network along tributaries of the Dendre river near Soignies, several canals with slow flowing water in the polders area around Brugge (e.g. Damse Vaart), kasteelbeek (Ruddervoorde), Mechelen, Laakdal etc. Captive holding of *P. clarkii* by pet owners in Belgium is highly likely as it is one of the most popular crayfish species in pet shops.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The species is in expansion (Boets et al. 2009), hence a growing number of recent records, and probably meanwhile has a much larger distribution e.g. in Antwerp and Limburg. Population numbers may be underestimated due to difficulties to record crayfish in private ponds and the absence of dedicated crayfish monitoring.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: The center of distribution in the Netherlands is located in the randstad and around some big cities out there but the species is expanding rapidly (Couperus 2015). Established populations are present near the Belgian border, i.e. in Baarle-Hertog, in Roermond and in Maastricht in the Netherlands (Atlantic bioregion) and in France, in the Avesnois region and around Montmédy (Continental bioregion). So far not reported for Luxemburg (neobiota.lu).



	ATL	CONT
UTM 10km	20	6
UTM 5km	27	7
UTM 1km	44	9
% 1km SAC	11%	57%
Clustering index	0.37	1.00

1. Management strategy – eradication

Methods and techniques: To achieve eradication, an integrated approach is applied using a range of control and containment techniques to suit different habitats and multiple life stages as proposed by Stebbing et al. (2014) and Southy-Grosset et al. (2016). Where possible, a combination of pond drawdown and fencing is implemented (Basilico et al 2013). Ponds are drained allowing water to pour out of water systems or by active pumping; drawdown is maintained during at least two successive years in order to kill burrowed animals by drought and especially frost during the wintertime. A barrier is installed around the drained ponds to avoid crayfish emigration and facilitate hand capture after drainage. At other sites, crayfish populations are controlled using a combination of intensive trapping with either eel predation (Müller & Frütiger 2001, Frütiger & Müller 2002) or sterile male release (SMRT) (Aquiloni & Zanetti 2014; Zanetti & Rucli 2014). Trapping is conducted during extensive periods using high trap density, high emptying frequency (at least every two days - http://www.life-rarity.eu/) and attractive baits as fish (Gherardi et al 2011, Stebbing et al 2014). Baited traps of various designs (Swedish traps, Evo-traps, collapsible traps, fyke nets, seine nets, etc.) or artificial refuge traps (ART) which are more efficient at catching subadult stages and gravid females

(Walter 2012), can be used. Most of the operations are coordinated and conducted by public water managers and/or specialised private companies commissioned by regional public authorities with the help of volunteers for trapping. The use of biocides, electrofishing and crayfish pathogens as biocontrol agents are <u>not</u> part of the strategy because of limited efficiency and/or legal limitations and/or strong non-target effects in the Belgian context (see e.g. Aldridge et al. 2015)

• <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Once the species has been removed, the location is monitored to ensure *P. clarkii* does not recolonize. This is done using trapping systems and environmental DNA.

1. Management strategy – spread limitation

- <u>Aim</u>: Option 2 Stand-still principle with core area(s) To this end, any new population found out of the core areas is eradicated using the methods described in the eradication strategy.
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: Containment measures aiming to prevent further spread of *Procambarus clarkii* to new localities are applied. The spread limitation strategy aims at confining the crayfish into two core areas, i.e. along the Dendre river system and in the polders area around Brugge; those two populations are subjected to environmental managements techniques in order to decrease crayfish invasiveness, including reduction of water nutrients and enhancement of predatory fish populations. Downstream migration is also reduced as much as possible through the use of barriers and flow management as suggested by Kerby et al (2005). Any other population is eradicated using the same IPM approach as proposed in the eradication strategy. Surveillance, prevention and verification of the success of pest control is implemented as in the eradication strategy with a strong focus on any population found outside the two core areas.
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: At locations where the species has been removed, monitoring is performed to ensure *P. clarkii* does not recolonize. This is done using trapping systems and environmental DNA.



Results

Experts attributed an average feasibility score of medium to the eradication and the spread limitation scenario. The average scoring of the criteria is also similar for the two different scenarios, with the largest difference appearing to be the appreciation of the window of opportunity and to lesser extent the effectiveness (both score medium to high in the spread limitation strategy and between low and medium in the eradication scenario). Cost and practicality are scored between low and medium in both scenarios. practicality and impact are scored between medium and high in both scenarios. Acceptability is scored high in both scenarios.

Output of the workshop

1. General considerations

According to the workshop participants, complete eradication is not feasible at the national level, also reintroduction can't be avoided from neighbouring countries. Nevertheless, it seems to be the crayfish species that we can still act on for Belgium. The workshop participants could not make a clear recommendation for this species because of lack of information. They indicated more research, especially on the feasibility of methods, is needed before a decision can be taken.

2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants could not indicate clearly the strategy to aim for. The general idea is that the spread limitation strategy would be feasible but in a less strict approach than the one presented in the assessment. A study should be pointing which populations could be eradicated and which could not.

References

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

Aquiloni L, Zanetti M (2014) Integrated intensive trapping and SMRT approach for the control of *Procambarus clarkii*: the Casette case study In: RARITY.Eradicate invasive Louisiana red swamp and preserve native white clawed crayfish in Friuli Venezia Giulia. Published by the financial contribution of the EC within the RARITY project LIFE10 NAT/IT/000239, p. 144.

Basilico L et al (2013) Les invasions d'écrevisses exotiques : impacts écologiques et pistes pour la gestion. Les rencontres de l'ONEMA, 76 pp.

Boets P., Lock K., Cammaerts R., Plu D., Goethals P.L. (2009). Occurrence of the invasive crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard, 1852) in Belgium (Crustacea: Cambaridae). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 139(2):173-176.

Boets P., Lock K., Adriaens T., Mouton A., Goethals P.L.M. (2012). Distribution of crayfish (Decapoda, Astacoidea) in Flanders (Belgium): an update. *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 142(1):86-92.

Frütiger A, Müller R. (2002) Controlling unwanted *Procambarus clarkii* populations by fish predation. Freshw. Crayfish 13, 309–315.

Gherardi, F., Aquiloni, L., Diéguez-Uribeondo, J., & Tricarico, E. (2011). Managing invasive crayfish: is there a hope? Aquatic Sciences 73(2), 185-200.

Hein, C. L., Roth, B. M., Ives, A. R., & Zanden, M. J. V. (2006). Fish predation and trapping for rusty crayfish (Orconectes rusticus) control: a whole-lake experiment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63*(2), 383-393.

Hein CL, Zanden V, Jake M, Magnuson JJ, (2007). Intensive trapping and increased fish predation cause massive population decline of an invasive crayfish. *Freshwater Biology* 52(6): 1134-1146

Kerby, J. L., Riley, S. P., Kats, L. B., & Wilson, P. (2005). Barriers and flow as limiting factors in the spread of an invasive crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) in southern California streams. *Biological Conservation* 126(3), 402-409.

Müller K W, Frütiger A (2001) Effects of intensive trapping and fish predation on an (unwanted) population of Procambarus clarkii. Annual meeting of the North American Benthological Society. LaCrosse, WI.

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques : connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Souty-Grosset, C., Anastácio, P. M., Aquiloni, L., Banha, F., Choquer, J., Chucholl, C., & Tricarico, E. (2016). The red swamp crayfish Procambarus clarkii in Europe: Impacts on aquatic ecosystems and human well-being. *Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters*, *58*, 78-93.

Stebbing, P., Longshaw, M., & Scott, A. (2014). Review of methods for the management of non-indigenous crayfish, with particular reference to Great Britain. *Ethology Ecology & Evolution*, *26*(2-3), 204-231.

Walter, K. (2012). An evaluation of whether artificial refuge traps or baited traps are the most effective method for trapping White-clawed crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes). *The Plymouth Student Scientist*, *5*(2), 443-485

Zanetti, M, Rucli, A (2014) Combating the spread of the Louisiana red swamp crayfish *P. clarkii*. In: RARITY. Eradicate invasive Louisiana red swamp and preserve native white clawed crayfish in Friuli Venezia Giulia. Published by the financial contribution of the EC within the RARITY project LIFE10 NAT/IT/000239, pp. 33-34.

3.5.10 Marbled crayfish *Procambarus fallax* f. *virginalis* (marmerkreeft, écrevisse marbrée)



©Christoph Chucholl

Invasion scenario

- <u>Invasion situation and history in Belgium</u>: Not currently established in the wild in Belgium. Therefore, the invasion scenario is that at the point of detection there will be several individuals reported in connected artificial fishing ponds (closed system) in the river basin of the Dyle. This introductions is the result of the dumping of excess animals from an aquarium.
- <u>Reliability of the BE distribution</u>: The species is widely present and very popular in the aquarium culture (Pakota et al. 2015) yet has never been reported in the wild in Belgium. Whether it is really absent is difficult to say in the absence of dedicated crayfish monitoring.
- <u>Invasion situation in neighbouring countries</u>: In the Netherlands only known from Dordrecht where the species was found in 2004 but has not been reported since despite dedicated sampling (Koese and Soes 2011). Therefore it is assumed the species is not established in the Netherlands (Couperus, 2015). In Germany, established populations are known in Nordrhein-Westfalen and Baden-Wurttemberg and new populations continue to be discovered (Chucholl et al. 2012).
- 1. Management strategy eradication
- <u>Methods and techniques</u>: In the context of a close system, the best method is a combination of pond drawdown, liming and fencing (Basilico et al 2013). The artificial fishing ponds are drained in allowing water to pour out of water systems or by active pumping; drawdown is maintained during at least 2 successive years in order to kill burrowed animals by drought and especially frost during the wintertime. A barrier is installed around the drained ponds to avoid crayfish emigration and facilitate hand capture after drainage. The use of sexual pheromones, pesticides, electrofishing and crayfish pathogens as biocontrol agents are not part of the strategy because of limited efficiency and/or legal limitations and/or strong non-target effects in the Belgian context (see e.g. Aldridge et al. 2015).
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Once the species has been removed, the location including upstream and downstream areas are monitored by a dedicated team to ensure *P. fallax* does not recolonize. This is done using trapping systems and environmental DNA.
- 1. Management strategy spread limitation
 - <u>Aim</u>: Option 1 Stand-still principle with a single or a few patches

- Methods and techniques: The spread limitation strategy aims at limiting the presence of the species in Belgium to this artificial fishing pond system. Upstream and downstream migration is also reduced as much as possible through the use of barriers and flow management as suggested by Kerby et al (2005). Upstream and downstream areas adjacent to the site are regularly and continuously monitored in the long term by a professional team in order to react as quickly as possible if animals colonize it. In case animals are detected in these adjacent areas or in other water bodies in Belgium, the strategy is to eradicate them. To reach this objective, a range of control and containment techniques to suit different habitats and multiple life stages is conducted as proposed by Stebbing et al (2014) and Southy-Grosset et al (2016). Where possible, a combination of pond drawdown, liming and fencing is implemented (Basilico et al 2013). Ponds are drained in allowing water to pour out of water systems or by active pumping; drawdown is maintained during at least 2 successive years in order to kill burrowed animals by drought and especially frost during the wintertime. A barrier is installed around the drained ponds to avoid crayfish emigration and facilitate hand capture after drainage. In other sites, crayfish populations are controlled using a combination of intensive trapping with either eel predation (Müller & Frütiger 2001, Frütiger & Müller 2002) and/or sterile male release (Aquiloni & Zanetti 2014). Trapping is conducted during extensive periods using high trap density, high emptying frequency (at least twice a week) and attractive baits as fish (Gherardi et al 2011, Stebbing et al 2014). Most of the operations are coordinated and conducted by public water managers and/or specialised private companies commissioned by regional public authorities with the help of volunteers for trapping. The use of sexual pheromones, pesticides, electrofishing and crayfish pathogens as biocontrol agents are not part of the strategy because of limited efficiency and/or legal limitations and/or strong non-target effects in the Belgian context (see e.g. Aldridge et al. 2015)
- <u>Post-intervention verification</u>: Once the species has been removed, the location including upstream and downstream areas are monitored by a dedicated team to ensure *P. P. fallax* does not recolonize. This is done using trapping systems and environmental DNA.



Results

The average feasibility score of the eradication and the spread limitation scenario is medium. In both strategies, the average scoring of 5 out of 7 criteria is above medium (for effectiveness, practicality, cost, impact, acceptability). The average score given for reintroduction is close to medium. Window of opportunity is scored - on average - as low, with a lot of variation around the mean. Variation around the mean is large for 4 criteria of the spread limitation strategy.

Output of the workshop

1. General considerations

No general recommendations were made during the workshop

2. Recommendations for management

The workshop participants agreed on the eradication strategy as a guiding principle of the EU Regulation for species not yet present in Belgium.

References

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

Aquiloni L, Zanetti M (2014) Integrated intensive trapping and SMRT approach for the control of Procambarus clarkii: the Casette case study, In: RARITY. Eradicate invasive Louisiana red swamp and preserve native white clawed crayfish in Friuli Venezia Giulia. Published by the financial contribution of the EC within the RARITY project LIFE10 NAT/IT/000239, p. 144

Basilico L et al (2013) Les invasions d'écrevisses exotiques : impacts écologiques et pistes pour la gestion. Les rencontres de l'ONEMA, 76 pp.

Couperus, A.S. 2015. Kennisdocument rivierkreeften. IMARES rapport c190/15. 24 pp.

Frütiger A, Müller R. (2002) Controlling unwanted Procambarus clarkii populations by fish predation. Freshw. Crayfish 13, 309–315.

Gherardi, F., Aquiloni, L., Diéguez-Uribeondo, J., & Tricarico, E. (2011). Managing invasive crayfish: is there a hope? *Aquatic Sciences*, 73(2), 185-200.

Kerby, J. L., Riley, S. P., Kats, L. B., & Wilson, P. (2005). Barriers and flow as limiting factors in the spread of an invasive crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) in southern California streams. *Biological Conservation*, *126*(3), 402-409.

Koese, B and Soes, M. (2011). De Nederlandse rivierkreeften (Astacoidea & Parastacoidea). Entomologische tabellen, suppl. Nederlandse Faunistische Mededelingen.

Müller K W, Frütiger A (2001) Effects of intensive trapping and fish predation on an (unwanted) population of Procambarus clarkii. Annual meeting of the North America Benthological Society. LaCrosse, WI.

Patoka J., Kalous L., Kopecký, O. (2015). Imports of ornamental crayfish: the first decade from the Czech Republic's perspective. *Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems* 416, 04

Souty-Grosset, C., Anastácio, P. M., Aquiloni, L., Banha, F., Choquer, J., Chucholl, C., & Tricarico, E. (2016). The red swamp crayfish Procambarus clarkii in Europe: Impacts on aquatic ecosystems and human well-being. *Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters*, *58*, 78-93.

Stebbing, P., Longshaw, M., & Scott, A. (2014). Review of methods for the management of non-indigenous crayfish, with particular reference to Great Britain. *Ethology Ecology & Evolution*, *26*(2-3), 204-231.

References

Adriaens T, Van Landuyt W, Denys L & Packet J (2009) Advies met betrekking tot in een beheerregeling op te nemen uitheemse en invasieve water- en oeverplantensoorten. Advies INBO.A.2009.269.

Adriaens T. (2013). Canada geese in Flanders urban areas. In: Van Ham C. (editor). Invasive alien species: the urban dimension, Case studies on strengthening local action in Europe. Brussels, Belgium: IUCN European Union Representative Office. 103pp.

Adriaens T. (2014). Waarnemingen.be as an early-detection tool, from centralised reporting to effective early warning. Workshop Aliens on the horizon. Brussels, 12 March 2014.

Adriaens T., Baert K., Breyne P., Casaer J., Devisscher S., Onkelinx T., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2015). Successful eradication of a suburban Pallas's squirrel *Callosciurus erythraeus* (Pallas 1779) (Rodentia, Sciuridae) population in Flanders (northern Belgium). *Biological Invasions* 17(9):2517-2526.

Adriaens T., Devisscher S., Louette G. (2013). Risk analysis of American bullfrog *Lithobates catesbeianus* (Shaw). Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2013 (INBO.R.2013.41). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Adriaens T., D'hondt B. (2017). Bestrijding Rosse stekelstaart op kruissnelheid. Natuur.Focus 16(2):96-97.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F. (2014). RINSE Partner Report: Field trial Egyptian goose. Brussels: INBO.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., Devisscher S., Devos K., Casaer J. (2014a) Integrated management of invasive geese populations in an international context: a case study in Belgium & The Netherlands. Science for the New Regulation 2/04/14 Ghent, België.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., Devisscher S., K D., Casaer J. (2011). Simultaantelling overzomerende ganzen in Oost- en West-Vlaanderen. *Vogelnieuws* 17:24-30.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., Stuyck J., Van Den Berge K., Vandegehuchte M., Casaer J. (2015b). Surveillance voor invasieve exoten: samen op de uitkijk. *Zoogdier* 26(1):17-19.

Adriaens T., Huysentruyt F., van Daele P., Devos K., Casaer J. (2012). Evaluatie bescherming en beheer van ganzenpopulaties. In: Van Gossum P. (editor). Inhoudsevaluatie van natuurbeleid in landbouwgebied: case vogelbeheer en erosiebestrijding. INBO.R.2012.50. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel. p 31-43.

Adriaens T., Spanoghe G., Devos K. (2011). Advies betreffende de beheermaatregelen voor de rosse stekelstaart (*Oxyura jamaicensis*). Adviezen van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.2530.

Adriaens T., Standaert S., Huysentruyt F. (2014b). Controlling invasive geese in the RINSE region - A collaborative endeavor. Bridging the Gap: Working together to tackle invasive non-native species in Europe RINSE closing conference $23/09/14 \rightarrow 23/09/14$ - Norwich, Verenigd Koninkrijk.

Adriaens T., Van Daele P., Huysentruyt F., Devisscher S., Casaer J., Devos K. (2012). Junitelling van West-Vlaamse zomerganzen. *Vogelnieuws* 17:24-30.

Adriaens T., Van Landuyt W., Packet J., Denys L. (2009). Advies met betrekking tot in een beheerregeling op te nemen uitheemse en invasieve water- en oeverplantensoorten. Brussel. INBO.A.2009.269.

Adriaens T., Verzelen Y., Pieters S., Stuyck J. (2017). Pallas' eekhoorn uitgeroeid in Dadizele (West-Vlaanderen). De Levende Natuur 118(4):130-132.

Adriaens, T. & D'hondt, B. (2017) Uitkijken voor de Aziatische hoornaar. Natuur.focus 16, 2, blz. 93-95 3 blz.

Adriaens, T., 2016. Advies over de introductieroutes van voor de Europese Unie zorgwekkende invasieve exoten in Vlaanderen. Advies van het INBO INBO.A.3408. https://data.inbo.be/purews/files/11864217/INBO.A.3408.pdf

Adriaens, T., Denys, L., Devisscher, S., Leyssen, A. & Van Landuyt, W. (2016) Advies over de verspreiding van invasieve aquatische soorten in Vlaanderen. INBO.A.3390, Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, 24 pp.

Adriaens, T., F. Huysentruyt, J. Stuyck, K. Van Den Berge, M. Vandegehuchte, J. Casaer (2015b). Surveillance voor invasieve exoten: samen op de uitkijk. *Zoogdier* 26(1): 17-19.

Adriaens, T., Sutton-Croft, M., Owen, K., Brosens, D., van Valkenburg, J., Kilbey, D., Groom, Q., Ehmig, C., Thürkow, F., Van Hende, P., Schneider, K. (2015a). Trying to engage the crowd in recording invasive alien species in Europe: experiences from two smartphone applications in northwest Europe. *Manag. Biol. Inv.* 6(2): 215–225.

Adriaens, T., Vandegehuchte, M., Casaer, J. (2015). Guidance for drafting best management practices for invasive alien species. Report of the Research Institute for Nature and Forest INBO.R.2015.7041776, Brussels.

Adriaens, T., Y. Barbier, E. Branquart, M. Coupremanne, P. Desmet, S. Devisscher, S. van Hoey, S. Vanderhoeven, H. Verreycken, C. Prévot (2017). Belgian baseline distribution of invasive alien species of Union Concern (Regulation (EU) 1143/2014) [dataset]. http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.438.709

Aimont H, Mahy G & Monty A (2014) Etat des lieux de l'occurrence d'espèces végétales exotiques dans les habitats rivulaires d'intérêt biologique et patrimonial. Rapport final Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech.

Alberternst, B. & Nawrath, S. (2013): Maßnahmen zur Entfernung des Amerikanischen Stinktierkohls (*Lysichiton americanus*) von naturnahen Feuchtstandorten des Taunus. Erfolgskontrolle und Dokumentation der Bestandsentwicklung bis 2013 im Auftrag des Regierungspräsidiums Darmstadt, 44 S.

Aldridge D C et al (2015) Control of freshwater invasive species: global evidence for the effects of selected interventions. The University of Cambridge, UK.

Allen, W.W. (1982). Habitat suitability index models: fox squirrel. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Services. Fort Collins, Colorado.

ANB, INBO. (2016). Plan van aanpak voor Chinese wolhandkrab in Vlaanderen (2016-2018). Agentschap voor Natuur & Bos, i.s.m. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek.

Andersen MC, Adams H, Hope B, Powell M (2004). Risk analysis for invasive species: general framework and research needs. *Risk analysis* 24:893-900.

Anselin A., Devos K. (2005). Wintertellingen van verwilderde ganzen in Vlaanderen met bijzondere aandacht voor de Canadese gans *Branta canadensis*. *Natuur.Oriolus* 71:90-102.

Aquiloni L, Zanetti M (2014) Integrated intensive trapping and SMRT approach for the control of *Procambarus clarkii*: the Casette case study In: RARITY.Eradicate invasive Louisiana red swamp and preserve native white clawed crayfish in Friuli Venezia Giulia. Published by the financial contribution of the EC within the RARITY project LIFE10 NAT/IT/000239, p. 144.

Aquiloni L., Becciolini A., Trunfio C., Berti R. & Gherardi F. (2009). Managing invasive crayfish: use of X-ray sterilization of males. *Freshwater Biology* 54: 1510-1519

Austin, J., Chamberlain, M. J., Leopold, B. D., & Burger Jr, L. W. (2004). An evaluation of EGG[™] and wire cage traps for capturing raccoons. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *32*(2), 351-356.

Baars J.-R., Coetzee J., Martin G., Hill M., Caffrey J. (2010). Natural enemies from South Africa for biological control of *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss ex Wager (Hydrocharitaceae) in Europe. Hydrobiologia 656(1):149-158.

Baert K., Stuyck J., Breyne P., Maes D. & Casaer J. (2012). Distribution of anticoagulant resistance in the brown rat in Belgium. *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 142(1): 39-48.

Bailey, J.E. & Calhoun, A.J.K. (2008). Comparison of Three Physical Management Techniques for Controlling Variable-leaf Milfoil in Maine Lakes. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management, 46:163–167.

Baiwy E, Schockert V, Branquart E (2013) Risk analysis of the raccoon dog *Nyctereutes procyonoides*—risk analysis report of nonnative organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW/Editions, Gembloux.

Baiwy E., Schockert V., Branquart E. (2012). Risk analysis of the Reeves' muntjac *Muntiacus reevesi*, risk analysis report of nonnative organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW / Editions, 36 pages. Baiwy, E., Schockert, V. and Branquart, E. (2015) Risk analysis of the Fox squirrel, *Sciurus niger*, Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW / Editions, updated version, 34 pages

Baker S J, Clarke C N (1988). Cage trapping coypus (Myocastor coypus) on baited rafts. Journal of Applied Ecology, 25: 41-48

Baker S., Feare C., Wilson C., Malam D., Sellars G. (1993). Prevention of breeding of Canada geese by coating eggs with liquid paraffin. *International Journal of Pest Management* 39(2):246-249.

Baker, S.J. 2006. The eradication of coypus (*Myocastor coypus*) from Britain: the elements required for a successful campaign. In Assessment and Control of Biological Invasion Risks (eds Koike, F., Clout, M.N., Kawamichi, M., De Poorter, M. & Iwatsuki, K.), pp.142–147. Shoukadoh Book Sellers, Kyoto, Japan, and IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

Barbet-Massin, M. et al. (2013) Climate change increases the risk of invasion by the Yellow-legged hornet. *Biological Conservation* 157: 4–10.

Barden L, 1991. Element Stewardship Abstract: Microstegium vimineum. Arlington, Virginia, USA: The Nature Conservancy, 6.

Basilico L et al (2013) Les invasions d'écrevisses exotiques : impacts écologiques et pistes pour la gestion. Les rencontres de l'ONEMA, 76 pp.

Bastian, M., 2016. Kanadagans (Branta canadensis) und Nilgans (Alopochen aegyptiaca) in Luxemburg. Bericht zur Erfassung der Kanadagans und der Nilgans im Jahr 2016 zur Untersuchung der Verbreitung, der Bestände sowie der Bestandsentwicklung im Großherzogtum Luxemburg. Centrale ornithologique Luxembourg, natur&ëmwelt a.s.b.l., Kockelscheuer. 21 p.

Belgian Scientific Council on Invasive Alien Species (2017). Opinion note on the relevance for including *Elodea nuttallii* in the IAS list of EU concern

Benmergui, M., Bulliffon, F. & Fouque, C. (2011). L'Ouette d'Égypte *Alopochen aegyptiaca* : synthèse bibliographique et perspectives de gestion pour la France. Rapp. Int. ONCFS. 42 p.

Bentley M.G. (2012). *Eriocheir sinensis* H. Milne-Edwards (Chinese mitten crab). In: Francis R.A. (editor). Handbook of Global Freshwater Invasive Species. London, New York: Earthscan. p 185-194.

Berroneau M., Detaint M., Coic C. (2008). Bilan du programme de mise en place d'un stratégie d'eradication de la grenouille taureau *Lithobates catesbeianus* (Shaw, 1802) en Aquitaine (2003- 2007) et perspectives. *Bulletin de la Société De Herpétology Francais* 127: 35-45.

Bhowmik PC, 1982. Herbicide control of common milkweed (Asclepias syriaca). Weed Science, 30:349-351.

Bodie, J. R., & Semlitsch, R. D. (2000) Spatial and temporal use of floodplain habitats by lentic and lotic species of aquatic turtles. *Oecologia*, *122*(1), 138-146.

Boets P., Brosens D., Lock K., Adriaens T., Aelterman B., Mertens J., Goethals P. (2016). Alien macroinvertebrates in Flanders (Belgium). Aquatic Invasions 11(2):131–144

Boets P., Lock K., Adriaens T., Goethals P. (2014). Exotische macro-invertebraten in Vlaanderen, verspreiding en impact op inheemse waterfauna. *Natuur.Focus* 13(1):22-30.

Boets P., Lock K., Adriaens T., Mouton A., Goethals P.L.M. (2012). Distribution of crayfish (Decapoda, Astacoidea) in Flanders (Belgium): an update. *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 142(1):86-92.

Boets P., Lock K., Cammaerts R., Plu D., Goethals P.L. (2009). Occurrence of the invasive crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard, 1852) in Belgium (Crustacea: Cambaridae). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 139(2):173-176.

Bogutskaya, N.G. & Naseka, A.M. (2002) Perccottus glenii Dybowski, 1877. Freshwater Fishes of Russia, Zoological Institute RAS. http://www.zin.ru/Animalia/Pisces/eng/taxbase_e/species_e/perccottus/perccottus_glenii_eng.pdf

Bomford, M., and P. O'Brien. 1995. Eradication or control for vertebrate pests? Wildlife Society Bulletin 23:249-255.

Booy, O. (2015). Risk management and prioritisation in GB. GB Non-native Species Secretariat.

Booy, O., A.C. Mill, H.E. Roy, A. Hiley, N. Moore, P. Robertson, S. Baker, M. Brazier, M. Bue, R. Bullock, S. Campbell, D. Eyre, J. Foster, M.H.-E., J. Long, C. Macadam, C. Morrison-Bell, J. Mumford, J. Newman, D. Parrott, R. Payne, T. Renals, E. Rodgers, M. Spencer, P. Stebbing, M.S.-C. ., K.J. Walker, A. Ward, S. Whittaker, G. Wyn. (2017). Risk management to prioritise the eradication of new and emerging invasive non-native species. *Biol Invasions* 19(8): 2401–2417.

Bos, D. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Ondatra zibethicus*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Bouma, S., Soes, D.M. (2010). A risk analysis of the Chinese mitten crab in The Netherlands. Bureau Waardenburg for Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality, Team Invasive Alien Species. Report nr. 10-025

Branquart E, Barvaux C, Büchler E (2011) Plan de gestion coordonné des populations d'espèces invasives en Wallonie : 1/ La berce du Caucase (*Heracleum mantegazzianum*). Cellule interdépartementale Espèces invasives, Service Public de Wallonie, 28 pp.

Branquart, E. (2007). *ISEIA* protocol. Guidelines for environmental impact assessment and list classification of non-native organisms in Belgium, version 2.1, http://ias.biodiversity.be.

Breault A.M. & Cheng K.M. (1990). Use of Submerged Mist Nets to Capture Diving Birds (La Utilizacion de Redes Sumergidas para Atrapar Aves Zambullidoras). Journal of Field Ornithology 61(3): 328-330.

Bringsøe H. (2006) *Trachemys scripta*. NOBANIS – Invasive Alien Species Fact Sheet. European Network on Invasive Alien Species, 13pp.

Britton J., Brazier M. (2006). Eradicating the invasive topmouth gudgeon, *Pseudorasbora parva*, from a recreational fishery in northern England. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 13(5):329-335.

Britton J.R., Davies G.D., Brazier M. (2010). Towards the successful control of the invasive *Pseudorasbora parva* in the UK. *Biological Invasions* 12(1):125-131.

Burgman, M.A., Fox, J.C. (2003). Bias in species range estimates from minimum convex polygons: implications for conservation and options for improved planning. *Animal Conservation*, 6: 19–28

Buřič, M., M. Hulák, A. Kouba, A. Petrusek, and P. Kozák. (2011). A successful crayfish invader is capable of facultative parthenogenesis: a novel reproductive mode in decapod crustaceans. *PloS ONE* 6:e20281.

Burnam J, Mengak M T (2007) Managing wildlife damage: Nutria (*Myocaster coypus*). WSFNR Wildlife Management Series No. 12. 6 pages.

CABI - <u>http://www</u>	Invasive w.cabi.org/i	Species sc/datashee	Compendium 2 <u>et/107826</u> on 31	(2008) 07-2017.	Datasheet	:	Gunnera	tinctoria.	Downloaded	from
CABI - http://www	Invasive w.cabi.org/i	Species sc/datashee	Compendium et/109155 on 28-	(2009) 07-2017.	Datasheet	:	Persicaria	perfoliata.	Downloaded	from
CABI - http://www	Invasive w.cabi.org/i	Species sc/datashee	Compendium et/7249 on 27-07	(2010) -2017.	Datasheet	:	Asclepias	syriaca.	Downloaded	from
CABI -	Invasive	•	Compendium (et/115603 on 28-	. ,	atasheet :	Mi	crostegium	vimineum.	Downloaded	from
CABI -	Invasive	Species	Compendium et/120209 on 27-	(2015)	Datasheet	:	Heracleum	persicum.	Downloaded	from
CABI - <u>http://www</u>	Invasive w.cabi.org/i		Compendium et/108958 on 27-	,	Datasheet :	Н	eracleum	sosnowskyi.	Downloaded	from
CABI - http://www	Invasive w.cabi.org/i	Species sc/datashee	Compendium et/110577 on 01-	(2017) 08-2017.	Datasheet	:	Perccottu	s glenii.	Downloaded	from
CABI -	Invasive	Species	Compendium	(2017).	Datasheet	:	Corvus	splendens.	Downloaded	from

Cabrera-Walsh G., Schooler S., Julien M. (2011). Biology and preliminary host range of *Hydrotimetes natans* Kolbe (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), a natural enemy candidate for biological control of *Cabomba caroliniana* Gray (Cabombaceae) in Australia. Austral Entomology 50(2):200-206.

Caffrey J., Millane M., Evers S., Moran H. (2011) Management of *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridley) moss in Lough Corrib - a review. Biology and Environment: Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. p 205-212.

Caffrey J.M., Millane M., Evers S., Moron H., Butler M. (2010). A novel approach to aquatic weed control and habitat restoration using biodegradable jute matting. Aquatic Invasions 5(2):123-129.

Casaer J., Boone N., Devisscher S., Vercammen J., Adriaens T. (2015). Best practice voor beheer van Chinese muntjak Muntiacus reevesi in Vlaanderen. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2015 (INBO.R.2015.7092003). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Caudell J.N. & Conover M.R. (2007). Drive-by netting: a technique for capturing grebes and other diving waterfowl. *Human-Wildlife Conflicts* 1(1): 49-52.

Chapuis JL, Gerriet O, Pisanu B, Pauvert S (2014) Plan national de lutte relatif à l'écureuil à ventre rouge (*Callosciurus erythraeus*) dans les Alpes-Maritimes: bilan et perspectives. Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris, Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de Nice, DREAL Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur. http://ecureuils.mnhn.fr/sites/default/ files/documents/plan_evr_bilan_2012-2014_et_perspectives_2015-2018.pdf. Accessed 25 Mar 2015

Chapuis, J.-L., Obolenskaya, E.V., Pisanu, B., Lissovsky, A.A. (2011) Datasheet on *Tamias sibiricus*. CABI, Wellingford, UK (<u>http://www.cabi.org/isc/</u>)

Clarke, S., & Newman, J. R. (2002). Assessment of alien invasive aquatic weeds in the UK. In 13th Australian Weeds Conference: weeds threats now and forever (pp. 142-145).

Clergeau P., Yésou P. (2006). Behavioural flexibility and numerous potential sources of introduction for the sacred ibis: causes of concern in western Europe? *Biological Invasions* 8(6):1381-1388.

Couperus, A.S. 2015. Kennisdocument rivierkreeften. IMARES rapport c190/15. 24 pp.

Crombaghs B.H.J.M. (2012) De brulkikker in Baarlo. Voortgangsverslag eliminatie van een populatie brulkikkers Lithobates catesbeianus in een particuliere parktuin in Baarlo. Natuurbalans-Limes Divergens BV, Nijmegen.

Cummings G.E. & Hewitt O.H. (1964). Capturing waterfowl and marsh birds at night with light and sound. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 28(1): 120-126.

D'hondt, B., Vanderhoeven, S., Roelandt, S., Mayer, F., Versteirt, V., Adriaens, T., Ducheyne, E., San Martin, G., Grégoire, J., Stiers, I., Quoilin, S., Cigar, J., Heughebaert, A., Branquart, E. (2015). *Harmonia*+ and *Pandora*+: risk screening tools for potentially invasive plants, animals and their pathogens. *Biol Invasions* 17:1869–1883.

Dahl, F. & Åhlén, P.A. (2017) Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Nyctereutes procyonoides*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Dahl, F., Åhlén, P.A. & Granström, A. (2010) The management of raccoon dogs (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*) in Scandinavia. In: Aliens: The Invasive Species Bulletin (Eds : Genovesi, P. & Scalera, R.). Newsletter of the IUCN/SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group.

Davidson, Elizabeth W.; Jennifer Snyder; Donald Lightner; Gregory Ruthig; Julie Lucas; Joel Gilley, 2010. Exploration of potential microbial control agents for the invasive crayfish, *Orconectes virilis*. Biocontrol Science and Technology, 1360-0478, Volume 20, Issue 3, 2010, Pages 297 - 310.

Davies G., Britton J. (2016). Assessment of non-native fish dispersal from a freshwater aquaculture site. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 23(5): 428–430.

Davison P.I., Copp G.H., Créach V., Vilizzi L., Britton J. (2017). Application of environmental DNA analysis to inform invasive fish eradication operations. *The Science of Nature* 104(3-4):35.

de Baerdemaeker, A., Klaassen, O. (2012). Huiskraaien in Hoek van Holland: is de groei eruit? Straatgras 24(4):78-79.

De Beer D. & De Vlaeminck R. (2008) Myriophyllum heterophyllum, een nieuwe invasieve waterplant. Dumortiera 94: 8-13.

Delbart E. (2012). Etat des lieux actualisé des plans d'eau envahis par *Crassula helmsii, Hydrocotyle ranunculoides, Ludwigia* grandiflora, L. peploides et Myriophyllum aquaticum à l'échelle de la Wallonie. Rapport de Convention Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech.

Delbart, E., Mahy, G., & Monty, A. (2013). Efficacité des méthodes de lutte contre le développement de cinq espèces de plantes invasives amphibies: *Crassula helmsii, Hydrocotyle ranunculoides, Ludwigia grandiflora, Ludwigia peploides et Myriophyllum aquaticum* (synthèse bibliographique). *Biotechnologie, Agronomie, Société et Environnement, 17*(1), 87.

Delbart, E., Pieret, N., & Mahy, G. (2010). Les trois principales plantes exotiques envahissantes le long des berges des cours d'eau et plans d'eau en Région wallonne: description et conseils de gestion mécanique et chimique. Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech.

Demolder H., Peymen J., Adriaens T., Anselin A., Belpaire C., Boone N., De Beck L., De Keersmaeker L., De Knijf G., Desmet L. et al. (2016). Natuurindicatoren 2016. Toestand van de natuur in Vlaanderen: cijfers voor het beleid. Brussels.

Denys L., Packet J., Adriaens T. (2014). Advies betreffende de bestrijding van verspreidbladige waterpest, *Lagarosiphon major*, in het bijzonder op twee locaties te Gent. Advies van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.3149: Advies van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek.

Denys L., Packet J., Weiss L., Coenen M. (2003). *Cabomba caroliniana* (Cabombaceae) houdt stand in Holsbeek (Vlaams-Brabant, België). Dumortiera 80:35-40.

Department of Conservation and Recreation Massachusetts (2005). Rapid response plan for variable watermilfoil in Massachusetts. Prepared for the Massachusetts Department of Conservation and Recreation 251 Causeway Street, Suite 700 Boston, MA 02114-2104

Descamps S., De Vocht A. (2017). Movements and habitat use of the invasive species *Lithobates catesbeianus* in the valley of the Grote Nete (Belgium). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 146(2): 90–100

Descamps S., De Vocht A. (2017). The sterile male release approach as a method to control invasive amphibian populations: a preliminary study on Lithobates catesbeianus. *Management of Biological Invasions* 8(3):361-370.

Detaint M. & Coic C. (2006). La Grenoille Taureau *Rana catesbeiana* dans le sud-ouest de la France. Premiers résultats du programme de lutte. *Bulletin de la Société Herpétologique de France* 117: 41-56.

Devisscher S., Adriaens T., Casaer J. (2017). Advies over de bestrijding van stierkikker in de Lokkerse Dammen (Arendonk) en Scheps (Balen). Adviezen van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.3455.

Devisscher S., Adriaens T., De Vocht A., Descamps S., Hoogewijs M., jooris R., van Delft J., Louette G. (2012). Beheer van de stierkikker in Vlaanderen en Nederland. INBO

Devisscher S., Adriaens T., Jooris R., Louette G., Casaer J. (2013). Opvolging van Amerikaanse stierkikker Lithobates catesbeianus in de provincie Antwerpen - Onderzoeksopdracht in het kader van post-Invexo Actieplan stierkikker. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2013 (711500). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Devos K., Onkelinx T. (2013). Overwinterende watervogels in Vlaanderen. Populatieschattingen en trends (1992 tot 2013). Natuur.Oriolus 79(4):113–130.

Di Nino F., Thiébaut G., Muller S. (2005). Response of *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) H. St. John to manual harvesting in the North-East of France. *Hydrobiologia* 551(1):147-157.

Dijkstra V. (2012). Notitie wegvangactie Pallas' eekhoorn Weert, fase 2. Zoogdiervereniging. 14 p.

Dijkstra V. (2013). Het wegvangen van Pallas' eekhoorns in Weert en omgeving 2013. Mei-november. Rapport 2013.38. Bureau van de Zoogdiervereniging, Nijmegen.

Dijkstra V. and La Haye, M. (2017). Het wegvangen van Pallas' eekhoorns bij Weert. De Levende Natuur 118(4): 132-133.

Dijkstra V., Overman W., Verbeylen G. (2009). Inventarisatie Pallas' eekhoorn bij Weert. . Zoogdiervereniging rapport 2009.21. Zoogdiervereniging, Arnhem, Nederland.

Dijkstra, V. (2015). Update exotische eekhoorns. Kijk op Exoten 11:12-13.

Dijkstra, V. (2017). Update exotische eekhoorns. Kijk op Exoten April 2017:15-17.

Dittel A.I., Epifanio C.E. (2009). Invasion biology of the Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis*: A brief review. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 374(2):79-92.

Doubledee, R. A., E. B. Muller, R. M. Nisbet. 2003. Bullfrogs, Disturbance Regimes, and the Persistence of California Red-Legged Frogs. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 67 (2): 424 - 438

Dutton C. (2016). The Grey Squirrel Management Handbook: European Squirrel Initiative.

EPPO (2009) EPPO data sheet on Invasive Alien Plants: *Heracleum mantegazzianum, Heracleum sosnowskyi* and *Heracleum persicum*. EPPO Bulletin 39: 489–499.

EPPO (2009) Report on Pest Risk Analysis for *Lysichiton americanus*, 61 pp. EPPO (2009a) EPPO data sheet on Invasive Alien Plants: *Heracleum mantegazzianum, Heracleum sosnowskyi* and *Heracleum persicum*. EPPO Bulletin 39: 489–499.

EPPO (2009b) PM 9/9: Heracleum mantegazzianum, H. sosnowskyi and H. persicum: national regulatory control systems. EPPO Bulletin 39, 465–470.

EPPO (2014) PM 9/19 (1) Invasive alien aquatic plants. EPPO Bulletin 44 (3): 457-471.

EPPO (2016) Data sheets on pests recommended for regulation *Microstegium vimineum* (Trin.) A. Camus. Bulletin OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 46 (1), 14–19.

Esler KJ, Prozesky H, Sharma GP, McGeoch M (2010). How wide is the "knowing-doing" gap in invasion biology? *Biol Invasions* 12(12):4065-4075.

Essl, F., Hulme, P.E., Jeschke, J.M., Keller, R., Pyšek, P., Richardson, D.M., Waul, W.-C., Bacher, S., Dullinger, S., Estévez, R.A., Kueffer, C., Roy, H.E., Seebens, H., Rabitsch, W. (2016). Scientific and Normative Foundations for the Valuation of Alien-Species Impacts: Thirteen Core Principles. *Bioscience* doi:10.1093/biosci/biw160.

Fischer, M. L., Sullivan, M. J., Greiser, G., Guerrero-Casado, J., Heddergott, M., Hohmann, U., ... & Winter, A. (2016). Assessing and predicting the spread of non-native raccoons in Germany using hunting bag data and dispersal weighted models. *Biological invasions*, *18*(1), 57-71.

Forestry Commission (1999). Recommendations for Fallow, Roe and Muntjac Deer Fencing: New Proposals for Temporary and Reusable Fencing.

Foxcroft, L.C., van Wilgen, B.W., Abrahams, B., Wannenburgh, A., Esler, K.J. (2019). Knowing-doing continuum or knowing-doing gap? Transferring research results to management of biological invasions in South Africa. In: van Wilgen, B., Measey, J., Richardson, D.M., Wilson, J.R., Zengeya, T.A. (Eds.) Biological Invasions in South Africa. Invading Nature - Springer Series in Invasion Ecology.

Fremstad E & Elven R (2006) The alien giant species of Heracleum in Norway. NTNU Norges teknisk-naturvetenskaplige universitet Vitenskapsmuseet Rapport bottanisk serie 2, 1–35.

Fried G., Caño L., Brunel S., Beteta E., Charpentier A., Herrera M., Starfinger U., Panetta F.D. (2016). Monographs on invasive plants in Europe: *Baccharis halimifolia* L. *Botany Letters*:1-27.

Frings, R. M., Vaeßen, S. C., Groß, H., Roger, S., Schüttrumpf, H., & Hollert, H. (2013). A fish-passable barrier to stop the invasion of non-indigenous crayfish. *Biological Conservation*, *159*, 521-529.

Fröberg L, 2010. *Heracleum* L. In: Flora Nordica (Thymelaeaceae to Apiaceae) [ed. by Jonsell B, Karlsson T]. Stockholm, Sweden: The Swedish Museum of Natural History, 224-234.

Frütiger A, Müller R. (2002) Controlling unwanted *Procambarus clarkii* populations by fish predation. Freshw. Crayfish 13, 309–315.

Fujitani M, McFall A, Randler C, Arlinghaus R: Participatory adaptive management leads to environmental learning outcomes extending beyond the sphere of science. Science Advances 2017, 3(6):e1602516.

Gamble, T. O. N. Y. (2006) The relative efficiency of basking and hoop traps for painted turtles (Chrysemys picta). *Herpetological Review*, *37*(3), 308.

Garcia-de-Lomas J., Dana E.D., López-Santiago J., González R., Ceballos G., Ortega F. (2010). Management of the Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (H. Milne Edwards, 1853) in the Guadalquivir Estuary (Southern Spain). *Aquatic Invasions* 5(3):323-330.

Geeraerts-Bracops M. (1974). De strijd tegen de muskusratten. Informatiedossier n° 3 Gemeentekrediet-Leefmilieu, België.

Ghahramanzadeh R et al. (2013) Efficient distinction of invasive aquatic plant species from non-invasive related species using DNA barcoding. Molecular Ecology Resources 13: 21–31.

Gherardi, F., Aquiloni, L., Diéguez-Uribeondo, J., & Tricarico, E. (2011). Managing invasive crayfish: is there a hope? *Aquatic Sciences* 73(2), 185-200.

Gioria, M. and Osborne, B. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Gunnera tinctoria*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Gioria, M., Osborne, B. (2009) The impact of *Gunnera tinctoria* (Molina) Mirbel invasions on soil seed bank communities. *Journal* of *Plant Ecology* 2 (3): 153 – 167

Global Invasive Species Database (2017) Species profile: Orconectes virilis. Downloaded from http://www.iucngisd.org/gisd/species.php?sc=218 on 04-08-2017.

Gompper, M. E., Kays, R. W., Ray, J. C., Lapoint, S. D., Bogan, D. A., & Cryan, J. R. (2006). A comparison of noninvasive techniques to survey carnivore communities in northeastern North America. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, *34*(4), 1142-1151.

Goverse E., Creemers R., Spitzen-Van der Sluijs A.M. (2012). Case study on the removal of the American bullfrog in Baarlo, the Netherlands. Stichting RAVON, Report 2010.139, Nijmegen. 31 p.

Govindarajulu, G., R. Altwegg, B. R. Anholt. 2005. Matrix model investigation of invasive species control: bullfrogs on Vancouver Island. *Ecological Applications* 15(6): 2161-2170

Gozlan R.E., Andreou D., Asaeda T., Beyer K., Bouhadad R., Burnard D., Caiola N., Cakic P., Djikanovic V., Esmaeili H.R. (2010). Pan-continental invasion of *Pseudorasbora parva*: towards a better understanding of freshwater fish invasions. *Fish and Fisheries* 11(4):315-340.

Gregory, R., Failing, K., Harstione, M., Long, G., McDaniels, T., Ohlson, D. (2012). Structured Decision Making: A Practical Guide to Environmental Management Choices. Wiley-Blackwell

Groupe ornithologique et naturaliste du Nord-Pas-de-Calais (2015). Atlas provisoire des mammifères (hors chiroptères) du Nord-Pas-de-Calais Période 2000 - 2014.

Pir J.B., Schley L. (2015). Développement des connaissances sur la répartition et l'écologie des mammifères au Luxembourg entre 1990 et 2015. Bull Soc Nat luxemb 116:437.

Gyimesi A., Lensink R. (2012). Egyptian Goose *Alopochen aegyptiaca*: an introduced species spreading in and from the Netherlands. Wildfowl 62(62):128-145.

Hall, C. (2016) A review of the progress against the action plan for eradication of the ruddy duck (Oxyura jamaicensis) in the western Palearctic (2011-2015). WWT report to the Bern Convention.

Hanson, E., Sytsma, M. (2005). The potential for mitten crab colonization of estuaries on the west coast of North America. Portland State University, Portland.

Hein CL, Roth BM, Ives AR, Zanden V, Jake M, 2006. Fish predation and trapping for rusty crayfish (*Orconectes rusticus*) control: a whole-lake experiment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 63(2): 383-393.

Hein CL, Zanden V, Jake M, Magnuson JJ, (2007). Intensive trapping and increased fish predation cause massive population decline of an invasive crayfish. *Freshwater Biology* 52(6): 1134-1146

Hein, C. L., Roth, B. M., Ives, A. R., & Zanden, M. J. V. (2006). Fish predation and trapping for rusty crayfish (Orconectes rusticus) control: a whole-lake experiment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63*(2), 383-393.

Hoffmann, M., Gonzalez, A.B., Raeder, U. and Melzer, A. (2013). Experimental weed control of *Najas marina* ssp. Intermedia and *Elodea nuttallii* in lakes using biodegradable jute matting. *Journal of Limnology*, 72: 485-493.

Hollander, H. (2016b). Verspreiding van de muntjak in Nederland, Historische en actuele verspreiding. Presentation at muntjak workshop 3/02/2016, INBO Brussels. Available on <u>https://www.inbo.be/nl/muntjak-werkoverleg-en-code-goede-praktijk-nb-0316</u>

Hollander, H., 2013. Risicoanalyse muntjak. Rapport 2013.09. Zoogdiervereniging.

Hollander, H., 2016a. Verspreidingsonderzoek muntjak *Muntiacus reevesi* in Nederland – januari t/m maart 2016. Zoogdiervereniging. 46 pp.

Howald G, Donlan CJ, Galvan JP, Russell JC, Parkes J, Samaniego A et al. (2007) Invasive rodent eradication on islands. *Conservation Biology* 21: 1258–1268

http://www.q-bank.eu/Plants/Controlsheets/Ludwigia State-of-the-Art.pdf

https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/kamerstukken/2015/06/11/beantwoording-kamervragen-over-uitroeien-indischehuiskraai

Hung, K.-C., Liou, T.-C., Chen, T.-C. (2013). The control of invasive alien species - sacred ibis (*Threskiornis aethiopicus*) in Taiwan. Proc. 2nd international congress on biological invasions: Biological Invasions, Ecological Safety and Food Security. Qingdao, China, 23-27 October 2013.

Hussner A et al (2017) Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. *Aquatic Botany* 136: 112–137.

Hussner A, Champion P D, Francis R A (2012) *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (Vell.) Verdcourt (parrot feather). A Handbook of Global Freshwater Invasive Species: 103-111.

Hussner A. & Krause T. (2007). Zur Biologie des aquatischen Neophyten Myriophyllum heterophyllum Michaux in Düsseldorfer Stadtgewässern. Acta Biologica Benrodis 14: 67-76.

Hussner, A. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Elodea nuttallii. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M. J. J. M., Bakker, E. S., Grutters, B. M. C., Haury, J., ... & Anderson, L. W. J. (2017). Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. *Aquatic Botany*, *136*, 112-137.

Hussner, A., Windhaus, M., & Starfinger, U. (2016). From weed biology to successful control: an example of successful management of Ludwigia grandiflora in Germany. *Weed Research*, *56*(6), 434-441.

Hustings F., Koffijberg K. (2015). De ene exoot is de andere niet: Nijlgans en Halsbandparkiet. Vogelbalans 2015.

Huysentruyt F., Adriaens T., Devisscher S., Casaer J. (2013) Evaluation Of A Large Scale Management Strategy For Summering Geese In Flanders And Zealand (Belgium/the Netherlands). The Wildlife Society Annual Conference, Milwaukee, US.

Ihobe (Sociedad pública de gestión ambiental). 2014. Manual de gestión de *Baccharis halimifolia* [Management Manual of *Baccharis halimifolia*]. Bilbao: Ihobe SA, Sociedad Pública de Gestión Ambiental, Gobierno Vasco.

Invexo (2013). Een efficiënte aanpak van invasieve exoten in en rond de waterloop. Eindrapport van de Invexo-casus 'Grote waternavel en andere invasieve (water)planten', Invexo. Link.

IUCN (2001). IUCN red list categories and criteria. version 3.1., Gland.

Jaeger, C. P., & Cobb, V. A. (2012) Comparative spatial ecologies of female painted turtles (Chrysemys picta) and red-eared sliders (Trachemys scripta) at Reelfoot Lake, Tennessee. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 11(1), 59-67.

Jooris R. (2005). De Stierkikker in Vlaanderen. Natuur.Focus 4(4):121-127.

Jooris, R. (2012). Noord-Amerikaanse waterschildpadden in onze waterpartijen: hoe lang nog? http://www.natuurpuntscheldeland.be/downloads/waterschildpadden.pdf Jörg E. (2007) *Lysichiton americanus* Hultén & St. John - Stinktierkohl oder Amerikanischer Riesenaronstab (Araceae). Ein neuer invasiver Neophyt für die Schweiz!. Naturschutzinspektorat, Amt für Landwirtschaft und Natur des Kantons Bern 2S. Judge CA, Neal JC, Shear TH, 2008. Japanese stiltgrass (*Microstegium vimineum*) management for restoration of native plant communities. *Invasive Plant Science and Management*, 1(2):111-119. <u>http://www.wssa.net</u>

Kauhala, K. & Salonen, L. (2012) Does a non-invasive method – latrine surveys – reveal habitat preferences of raccoon dogs and badgers? *Mammalian Biology* 77: 264–270.

Keeling, M. J., Datta, S., Franklin, D. N., Flatman, I., Wattam, A., Brown, M., & Budge, G. E. (2017a). Efficient use of sentinel sites: detection of invasive honeybee pests and diseases in the UK. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, *14*(129), 20160908.

Keeling, M. J., Franklin, D. N., Datta, S., Brown, M. A., & Budge, G. E. (2017b). Predicting the spread of the Asian hornet (Vespa velutina) following its incursion into Great Britain. *Scientific Reports*, 7.

Keitt, B., K. Campbell, A. Saunders, M. Clout, Y. Wang, R. Heinz, K. Newton, B. Tershy. (2011). The Global Islands Invasive Vertebrate Eradication Database: A tool to improve and facilitate restoration of island ecosystems.in V. C. (eds), editor. Island invasives: eradication and management. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

Kerby, J. L., Riley, S. P., Kats, L. B., & Wilson, P. (2005). Barriers and flow as limiting factors in the spread of an invasive crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) in southern California streams. *Biological Conservation*, *126*(3), 402-409.

Kerckhof F., Haelters J., Gollasch S. (2007). Alien species in the marine and brackish ecosystem: the situation in Belgian waters. Aquatic Invasions 2(3):243-257.

Klingenstein F, Alberternst B (2010) NOBANIS – Invasive Alien Species Fact Sheet – *Lysichiton americanus*. From: Online Database of the European Network on Invasive Alien Species.

Klok C., Van Turnhout C., Willems F., Voslamber B., Ebbinge B., Schekkerman H. (2010). Analysis of population development and effectiveness of management in resident greylag geese *Anser anser* in the Netherlands. *Animal Biology* 60:373-393.

Knight TM, Dunn JL, Smith LA, Davis J, Kalisz S (2009). Deer facilitate invasive plant success in a Pennsylvania forest understory. Nat Areas J 29:110–116

Koese, B and Soes, M. (2011). De Nederlandse rivierkreeften (Astacoidea & Parastacoidea). Entomologische tabelle, suppl Nederlandse Faunistische Mededelingen.

Koprowski, J.L. (1996). Natal philopatry, communal nesting, and kinship in fox squirrels and gray squirrels. *Journal of Mammalogy* 77: 1006-1016.

Krippel Y, Richarz F (2013) Verbreitung und Management von *Heracleum mantegazzianum* Somm. et Lev. (Apiaceae, Spermatophyta) in der Obersauerregion in Luxemburg. Bulletin de la Société des naturalistes luxembourgeois 114 : 3-13.

Kumar, V. & DiTommaso, A. (2005). Mile-a-minute (Polygonum perfoliatum): an increasingly problematic invasive species. *Weed technology*, *19*(4), 1071-1077.

Lafontaine, R.-M., Robert, H., Delsinne, T., Adriaens, T., Devos, K., Beudels-Jamar, R.C., (2013b). Risk analysis of the Ruddy Duck *Oxyura jamaicensis* (Gmelin, 1789). - Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences for the Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment. 33 p.

Lapin, K. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Asclepias syriaca. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Lemmens P., Mergeay J., Vanhove T., De Meester L., Declerck S.A. (2015). Suppression of invasive topmouth gudgeon *Pseudorasbora parva* by native pike *Esox lucius* in ponds. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 25(1):41-48.

Lestage J. (1935). La présence en Belgique du Crabe chinois (*Eriocheir sinensis*, H. Milne Edwards). Annales de la Société Royale Zoologique de Belgique 66 66:113-118.

Leung, B., N. Roura-Pascual, S. Bacher, J. Heikkilä, L. Brotons, M. A. Burgman, K. Dehnen-Schmutz, F. Essl, P. E. Hulme, D. M. Richardson (2012). TEASIng apart alien species risk assessments: a framework for best practices. *Ecol. Lett.* 15:1475-1493

Levy V (coord), Watterlot W, Buchet J, Toussaint B & Hauguel J-C (2015) Plantes exotiques envahissantes du Nord-Ouest de la France : 30 fiches de reconnaissance et d'aide à la gestion. Centre régional de phytosociologie agréé Conservatoire botanique national de Bailleul, 140 pp.

Libois R M (2006) L'érosion de la biodiversité: les mammifères. Partim «Les mammifères non volants». Dossier scientifique réalisé dans le cadre de l'élaboration du Rapport analytique 2006 sur l'État de l'Environnement wallon. Université de Liège, 127p.

Libois, R. (1987) Atlas des mammifères sauvages de Wallonie : le raton laveur, *Procyon lotor*. Cahiers d'Ethologie Appliquée 7: 140-142.

Louette G. (2012). Use of a native predator for the control of an invasive amphibian. Wildlife Research 39(3):271-278.

Louette G., Devisscher S., Adriaens T. (2012a). Control of invasive American bullfrog *Lithobates catesbeianus* in small shallow water bodies. *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 59(1): 1-10.

Louette G., Devisscher S., De Vocht A., Hoogewijs M., Jooris R., Adriaens T. (2012b). De Stierkikker in Vlaanderen - Naar een gericht beheer van een invasieve exoot. *Natuur.Focus* 11(4):144-149.

Maillard, J.-F. and Barbotin, A. (2017) Bilan national des effectifs et des prélèvements d'Ibis sacrés (*Threskiornis aethiopicus*) en 2016. ONCFS En collaboration avec la Société Nationale de Protection de la Nature en tant que gestionnaire de la Réserve Naturelle Nationale du lac de Grand-Lieu.

Marion L. (2006). Status of the breeding population of Spoonbills in France and relations with Sacred Ibis. *Eurosite Spoonbill* Network Newsletter 4:36-40.

Martin Y. (2009). Lithobates catesbeianus, une nouvelle espèce invasive en Wallonie: distribution, habitat et régime alimentaire. Mémoire de l'Université Catholique de Louvain. 81 p.

Mastrandrea, M.D., C.B. Field, T.F. Stocker, O. Edenhofer, K.L. Ebi, D.J. Frame, H. Held, E. Kriegler, K.J. Mach, P.R. Matschoss, G.-K. Plattner, G.W. Yohe, Zwiers F.W. (2010). Guidance Note for Lead Authors of the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report on Consistent Treatment of Uncertainties. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Available at http://www.ipcc.ch.

Matthews D, Berardi A (2015) Cabbage Skunk weed (Lysichitum americanum) in wet woodlands: biology; invasiveness and control in the UK. *International Pest Control*, *57*(3), 138.

Matzek V, Covino J, Funk J, Saunders M (2014). Closing the knowing-doing gap in invasive plant management: accessibility and interdisciplinarity of scientific research. *Conservation Letters* 7:208-215.

Mayle, B, Pepper, H. & Ferryman, M (2004). Grey squirrel control in woodlands. Forestry Commission Practice Note 4 (revised). Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

Mazzamuto M.V., Panzeri M., Wauters L. et al (2015). Knowledge, management and optimization: the use of live traps in control of non-native squirrels. *Mammalia*, 80:305–311

McCormick, L. H. & N. L. Hartwig 1995. Control of the noxious weed mile-a-minute (*Polygonum perfoliatum*) in reforestation. *Northern Journal of Applied Forestry* 12 (3), 127-132.

Messiaen M., Lock K., Gabriels W., Vercauteren T., Wouters K., Boets P., Goethals P.L.M. (2010). Alien macrocrustaceans in freshwater ecosystems in the eastern part of Flanders (Belgium). *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 140(1).

Metzger JP, Esler K, Krug C, Arias M, Tambosi L, Crouzeilles R, Acosta AL, Brancalion PH, D'Albertas F, Duarte GT (2017). Best practice for the use of scenarios for restoration planning. *Current Opinion In Environmental Sustainability* 29:14-25.

Milanesio D, Saccani M, Maggiora R, Laurino D, Porporato M. Recent upgrades of the harmonic radar for the tracking of the Asian yellow-legged hornet. *Ecol Evol.* 2017;7:4599–4606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3053</u>

Miller C., Skaradek W. (2002). USDA Plant fact sheet: Eastern Baccharis, *Baccharis halimifolia* L. <u>http://plantsusdagov/factsheet/pdf/fs_bahapdf</u>.

Monceau, K., & Thiéry, D. (2017). Vespa velutina nest distribution at a local scale: An 8-year survey of the invasive honeybee predator. Insect science, 24(4), 663-674.

Mountain, W. L. 1989. Mile-a-minute weed (*Polygonum perfoliatum* L.) update distribution, biology, and control suggestions. Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Plant Industry, Regulatory Horticulture. Weed Circular 15:21–24.

Mulder, J. (2013a). De wasbeerhond heeft vaste voet in Nederland. Zoogdier 24(4): 1-3

Mulder, J. L. (2013b). The raccoon dog (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*) in the Netherlands - its present status and a risk assessment. Lutra 56(1): 23-43

Mulder, J.L. (2011) The raccoon dog in the Netherlands – a risk assessment. Commissioned by Team Invasieve Exoten Ministerie van Economische zaken, Landbouw en Innovatie.

Müller K W, Frütiger A (2001) Effects of intensive trapping and fish predation on an (unwanted) population of *Procambarus clarkii*. Annual meeting of the North American Benthological Society. LaCrosse, WI.

NAPPO, 2003. Pest fact sheet Asclepias syriaca L. North American Plant Protection Organization (NAPPO). http://www.nappo.org/PRA-sheets/Asclepiassyriaca.pdf

Newman, J. & Duenas, M. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Myriophyllum heterophyllum. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Newman, J. & Duenas, M. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: Myriophyllum heterophyllum. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Nielsen C, Ravn HP, Cock M, Nentwig W (eds) (2005) The giant hogweed best practice manual. Guidelines for the management and control of an invasive alien weed in Europe. Forest and Landscape Denmark, Hoersholm, Denmark. http://www.ibot.cas.cz/personal/pysek/pdf/Giant_alien_uk.pdf

NVWA (2016) Onderbouwing strategie Unielijst-soorten Bouwstenen voor het bepalen van de strategie voor eliminatie en beheer van Unielijst-soorten (EU-verordening 1143/2014) in Nederland v 1.0. Nederlandse Voedsel- en Warenautoriteit Bureau Risicobeoordeling en Onderzoeksprogrammering Divisie Landbouw & Natuur.

O'Keefe S. (2009) The Practicalities of Eradicating Red-eared Slider Turtles (*Trachemys scripta elegans*). Aliens: The Invasive Species Bulletin. Newsletter of the IUCN/SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group. 28, 19-24.

Ottens, G. (2003). Achtergrond en ontwikkeling van de Nederlandse populatie Huiskraaien Corvus splendens. Limosa 76(2):69-74.

Palmer, GH, Pernas, T & Koprowski, JL (2007). Tree squirrels as invasive species: conservation and management implications. In: Managing Vertebrate Invasive Species: Proceedings of an International

Patoka J., Kalous L., Kopecký, O. (2015). Imports of ornamental crayfish: the first decade from the Czech Republic's perspective. Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems 416, 04

Peay S. (2001). Eradication of alien crayfish populations. R&D Technical Report W1-037/TR1: Scott Wilson Resource Consultants for Environment Agency.

Peay, S., Hiley, P.D., Collen, P. & Martin, I. (2006). Biocide treatment of ponds in Scotland to eradicate signal crayfish. *Bull. Fr. Pêche Piscic.* 380-381: 1363-1379.

Pergl J (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Heracleum mantegazzianum*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Pipalova I. (2006). A review of grass carp use for aquatic weed control and its impact on water bodies. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management 44(1):1-12.

Pisanu, B., Obolenskaya, E. V., Baudry, E. Lissovsky, A. A., Chapuis, J.-L. (2013). Narrow phylogeographic origin of five introduced populations of the Siberian chipmunk *Tamias* (Eutamias) *sibiricus* (Laxmann, 1769) (Rodentia: Sciuridae) established in France. Biological Invasions 15:1201–1207.

Plant Protection Service and Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2011) *Hydrocotyle ranunculoides*: a guide to identification, risk assessment and management. Euphresco DeCLAIM report.

Plant Protection Service and Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2011) Ludwigia grandiflora: a guide to identification, risk assessment and management. Euphresco DeCLAIM report.

Plant Protection Service and Centre for Ecology and Hydrology (2011) *Myriophyllum aquaticum*: a guide to identification, risk assessment and management. Euphresco DeCLAIM report.

Pollux B., Korosi A. (2006). On the occurrence of the Asiatic cyprinid *Pseudorasbora parva* in the Netherlands. *Journal of Fish Biology* 69(5):1575-1580.

Pot, R. (2007). Over de aanpak van de woekering van Ongelijkbladig vederkruid en Waterwaaier in het Oranje-kanaal. Rapport in opdracht van Waterschap Velt en Vecht en Waterschap Weest en Rieden. Oosterhesselen.

PPO (2008) Mini data sheet on Polygonum perfoliatum, 2 pp.

Provoost S, Van Gompel W, Vercruysse E, Packet J en Denys L (2015). Permanente Inventarisatie van de Natuurreservaten aan de Kust, PINK II. Eindrapport periode 2012-2014. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2015 (8890955). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Provoost S., Adriaens T. (2011). Advies betreffende beheer, bestrijding en verdere aanpak van enkele invasieve plantensoorten in de kustduinen. Adviezen van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.A.2466.

Provoost S., Van Gompel W., Vercruysse E., Packet J., Denys L. (2012). Permanente Inventarisatie van de Natuurreservaten aan de Kust, PINK II. Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek INBO.R.2015.8890955.

Q-Bank (2017) Asclepias syriaca L. fact sheet. http://www.q-bank.eu/Plants/Factsheets/Asclepias_syriaca_EN.pdf Accessed on 07/09/2017.

Quéré, J.-P., Le Louarn, H. 2011. Les rongeurs de France. Faunistique et biologie. 3^{ème} édition. Editions Quae, Versailles, France. 311 pp.

Rahel, F. J. (2013). Intentional fragmentation as a management strategy in aquatic systems. *BioScience*, 63(5), 362-372.

Rappé G. (2006). *Baccharis halimifolia* L. In: Van Landuyt W., Hoste I., Vanhecke L., Van den Bremt P., Vercruysse E., De Beer D. (editors). Atlas van de flora van Vlaanderen en het Brussels Gewest. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Nationale Plantentuin van België & Flo.Wer. p 176.

Rappé G., Verloove F., Van Landuyt W., Vercruysse E. (2004). *Baccharis halimifolia* (Asteraceae) aan de Belgische kust. *Dumortiera* 82(18):18-26.

Réseau Ongulés Sauvages (2013). Lettre d'information n°17: 30.

Reshetnikov AN (2013). Spatio-temporal dynamics of the West-Ukrainian centre of invasion of the fish *Perccottus glenii* and consequences for European freshwater ecosystems. Aquatic Invasions 8, 193–206.

Reyns, N., Casaer, J., De Smet, L., Devos, K., Huysentruyt, F., Robertson, P.A., Verbeke, T., Adriaens, T. (2018). Cost-benefit analysis for invasive species control: the case of greater Canada goose *Branta canadensis* in Flanders (northern Belgium). PeerJ, Vol. 6, Nr. e4283, DOI: 10.7717/peerJ.4283.

Robert H., Lafontaine R.-M., Delsinne T., Beudels-Jamar R.C. (2013). Risk analysis of the Sacred Ibis *Threskiornis aethiopicus* (Latham 1790). - Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences for the Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment. 35 p.

Robert, H., Lafontaine, R.-M., Beudels-Jamar, R.C., Delsinne, T. (2013a). Risk analysis of the Water Pennywort *Hydrocotyle ranunculoides* (L.F., 1781). - Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium, Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences for the Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment. 59 p.

Robert, H., Lafontaine, R.-M., Beudels-Jamar, R.C., Delsinne, T. (2013b). Risk analysis of the Water Primrose *Ludwigia peploides* (Kunth) P.H. Raven. - Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium., Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences for the Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment. 35 p.

Robert, H., Lafontaine, R.-M., Beudels-Jamar, R.C., Delsinne, T., Baiwy, E. (2013c). Risk analysis of the Coypu *Myocastor coypus* Molina, 1782. - Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium, unpublished report Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences for the Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment. 33 p.

Robert, H., Lafontaine, R.-M., Delsinne, T., Beudels-Jamar, R.C. (2013d). Risk analysis of the Sacred Ibis *Threskiornis aethiopicus* (Latham 1790). - Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium, Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences for the Federal Public Service Health, Food chain safety and Environment. 35 p.

Robertson P., Adriaens T., Caizergues A., Cranswick P., Devos K., Gutiérrez-Expósito C., Henderson I., Hughes B., Mill A., Smith G. (2015). Towards the European eradication of the North American ruddy duck. *Biological Invasions* 17(1):9-12.

Robertson, P. A., T. Adriaens, X. Lambin, A. Mill, S. Roy, C. M. Shuttleworth, M. Sutton-Croft (2016). The large-scale removal of mammalian invasive alien species in Northern Europe. *Pest Management Science* 73:273–279. DOI: 10.1002/ps.4224

Robinet, C. et al. (2017) Rapid spread of the invasive yellow-legged hornet in France: the role of human-mediated dispersal and the effects of control measures. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 54: 205–215.

Rome, Q., Perrard, A., Muller, F., & Villemant, C. (2011). Monitoring and control modalities of a honeybee predator, the yellow-legged hornet *Vespa velutina nigrithorax* (Hymenoptera: Vespidae). *Aliens*, *31*, 7-15.

Rosewarne, P. J., Piper, A. T., Wright, R. M., & Dunn, A. M. (2013). Do lowhead riverine structures hinder the spread of invasive crayfish? Case study of signal crayfish (Pacifastacus leniusculus) movements at a flow gauging weir. *Management of Biological Invasions*, 4(4), 273-282.

Rotteveel AJW (2007) Initial eradication of Lysichiton americanus from the Netherlands. In: European Weed Research Society, 14th EWRS Symposium, Hamar, Norway, 17-21 June 2007 [ed. by Flistad, E.]. Doorwerth, Netherlands: European Weed Research Society, 36.

Roux DJ, Rogers KH, Biggs H, Ashton PJ, Sergeant A: Bridging the science-management divide: Moving from unidirectional knowledge transfer to knowledge interfacing and sharing. Ecology and Society 2006, 11(1):4.

Ruaux, B., Greulich, S., Haury, J., Berton, J-P. (2009) Sexual reproduction of two alien invasive *Ludwigia* (Onagraceae) on the middle Loire River, France. Aquatic Botany 90: 143–148.

Ruks, R. (2017). Rosse stekelstaart: kader, verspreiding, aantallen en ervaringen in Nederland. Presentation at Work exchange ruddy duck eradication, 21 june 2017, Available at <u>https://www.inbo.be/nl/vlaams-nederlandse-werkuitwisseling-rosse-stekelstaart-nb-07-17</u>

Sarat E, Mazaubert E, Dutartre A, Poulet N, Soubeyran Y (2015) Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques: connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Sarat E., Mazaubert E., Dutartre A., Poulet N., Soubeyran Y., 2015. Les espèces exotiques envahissantes dans les milieux aquatiques: connaissances pratiques et expériences de gestion. Volume 2 - Expériences de gestion. ONEMA, Collection Comprendre pour agir, 240 pp.

Savard J.-P.L. (1985). Use of a Mirror Trap to Capture Territorial Waterfowl. Journal of Field Ornithology.

Scheers K., Denys L., Packet J., Adriaens T. (2016). A second population of *Cabomba caroliniana* Gray (Cabombaceae) in Belgium with options for its eradication. BioInvasions Records 5(4):227-232.

Scheers, K., Denys, L., Jacobs, I., Packet, J., Smeekens, V., & Adriaens, T. (2019). *Cabomba caroliniana* Gray (Cabombaceae) invades major waterways in Belgium. Knowledge & Management of Aquatic Ecosystems 420, 22.

Schockert, V. (2012). Risk analysis of the Pallas's squirrel, *Callosciurus erythraeus*, Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW / Editions, 39 pages.

Schockert, V. (2017) Risk analysis of the raccoon, Procyon lotor. Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium.

Schockert, V., Baiwy, E., Branquart, E. (2012). Risk analysis of the grey squirrel, *Sciurus carolinensis*, Risk analysis report of nonnative organisms in Belgium. Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW / Editions, 43 pages. Sheperd B.F., Swihart R.K. (1995). Spatial dynamics of fox squirrels (*Sciurus niger*) in fragmented landscapes. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 73(11):2098-2105.

Shuttleworth C.M., Lurz P.W., Gurnell J. (2016). The grey squirrel - ecology and management of an invasive species. European Squirrel Initiative: European Squirrel Initiative.

Shuttleworth, C.M., Lurz, P.W., Gurnell, J. (2016). The grey squirrel - ecology and management of an invasive species. European Squirrel Initiative: European Squirrel Initiative.

Sidorovich, V., & Vorobej, N. (2013). Mammal activity signs: Atlas, identification keys and research methods: Skills gained in Belarus. Veche.

Slaterus, R., Aarts, B., van den Bremer, L. (2009). De Huiskraai in Nederland: risicoanalyse en beheer. Beek-Ubbergen. 2009/08.

Smith-Jones C. (2004). Muntjac: managing an alien species. The British Deer Society.

Snow N.P., Witmer G.W. (2011). A field evaluation of a trap for invasive American bullfrogs. *Pacific Conservation Biology* 17(3):285-291.

Souty-Grosset, C., Anastácio, P. M., Aquiloni, L., Banha, F., Choquer, J., Chucholl, C., & Tricarico, E. (2016). The red swamp crayfish Procambarus clarkii in Europe: Impacts on aquatic ecosystems and human well-being. *Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters*, *58*, 78-93.

Spanoghe G., Faveyts W., Vermeersch G. (2010). Broedende Rosse Stekelstaarten Oxyura jamaicensis in Vlaanderen: een aanwinst ? Natuur.Oriolus 76(1):1-7.

Stebbing, P. (2016) The Management of Invasive Crayfish. In: Biology and Ecology of Crayfish. New York: CRC Press. P.337-357

Stebbing, P., Longshaw, M., & Scott, A. (2014). Review of methods for the management of non-indigenous crayfish, with particular reference to Great Britain. *Ethology Ecology & Evolution*, 26(2-3), 204-231.

Stebbing, P., Stebbing, D., M. Longshaw, N. Taylor, R. Norman, R. Lintott, Pearce F., A. Scott (2012). Review of methods for the control of invasive crayfish in Great Britain. Cefas, Weymouth and Department of Computing Science and Mathematics, University of Stirling. Cefas Contract - Final Report C5471.

Stevens M. (2010). Advies betreffende de Chinese Wolhandkrab langsheen de Schelde. Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek. 7 p.

Stuyck J. (2003). Muskusrat *Ondatra zibethicus*. In: Verkem S., De Maeseneer J., Vandendriessche B., Verbeylen G., Yskout S. (eds). Zoogdieren in Vlaanderen Ecologie en verspreiding van 1987 tot 2002 Natuurpunt Studie en JNM-Zoogdierenwerkgroep, Mechelen en Gent, België.

Stuyck J. (2016). Code voor goede praktijk voor het vangen van de muskusrat, *Ondatra zibethicus*, in Vlaanderen. Implementatie van Europese Overeenkomst inzake internationale normen voor de humane vangst van dieren met behulp van vallen. Brussel: Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek.

Stuyck J., Baert K., Breyne P., Pieters S. (2013). The Pallas squirrel in Belgium, a successful eradication action. Ghent, 4 July 2013.

Südbeck, P., H.-G. Bauer, M. Boschert, P. Boye & W. Knief (2007): Rote Liste der Brutvögel Deutschlands - 4. Fassung, 30.11.2007. Ber. Vogelschutz 44: 23-81.

Tanner, R. (2017). Information on measures and related costs in relation to species included on the Union list: *Impatiens glandulifera*. Technical note prepared by IUCN for the European Commission.

Tattoni, C, Preatoni, DG, Lurz, PWW, Rushton, SP, Tosi, G, Martinoli, A, Bertolino, S, Wauters, LA (2006). Modelling the expansion of grey squirrels (*Sciurus carolinensis*) in Lombardy, Northern Italy: implications for squirrel control. *Biological Invasions* 8: 1605–1619.

The Deer Initiative (2008). Species ecology muntjac deer England and Wales best practice guides. Version 10.2008. http://www.thedeerinitiative.co.uk/uploads/guides/167.pdf (accessed on 04.2012).

Thiele J, Otte A (2008) Invasion patterns of *Heracleum mantegazzianum* in Germany on the regional and landscape scales. J Nat Conserv 16: 61–71.

Thouvenot, L., Haury, J., & Thiebaut, G. (2013). A success story: water primroses, aquatic plant pests. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 23(5), 790-803

Tsiamis K; Gervasini E; Deriu I; D`amico F; Nunes A; Addamo A; De Jesus Cardoso A. (2017). Baseline Distribution of Invasive Alien Species of Union concern. Ispra (Italy): Publications Office of the European Union; 2017, EUR 28596 EN, doi:10.2760/772692

Turchi, L., Derijard, B. (2018). Options for the biological and physical control of *Vespa velutina nigrithorax* (Hym.: Vespidae) in Europe: A review. J. Appl Entomol. DOI: 10.1111/jen.12515

Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal (2015). Beantwoording vragen over het uitroeien van de Indische huiskraai in Hoek van Holland.

UNEP-WCMC. (2010). Review of Callosciurus erythraeus and Sciurus niger. UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge.

Valdeón A., Crespo-Diaz A., Egaña-Callejo A. & Gosá A. (2010) Update of the pond slider *Trachemys scripta* (Schoepff, 1792) records in Navarre (Northern Spain), and presentation of the Aranzadi Turtle Trap for its population control. Aquatic Invasions, 5, 297-302

Van Clef M; Stiles E (2001). Seed longevity in three pairs of native and non-native congeners: assessing invasive potential. *Northeastern Naturalist*, 8(3):301-310.

Van Daele P., Adriaens T., Devisscher S., Huysentruyt F., Voslamber B., De Boer V., Devos K., Casaer J. (2012). Beheer van Zomerganzen in Vlaanderen en Zeeuws-Vlaanderen - Rapport opgesteld in het kader van het INVEXO INTERREG project Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, INBO.R.2012.58. Brussel.

Van Den Berge, K. & De Pauw, W. (2003) Wasbeerhond. in Verkem, S., De Maeseneer, J., Vandendriessche, B., Verbeylen, G. & Yskout, S. Zoogdieren in Vlaanderen. Ecologie en verspreiding van 1987 tot 2002. Natuurpunt Studie en JNM-Zoogdierenwerkgroep, Mechelen en Gent, België.

Van Den Berge, K. & Gouwy, J. (2009) Exotic carnivores in Flanders: area expansion or repeated new input? Proceedings of the Science facing Aliens Conference, Brussels.

Van Den Berge, K. (2008). Carnivore exoten in Vlaanderen. Areaaluitbreiding of telkens nieuwe input? Zoogdier 19(2): 6-9)

Van der Grift, E.A., D.R. Lammertsma, H.A.H. Jansman, R.M.A. Wegman (2016). Onderzoek naar het voorkomen van de wasbeer in Nederland. Wageningen, Wageningen Environmental Research, Rapport 2764. 44 p.

Van der Meijden R. (2005) Heukels' Flora van Nederland (23e druk). Wolters-Noordhoff, Groningen: 685 p.

Van Landuyt W., Hoste I., Vanhecke L., Van den Bremt P., Vercruysse E., De Beer D. (2006). Atlas van de Flora van Vlaanderen en het Brussels Gewest. Brussel: Instituut voor natuur- en bosonderzoek, Nationale Plantentuin van België & Flo.Wer.

van Valkenburg J., Duistermaat H., Meerman H. (2014). *Baccharis halimifolia* L. in Nederland: waar blijft de Struikaster? *Gorteria* 37(1):25-30.

Van Valkenburg J., Roijackers R., Leonard R. (2011) Cabomba caroliniana Gray in the Netherlands. 3rd International Symposium on Weeds and Invasive Plants, October.

Van Valkenburg, J. (2011). *Cabomba caroliniana* and *Myriophyllum heterophyllum* a nightmare combination. Robson Meeting February 2011. <u>www.robsonmeeting.org/valkenburg.pdf</u>.

Van Valkenburg, J., INBO, Natuurmonumenten (2013). Physical and mechanical control of *Crassula helmsii* and *Ludwigia peploides*. Is it a realistic option? Presentation held at Best Practice Approach to Managing Invasive Aquatic Plants 17-18 October 2013, Norwich (UK). Available on http://www.rinse-europe.eu/best-practice-workshops-2

Vanderhoeven, S. (2013). Risk analysis of *Ludwigia grandiflora*, Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium., Cellule interdépartementale sur les Espèces invasives (CiEi), DGO3, SPW / Editions, 36 pages.

Vanderhoeven, S., Adriaens, T., D'hondt, B., Van Gossum, H., Vandegehuchte, M., Verreycken, H., Cigar, J., Branquart, E. (2015). A science-based approach to tackle invasive alien species in Belgium–the role of the ISEIA protocol and the *Harmonia* information system as decision support tools. *Management of Biological Invasions* 6, 197–208.

Vanderhoeven, S., Branquart, E., Casaer, J., D'hondt, B., Hulme, PE, Shwartz, A., Strubbe, D., Turbe, A., Verreycken, H., Adriaens, T. (2017). Beyond protocols: improving the reliability of expert-based risk analysis underpinning invasive species policies. *Biol Invasions* 19(9):2507–2517.

Vane M., Runhaar H.A. (2016). Public support for invasive alien species eradication programs: insights from the Netherlands. *Restoration Ecology* 24(6):743-748.

Vangeluwe D. (2010). Ouette d'Egypte *Alopochen aegyptiacus*. In: Jacob J.-P. (editor). Atlas des Oiseaux nicheurs de Wallonie 2001-2007 Série Faune-Flore-Habitats » n°5. : Aves & Région wallonne, Gembloux. 524 p. p 112-113.

Vangeluwe D., Roggeman W. (2000). Évolution, structure et gestion des rassemblements d'Ouettes d'Égypte férales en Région de Bruxelles-Capitale. Bruxelles. 22 p.

Vangeluwe D., Roggeman W. (2002). Dynamique d'expansion d'une population exotique d'ouettes d'Egypte (*Alopochen aegyptiacus*). Bulletin de L'institut Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique 72(suppl):229-230.

Verbeylen G (2005) Beverratten in Vlaanderen. De Vlaamse Jager: 4-8.

Verbeylen G., Stuyck J. (2002). Naar een ecologisch verantwoorde rattenbestrijding. Natuur.focus 1(3):110-115.

Verbeylen G., Stuyck J., Thomas P., Van der Weeën M. (2002). samenwerkingsovereenkomst "Rattenbestrijding in Natuurgebieden".

Verbeylen, G. & Matthysen, E. (1998). Inventarisatie van de Aziatische grondeekhoorn in De Panne. Rapport sept-nov 1998. Project van de U.I.A. groep Dierenecologie in opdracht van AMINAL, Afdeling Natuur.

Verbeylen, G. (2012). Handleiding Monitoring van rode eekhoorns aan de hand van nesttellingen en haarvallen Zoogdierenwerkgroep Natuurpunt.

Verbeylen, G., Stuyck, J. (2001) Ecologie, verspreiding en bestrijding van de Beverrat (*Myocastor coypus* Molina 1782). Technical Report DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.4686.8005

Vercayie, D. (2016). Observations of muntjak in Flanders. Presentation at muntjak workshop 3/02/2016, INBO Brussels. Available on https://www.inbo.be/nl/muntjak-werkoverleg-en-code-goede-praktijk-nb-0316

Verhelst P., Boets P., Van Thuyne G., Verreycken H., Goethals P.L., Mouton A.M. (2016). The distribution of an invasive fish species is highly affected by the presence of native fish species: evidence based on species distribution modelling. *Biological invasions* 18(2):427-444.

Verloove F (2017) Manual of the alien plants of Belgium.

Verloove F. (2017) Asclepias syriaca. On: Manual of the Alien Plants of Belgium. Botanic Garden of Meise, Belgium. At: alienplantsbelgium.be, accessed 19/07/2017.

Verloove, F. (2002). Ingeburgerde plantensoorten in Vlaanderen, In Mededeling van het Instituut voor Natuurbehoud. pp. 1-227, Brussel : Belgium.

Vermeersch G., Anselin A., Devos K., Herremans M., Stevens J., Gabriëls J., Van der Krieken B. (2004). Atlas van de Vlaamse broedvogels 2000-2002. Instituut voor Natuurbehoud, Brussel.Verreycken H., Anseeuw D., Van Thuyne G., Quataert P., Belpaire C. (2007). The non-indigenous freshwater fishes of Flanders (Belgium): review, status and trends over the last decade. *Journal of Fish Biology* 71:160-172.

Verreycken, H. (2013). Risk analysis of the Amur sleeper *Perccottus glenii*, risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium. , p. 29, Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2013 (INBO.R.2013.40). Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, Brussel.

Verreycken, H. (2015) Risk analysis of the Amur sleeper *Perccottus glenii*, Risk analysis report of non-native organisms in Belgium, Rapporten van het Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek 2015, INBO.R.2015.11325556, updated version, Instituut voor Natuur- en Bosonderzoek, 27 p.

Verwaijen, D. (2016) Code van goede praktijk voor het bestrijden en beheersen van de huiskraai, *Corvus splendens*, in Vlaanderen. Vlaamse overheid - Agentschap voor Natuur en Bos. Brussels.

Verwaijen, D. (2016) Code van goede praktijk voor het bestrijden en beheersen van de Amoergrondel, *Perccottus glenii*, in Vlaanderen. Vlaamse overheid - Agentschap voor Natuur en Bos. Brussels.

Verwaijen, D. (2017) Code van goede praktijk voor het bestrijden en beheersen van *Polygonum perfoliatum* in Vlaanderen. Landmax bvba i.o.v. Agentschap voor Natuur en Bos

Villemant, C. et al. (2011) Predicting the invasion risk by the alien bee-hawking Yellow-legged hornet *Vespa velutina nigrithorax* across Europe and other continents with niche models. *Biological Conservation* 144: 2142–2150.

Vlaamse Milieumaatschappij (2010). Ratten op Vlaamse wijze - 10 jaar resultaatgerichte rattenbestrijding met toekomstvisie. VMM

Wadsworth R.A., Collingham Y.C., Willis S.G., Huntley B. & Hulme P.E. (2000) Simulating the spread and management of alien riparian weeds: are they out of control? Journal of Applied Ecology 37: 28-38.

Walter, K. (2012). An evaluation of whether artificial refuge traps or baited traps are the most effective method for trapping White-clawed crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes). *The Plymouth Student Scientist*, *5*(2), 443-485

Weber E. (2003). Invasive plant species of the world : a reference guide to environmental weeds. Wallingford, UK.: CABI.

Weigl, P.D., Steele, M.A., Sherman, L.J., Ha, J.C., Sharpe, T. (1989). The ecology of the fox squirrel (*Sciurus niger*) in North Carolina: implications for survival in the Southeast. Bulletin-Tall Timbers Research Station, Tallahassee(24).

Wenger E, McDermott R, Snyder W (2002) Cultivating communities of practice: a guide to managing knowledge. Boston Business School Press, Boston, Massachussets, USA.

Wenger, E. (1998). Communities of practice: learning, meaning and identity. Cambridge University Press, New York, New York, USA.

White DJ, 1996. Status, distribution, and potential impact from noxious weed legislation. Report prepared for the Canadian Wildlife Service, Ottawa, Canada. Status, distribution, and potential impact from noxious weed legislation. Report prepared for the Canadian Wildlife Service, Ottawa, Canada. http://www.monarchwatch.com/read/articles/canweed1.htm

Whitworth D., Newman S., Mundkur T., & Harris P. (2007). Wild birds and avian influenza – An introduction to applied field research and disease sampling techniques. FAO Animal Production and Health Manual No. 5 FAO Animal Production and Health Manual No. 5. Food And Agriculture Organization Of The United Nations.

Williams et al. 2005 Chilean rhubarb (*Gunnera tinctoria*): biology, ecology and conservation impacts in New Zealand. Taranaki Regional Council, 2003. Chilean rhubarb (Gunnera tinctoria)

Wilson, G. J., & Delahay, R. J. (2001). A review of methods to estimate the abundance of terrestrial carnivores using field signs and observation. *Wildlife Research*, 28(2), 151-164.

Withagen, A. (2015). Kleine waterteunisbloem op Tiengemeten. Presentation SEFINS workshop on invasive plant management, 11 June 2015, De Heen (The Netherlands). Available on http://www.rinse-europe.eu/invasive-plant-workshop-june-15

Witmer G.W., Snow N.P., Moulton R.S. (2015). Efficacy of potential chemical control compounds for removing invasive American bullfrogs (*Rana catesbeiana*). SpringerPlus 4(1):1-5.

Wouters K. (2002). On the distribution of alien non-marine and estuarine macro-crustaceans in Belgium. Bulletin van het Koninklijk Belgisch Instituut voor Natuurwetenschappen Biologie 72.

www.zoogdiervereniging.nl/sites/default/files/imce/nieuwesite/Zoogdiersoorten/Muntjak/down loads/Muntjak%202016.pdf

Yésou P. (2014). Nidification de l'ibis sacré dans l'ouest de la France en 2013. <u>http://www.oncfs.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/Bilan nidification ibis sacre 2013.pdf</u>

Yésou P., Clergeau P. (2005). Sacred Ibis: a new invasive species in Europe. Birding World 18(12):517-526.

Yésou, P., Clergeau, P., Bastian, S., Reeber S. and Maillard, J.-F. (2017) The Sacred Ibis in Europe: ecology and management. *British Birds* 110:197–212.

Zanetti, M, Rucli, A (2014) Combating the spread of the Louisiana red swamp crayfish *P. clarkii*. In: RARITY. Eradicate invasive Louisiana red swamp and preserve native white clawed crayfish in Friuli Venezia Giulia. Published by the financial contribution of the EC within the RARITY project LIFE10 NAT/IT/000239, pp. 33-34.

Zavaleta, E. S., R. J. Hobbs, Mooney. H. A. (2001). Viewing invasive species removal in a whole-ecosystem context. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 16:454-459.

Zehnsdorf A., Hussner A., Eismann F., Rönicke H., Melzer A. (2015). Management options of invasive *Elodea nuttallii* and *Elodea canadensis*. Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters 51:110-117.

Annex 1: Criteria used for scoring the eradication strategy (adapted from Booy et al. 2017)

Effectiveness

This part of the assessment scores how effective the defined strategy would be <u>regardless of other issues</u>, such as the <u>practicality of deploying methods</u>, costs, acceptability of methods, etc. which are taken into account elsewhere. For example, the eradication strategy for a non-native fish in a river could be to flood it with the pesticide rotenone – this would likely score 'very effective' despite low scores associated with practicality, impact and acceptability.

Points to consider:

- How effective has this approach proven to be in the past or in an analogous situation?
- How effective is the approach despite the biology / behaviour of the target organism?

Practicality

How practical is it to deploy the described strategy? In particular, consider barriers that might prevent the use of the strategy such as issues gaining access to relevant areas, obtaining appropriate equipment, skilled staff, chemicals, etc. If there are any legal barriers to undertaking the work these should be assessed here.

Points to consider:

- How available are the methods in the EU?
- How accessible are the areas required to deploy the strategy?
- How easy would it be to obtain relevant licences or other approvals / permissions (e.g. access permission) to undertake the approach?
- How easy would it be to overcome legal barriers?
- How safe are the methods used in this approach (are there health and safety barriers)?

Cost

Cost relates to the <u>total direct cost</u> of the strategy. Total cost includes the cost of staff, resources, materials, etc. over the entire time period involved in the eradication and any required post surveillance and follow-up. Note indirect costs (e.g. loss of business) are considered an impact and not recorded here.

In your comment, indicate the period over which costs would be occurred (i.e. number of years) and, if possible, indicate whether the cost would be evenly spread, frontloaded or back loaded.

Impact

Impact relates to the impact of the strategy itself. It is important to note that any indirect economic impacts (i.e. economic consequences of the eradication strategy rather than the cost of the strategy itself) are recorded here and not under 'cost'.

Points to consider:

- How significant is the environmental harm caused by this approach?
- How significant is the economic harm caused by this approach? Examples of economic harm might include: reduction in the ability to trade or do business as a result of the management method, loss of earnings, reduction in tourism, reduction in house prices, etc.

• How significant is the social harm, including to human health, caused by this approach (note that this is different from acceptability below)? Examples of social harm might be a reduction in a person's use or enjoyment (e.g. preventing them walking in a woodland or fishing in a river), disruptions of communities, etc.

Acceptability

Acceptability relates to significant issues that could arise as a result of disapproval or resistance from individuals, groups or sectors. This does not include regulatory or legislative barriers which are considered under practicality.

- How acceptable is the approach likely to be based on environmental / animal welfare grounds? Note this question relates to likely criticism / resistance that the approach would meet based on environmental / animal welfare grounds.
- How acceptable is the approach likely to be to the general public?
- How acceptable is the approach likely to be to other stakeholders?

Assessing the window of opportunity

The window of opportunity relates to how quickly the species will spread beyond the point that the defined strategy would be effective. It is linked to the mechanism and rate of spread, which is considered during the risk assessment.

Assessing the likelihood of reintroduction

Assuming the strategy is successful, how likely is it that reintroduction will occur?

Annex 2: Guidance for scoring the feasibility of management of Union List species in Belgium.

Scoring

The scoring is done in an online system where all criteria are explained for convenience. It is highly advised to read this carefully before answering. Taking this information into account, the assessor always needs to follow his/her personal opinion when answering a question. Answers should be provided as much as possible based on evidence, and not on a purely hypothetical or speculative basis. Since appropriate data is very often lacking, cases that are similar (in dispersal capacity, biology, ...) may be used as a source of information (the higher the similarity, the better), but this should however be reflected in the uncertainty scores. It is advised to always employ the precautionary approach: when doubting among two options, the most 'pessimistic' option would be the option of choice.

An answer is required for every single question. The response score is a 5 point scale from 1-5. In all cases 1 is the least favourable and 5 the most. For example, a very effective eradication strategy scores 5, a very ineffective strategy scores 1, whereas a very inexpensive strategy (i.e. the cost favours taking action) scores 5, a very expensive one scores 1.

Criteria	Score						
	1	2	3	4	5		
Effectiveness	Very ineffective	Ineffective	Moderate effectiveness	Effective	Very effective		
Practicality	Very impractical	Impractical	Moderate practicality	Practical	Very practical		
Cost	>€10M	€ 1-10M	€ 200k - 1M	€ 50- 200k	< €50k		
Negative impact	Massive	Major	Moderate	Minor	Minimal		
Acceptability	Very unacceptabl e	Unacceptabl e	Moderate acceptability	Accepta ble	Very acceptable		
Window of opportunity	< 2 months	2 months - 1 year	1 – 3 years	4-10 years	>10 years		
Likelihood of reintroduction	Very likely	Likely	Moderate likelihood	Unlikely	Very unlikely		
<i>Conclusion (overall feasibility of eradication)</i>	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very high		

Confidence scoring

A confidence rating should be provided for every response score. Confidence is recorded on a 3 point scale: 1-low, 2-medium, 3high. Even where evidence is lacking, assessors should make best guess judgements and use the confidence rating score to reflect uncertainty. Confidence scoring is in line with the assessment of uncertainty used in the Harmonia+ protocol (D'hondt et al. 2015) which follows the IPCC guidelines on how to combine the quality of evidence with agreement among experts (Figure 2) (Mastrandrea et al. 2010). The degree of certainty associated with a given answer is scored as a level of confidence, evaluated as a function of two dimensions: evidence and agreement. The former more specifically deals with the type, amount, quality and internal consistency of available evidence, and is summarized as either 'limited', 'medium' or 'robust'. The latter more specifically deals with the degree of agreement between different pieces of evidence, and is summarized as either 'low', 'medium' or 'high'. Here too, the assessor always needs to follow his/her personal opinion when answering questions.



Figure 5: Uncertainty framework following IPCC guidelines (Mastrandrea et al. 2010).

Comments

Assessors are required to individually submit their feasibility and confidence scores with clear argumentation. This will allow the facilitator to track and understand potential dissensus among experts.

Consensus building

Consensus building offers the advantage of tracking and documenting differences in opinion throughout several rounds of consensus building e.g. by reducing linguistic uncertainty. Although consensus is desirable, lasting disagreements can occur. These should however not distract from the value of the consultation process and from explicitly documenting the underlying reasons for disagreement in transparent ways (Essl et al. 2016).

Annex 3: Main authors of strategies, number of assessments and names of assessors who provided assessments on the feasibility of management for the Union List species in Belgium.

Species	Main author scenario and strategies	Assessors	# assessments	
Alonochan gagyntigeg	ТА	Dido Gosse, Diederik Strubbe, Frank	3	
Alopochen aegyptiaca	14	Huysentruyt	5	
Asclepias syriaca	DG	Arnaud Monty, Bart Vandevoorde, Bram Dhondt, Quentin Groom, Wouter Van Landuyt	5	
		Anne-Laure Jacquemart, Bram Dhondt, Marijke		
Baccharis halimifolia	ТА	Thoonen, Sam Provoost, Wouter Van Landuyt	5	
Cabomba caroliniana	ТА	Etienne Branquart, Iris Stiers, Johan van	4	
		Valkenburg, Luc Denys	-	
Callosciurus erythraeus	TA	Jim Casaer, Tim Adriaens, Vinciane Schockert	3	
Corvus splendens	DG	Dido Gosse, Diederik Strubbe, Frank	3	
,		Huysentruyt		
Elodea nuttalii	ТА	Etienne Branquart, Iris Stiers, Jo Packet, Johan van Valkenburg	4	
		Adrien Latli, Elena Tricarico, Paul Stebbins,		
Eriocheir sinensis	ТА	Pieter Boets	4	
		Bram Dhondt, Marijke Thoonen, Sam Provoost,	_	
Gunnera tinctoria	DG	Sonia Vanderhoeven, Wouter Van Landuyt	5	
		Arnaud Monty, Etienne Branquart, Filip		
Heracleum mantegazzianum	EB	Verloove, Sam Provoost, Sonia Vanderhoeven,	6	
		Wouter Van Landuyt		
Heracleum persicum	DG	Arnaud Monty, Bart Vandevoorde, Filip	5	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Verloove, Quentin Groom, Sonia Vanderhoeven		
Heracleum sosnowsky	DG	Bart Vandevoorde, Filip Verloove, Marijke Thoonen, Quentin Groom, Sonia Vanderhoeven	5	
	EB	Etienne Branquart, Iris Stiers, Jo Packet, Koen		
Hydrocotyle ranunculoides		van Roeyen, Luc Denys	5	
		Bart Vandevoorde, Etienne Branquart, Filip		
Impatiens glandulifera	EB	Verloove, Marijke Thoonen, Sonia	5	
		Vanderhoeven		
Lagarosiphon major	ТА	Etienne Branquart, Jo Packet, Johan van	4	
Lugurosipriori major		Valkenburg, Luc Denys	•	
Lithobathes catesbeianus	ТА	Gerald Louette, Hugo Verreycken, Sarah	3	
		Descamps Etienne Branquart, Iris Stiers, Luc Denys		
Ludwigia grandiflora	EB		3	
Ludwigia peploides	EB	Etienne Branquart, Iris Stiers, Luc Denys	3	
		Arnaud Monty, Bart Vandevoorde, Bram		
Lysichiton americanus	EB	Dhondt, Marijke Thoonen, Quentin Groom,	6	
		Wouter Van Landuyt		
Microstegium vimineum	DG	Arnaud Monty, Bram Dhondt, Filip Verloove, Quentin Groom, Sonia Vanderhoeven	5	
Muntiacus reevesii	ТА	Dido Gosse, Jim Casaer, Tim Adriaens	3	
Myocastor coypus	EB	Jane Reniers, Jim Casaer, Luc Baufay	3	
, ,,	Etienne Brang			
Myriophyllum aquaticum	EB	Valkenburg	3	
Myriophyllum heterophyllum	EB	Etienne Branquart, Jo Packet, Johan van Valkenburg	3	
Nyctereutes procyonoides EB Jim Casaer		Jim Casaer, Luc Baufay	2	

Ondatra zibethicus	TA	Jane Reniers, Luc Baufay, Tim Adriaens	3
Orconectes limosus	ТА	Adrien Latli, Denis Parkinson, Elena Tricarico, Paul Stebbins, Pieter Boets	5
Orconectes virilis	DG	Adrien Latli, Denis Parkinson, Dido Gosse, Elena Tricarico, Paul Stebbins	5
Oxyura jamaicensis	ТА	Frank Huysentruyt, Jim Casaer, Tim Adriaens	3
Pacifastacus leniusculus	EB	Adrien Latli, Denis Parkinson, Elena Tricarico, Paul Stebbins, Pieter Boets	5
Perccottus glenii	DG	Alain De Vocht, Gerald Louette, Hugo Verreycken	3
Persicaria perfoliata	DG	Dido Gosse, Etienne Branquart, Jane Reniers, Sonia Vanderhoeven, Tim Adriaens	5
Procambarus clarkii	EB	Adrien Latli, Denis Parkinson, Elena Tricarico, Paul Stebbins, Pieter Boets	5
Procambarus fallax	DG	Adrien Latli, Denis Parkinson, Elena Tricarico, Paul Stebbins, Pieter Boets	5
Procyon lotor	EB	Frank Huysentruyt, Luc Baufay, Vinciane Schockert	3
Pseudorasbora parva	ТА	Alain De Vocht, Gerald Louette, Hugo Verreycken	3
Sciurus carolinensis	ТА	Jane Reniers, Tim Adriaens, Vinciane Schockert	3
Sciurus niger	ТА	Jane Reniers, Tim Adriaens, Vinciane Schockert	3
Tamias sibiricus	TA	Luc Baufay, Tim Adriaens, Vinciane Schockert	3
Threskiornis aethiopicus	ТА	Dido Gosse, Diederik Strubbe, Frank Huysentruyt	3
Trachemys scripta	EB	Gerald Louette, Hugo Verreycken, Sarah Descamps	3
Vespa velutina	DG	Etienne Branquart, Quentin Rome, Tim Adriaens	3